NOVEL MECHANISMS OF EPILEPTOGENESIS AND ITS INSPIRED PHARMACEUTICAL TREATMENTS FOR EPILEPSY

EDITED BY: Cenglin Xu, Pasquale Striano and Hongliu Sun PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology and Frontiers in Pharmacology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-606-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-606-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

NOVEL MECHANISMS OF EPILEPTOGENESIS AND ITS INSPIRED PHARMACEUTICAL TREATMENTS FOR EPILEPSY

Topic Editors: **Cenglin Xu**, Zhejiang University, China **Pasquale Striano**, Department of Pediatric Neurology and Muscle Diseases, Giannina Gaslini Institute (IRCCS), Italy **Hongliu Sun**, Binzhou Medical University, China

Citation: Xu, C., Striano, P., Sun, H., eds. (2022). Novel Mechanisms of Epileptogenesis and Its Inspired Pharmaceutical Treatments for Epilepsy. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-606-2

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Novel Mechanisms of Epileptogenesis and Its Inspired Pharmaceutical Treatments for Epilepsy Antonella Riva and Pasquale Striano
- 06 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor α7 Subunit Is an Essential Regulator of Seizure Susceptibility

Peng Sun, Da-Gang Liu and Xiang-Ming Ye

14 Pretreatment Source Location and Functional Connectivity Network Correlated With Therapy Response in Childhood Absence Epilepsy: A Magnetoencephalography Study

Ke Zhang, Jintao Sun, Yulei Sun, Kai Niu, Pengfei Wang, Caiyun Wu, Qiqi Chen and Xiaoshan Wang

25 Update on the Neuroimaging and Electroencephalographic Biomarkers of Epileptogenesis: A Literature Review

Guihua Chen, Zheyu Zhang, Meiping Wang, Yu Geng, Bo Jin and Thandar Aung

32 Case Report: Hypopituitarism Presenting With Nonconvulsive Status Epilepticus

Huimin Li, Lina Xu, Fengbing Yang, Longbin Jia, Hongjiang Cheng and Wei Liu

38 The Role of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Epileptogenesis: an Update

Xinyi Wang, Zhe Hu and Kai Zhong

- **45** Secondary Epileptogenesis: Common to See, but Possible to Treat? Yujia Shen, Yiwei Gong, Yeping Ruan, Zhong Chen and Cenglin Xu
- 59 VEGF Modulates Neurogenesis and Microvascular Remodeling in Epileptogenesis After Status Epilepticus in Immature Rats Wei Han, Li Jiang, Xiaojie Song, Tianyi Li, Hengsheng Chen and Li Cheng
- 72 Targeting Inflammatory Mediators in Epilepsy: A Systematic Review of Its Molecular Basis and Clinical Applications Giorgio Costagliola, Greta Depietri, Alexandre Michev, Antonella Riva, Thomas Foiadelli, Salvatore Savasta, Alice Bonuccelli, Diego Peroni, Rita Consolini, Gian Luigi Marseglia, Alessandro Orsini and Pasquale Striano
- 96 Anti-Epileptic Effect of Crocin on Experimental Temporal Lobe Epilepsy in Mice

Kai Zhong, Chengyu Qian, Rui Lyu, Xinyi Wang, Zhe Hu, Jie Yu, Jing Ma and Yilu Ye

109 A Comparison of Epileptogenic Effect of Status Epilepticus Treated With Diazepam, Midazolam, and Pentobarbital in the Mouse Pilocarpine Model of Epilepsy

Xiangzhen Tong, Zizhu Zhang, Jianping Zhu, Shuji Li, Shaogang Qu, Bing Qin, Yanwu Guo and Rongqing Chen



Editorial: Novel Mechanisms of Epileptogenesis and Its Inspired Pharmaceutical Treatments for Epilepsy

Antonella Riva^{1,2} and Pasquale Striano^{1,2*}

¹ Pediatric Neurology and Muscular Diseases Unit, IRCCS Istituto Giannina Gaslini, Genoa, Italy, ² Department of Neurosciences, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

Keywords: epilepsy, pathogenesis, pharmacotherapy, precision medicine, treatments

Editorial on the Research Topic

Novel Mechanisms of Epileptogenesis and Its Inspired Pharmaceutical Treatments for Epilepsy

Epilepsy is a common chronic neurological disorder affecting approximately 0.5-1% of the population worldwide (~50,000,000 people) and it accounts for a variety of neurological disorders characterized by recurrent seizures. More than half of all epilepsies have some genetic basis and single gene defects in ion channels or neurotransmitter receptors are associated with inherited forms of epilepsy (1). In the last decades, epileptogenic mutations have been identified in several ion channel genes, leading to the concept that several epilepsies can be considered channelopathies (2, 3). Functional studies have in some cases provided significant advances in the understanding of the molecular and cellular dysfunctions caused by mutations. However, the relationships between molecular deficits and clinical phenotypes are still unclear. Sun et al. showed that decreased activity of a7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) increases the excitability of CA1 pyramidal neurons and reduces the onset time of epilepsy in pilocarpine-induced mouse models. Moreover, the expression of a7 nAChRs is downregulated in human epileptogenic tissues. Overall, their findings confirm that α 7 nAChR is an essential regulator of seizure susceptibility. However, the etiology of epilepsy is extremely complex and heterogeneous and both genetic and acquired factors can be responsible for this condition; the cellular mechanisms underlying the epileptogenicity depend on the integrity of the blood-brain barrier, circuit abnormalities, or cellular and molecular defects, leading to epileptogenesis. Nevertheless, there is still a growing need for the identification of accurate biomarkers of epileptogenesis that enable the prediction of epilepsy following a brain insult. Recent technical progress may offer the opportunity for further investigating cortical areas and brain networks involved in cerebral functions and in epileptic discharges. Chen et al. present a comprehensive overview of recent innovations in the role of neuroimaging and EEG in identifying reliable biomarkers of epileptogenesis, whereas Shen et al. provide a review of the mechanisms of secondary epileptogenesis in molecular, cellular, and circuity levels. Zhang et al., instead, used magnetoencephalography (MEG) to evaluate whether the neuromagnetic signals of the brain neurons correlated with the response to therapy in drug-naïve patients and showed that a local frontal epileptic network at 80-250 Hz may increase the risk of drug-resistance in childhood absence epilepsy.

Despite a tremendous increase in the opportunities for non-invasive research on the human brain animal models of epilepsy still allow the investigation of the mechanisms of epileptogenesis and are also useful to study the consequences and co-morbidities of epilepsy and to develop effective treatments. Wang et al. focus their review on the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), a

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Pasquale Striano strianop@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 12 May 2022 Accepted: 24 May 2022 Published: 28 June 2022

Citation:

Riva A and Striano P (2022) Editorial: Novel Mechanisms of Epileptogenesis and Its Inspired Pharmaceutical Treatments for Epilepsy. Front. Neurol. 13:942365. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.942365

4

member of the neurotrophic factor family with an important role in the survival, growth, and differentiation of neurons, and discuss the possibility of BDNF as an underlying target for the treatment of epilepsy, whereas Han et al. highlight the potential role of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) as a critical neurovascular target in modulating epileptogenesis in the animal immature brain after lithium-pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus (SE). Moreover, symptomatic SE is one of the highest risk factors of epileptogenesis as shown by the study by Tong et al. who compared the effect of different drugs in the pilocarpine model of acquired epilepsy.

In humans, SE is a medical emergency associated with acute severe systemic damage and high mortality as confirmed by Li et al. describing a rare nonconvulsive status epilepticus following surgical resection of a pituitary tumor and not taking regular hormone replacement therapy. Nevertheless, the challenge of finding new, more efficacious, and better-tolerated drugs is ongoing. The pipeline for the development of new ASMs with novel mechanisms of action is narrowing with only a few interesting compounds on the immediate horizon. Recent studies prompted the identification of neuroinflammation as a potential target for the treatment of epilepsy, particularly drug-resistant epilepsy, and refractory status epilepticus. In Costagliola et al., a systematic review of the clinical experience with anticytokine agents and agents targeting lymphocytes is provided

offering promising main therapeutic perspectives in this field. Finally, there is also increased interest in the use of possible alternative treatments. Zhong et al. tested the effect of crocin, the main component of Crocus sativus L., in pilocarpine-induced epileptic mice suggesting a potential anti-epileptic property for this natural compound.

In brief, this issue of Frontiers may serve as a helpful guide for epileptologists, including those beginning their careers and honing their skills, as well as for medical students and residents who want to learn more about the pathophysiology, epidemiology and burden, comorbidities, treatment, and research for the management of epilepsy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AR: writing of the manuscript. PS: writing of the manuscript and critical revision of the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was developed within the framework of the DINOGMI Department of Excellence of MIUR 2018-2022 (Legge 232 del 2016).

REFERENCES

- 1. Striano P. Epilepsy Towards the Next Decade. Cham: Springer. (2015). doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-12283-0
- Orsini A, Zara F, Striano P. Recent advances in epilepsy genetics. Neurosci Lett. (2018) 667:4–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2017.05.014
- Scala M, Bianchi A, Bisulli F, Coppola A, Elia M, Trivisano M, et al. Advances in genetic testing and optimization of clinical management in children and adults with epilepsy. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2020) 20:251-269. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2020.171 3101

Conflict of Interest: AR has received honoraria from Kolfarma s.r.l, Proveca Pharma Ltd, and PTC Therapeutics. PS has served on a scientific advisory board for the Italian Agency of the Drug (AIFA), received honoraria from GW pharma,

Kolfarmas.r.l., Proveca Pharma Ltd, and Eisai Inc., and received research support from the Italian Ministry of Health and Fondazione San Paolo.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Riva and Striano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor α7 Subunit Is an Essential Regulator of Seizure Susceptibility

Peng Sun¹, Da-Gang Liu² and Xiang-Ming Ye^{1*}

¹ Rehabilitation & Sports Medicine Research Institute of Zhejiang Province, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, People's Hospital of Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, China, ² Department of Neurosurgery Medicine, Weihai Central Hospital, Weihai, China

A large body of data has confirmed that α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) play a pivotal role in cognition, memory, and other neuropsychiatric diseases, but their effect on seizure susceptibility in C57BL/6 wild-type mice is not fully understood. Here, we showed that decreased activity of α 7 nAChRs could increase the excitability of CA1 pyramidal neurons and shorten the onset time of epilepsy in pilocarpine-induced mouse models. However, compared with the control group, there was no apparent effect of increasing the activity of α 7 nAChRs. Moreover, the expression of α 7 nAChRs is downregulated in human epileptogenic tissues. Taken together, our findings indicate that α 7 nAChR is an essential regulator of seizure susceptibility.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cenglin Xu, Zhejiang University, China

Reviewed by:

Ying Wang, Qingdao University, China Qianfa Long, Xi'an Central Hospital, China

> *Correspondence: Xiang-Ming Ye yexm1020@sohu.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 21 January 2021 Accepted: 12 March 2021 Published: 12 April 2021

Citation:

Sun P, Liu D-G and Ye X-M (2021) Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor a7 Subunit Is an Essential Regulator of Seizure Susceptibility. Front. Neurol. 12:656752. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.656752 Keywords: cholinergic receptors, α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, epilepsy, seizure susceptibility, CA1 pyramidal neuron

INTRODUCTION

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) are a family of ligand-gated, pentameric ion channels. Understanding the precise roles of nAChRs remains a challenge because they can modulate cholinergic activities both postsynaptically and presynaptically (1). In humans, there are 16 different subunits (α 1-7, α 9-10, β 1-4, δ , ε , γ) of nAChRs, which can be found both in the peripheral and central nervous systems (2–4). Of these, 12 are associated with a wide spectrum of physiological and pharmacological functions (5). The main function of nAChRs is to regulate neuronal plasticity (6) and neuroprotection (7, 8), and the most abundant nAChR subunits are the α 4 β 2 and α 7 subunits within the central nervous system. Mutations in the transmembrane regions of the neuronal α 4 β 2 subunit receptors in the neocortex and thalamus can cause autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy (9), which is a focal epilepsy in the frontal lobe with attacks typically arising during non-rapid eye movement sleep (10). The α 7 subunit is expressed widely in the brain with its highest levels observed in the hippocampus and cortex (11), and its role has been associated with both impairment in cognition and neuropsychiatric phenotypes (12–15).

Our previous studies have indicated that activation of α 7 nAChR could decrease seizure susceptibility in Chat-Mecp2^{-/y} mice (16), but the role of α 7 nAChR in seizure susceptibility in C57BL/6 wild-type mice and humans remains uncertain. In the present study, we explored the function of α 7 nAChRs in seizure susceptibility in wild-type mice. We revealed that decreased α 7 nAChR activity in CA1 parvalbumin (PV) neurons in the hippocampus could increase seizure susceptibility in wild-type mice, while the increased activity of α 7 nAChR had no significant effect on seizure susceptibility. We also tested the expression of α 7 nAChR that was downregulated in tissues of humans, experiencing epilepsy after traumatic brain injury or intracerebral hemorrhage. Our findings suggest that α 7 nAChR is an essential regulator of seizure susceptibility.

6

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All human material was reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, People's Hospital of Hangzhou Medical College (No. 2019KY255) based on the Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association. All participants provided written informed consent. All animal experimental procedures were examined and approved by the Animal Advisory Committee of Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, the People's Hospital of Hangzhou Medical College based on the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

Animals and Reagents

We used C57BL/6 wild-type mice to complete the experiment. For acute pilocarpine-induced epilepsy models, C57BL/6 wildtype male mice weighing 25–30 g were used. Before the behavioral test, we kept the mice in a 12/12 h light/dark cycle, and the environmental conditions were controlled. Mice with abnormal body weight and appearance were excluded from the behavioral test. Sexually dimorphic observations were not observed. The primary antibodies used were rabbit polyclonal anti- α 7 nAChR (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA, Cat#: sc-5544), and rabbit polyclonal anti- glyceraldehyde 3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (Cell Signaling Technology, Cat#:5014S). MLA was purchased from Abcam (UK), while pilocarpine and PNU282987 were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (USA).

Immunohistochemistry

We anesthetized the mice and perfused their brain vessel with 4% paraformaldehyde dissolved in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). We cut and fixed the whole brains in paraformaldehyde at 4°C overnight and further dehydrated the brains in 30% sucrose in PBS. According to anatomical landmarks, brain sections were cut 35-µm-thick from the regions of interest using a freezing microtome. We treated the brain sections with 10% (v/v) normal donkey serum for immunolabeling in PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100. Subsequently, we incubated the brain sections with antibodies against anti-α7 nAChR (1:100) at 4°C overnight. We visualized the immunoreactivity with the secondary antibodies of Alexa Fluor 594 donkey anti-mouse, Alexa Fluor 633 donkey anti-goat, and Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit IgG (1:400). We visualized the immunofluorescent images by confocal microscopy (FV1000 Laser scanning confocal microscope, USA).

Human Tissue Preparation and Western Blot Analysis

We dissected 1 g of epilepsy tissue from fresh frozen brain sections that were maintained at -80° C. The tissue was homogenized in a lysis buffer (Beyotime Biotechnology, China) containing 1 mM protease inhibitor phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) (Beyotime Biotechnology). We collected the supernatants after centrifugation for 10 min at 15 000 rpm. After the protein concentration was measured using Bradford's solution (Beyotime Biotechnology), we boiled the samples in a loading buffer containing equivalent amounts of protein for 5 min (Beyotime Biotechnology). We performed sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred proteins to an Immobilon polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (Millipore) for 100 min at 300 mA. We incubated the membranes with primary antibodies against anti-α7 nAChR (1:100) after blocking with Tris-buffered saline buffer with Tween 20 (TBST) solution (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, and 0.1% Tween 20) containing 5% skimmed milk for 1 h at room temperature. After washing with TBST, we incubated the blots with secondary antibodies (1:7,500) for 1 h at room temperature. We detected the signals with enhanced chemiluminescence and developed them on an X-ray film. We digitized the immunoblots on a flatbed scanner and quantified the images using the US National Institutes of Health Image program for densitometric quantification.

Surgeries and Electroencephalogram Measurements

We secured the mice in a stereotactic head frame and made an incision along the midline after the mice were anesthetized with isoflurane. We used 8% H₂O₂ to observe the bregma and the posterior. We placed the electrode over the cranium with three screws (three positions: the first screw (left): A-P: +1.5 mm, lateral: +1.5 mm; the second and the third screws: A-P: -3 mm, lateral: $\pm 3 \text{ mm}$). We placed the cannula (intraventricular drug administration) into the CA1 in the hippocampus (position (right): A-P: -1.94 mm, lateral: ± 1.1 mm depth: -2.0 mm). We recorded the electroencephalogram (EEG) results in freely moving mice for 1 week after the surgery. a7 nAChR agonist (PNU282987, a selective a7 nAChR agonist, 1M) and antagonist (methyllycaconitine citrate (MLA), a specific a7 nAChR blocker,100 nM) were injected into the hippocampus in the CA1 by microtubule drug administration. Pilocarpine was injected into the peritoneal cavity following intraperitoneal administration.

We defined the abnormal wave as an amplitude >400 mV. We assessed the pilocarpine-induced seizure stages as follows: onset time was measured from the moment the C57BL/6 mice were injected with pilocarpine until the first epileptic waves were observed. The latency of generalized tonic-clonic (GTC) seizure was measured from the moment the C57BL/6 mice, were injected with pilocarpine until the first GTC seizure epileptic waves were observed. The latency of death was measured from the moment the mice were injected with injection pilocarpine, until the death of the mice.

Electrophysiology

Coronal slices of the hippocampus were performed in approximately 4- weeks-old mice. Slices $(300 \,\mu\text{m})$ were prepared with a Vibroslice (Leica VT 1000S) in ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF: 125 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 1.25 mM NaH2PO4, 2 mM MgSO4, 2 mM CaCl2, 25 mM NaHCO3 and 10 mM glucose). After recovery for ~60 min, incubation in ACSF at 33°C was followed by ~60 min at 22°C, when slices were transferred to the recording chamber and superfused (3 mL min⁻) with ACSF at 32–33°C. All solutions

were saturated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂. The neurons were identified in the brain sections using an upright microscope equipped with a 40× water-immersion lens (Nikon, Eclipse FN1, Japan), and the electrical activity was recorded using whole-cell technology (MultiClamp 700-B Amplifier, Digidata 1440 A analog-to-digital converter, and PCLAMP 10.2 software, Axon Instruments Molecular Devices, USA). Pyramidal neurons were recorded in the hippocampal CA1 region. Glass pipettes $(3-4.5 \text{ M}\Omega)$ used for whole-cell recording were filled with internal recording solution: 110 mM K-gluconate, 40 mM KCl, 10 mM HEPES, 2 mM Mg2ATP, 0.5 mM NaGTP, and 0.2 mM EGTA; pH was adjusted to 7.25 with 10 M KOH. We also added DL-2-amino-5-phosphonovaleric acid (DL-AP5; 50 µM, Tocris Bioscience), 6, 7-dinitroquinoxaline-2, 3-dione (DNQX; 20 µM, Tocris Bioscience) and picrotoxin (100 µM, Abcam), to block AMPA-mediated, NMDA-mediated, and GABA-mediated synaptic transmission.

Statistical Analysis

Unless otherwise stated, we expressed the data as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM); error bars show the SEM (n = number of samples). A two-tailed Student's *t*-test was used to compare the means from the same group of cells. The differences between more than two groups were tested with two-way analysis of variance. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Expression of α7 nAChR in the CA1 Neurons in the Hippocampus

Mice expressing the channelrhodopsin-2 (ChR2) protein under the control of the choline acetyltransferase (ChAT, a marker for cholinergic neurons) promoter (ChAT-ChR2-EYFP) were used in this study. The hippocampus has been reported to be the main target for the projection of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (17). To confirm this, we stained the NeuN in hippocampal CA1 neurons in ChAT-ChR2-EYFP mice (**Figure 1A**. left). We found that there are lots of cholinergic neuron fiber projections in this area (**Figure 1A**. middle).

After merging, the results showed that hippocampus CA1 neurons receive dense cholinergic projections (**Figure 1A**. right). Previous studies showed that the main target projection neurons of α 7 nAChRs are the PV-positive interneurons, which are the most prominent GABAergic neurons in the hippocampus (16). Therefore, we stained α 7 nAChRs in the CA1 neurons (**Figure 1B**). The results showed that α 7 nAChRs were concentrated in PV GABAergic neurons, with little expression in non-PV neurons in the CA1 (**Figure 1B**). Taken together, these results indicate that the cholinergic neurons were highly expressed in the hippocampal CA1 PV GABAergic neurons.

Decreased Activity of α 7 nAChRs Could Increase the Seizure Susceptibility in C57BI/6 Wild-Type Mice

To investigate the effects of α 7 nAChRs on seizure susceptibility in C57BL/6 wild-type mice, we injected PNU282987 (1 M) and MLA (100 nM) into the hippocampus in the CA1 by microtubule drug administration. Scopolamine methylnitrate (1 mg/kg s.c.; Sigma) was administered 30 min before pilocarpine injection to avoid peripheral cholinergic effects (18). We measured seizure susceptibility by injecting the cholinergic agonist pilocarpine (250 mg/kg i.p.) following intraperitoneal administration, which acts on muscarinic receptors.

To observe the electrographic changes caused by pilocarpineinduced seizures between the vehicle and a7 nAChR agonist and antagonist, we recorded EEGs using bilateral epidural screw electrodes (see Methods section) and quantified the electrographic seizures by the latency of onset time, the latency of GTC, and the latency of death. After 10 min baseline recording, we administrated the vehicle and PNU282987 in the CA1 of the hippocampus in C57BL/6 wildtype mice. After recording the EEGs for 15 min, we injected pilocarpine following intraperitoneal administration to induce epilepsy. The results showed that there was no significant difference in the onset time of epilepsy and the latency of GTC (Figures 2A-C). Moreover, we found the latency of death was slightly prolonged after administration of PNU282987, but there was no significant difference between the vehicle-treated control group and the C57BL/6 wild-type group (Figure 2D). However, the latency of onset time, the latency of GTC, and the latency of death were significantly shortened with MLA treatment (Figures 2A-D). The results indicated that a decrease in the activity of α 7 nAChRs could increase seizure susceptibility but the increased activity of α7 nAChRs has no effect.

Decreased Activity of α7 nAChRs Could Increase the Excitability of the CA1 Pyramidal Neurons in the Hippocampus in C57BL/6 Wild-Type Mice

To further demonstrate the effect of a7 nAChRs, we recorded the excitability of CA1 pyramidal neurons by checking the number of action potentials (APs) elicited by current injections of various amplitudes (1 s, 0 to +250 pA) in the acute cortical slices. All pyramidal neurons showed high-frequency discharges with increasing currents. We assessed the effect of PNU282987(1 μ m), a selective a7 nAChR agonist, on hippocampal slices from C57BL/6 mice. In contrast to the control group, there was no significant change in the excitability of pyramidal neurons in C57BL/6 wide-type mice (Figures 3A,B). However, with the bath application of MLA (10 nM), a specific a7 nAChR blocker, the number of APs was significantly higher in the C57BL/6 group compared with that in the control group (Figures 3C,D). Taken together, these results revealed that a decrease in the activity of a7 nAChRs could increase the excitability of CA1 pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus.

We believed that the effect of $\alpha7$ nAChRs on pyramidal neuron excitability could be due to the following two possibilities: the inhibitory input from parvalbumin (PV) interneurons to pyramidal neurons, and the direct modulation of $\alpha7$ nAChRs on pyramidal neurons (19). To distinguish between the two possibilities, we administered DL-APV, DNQX, and picrotoxin



to block NMDA-mediated, AMPA-mediated, and GABAAmediated synaptic transmission, respectively. The results showed that there was a slight increase but no significant change of pyramidal neuron excitability after the application of MLA (10 nM), suggesting that the excitability of pyramidal neurons is mostly regulated by the inhibitory input from PV neurons (**Figures 3E,F**).

To further study the effect of MLA on the excitability of CA1 pyramidal neurons in epileptic brain slices. We recorded the excitability of CA1 pyramidal neurons in epileptic brain slices before and after administrating MLA. The excitability of pyramidal neurons was increased after epilepsy, and the excitability is slightly higher after adding MLA. However, there was no significant difference in pyramidal neuron excitability after the application of MLA (**Figures 3G,H**). The results indicate that the α 7 nAChRs on pyramidal neurons may also play a role in regulating excitability.

Decreased α7 nAChR Expression in Human Epileptogenic Tissues

To further confirm the association between the activity of α 7 nAChRs and seizure susceptibility, we assessed the expression of α 7 nAChRs in cell membranes by immunoblotting from the epileptogenic foci tissue between subjects with secondary and intractable epilepsy and the those with traumatic brain injury (**Figure 4A**). The results showed that the level of α 7 nAChRs in the epilepsy samples was only ~50% of that in the control group

(Figure 4B). This observation is also supported by a decrease in α 7 nAChR expression in human epileptogenic tissues.

DISCUSSION

This study investigated the association between the activity of α 7 nAChRs and seizure susceptibility. We presented evidence that decreased activity of a7 nAChRs could increase seizure susceptibility in C57BL/6 wild-type mice. First, we proved that cholinergic neurons exist, and its subunit receptor-a7 nAChRs mostly expressed in CA1 PV interneurons. Second, we studied seizure susceptibility after the stimulation and inhibition of a7 nAChRs. To address this issue, we used C57BL/6 wild-type mice experiencing pilocarpine-induced seizures as the experimental animals. The results showed that the seizure susceptibility between the PNU282987-treated mice and the control group was not significantly different, but the MLA-treated mice could significantly shorten the seizure susceptibility. Third, the number of APs was significantly increased after MLA treatment; however, there were no significant differences after infusion of PNU282987 in CA1 pyramidal neurons. Furthermore, we found that the excitability of pyramidal neurons was mostly regulated by a7 nAChRs receptors of PV GABAergic neurons. Finally, the study showed that the expression of a7 nAChR protein was reduced in the epileptogenic foci tissue from individuals. In summary, our study identified that decreased a7 nAChRs may be a risk factor for seizure susceptibility.



It has been reported that α 7 nAChRs are widely expressed in the hippocampus and thalamus, but they are observed at low levels in the postmortem human brain (20, 21). The α 7 nAChRs are concentrated on almost all synapses both presynaptically and postsynaptically in the CA1 region of the hippocampus (22). The initial evidence of α 7 nAChR activity in synapses was obtained from rat hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons by examining rats' spontaneous activity (23–25). Loss of α 7 nAChRs may play a pivotal role in cognitive function damage (26–29). Previous studies have shown that α 7 nAChRs have

neuroprotective effects (30). The administration of nicotine may attenuate microglial activity and increase the eclampsialike seizure threshold in the rat hippocampus through the α 7 nicotinic receptor (31). This revealed the influence of α 7 nAChRs on the threshold in pregnant rats. Previous studies have shown that activation of α 7 nAChRs could decrease the seizure susceptibility in Chat-Mecp2^{-/y} mice (16). Therefore, we hypothesized that α 7 nAChRs may be associate with epilepsy. In this present study, immunofluorescence results on hippocampal neurons showed that α 7 nAChRs are expressed in pyramidal and









PV neurons in the hippocampus. Previous studies showed that PV interneuron axons project to the peribody area of pyramidal neurons and regulate the activity of pyramidal neurons (32). We revealed that treatment with MLA to block α 7 nAChRs on CA1 PV interneurons indirectly increased the excitability of these neurons. Further studies are required to examine whether α 7 nAChRs in pyramidal neurons affect its excitability. This study only tested the role of α 7 nAChRs in the pilocarpine model, and further studies are required to confirm its effects in more epilepsy models.

Decreased excitability of a7 nAChRs on CA1 pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus leads to high seizure sensitivity in mice. a7 nAChR antagonists have been reported to alter the frequency and amplitude of glutamatergic neurons recorded from pyramidal neurons in hippocampal samples obtained from patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis (33). The results of this study also suggested that the application of α 7 receptor antagonists in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy could overexcite pyramidal neurons, a result similar to that of our study. A recent study also demonstrated that the $\alpha7$ nAChR agonist choline chloride could improve epilepsy, depression, and memory deficits in the PTZ-kindled mouse model (34). This also suggests that α 7 nAChRs play a pivotal role in epilepsy. Moreover, in our study, the expression of a7 nAChRs was reduced in human epileptogenic tissues. Our findings suggest that the downregulation of a7 nAChRs contributes to human epilepsy. However, the increased activity of α7 nAChRs on CA1 pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus had no significant effect on seizure sensitivity. Earlier studies also showed that selective allosteric modulators of a7 nAChRs could have potential therapeutic applications in epilepsy (35). Overall, our results suggest that a7 nAChRs are an essential regulator of seizure susceptibility.

REFERENCES

- Hasselmo ME, Sarter M. Modes and models of forebrain cholinergic neuromodulation of cognition. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2011) 36:52–73. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.104
- Lindstrom JM. Hand Book of Receptors and Channels: Ligand- and Voltage-Gated Ion Channels. In: North A, editor. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (1995). p. 153–75.
- Leonard S, Bertrand D. Neuronal nicotinic receptors: from structure to function. Nicotine Tob Res. (2001) 3:203–23. doi: 10.1080/14622200110050213
- Novere NL, Changeux JP. Molecular evolution of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: an example of multigene family in excitable cells. J Mol Evol. (1995) 40:155–72. doi: 10.1007/BF00167110
- Corringer PJ, Novere NL, Changeux JP. Nicotinic receptors at the amino acid level. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. (2000) 40:431–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.40.1.431
- Albuquerque EX, Alkondon M, Pereira EF, Castro NG, Schrattenholz A, Barbosa CT, et al. Properties of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: pharmacological characterization and modulation of synaptic function. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (1997) 280: 1117–1136.
- 7. Kihara T, Shimohama S, Sawada H, Honda K, Nakamizo T, Shibasaki H, et al. α 7 nicotinic receptor transduces signals to phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase to block A β -amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. *J Biol Chem.* (2001) 276:13541–6. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M008035200

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this article are not readily available because this would jeopardize patient privacy. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to sp120@zju.edu.cn.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Ethical Committee of Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, People's Hospital of Hangzhou Medical College. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The animal study was reviewed and approved by Medical Ethical Committee of Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, People's Hospital of Hangzhou Medical College. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PS conducted the immunohistochemistry, western blot analysis, electrophysiology experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. D-GL conducted the animal behavioral studies, EEG recordings, and collected the data. X-MY supervised all phases of the project and approved the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Medical Science and Technology Project of Zhejiang Provincial (2020KY435).

- Zoli M, Picciotto MR, Ferrari R, Cocchi D, Changeux JP. Increased neurodegeneration during ageing in mice lacking high-affinity nicotine receptors. *EMBO J.* (1999) 18:1235–44. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.5.1235
- Gu W, Bertrand D, Steinlein OK. A major role of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene *CHRNA2* in autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy (ADNFLE) is unlikely. Neurosci Lett. (2007) 422:74–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.006
- Becchetti A, Aracri P, Meneghini S, Brusco S, Amadeo A. The role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy. *Front Physiol.* (2015) 6:22. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00022
- Séguéla P, Wadiche J, Dineley-Miller K, Dani JA, Patrick JW. Molecular cloning, functional properties, and distribution of rat brain α7: a nicotinic cation channel highly permeable to calcium. *J Neurosci.* (1993) 13:596–604. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-02-00596.1993
- Soler-Alfonso C, Carvalho CM, Ge, J, Roney EK, Bader PI, Kolodziejska KE, et al. CHRNA7 triplication associated with cognitive impairment and neuropsychiatric phenotypes in a three-generation pedigree. *Eur J Hum Genet*. (2014) 22:1071–6. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2013.302
- Musso F, Bettermann F, Vucurevic G, Stoeter P, Konrad A, Winterer G. Smoking impacts on prefrontal attentional network function in young adult brains. *Psychopharmacology.* (2007) 191:159–69. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0499-8
- 14. Parikh V, Ji J, Decker MW, Sarter, M. Prefrontal beta2 subunitcontaining and alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors differentially control

glutamatergic and cholinergic signaling. J Neurosci. (2010) 30:3518-30. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5712-09.2010

- Wallace TL, Bertrand D. Importance of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor system in the prefrontal cortex. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2013) 85:1713–20. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2013.04.001
- Zhang Y, Cao SX, Sun P, He HY, Yang CH, Chen XJ, et al. Loss of MeCP2 in cholinergic neurons causes part of RTTlike phenotypes via α7 receptor in hippocampus. *Cell Res.* (2016) 26:1–15. doi: 10.1038/cr.2016.48
- Picciotto MR, Higley MJ, Mineur YS. Acetylcholine as a neuromodulator: Cholinergic signaling shapes nervous system function and behavior. *Neuron.* (2012) 76:116–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.036
- Turski L, Cavalheiro EA, Sieklucka-Dziuba M, Ikonomidou-Turski C, Czuczwar SJ, Turski WA. Seizures produced by pilocarpine: neuropathological sequelae and activity of glutamate decarboxylase in the rat forebrain. *Brain Res.* (1986) 398:37–48. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(86) 91247-3
- Xu M, Sun P, Zhang Y, Yang CH, Wei X, Ma XX, et al. DV21 decreases excitability of cortical pyramidal neurons and acts in epilepsy. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:1701. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01734-z
- Bertrand D, Lee CHL, Flood D, Marger F, Roberts D.D. Therapeutic potential of a7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2015) 67:1025–73. doi: 10.1124/pr.113.008581
- Breese CR, Adams C, Logel J, Drebing C, Rollins Y, Barnhart M, et al. Comparison of the regional expression of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7 mRNA and 125I-alphabungarotoxin binding in human postmortem brain. J Comp Neurol. (1997) 387:385–98
- Kawai H, Zago W, Berg DK. Nicotinic alpha 7 receptor clusters on hippocampal GABAergic neurons: regulation by synaptic activity and neurotrophins. *J Neurosci.* (2002) 22:7903–12. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-18-07903.2002
- Alkondon M, Pereira EF, Albuquerque EX. alpha-bungarotoxin- and methyllycaconitine-sensitive nicotinic receptors mediate fast synaptic transmission in interneurons of rat hippocampal slices. *Brain Res.* (1998) 810:257–63. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(98)00880-4
- Frazier CJ, Buhler AV, Weiner JL, Dunwiddie TV. Synaptic potentials mediated via alpha-bungarotoxin-sensitive nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in rat hippocampal interneurons. *J Neurosci.* (1998) 18:8228–35. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-20-08228.1998
- Hefft S, Hulo S, Bertrand D, Muller D. Synaptic transmission at nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in rat hippocampal organotypic cultures and slices. J Physiol. (1999) 515:769–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.769ab.x
- Nordberg A. Neuroprotection in Alzheimer's disease new strategies for treatment. *Neurotox Res.* (2000) 2:157–65. doi: 10.1007/BF03033791
- 27. Nordberg A, Lundqvist H, Hartvig P, Andersson J, Johansson M, Hellstrom-Lindahi E, et al. Imaging of nicotinic and muscarinic receptors in Alzheimer's

disease: effect of tacrine treatment. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. (1997) 8:78-84. doi: 10.1159/000106611

- Whitehouse PJ, Kalaria RN. Nicotinic receptors and neurodegenerative dementing diseases: basic research and clinical implications. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. (1995) 9:S3–5. doi: 10.1097/00002093-199501002-00002
- 29. Guan ZZ, Zhang X, Ravid R, Nordberg A. Decreased protein levels of nicotinic receptor subunits in the hippocampus and temporal cortex of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem.* (2000) 74:237–43. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.0740237.x
- 30. Li XD, Buccafusco JJ. Effect of β -amyloid peptide 1–42 on the cytoprotective action mediated by α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in growth factor-deprived differentiated PC-12 cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2003) 307:670–5. doi: 10.1124/jpet.103.053785
- Li XL, Han XJ, Bao JJ, Liu YY, Ye AH, Thakur M, et al. Nicotine increases eclampsia-like seizure threshold and attenuates microglial activity in rat hippocampus through the α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Brain Res.* (2016) 1642:487–96. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2016.04.043
- Goldberg EM, Clark BD, Zagha E, Nahmani M, Erisir A, Rudy B. K+ channels at the axon initial segment dampen near-threshold excitability of neocortical fast-spiking GABAergic interneurons. *Neuron.* (2008) 58:387–400. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.03.003
- 33. Banerjee J, Dey S, Dixit AB, Tripathi M, Doddamani R, Sharma MC, et al. α7 nicotinic receptors contributes to glutamatergic activity in the hippocampus of patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis (MTLE-HS). J Neural Transm (Vienna). (2020) 127:1441-6. doi: 10.1007/s00702-020-02239-2
- 34. Sharma NK, Kaur S, Goel RK. Exploring the ameliorative role of α 7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor modulation in epilepsy and associated comorbidities in post PTZ-kindled mice. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2019) 103:106862. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.106862
- 35. Arnaiz-Cot JJ, González JC, Sobrado M, Baldelli P, Carbone E, Gandía L, et al. Allosteric modulation of alpha 7 nicotinic receptors selectively depolarizes hippocampal interneurons, enhancing spontaneous GABAergic transmission. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2008) 27:1097–110. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06077.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Sun, Liu and Ye. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pretreatment Source Location and Functional Connectivity Network Correlated With Therapy Response in Childhood Absence Epilepsy: A Magnetoencephalography Study

Ke Zhang¹, Jintao Sun¹, Yulei Sun¹, Kai Niu¹, Pengfei Wang¹, Caiyun Wu¹, Qiqi Chen² and Xiaoshan Wang^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, The Affiliated Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ² MEG Center, The Affiliated Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

Hongliu Sun, Binzhou Medical University, China

Edited by:

OPEN ACCESS

Reviewed by: Azeez Adebimpe, University of Pennsylvania, United States Amanda E. Hernan, University of Vermont, United States Kang Min Park, Inje University Haeundae Paik Hospital, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Xiaoshan Wang lidou2005@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 07 April 2021 Accepted: 07 June 2021 Published: 03 August 2021

Citation:

Zhang K, Sun J, Sun Y, Niu K, Wang P, Wu C, Chen Q and Wang X (2021) Pretreatment Source Location and Functional Connectivity Network Correlated With Therapy Response in Childhood Absence Epilepsy: A Magnetoencephalography Study. Front. Neurol. 12:692126. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.692126 **Objective:**This study aims to investigate the differences between antiepileptic drug (AED) responders and nonresponders among patients with childhood absence epilepsy (CAE) using magnetoencephalography (MEG) and to additionally evaluate whether the neuromagnetic signals of the brain neurons were correlated with the response to therapy.

Methods: Twenty-four drug-naïve patients were subjected to MEG under six frequency bandwidths during ictal periods. The source location and functional connectivity were analyzed using accumulated source imaging and correlation analysis, respectively. All patients were treated with appropriate AED, at least 1 year after their MEG recordings, their outcome was assessed, and they were consequently divided into responders and nonresponders.

Results: The source location of the nonresponders was mainly in the frontal cortex at a frequency range of 8–12 and 30–80 Hz, especially 8–12 Hz, while the source location of the nonresponders was mostly in the medial frontal cortex, which was chosen as the region of interest. The nonresponders showed strong positive local frontal connections and deficient anterior and posterior connections at 80–250 Hz.

Conclusion: The frontal cortex and especially the medial frontal cortex at α band might be relevant to AED-nonresponsive CAE patients. The local frontal positive epileptic network at 80–250 Hz in our study might further reveal underlying cerebral abnormalities even before treatment in CAE patients, which could cause them to be nonresponsive to AED. One single mechanism cannot explain AED resistance; the nonresponders may represent a subgroup of CAE who is refractory to several antiepileptic drugs.

Keywords: childhood absence epilepsy, antiepileptic drug responders, antiepileptic drug nonresponders, ictal periods, source location, functional connectivity

INTRODUCTION

Childhood absence epilepsy (CAE) is the most common idiopathic, generalized nonconvulsive epilepsy caused by multiple genetic etiologies, representing approximately 10% of pediatric epilepsy. This disease is characterized by brief moments of impaired consciousness and often occurs between the age of 3 and 8, affecting girls more than boys (1, 2). The typical ictal electroencephalography (EEG) shows 3- to 4-Hz generalized synchronous bilateral spike-wave discharges (GSWDs) (3).

CAE is recently considered as a network disorder, and the GSWDs are probably generated through the interconnection between the cortex and thalamic neurons (4). Furthermore, different changes in brain network among CAE patients occur, involving the default mode network (DMN), attention network, and salience network (5–7).

CAE patients are often treated with ethosuximide (ESM), lamotrigine (LTG), and valproic acid (VPA). Currently, ESM has class I evidence for CAE, and it is considered as the first line of treatment to cure it compared to LTG and VPA; however, ESM is unfortunately not available in China (8, 9). Although about two-thirds of patients recover completely, some continue to experience seizures or other psychosocial deficits into adulthood (10-12). Thus, early identification is necessary to plan a replacement therapy, patient counseling, individual support, and early referral. Despite many studies predicting the treatment outcome and prognostic factors in CAE patients (13-16), the reasons why some patients respond well to the treatment while others do not remain poorly understood. Potential causes of intractability include the induction of drug efflux transporters on the blood-brain barrier and the alteration of both the neurotransmitter receptors and target ion channels (17-19).

Magnetoencephalography (MEG) is a non-invasive method to detect the neuromagnetic signals of brain neurons, which is gradually applied in clinical practice (20, 21). MEG can localize epileptic activities and provide a dependable location in the cerebral cortex (22). Compared with functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), MEG can measure at millisecond temporal resolution, which is useful for exploring epileptic neuromagnetic activities (23, 24). Different frequencies provide various temporal windows for processing, and various rhythms are correlated with distinct spatial scales (25). Sources in various frequency bands may uncover distinct corticothalamic networks in CAE patients (26).

Thus, based on the aforementioned background, in this work MEG was firstly used to study the ictal periods of absence epilepsy in untreated CAE patients, and then after the therapy, they were grouped according to their outcome, with the purpose of exploring the differences between antiepileptic drug (AED) responders and nonresponders. MEG was used to analyze the source location and functional connectivity network changes from low to high frequency in 24 drug-naïve CAE patients during ictal periods to investigate whether these alternations were correlated with the response to treatment. This study reveals new potential mechanisms involved in the treatment response of CAE patients, providing an indication for clinical treatment and prognosis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 46 CAE patients were monitored from 2014 to 2020. However, five patients were lost to follow up, 13 were treated with AEDs before the first MEG inspection, and four had no absence seizures during MEG recordings. Thus, 24 CAE patients were finally included in this study. All patients were accompanied by their parent or guardian who provided the informed consent on behalf of the child. The inclusion criteria were the following: (1) diagnosis of CAE by pediatricians according to the 2017 International League Against Seizure Classification (27), (2) an EEG showing 3 to 4 Hz GSWDs with at least 3 s of typical absence seizures, (3) head movement <5 mm during MEG recording, (4) normal neurological and physical condition, and (5) no history of AED treatment. The excluded criteria were the following: (1) presence of metal implants, (2) dramatic head movement and untypical absence seizures during MEG inspection, and (3) history of other neurological, psychiatric, or severe illnesses. During MEG recordings, eight patients were subjected to hyperventilation to evoke absence seizure, whereas the remaining patients had spontaneous absence seizures. A total of 24 patients with typical absence seizures were included in the subsequent analysis after removing inaccurate and incomplete seizures. All participants started the treatment with AEDs after the first MEG recordings as prescribed by the doctors of the Nanjing Children's Hospital in China. Clinical outcomes were evaluated at least 1 year after diagnosis by the parents' reports or EEG scans. The patients were then divided into two groups: one group consisting of AED-responsive patients and another group consisting of AED-nonresponsive patients. An AED-responsive patient was defined as one who had no clinically observed absence seizures and electroclinical discharges during video EEG recording along the follow-up. An AED-nonresponsive patient was defined as one who still had seizures after adequate doses of AEDs or who became seizure-free after the administration of more than two types of AEDs. Patients who became seizure-free after the administration of different types of AEDs due to adverse effects were considered as AED-responsive patients. The criteria were according to previously published papers (28, 29).

MEG

The research data were acquired using the CTF-275-channel whole-head MEG system (VSM Medical Technology Company, Canada) at the magnetic shielding examination laboratory. Before collecting the MEG data, three coils were connected to the bilateral preauricular and nasion area, and the head location procedure was conducted before and after each collection to determine the patient's head locations, matching the MEG sensors prior to inspections. The audiovisual system was applied in monitoring the process. The sampling rate was 6,000 Hz, and the data were collected with noise elimination of third-order gradients. At least six epochs with a period of 2 min were collected for each patient, and then the patients were told to close their eyes and remain still during the scan. Head movement for each collection was restricted to 5 mm. If no ictal data were captured,



another recording was performed after subjecting the patients to hyperventilate to trigger extra absence seizures.

MRI

All patients were subjected to a T1-weighted image with a 3.0-T system magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) examination (Siemens, Germany). The parameters were as follows: the flip angle was 9°, the field of view was 250×250 mm, and the matrix was 512×512 . We acquired 176 sagittal slices of each subject. The MRI marks were placed in the same position as those used in the MEG inspection for a precise co-registration of the MEG and MRI datasets. All the anatomical parts in the MRI could be recognized in the digital MEG images.

MEG Data Analysis and Signal Processing Technology

MEG data were filtered by a 1–4-Hz band pass filter after removing noticeable magnetic artifacts and noise (amplitude >6 pT). The selection of ictal periods was based on 3-Hz GSWDs shown in MEG and clinically observed symptoms. The clinical manifestations were observed by the audiovisual system. The epileptic waveforms were recognized by a specialist neurological physician. The first spike wave and the last slow wave in GSWDs were defined as the beginning and the ending of the seizure separately. An ictal segment of more than 3 s for data processing was chosen (**Figure 1**). The MEG signals of predefined six frequency bands at 1–4, 4–8, 8–12, 12–30, 30–80, and 80–250 Hz were analyzed, and the power-line noise at 50 Hz was avoided.

Source Localization

According to the previously published paper (30), accumulated source imaging (ASI) technique was used to sum the volumes of source activities over a period of time with two-step beamforming methods, which could quantitatively compare the neuromagnetic activity between responders and nonresponders. The ASI was applied in separating correlated sources with multiple source beamformers. The sources were located by ASI using node-beam lead fields. Because each node-beam lead field represented a form of either subspace solution or source-beamformer (30), the entire brain was scanned at a resolution 6 mm (about 17,160 voxels per magnetic source). ASI was obtained using the following formula:

$$Asi(r,s) = \sum_{t=1}^{t=n} Q(r,t)$$

where Asi stands for the accumulative source strength at location r, s represents time slice, t represents the time point of MEG data, n stands for the entire time points of MEG data, and Q is the source activity at the time point t and source r. Detailed algorithms were described in the previously published paper (30), and this method has been used in several research (31–36).

Functional Connectivity

According to previous studies (30, 35, 36), the ASI algorithms and the correlation analysis were used to elaborate the functional connectivity network between the responders and nonresponders at the source level. The volumetric sources of activities in the whole brain were firstly calculated using individual MR images (31). The signal correlation of virtual sensors from two source pairs was analyzed to estimate the neural networks during the selected ictal period. The correlativity between the virtual sensor signals from the two source pairs was analyzed by calculating the correlation coefficient, and the correlation coefficient was expressed as per the following formula:

$$R(xa, xb) = \frac{C(xa, xb)}{SxaSxb}$$

where R(xa, xb) represents the correlation between two magnetic sources at position "*a*" and "*b*," *xa*, and *xb* are the signals from

the paired magnetic sources to calculate the correlation, C(xa, xb) represents the average value of the signals from the paired magnetic sources, and *Sxa* and *Sxb* are the standard deviations of two source signals.

All possible links between every two source pairs were evaluated at the source level to avoid bias, and the neural network distribution was superimposed on the individual MR images (30, 31). Individual MR images were spatially normalized using an MRI template (37, 38), and the neural networks were overlaid on individual MR images. Then, the MEG-MRI data were spatially normalized to the MRI template. The medial frontal cortex (MFC) was specially selected as the region of interest (ROI). The ROI was firstly defined visually and then verified with coordinates through the MRI template. The neural networks between responders and nonresponders were visually recognized in MRI views and displayed in the coronal, axial, and sagittal positions. The midpoint of the right and left preauricular points was the original point (x = 0, y = 0, and z = 0). The blue and red colors indicated the negative and positive connections, respectively. Our MEG processor software could segment and visualize the brain regions in 2D and 3D views.

The threshold was defined as a checkpoint to guarantee the data quality. The t values for the entire magnetic source pairs were used to identify the threshold for the connection and calculated using the following equation:

$$Tp = R\sqrt{\frac{K-2}{1-R^2}}$$

where *Tp* represents the *t* value of a correlation, *R* stands for the correlation of magnetic source pairs, and *K* represents the number of connected data points. This study specifies the *Tp* value when p < 0.05 was defined as the threshold of functional connectivity network within the two groups.

The algorithms discussed above were analyzed through MEG Processor software (http://sites.google.com/site/braincloudx/). The detailed mathematical algorithms were described in previous studies (30, 31), and this method has been used in several research (35, 36, 39).

Statistical Analyses

The magnetic source location and functional connectivity under six frequency bandwidths were compared between AED-responsive patients and AED-nonresponsive patients using Fisher's test. The clinical data of the patients (age of onset, average age, follow-up time, and duration of absence seizures during MEG recording) between responders and nonresponders were analyzed using two-tailed *t*-test, and the results were represented as mean \pm SD. The types of AED between the two groups were analyzed using Fisher's test. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Multiple comparisons were corrected by Bonferroni-corrected methods [i.e., for six frequency bands, p < 0.0083 (0.05/6 = 0.0083)]. Controlling the false discovery rate could be utilized to solve the problem of type 1 errors (40). Statistical analysis was performed by SPSS 25.0 (IBM SPSS Inc., USA).

RESULTS

Subject Characteristics, Therapy, and Therapeutic Response

The gender ratio among patients was 4:20 (male/female). Thirteen patients were responsive, and 11 were nonresponsive. Among the responders, LTG was administered to nine patients, and VPA was administered to the other four. All the responders became seizure-free. Among the nonresponders, LTG was administered to two patients, VPA was administered to five, and a combination of VPA-LTG was administered to the other four. The seven nonresponders treated with monotherapy still had seizures, whereas the four treated with combination therapy became seizure-free. The average age of the 24 patients was 10.28 ± 2.82 years; the onset age was 6.29 ± 1.33 years, with a mean duration of the seizure of 14.10 ± 4.70 s and a follow-up time of 28.67 \pm 22.07 months. The clinical characteristics of the responders and nonresponders were not significantly different (onset age, average age, age at the time of diagnosis, gender, seizure durations, follow-up time, and types of AEDs). The clinical data are shown in Table 1.

Source Location

The source location of the nonresponders was mainly in the frontal cortex at 8–12 and 30–80 Hz, especially 8–12 Hz. The source location of the nonresponders was mostly in the medial frontal cortex, which was chosen as the region of interest (p = 0.005, p < 0.0083; **Figure 2** and **Table 2**). In addition, it is important to note that majority of the areas of MFC were the medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) and dorsal medial frontal cortex (DMFC) (**Figure 3**), while in the other four frequency bands, the two groups were not statistically different.

Functional Connectivity

Because the source location of the nonresponders was mainly located in the MFC at 8-12 Hz, our hypothesis was that the network involving MFC could be different between the two groups. Thus, MFC was chosen as the ROI. The results were co-registered to each patient's brain MR images using the three fiducial points, and visual inspection was conducted in both 2D and 3D views by two specialist neurological physicians independently. Both excitatory and inhibitory connections were analyzed. The functional connectivity was significantly different between the responders and nonresponders (p <0.0001; Figure 4) at 80-250 Hz. At 80-250 Hz, the nonresponders showed strong positive connections in the frontal cortex (excluding other brain areas) compared with the responders. Nevertheless, both the responders and nonresponders showed excitatory connections between the anterior and posterior brain areas in the other five frequency bandwidths, and no significant differences were observed between the two groups in these frequency bands.

DISCUSSION

Our study using MEG revealed that the differences in pretreatment source location and functional connectivity

Patient	Gender/age (years)	Onset age (years)	Seizure durations (s)	Follow-up time (months)	Initial aed	Aeds added	Seizure-free
1 ^a	F/8	6	16.5	12	VPA	Ν	Y
<u>2</u> a	F/9	6	10	23	LTG	Ν	Υ
3 ^a	F/8	5	7.1	20	LTG	Ν	Υ
la	F/9	6	7.2	20	LTG	Ν	Υ
5 ^a	F/10	8	14.4	20	LTG	Ν	Y
^a	F/13	7	15	68	LTG	Ν	Υ
'a	F/11	5	15.5	74	VPA	Ν	Υ
3 ^a	F/8	6	5	23	LTG	Ν	Y
a	F/13	7	14.8	68	LTG	Ν	Υ
0 ^a	F/8	7	24	13	LTG	Ν	Υ
1 ^a	M/6	5	10.2	14	VPA	Ν	Y
2 ^a	F/7	6	14.7	13	LTG	Ν	Y
3 ^a	M/8	7	18	12	VPA	Ν	Y
4 ^b	M/14	6	20	24	VPA	Ν	Ν
5 ^b	F/15	8	18.5	25	LTG	VPA	Y
6 ^b	F/9	7	9.3	12	LTG	Ν	Ν
7 ^b	F/10	8	15	26	VPA	Ν	Ν
8 ^b	F/10	5	11.2	15	VPA	Ν	Ν
9 ^b	F/11	10	11.3	12	LTG	Ν	Ν
0 ^b	F/14	4	11.3	67	LTG	VPA	Υ
1 ^b	M/11	6	18	23	LTG	VPA	Y
2 ^b	F/11	5	13	13	VPA	Ν	Ν
3 ^b	M/7	5	20.5	19	VPA	Ν	Ν
4 ^b	F/17	6	18	72	LTG	VPA	Y

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the patients.

F, female; M, male; Y, yes; N, no; aeds, antiepileptic drugs; LTG, lamotrigine; VPA, valproic acid.

^amean responder.

^bmean nonresponder.

network between AED responders and AED nonresponders were frequency dependent, supporting the existence of new mechanisms of AED response in CAE children. However, the clinical characteristics between the responders and nonresponders did not change significantly in our study.

Source Localization

Among the nonresponders, an evident frontal cortex source location at 8–12 and 30–80 Hz, especially the MFC (including MPFC and DMFC) source location at 8–12 Hz was found compared with the responders.

The frontal cortex has numerous high-order functions (41– 43), and some studies reported that the orbital/lateral frontal lobe may be of importance for CAE pathophysiology (44, 45). The lower frontal myelin water content in CAE patients reflects an altered neurodevelopment, and the frontal lobe regions are most closely related to the cortical thickness of the entire brain in CAE patients (46, 47). Moreover, to the best of our knowledge and contrary to popular belief, cortical oscillations, instead of sole thalamic rhythmicity, are pivotal in inducing epilepsy and establishing a spike–wave discharge frequency (48), and the frontal cortex is of great importance in initiating and spreading absence epilepsy (44, 49–51). However, the subgroups of CAE patients related to AED response are insufficiently studied. A previous EEG study revealed that the frontal onset of absence seizures is sometimes harder to control with traditional AED monotherapy and can be considered a special subtype (52). P. W. Carney used EEG-fMRI to classify the diverse individual patterns of frontal cortical activation associated with absence seizures, and they postulated that the involvement of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in this disease is highly associated to cognitive impairment in CAE, and the group with a primarily negative signal change in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex has a more benign phenotype compared to the positive group (53).

Furthermore, in our study, the MFC mainly included MPFC and DMFC. MPFC is an important hub of default mode network, which is closely connected to the limbic system (54) and is considered abnormal in CAE patients (5, 55). Thus, it is likely that source locations involving these crucial hubs potentially reveal dysfunctional intrinsic activities and can make CAE patients become more intractable.

The frequency band where the source was located was mainly at 8–12 and 30–80 Hz, both expressing low-frequency brain activities. The α rhythm (8–12 Hz) is an obvious oscillation during wakefulness and relaxation (56). A study has shown that idiopathic, generalized epilepsy patients represent increased



Significant differences were labeled with a green arrow. The location in the nonresponders was mainly in the frontal cortex area at 8–12 and 30–80 Hz, especially at 8–12 Hz, as opposite to the responders; the nonresponders showed activation in the medial frontal cortex area.

functional connectivity in low- α frequencies (57). The γ rhythm (30-80 Hz) is important in information processing within cortical networks (58). A research found that the shift in γ power (30-80 Hz) was associated with AED efficacy in two absence epilepsy mouse models (59). Notably, we observed nonresponders located in MFC at 8-12 Hz compared with the responders in our study. A previous study using EEG found that α -power shifted in intractable epilepsy patients, which might reflect dysfunction of a large-scale cortico-thalamic network, including frontal cortex (60). Various frequency bands prefer diverse sorts of connections and different spatial and temporal information integrations. Low-frequency oscillators include numerous groups of neurons in large cerebrum regions as compared with high-frequency oscillators (HFOs) (61). Thus, the source of low-frequency brain activity may not always result in a description of potential epileptogenic zones (33).

Overall, our results made preliminary assumptions that the frontal lobe and especially the medial frontal lobe at α band might be relevant to AED-nonresponsive CAE patients.

Network Pattern

Notably, the source location does not represent the aberrant brain tissue but indicates the area involved in a dynamic

network of discharges (62). Epileptic seizures reflect aberrant synchronization, which can only be learnt at the level of neuronal networks (63). Functional connectivity is considered the statistical dependencies among distant neurophysiology events (64). The network perspective assists in understanding the epileptogenesis of epilepsy, which may result in the progression and maintenance of intractable or chronic epilepsy (65).

Therefore, given the importance of MFC that we discovered initially and the advantages of functional connectivity networks, the dynamics of functional connectivity networks involving the MFC were specially studied.

Our results identified a stronger positive functional connectivity in local frontal cortex at 80-250 Hz in nonresponders. Fair DA supposed that, as the brain grows, the connections between the anterior and posterior cortices are strengthened (66). However, the increased connection within the frontal cortex and the decreased connection between the anterior and posterior cortex might not simply be due to immature brain development. A previous study has demonstrated increased functional connectivity within the orbitofrontal cortex in CAE patients (67). Moreover, the network-involved MFC presented decreased connections with other regions. The MFC was a hub of DMN, which was revealed to be abnormal in CAE patients (5). A previous study revealed reduced DMN connectivity in treatment-resistant idiopathic, generalized epilepsy (68). Intractable epilepsy may arise from the start rather than evolve over time, and clinical symptoms are obvious in the early stage of the disease (69). Thus, we speculated that this local frontal connection found in our study might be caused by underlying cerebral abnormalities even before treatment in CAE patients, potentially leading to them to become AED nonresponders, but in our study, given the small sample size of the two groups, we could not definitely extend our results to the entire CAE patient population. Further study is needed in the future.

In our study, the CAE patients were treated with VPA or LTG rather than ESM because ESM is not available in China. The mechanisms used by VPA and LTG to resolve CAE were unclear. Previous studies concluded that T-type calcium channels in nucleus reticularis and cortical neurons are vital in absence seizure expression, which is consistent with the gain-of-function mutation of the Cav3.2 subtype of T-type calcium channels appearing in some CAE patients (70, 71). This evidence might explain the weak and non-selective action of VPA on these channels, which leads to its ineffectiveness (72). In addition, LTG is generally considered as a member of the sodium channel blockers of AEDs, but this mechanism is not explaining its current clinical effect on controlling absence seizures (73, 74). Overexpression of drug efflux transporters in epilepsy, mostly P-glycoprotein, at the blood-brain barrier can be involved in LTG resistance (75, 76). However, the relationship between the pretreatment neural network during ictal periods found in our study and the molecular mechanisms discussed above is unknown. Thus, further studies are needed to investigate the underlying connections between them.

A study speculated that the receptors used by VPA to exert its effect are spread in all parts of the corticoreticular network, potentially explaining the effect of this AED (77). A previous

Frequency band (Hz)	1-	-4	4-	-8	8-	-12	12	2–30	30-	-80	80	-250
Group	N	R	N	R	N	R	N	R	Ν	R	N	R
FC	4	3	4	1	7*	0*	3	2	10*	1*	3	1
(MFC)	3	3	4	1	7*	0*	3	2	5	0	3	0
(LFL)	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	1	0	1
TC	1	0	1	0	1	2	0	2	0	3	3	6
TPJ	1	2	0	0	0	3	0	1	0	0	0	1
POT	6	5	4	2	2	2	3	2	0	0	0	0
Pc	0	3	1	0	0	1	2	3	1	1	0	0
PCC	0	2	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	0
PL	1	1	2	1	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
MOC	2	4	0	2	1	2	1	2	0	1	0	0
TH	0	3	1	4	1	1	3	3	2	7	1	1
CE	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
DBA	0	1	0	2	0	2	1	0	3	1	4	3

N, nonresponders; R, responders; FC, frontal cortex; LFL, lateral frontal lobe; MFC, medial frontal cortex; TPJ, temporal-parietal junction; POT, parietal–occipital–temporal junction; pC, precuneus; PCC, posterior cingulate cortex; PL, parietal lobe; MOC, medial occipital cortex; TH, thalamus; CE, cerebellum; DBA, deep brain area.



study evaluating the therapy outcome in CAE demonstrated that the involvement of post-dorsal lateral medial frontal cortex in CAE patients may be the reason of the initial LTG therapy failure, and VPA effectiveness can be associated with the complexity of the neural network (78). Furthermore, a study using a combined EEG–fMRI and MEG analysis revealed that CAE nonresponders have a pretreatment increased connectivity in the frontal cortex, potentially leading to the absence of the effect of ESM on the thalamus in comparison with the effect of ESM treatment in responders (29).

Whereas, in our study changes in the local medial frontal cortex network were discovered in nonresponders, independently on the type of AED the children received, our results potentially suggest that the pretreatment network differences between responders and nonresponders were not specific to one single AED but represented a subgroup of CAE who was refractory to any medical treatment, an aspect that is in agreement with the previous study discussed above (29).

The significant changes of functional connectivity networks were at 80–250 Hz. HFOs are usually divided into ripples (80–250 Hz) and fast ripples (250–500 Hz), which are appropriate for detecting adjacent and strongly connected neural connections and may offer accurate spatial information about cortical malfunction (61). It has been uncovered that ictal HFOs are produced by the disorganization of neural firing, which are highly located in epileptogenic zones (79). Tenney indicated that ictal HFOs prominently appeared in the frontal area in CAE patients (26), and a previous study of our group reported that the ictal HFOs reflected the severity of absence seizures (33). HFOs might also serve for monitoring AED response (80).

To sum up, our results display the abnormal dynamic networks involving the MFC in nonresponders at 80–250 Hz, which might further reveal underlying cerebral abnormalities even before treatment in CAE patients, leading to nonresponsive AEDs.

Nevertheless, the response ratio of the treatment in CAE patients varied from 60 to 95%, which was depending on different factors, including the studied population, the measurement of the outcomes, the length of the follow-up, pretreatment EEG semiology, genetic abnormalities, and different AED mechanisms (15, 16, 81–83). It is probably an understatement to assume that AED resistance was caused by a single mechanism because it could be due to multiple factors coexisting in the same patient.

LIMITATIONS

Our research has certain limitations. Firstly, the clinical data were provided by the parents, potentially resulting in inexact information. Secondly, given the strict inclusion criteria, our



analysis is limited to a relatively small sample size; thus, it is not possible to draw any definitive conclusions, and further studies are needed to confirm our results. Thirdly, the relationship between cortical multi-frequency pretreatment neuromagnetic activities and the underlying molecular mechanisms remained unknown. Finally, the repeatability and reliability of our

activities and the underlying molecular mechanisms remained unknown. Finally, the repeatability and reliability of our measurements remain to be proven. Therefore, further research is needed to confirm the underlying mechanisms of AED response in CAE patients.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study demonstrated the pretreatment source location and functional connectivity network associated with the different treatment responses in CAE patients. The frontal cortex and especially the MFC at α band might be relevant to

REFERENCES

1. Avoli M, Rogawski MA, Avanzini G. Generalized epileptic disorders: an update. *Epilepsia*. (2001) 42:445–57. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.39800.x

AED-nonresponsive CAE patients. The local frontal positive connection at a high-frequency range in our study might be probably caused by underlying cerebral abnormalities even before treatment in CAE patients, leading to nonresponsive AEDs. It is probably an understatement to assume that one single mechanism was responsible for AED resistance; the nonresponders might represent a subgroup of CAE who were refractory to several antiepileptic drugs. Thus, the specific mechanisms underlying the treatment response need to be further investigated.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Affiliated Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s), and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KZ analyzed the data and wrote this manuscript. JS and YS contributed to data analysis. KN, PW, and CW recruited patients. QC recorded the MEG data. All authors agreed to publish this manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant no. 82071455), the Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (grant no. BK20191127), the Health Department of Jiangsu Province (grant no. H2018062), and the Medical and Health International Cooperation Project of Nanjing Municipal Science and Technology Bureau (grant no. 201911044).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate the support from all the participants and their guardians. We thank the researchers and medical experts at the Affiliated Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University and the Affiliated Children's Hospital of Nanjing Medical University.

 Berg AT, Shinnar S, Levy SR, Testa FM. Newly diagnosed epilepsy in children: presentation at diagnosis. *Epilepsia*. (1999) 40:445–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1999.tb0 0739.x

- Loiseau P, Duché B, Pédespan JM. Absence epilepsies. *Epilepsia*. (1995) 36:1182–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1995.tb01060.x
- Snead OC III. Basic mechanisms of generalized absence seizures. Ann Neurol. (1995) 37:146–57. doi: 10.1002/ana.410370204
- Luo C, Li Q, Lai Y, Xia Y, Qin Y, Liao W, et al. Altered functional connectivity in default mode network in absence epilepsy: a restingstate fMRI study. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2011) 32:438–49. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 21034
- Killory BD, Bai X, Negishi M, Vega C, Spann MN, Vestal M, et al. Impaired attention and network connectivity in childhood absence epilepsy. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 56:2209–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011. 03.036
- Luo C, Yang T, Tu S, Deng J, Liu D, Li Q, et al. Altered intrinsic functional connectivity of the salience network in childhood absence epilepsy. *J Neurol Sci.* (2014) 339:189–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.02.016
- Glauser TA, Cnaan A, Shinnar S, Hirtz DG, Dlugos D, Masur D, et al. Ethosuximide, valproic acid, and lamotrigine in childhood absence epilepsy. *New Engl J Med.* (2010) 362:790–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa09 02014
- Glauser TA, Cnaan A, Shinnar S, Hirtz DG, Dlugos D, Masur D, et al. Ethosuximide, valproic acid, and lamotrigine in childhood absence epilepsy: initial monotherapy outcomes at 12 months. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:141–55. doi: 10.1111/epi.12028
- Bouma PA, Westendorp RG, van Dijk JG, Peters AC, Brouwer OF. The outcome of absence epilepsy: a meta-analysis. *Neurology*. (1996) 47:802–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.47.3.802
- Caplan R, Siddarth P, Stahl L, Lanphier E, Vona P, Gurbani S, et al. Childhood absence epilepsy: behavioral, cognitive, and linguistic comorbidities. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49:1838–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008. 01680.x
- Wirrell EC, Camfield CS, Camfield PR, Gordon KE, Dooley JM. Longterm prognosis of typical childhood absence epilepsy: remission or progression to juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Neurology*. (1996) 47:912–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.47.4.912
- Kim HR, Kim GH, Eun SH, Eun BL, Byeon JH. Therapeutic outcomes and prognostic factors in childhood absence epilepsy. J Clin Neurol. (2016) 12:160–5. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2016.12.2.160
- Kessler SK, Shinnar S, Cnaan A, Dlugos D, Conry J, Hirtz DG, et al. Pretreatment seizure semiology in childhood absence epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2017) 89:673–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000 04226
- Dlugos D, Shinnar S, Cnaan A, Hu F, Moshé S, Mizrahi E, et al. Pretreatment EEG in childhood absence epilepsy: associations with attention and treatment outcome. *Neurology.* (2013) 81:150–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31829 a3373
- Glauser TA, Holland K, O'Brien VP, Keddache M, Martin LJ, Clark PO, et al. Pharmacogenetics of antiepileptic drug efficacy in childhood absence epilepsy. *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 81:444–53. doi: 10.1002/ana. 24886
- Remy S, Beck H. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. *Brain.* (2006) 129(Pt 1):18–35. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awh682
- Löscher W, Potschka H. Drug resistance in brain diseases and the role of drug efflux transporters. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2005) 6:591–602. doi: 10.1038/nrn1728
- Löscher W, Potschka H, Sisodiya SM, Vezzani A. Drug resistance in epilepsy: clinical impact, potential mechanisms, and new innovative treatment options. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2020) 72:606–38. doi: 10.1124/pr.120. 019539
- Alkawadri R, Burgess RC, Kakisaka Y, Mosher JC, Alexopoulos AV. Assessment of the utility of ictal magnetoencephalography in the localization of the epileptic seizure onset zone. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:1264–72. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1430
- Marquetand J, Vannoni S, Carboni M, Li Hegner Y, Stier C, Braun C, et al. Reliability of magnetoencephalography and high-density electroencephalography resting-state functional connectivity metrics. *Brain Connect.* (2019) 9:539–53. doi: 10.1089/brain.2019.0662
- 22. Tamilia E, AlHilani M, Tanaka N, Tsuboyama M, Peters JM, Grant PE, et al. Assessing the localization accuracy and clinical utility of electric and

magnetic source imaging in children with epilepsy. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2019) 130:491–504. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2019.01.009

- Moradi F, Liu LC, Cheng K, Waggoner RA, Tanaka K, Ioannides AA. Consistent and precise localization of brain activity in human primary visual cortex by MEG and fMRI. *NeuroImage*. (2003) 18:595–609. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(02)00053-8
- Babiloni C, Pizzella V, Gratta CD, Ferretti A, Romani GL. Fundamentals of electroencefalography, magnetoencefalography, and functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* (2009) 86:67–80. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7742(09)86005-4
- Canolty RT, Knight RT. The functional role of cross-frequency coupling. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2010) 14:506–15. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.09.001
- Tenney JR, Fujiwara H, Horn PS, Vannest J, Xiang J, Glauser TA, et al. Lowand high-frequency oscillations reveal distinct absence seizure networks. *Ann Neurol.* (2014) 76:558–67. doi: 10.1002/ana.24231
- Fisher RS, Cross JH, French JA, Higurashi N, Hirsch E, Jansen FE, et al. Operational classification of seizure types by the international league against epilepsy: position paper of the ILAE commission for classification and terminology. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:522–30. doi: 10.1111/epi.13670
- Kwan P, Arzimanoglou A, Berg AT, Brodie MJ, Allen Hauser W, Mathern G, et al. Definition of drug resistant epilepsy: consensus proposal by the ad hoc task force of the ILAE commission on therapeutic strategies. *Epilepsia*. (2010) 51:1069–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02397.x
- Tenney JR, Kadis DS, Agler W, Rozhkov L, Altaye M, Xiang J, et al. Ictal connectivity in childhood absence epilepsy: associations with outcome. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:971–81. doi: 10.1111/epi.14067
- 30. Xiang J, Luo Q, Kotecha R, Korman A, Zhang F, Luo H, et al. Accumulated source imaging of brain activity with both low and high-frequency neuromagnetic signals. *Front Neuroinform.* (2014) 8:57. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2014.00057
- Xiang J, Korman A, Samarasinghe KM, Wang X, Zhang F, Qiao H, et al. Volumetric imaging of brain activity with spatial-frequency decoding of neuromagnetic signals. *J Neurosci Methods*. (2015) 239:114–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.10.007
- 32. Xiang J, Tenney JR, Korman AM, Leiken K, Rose DF, Harris E, et al. Quantification of interictal neuromagnetic activity in absence epilepsy with accumulated source imaging. *Brain Topogr.* (2015) 28:904–14. doi: 10.1007/s10548-014-0411-5
- Tang L, Xiang J, Huang S, Miao A, Ge H, Liu H, et al. Neuromagnetic high-frequency oscillations correlate with seizure severity in absence epilepsy. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2016) 127:1120–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2015. 08.016
- Sun J, Gao Y, Miao A, Yu C, Tang L, Huang S, et al. Multifrequency dynamics of cortical neuromagnetic activity underlying seizure termination in absence epilepsy. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2020) 14:221. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020. 00221
- 35. Shi Q, Zhang T, Miao A, Sun J, Sun Y, Chen Q, et al. Differences between interictal and ictal generalized spike-wave discharges in childhood absence epilepsy: a MEG study. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:1359. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.01359
- 36. Sun Y, Li Y, Shi Q, Wu C, Sun J, Chen Q, et al. Changes of ictalonset epileptic network synchronicity in childhood absence epilepsy: a magnetoencephalography study. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:583267. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.583267
- 37. Collins DL, Neelin P, Peters TM, Evans AC. Automatic 3D intersubject registration of MR volumetric data in standardized Talairach space. J Comput Assisted Tomogr. (1994) 18:192–205. doi: 10.1097/00004728-199403000-00005
- Evans AC, Janke AL, Collins DL, Baillet S. Brain templates and atlases. *Neuroimage*. (2012) 62:911–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012. 01.024
- Wu C, Xiang J, Jiang W, Huang S, Gao Y, Tang L, et al. Altered effective connectivity network in childhood absence epilepsy: a multi-frequency meg study. *Brain Topogr.* (2017) 30:673–84. doi: 10.1007/s10548-017-0555-1
- Genovese CR, Lazar NA, Nichols T. Thresholding of statistical maps in functional neuroimaging using the false discovery rate. *NeuroImage*. (2002) 15:870–8. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.1037

- Estévez-González A, García-Sánchez C, Barraquer-Bordas L. [Frontal lobes: the executive brain]. *Rev Neurol.* (2000) 31:566–77. doi: 10.33588/rn.3106.2000258
- Fuster JM. Frontal lobe and cognitive development. J Neurocytol. (2002) 31:373–85. doi: 10.1023/A:1024190429920
- Jódar-Vicente M. [Cognitive functions of the frontal lobe]. Rev Neurol. (2004) 39:178–82. doi: 10.33588/rn.3902.2004254
- 44. Holmes MD, Brown M, Tucker DM. Are "generalized" seizures truly generalized? Evidence of localized mesial frontal and frontopolar discharges in absence. *Epilepsia*. (2004) 45:1568–79. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.2 3204.x
- Bai X, Vestal M, Berman R, Negishi M, Spann M, Vega C, et al. Dynamic time course of typical childhood absence seizures: EEG, behavior, and functional magnetic resonance imaging. *J Neurosci.* (2010) 30:5884–93. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5101-09.2010
- Drenthen GS, Fonseca Wald ELA, Backes WH, Debeij-Van Hall M, Hendriksen JGM, Aldenkamp AP, et al. Lower myelin-water content of the frontal lobe in childhood absence epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2019) 60:1689–96. doi: 10.1111/epi.16280
- Curwood EK, Pedersen M, Carney PW, Berg AT, Abbott DF, Jackson GD. Abnormal cortical thickness connectivity persists in childhood absence epilepsy. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2015) 2:456–64. doi: 10.1002/ac n3.178
- McCafferty C, David F, Venzi M, Lorincz ML, Delicata F, Atherton Z, et al. Cortical drive and thalamic feed-forward inhibition control thalamic output synchrony during absence seizures. *Nat Neurosci.* (2018) 21:744–56. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0130-4
- Westmijse I, Ossenblok P, Gunning B, van Luijtelaar G. Onset and propagation of spike and slow wave discharges in human absence epilepsy: A MEG study. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:2538–48. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.0 2162.x
- Miao A, Tang L, Xiang J, Guan Q, Ge H, Liu H, et al. Dynamic magnetic source imaging of absence seizure initialization and propagation: a magnetoencephalography study. *Epilepsy Res.* (2014) 108:468–80. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2014.01.006
- Tucker DM, Brown M, Luu P, Holmes MD. Discharges in ventromedial frontal cortex during absence spells. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2007) 11:546–57. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2007.04.023
- Jocić-Jakubi B, Jovanović M, Janković DS, Lagae L. Frontal-onset absences in children: associated with worse outcome? A replication study. *Seizure*. (2009) 18:275–8. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2008.10.013
- Carney PW, Masterton RA, Flanagan D, Berkovic SF, Jackson GD. The frontal lobe in absence epilepsy: EEG-fMRI findings. *Neurology*. (2012) 78:1157–65. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31824f801d
- Andrews-Hanna JR, Reidler JS, Sepulcre J, Poulin R, Buckner RL. Functionalanatomic fractionation of the brain's default network. *Neuron.* (2010) 65:550– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.02.005
- Li Q, Cao W, Liao X, Chen Z, Yang T, Gong Q, et al. Altered resting state functional network connectivity in children absence epilepsy. J Neurol Sci. (2015) 354:79–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.04.054
- Halgren M, Ulbert I, Bastuji H, Fabó D, Eross L, Rey M, et al. The generation and propagation of the human alpha rhythm. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*. (2019) 116:23772–82. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1913092116
- Chowdhury FA, Woldman W, FitzGerald TH, Elwes RD, Nashef L, Terry JR, et al. Revealing a brain network endophenotype in families with idiopathic generalised epilepsy. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e110136. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110136
- Uhlhaas PJ, Pipa G, Neuenschwander S, Wibral M, Singer W. A new look at gamma? High- (>60 Hz) γ-band activity in cortical networks: function, mechanisms and impairment. *Progr Biophys Mol Biol.* (2011) 105:14–28. doi: 10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2010.10.004
- Maheshwari A, Marks RL, Yu KM, Noebels JL. Shift in interictal relative gamma power as a novel biomarker for drug response in two mouse models of absence epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2016) 57:79–88. doi: 10.1111/epi.13265
- Abela E, Pawley AD, Tangwiriyasakul C, Yaakub SN, Chowdhury FA, Elwes RDC, et al. Slower alpha rhythm associates with poorer seizure control in epilepsy. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2019) 6:333–43. doi: 10.1002/ac n3.710

- Engel J Jr. da Silva FL. High-frequency oscillations where we are and where we need to go. *Progr Neurobiol.* (2012) 98:316–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.02.001
- 62. van Mierlo P, Papadopoulou M, Carrette E, Boon P, Vandenberghe S, Vonck K, et al. Functional brain connectivity from EEG in epilepsy: seizure prediction and epileptogenic focus localization. *Progr Neurobiol.* (2014) 121:19–35. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.06.004
- Engel J Jr. Thompson PM, Stern JM, Staba RJ, Bragin A, et al. Connectomics and epilepsy. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2013) 26:186–94. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e32835ee5b8
- Friston KJ. Functional and effective connectivity: a review. Brain Connect. (2011) 1:13–36. doi: 10.1089/brain.2011.0008
- Koepp MJ. Neuroimaging of drug resistance in epilepsy. Curr Opin Neurol. (2014) 27:192–8. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0000000000 00072
- 66. Fair DA, Cohen AL, Dosenbach NU, Church JA, Miezin FM, Barch DM, et al. The maturing architecture of the brain's default network. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:4028–32. doi: 10.1073/pnas.08003 76105
- Bai X, Guo J, Killory B, Vestal M, Berman R, Negishi M, et al. Resting functional connectivity between the hemispheres in childhood absence epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2011) 76:1960–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182 1e54de
- Kay BP, DiFrancesco MW, Privitera MD, Gotman J, Holland SK, Szaflarski JP. Reduced default mode network connectivity in treatment-resistant idiopathic generalized epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:461–70. doi: 10.1111/epi. 12057
- Kwan P, Brodie MJ. Early identification of refractory epilepsy. New Engl J Med. (2000) 342:314–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJM2000020334 20503
- Chen Y, Lu J, Pan H, Zhang Y, Wu H, Xu K, et al. Association between genetic variation of CACNA1H and childhood absence epilepsy. *Ann Neurol.* (2003) 54:239–43. doi: 10.1002/ana.10607
- Khosravani H, Altier C, Simms B, Hamming KS, Snutch TP, Mezeyova J, et al. Gating effects of mutations in the Cav3.2 T-type calcium channel associated with childhood absence epilepsy. *J Biol Chem.* (2004) 279:9681–4. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C400006200
- Crunelli V, Lorincz ML, McCafferty C, Lambert RC, Leresche N, Di Giovanni G, et al. Clinical and experimental insight into pathophysiology, comorbidity and therapy of absence seizures. *Brain.* (2020) 143:2341–68. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa072
- Coulter DA. Antiepileptic drug cellular mechanisms of action: where does lamotrigine fit in? J Child Neurol. (1997) 12(Suppl. 1):S2–9. doi: 10.1177/0883073897012001031
- Culy CR, Goa KL. Lamotrigine. A review of its use in childhood epilepsy. *Paediatr Drugs*. (2000) 2:299–330. doi: 10.2165/00128072-20000204 0-00006
- Potschka H, Fedrowitz M, Löscher W. P-Glycoprotein-mediated efflux of phenobarbital, lamotrigine, and felbamate at the blood-brain barrier: evidence from microdialysis experiments in rats. *Neurosci Lett.* (2002) 327:173–6. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00423-8
- Zhang C, Kwan P, Zuo Z, Baum L. The transport of antiepileptic drugs by P-glycoprotein. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. (2012) 64:930–42. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2011.12.003
- 77. Szaflarski JP, Kay B, Gotman J, Privitera MD, Holland SK. The relationship between the localization of the generalized spike and wave discharge generators and the response to valproate. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:471–80. doi: 10.1111/epi.12062
- Miao A, Wang Y, Xiang J, Liu Q, Chen Q, Qiu W, et al. Ictal source locations and cortico-thalamic connectivity in childhood absence epilepsy: associations with treatment response. *Brain Topogr.* (2019) 32:178–91. doi: 10.1007/s10548-018-0680-5
- Xiang J, Wang Y, Chen Y, Liu Y, Kotecha R, Huo X, et al. Noninvasive localization of epileptogenic zones with ictal high-frequency neuromagnetic signals. J Neurosurg Pediatr. (2010) 5:113–22. doi: 10.3171/2009.8.PEDS09345
- Kobayashi K, Akiyama T, Oka M, Endoh F, Yoshinaga H. A storm of fast (40-150Hz) oscillations during hypsarrhythmia in West syndrome. *Ann Neurol.* (2015) 77:58–67. doi: 10.1002/ana.24299

- Wirrell E, Camfield C, Camfield P, Dooley J. Prognostic significance of failure of the initial antiepileptic drug in children with absence epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2001) 42:760–3. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.02401.x
- Grosso S, Galimberti D, Vezzosi P, Farnetani M, Di Bartolo RM, Bazzotti S, et al. Childhood absence epilepsy: evolution and prognostic factors. *Epilepsia*. (2005) 46:1796–801. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005.00277.x
- Löscher W, Schmidt D. Modern antiepileptic drug development has failed to deliver: ways out of the current dilemma. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:657–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03024.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Sun, Sun, Niu, Wang, Wu, Chen and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Update on the Neuroimaging and Electroencephalographic Biomarkers of Epileptogenesis: A Literature Review

Guihua Chen^{1†}, Zheyu Zhang^{2†}, Meiping Wang¹, Yu Geng¹, Bo Jin^{1*} and Thandar Aung³

¹ Department of Neurology, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, People's Hospital of Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, China, ² The Second Clinical Medical College, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China, ³ Epilepsy Center, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Epilepsy is one of the most common debilitating neurological disorders that lead to severe socio-cognitive dysfunction. While there are currently more than 30 antiseizure medications available for the treatment and prevention of seizures, none address the prevention of epileptogenesis that leading to the development of epilepsy following a potential brain insult. Hence, there is a growing need for the identification of accurate biomarkers of epileptogenesis that enable the prediction of epilepsy following a known brain insult. Although recent studies using various neuroimages and electroencephalography have found promising biomarkers of epileptogenesis, their utility needs to be further validated in larger clinical trials. In this literature review, we searched the Medline, Pubmed, and Embase databases using the following search algorithm: "epileptogenesis" and "biomarker" and "EEG" or "electroencephalography" or "neuroimaging" limited to publications in English. We presented a comprehensive overview of recent innovations in the role of neuroimaging and EEG in identifying reliable biomarkers of epileptogenesis.

Keywords: epilepsy, epileptogenesis, biomarker, neuroimage, EEG

INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological disorders affecting around 70 million people worldwide. Approximately 2.4 million new cases of epilepsy are diagnosed annually (1). Subsequently, epilepsy is getting increased public health attention as patients with epilepsy have a noticeable reduction in quality of life and employment prospects (2). Although antiseizure medication (ASMs) are considered the first-line treatment of epilepsy, it is still widely recognized that nearly one-third of epileptic patients have drug-resistant epilepsy in which seizures are unable to be controlled with at least two appropriately ASMs (3). One potential reason is that current accessible ASMs merely prevent one from having further spontaneous seizures but do not directly affect or alter the underlying cause contributing to epileptogenesis (4, 5). Through plentiful scientific research on the pathophysiology of epilepsy over the past several decades, there has been an increasing understanding of the pathophysiology of epileptogenesis.

Epileptogenesis refers to the process by which normal brain tissue becomes capable of generating spontaneous recurrent seizures and its progression (6). With the advances in technology, potential promising biomarkers are now available to predict the development of epileptogenesis after

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pasquale Striano, University of Genoa, Italy

Reviewed by: Antonella Riva.

Antonena Hiva, University of Genoa, Italy Antonio Leo, Università Magna Grecia di Catanzaro, Italy

*Correspondence: Bo Jin jinbo0111@outlook.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 09 July 2021 Accepted: 09 August 2021 Published: 27 August 2021

Citation:

Chen G, Zhang Z, Wang M, Geng Y, Jin B and Aung T (2021) Update on the Neuroimaging and Electroencephalographic Biomarkers of Epileptogenesis: A Literature Review. Front. Neurol. 12:738658. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.738658

25

the epileptogenic insult. Furthermore, there are accessible therapeutic biomarkers that predict the treatment prognosis through the identification and exact localization of the epileptogenic lesion and associated network, as well as the severity and progression of epileptogenesis (7, 8). The ideal biomarkers should not just have validity, reliability, and reproducibility; they should also be non-invasive and costeffective (9). Among all the available biomarkers related to epileptogenesis, neuroimaging and electroencephalogram (EEG) biomarkers are by far the most appealing biomarkers as they are non-invasive and routinely performed as part of epileptic patients' workup protocol.

In this review article, we searched the Medline, Pubmed, and Embase databases using the following search algorithm: "epileptogenesis" and "biomarker" and "EEG" or "electroencephalography" or "neuroimaging" limited to publications in English. The last date of the search was May 31, 2021. We screened the titles, abstracts, and references of all search results to identify potentially relevant studies. We aimed to provide a comprehensive literature review of recent innovations in the role of neuroimaging and EEG as biomarkers of the development of epileptogenesis after the epileptogenic insult.

NEUROIMAGING BIOMARKERS

Several neuroimaging modalities, including structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), functional MRI, magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), and positron emission tomography (PET), have already been applied to investigate biomarkers of epileptogenesis and have significantly contributed to our understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms that underlie the development of epilepsy (**Table 1**).

Structural MRI

MRI is an ideal tool for biomarker studies due to its accessibility and translatability to routine clinic settings. In the lateral fluid percussion injury (LFPI) rat model of traumatic brain injury (TBI), the abnormalities in the surface morphology of the ipsilateral hippocampus at 1-week post-LFPI can predict the occurrence of epilepsy 6 months after TBI (10). Besides, assessing individual MRI parameters in the peri-lesional cortex or the thalamus at 9 days after TBI can also provide high sensitivity and specificity for predicting increased seizure susceptibility at 12 months (11). In the follow-up LFPI study, the presence of diffusion abnormality analyzed by using D_{av} in the perilesional cortex and thalamus at 2 months after the TBI is found to have the highest predictive value for the development of seizure susceptibility at 12 months post-TBI. Similar changes in the MRI structures have been validated at the human level. In the early acute post-TBI phase (within 90 days postinjury), there is evidence showing a positive correlation between hippocampal/temporal structural abnormalities and the onset of seizure activity (11). In addition to the injury severity, the left temporal pole and left frontal cortical thinness are found to be significantly predictive factors for developing seizures after TBI (12). In addition to the cortical and subcortical structures, studies have shown that the distribution and quantification of paravscular spaces (PVSs) can be used as a potential biomarker for the development of epileptogenesis in posttraumatic epilepsy (PTE). Post-TBI epileptic patients are found to have significantly smaller PVSs and asymmetric distribution of PVSs in the suspected epileptogenic hemisphere (13, 14).

Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is reported as a common sequelae of the febrile status epilepticus (FSE) (38). Recently, in the rat model of FSE, reduced T2 relaxation time in the amygdala within 2h of FSE is observed in the high resolution 11.7T MRI. This finding is shown to have a strong prediction of the later occurrence of TLE following the FSE. It is hypothesized that T2 changes are related to the increased oxygen utilization after FSE termination, which correlates with the activation of the intracellular inflammatory cascades that had been previously implicated in epileptogenesis (15). The result is again validated in the lower resolution 3T MRI (16). These results suggest that the quantitative T2 MRI can be used as a reliable neuroimaging biomarker following FSE for brain injury and structural alterations at the onset of epileptogenesis. Further studies are warranted to validate the reduction of the T2 relaxation time in the amygdala in the development of epileptogenesis in humans before they are ready for the clinical setting. Overall the translational nature of the MRI results has also greatly contributed to clinical advancements as the reported neuro-imaging protocols can be applied safely to epileptic patients.

Diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) represents the diffusion of water molecules and is particularly useful for detecting acute changes in the brain tissue following status epilepticus (SE) (17). Yokoi and colleagues analyzed the acute DWI data of 22 children with FSE over the period of 9–13 years following FSE and reported that focal epilepsy was significantly more frequent in patients with hippocampal DWI hyperintensity than those without DWI changes (39). Further studies, including a larger cohort, are required to investigate the relationship between DWI changes and subsequent epilepsy in patients with FSE.

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) detects the restriction of water diffusion caused by the microstructural organization of tissues. Advancement in post-processing technique allows DTI to detect subtle white matter changes in the early development of epileptogenesis in a structural network-based approach (40). Sierra and colleagues studied and compared the fractional anisotropy (FA) and axial, radial, and mean diffusivities among three subgroups of rats: SE, TBI, and normal controls, at 6-12 months post-injury using 9.4T MRI. FA in the hippocampi was significantly increased in the SE/TBI group compared to the normal control group. Regarding the diffusivities, there was an increase in the D_{\parallel} (associated with axonal damage) after the SE, whereas a decrease in D_{\perp} (associated with demyelination) was noted after the TBI in the subfield-specific hippocampi. Thus, the data suggest that the DTI method identifies not only subtle hippocampal changes and progression after epileptogenic brain injuries but also different brain insults based on the different diffusivities (18). Several recent longitudinal studies of the mesial TLE rate models demonstrated that the epileptogenic rats have significant changes in DTI-measured FA in the early

TABLE 1	Overview of	neuroimaging	biomarkers	of epile	eptogenesis.
---------	-------------	--------------	------------	----------	--------------

Imaging modality	Animal model	Human epilepsy	References
Structural MRI			
Surface morphology	LFPI model	None	(10)
D _{av}	LFPI model	None	(11)
Cortical thinness	None	PTE	(12)
PVSs	None	PTE	(13, 14)
T2 relaxation time	FSE	None	(15, 16)
DWI	None	Children with FSE	(17)
DTI	LFPI model	None	(18)
	Pilocarpine -induced SE mode	None	(18)
	MSO infused model	_	(19)
Functional MRI			(20)
Global network	KA-induced SE model	None	(21–23)
Local network	KA-induced SE model	None	(21)
MRS			
NAA	Pilocarpine -induced SE model	None	(24, 25)
GABA-A	Pilocarpine -induced SE mode	None	(26)
Myo-inositol	Pilocarpine -induced SE mode	None	(25, 27)
Antioxidant glutathione	Pilocarpine -induced SE mode	None	(25)
PET			
18F-FDG	LFPI model	None	(10)
	KA-induced SE model	None	(23–32)
	Pilocarpine-induced SE model	None	(30)
GABA-A	KA-induced SE model	None	(33–35)
TSPO	KA-induced SE model	None	(36, 37)

LPFI, lateral fluid percussion injury; PTE, posttraumatic epilepsy; PVSs, paravscular spaces; DWI, diffusion-weighted imaging; FSE, febrile status epilepticus; DTI, diffusion tensor imaging; KA, kainic acid; SE, status epilepticus; MSO, methionine sulfoximine; NAA, N-acetyl aspartate; TSPO, 18-kDa translocator protein.

stages. In addition, the FA changes in both gray and white matter progress over time as the animals transitioned from early to late epileptogenesis (19). Although the results suggest that DTI changes can be used as biomarkers of epileptogenesis, no prospective studies of epileptogenesis with DTI have been implemented in humans. Thus, further studies are warranted to implement the finding in the clinical setting.

Functional MRI

Functional MRI detects hemodynamic changes in different parts of the brain by means of blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) sequences, an indirect non-invasive measure of neuronal activity (41). Contrary to measuring the structural connectivity with DTI, functional MRI measures functional connectivity between various brain regions. Using the animal intrahippocampal kainic acid (KA) model of mesial TLE, Li et al. compared the fMRI of animals with mesial TLE and animals without epilepsy at 1 week after SE. For global network features, animals with epilepsy showed an overall increase in functional connectivity strength compared to animals without epilepsy. For local network features, animals without epilepsy showed decreased hubness in the hippocampus, whereas animals with epilepsy showed a complete loss of hippocampus hubs with appearance of new hubs in the prefrontal cortex (21). Instead of the hypersynchrony brain network pattern, Christiaen et al. reported a decreased functional connectivity between 1 and 3 weeks

post SE after comparing 20 intraperitoneal KA animals and seven healthy control animals (22). The difference might be the result of the different routes of administration of ketamine as intraperitoneal injection resulted in more widespread brain lesions than intrahippocampal injection (21). Furthermore, Bertoglio et al. demonstrated diverging changes in network connectivity in relation to the seizure onset in the KA-induced models of SE. Animals with regular seizure onset (<17 days post-SE) showed a significant hypersynchrony of network connectivity at 4 weeks post-SE, while animals with delayed disease onset (≥ 17 days post-SE) remained hyposynchronous (23). Although there is a discrepancy across different studies on functional connectivity after TBI or TLE, the current literature suggests that there may be a reorganization of the functional network in early period of epileptogenesis, which may be used as an imaging biomarker in the near future.

MRS

MRS can provide indirect information, such as neuronal health, gliosis, energy metabolism, by analyzing different metabolites in the brain tissue. Several studies have analyzed the changes of N -acetyl aspartate (NAA) and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) in the pilocarpine-induced SE model, a reduced NAA and GABA can be detected in the hippocampus from baseline to the period of epileptic seizures (24–26). However, a decrease in GABA and NAA levels has also been found in patients after TBI without

correlation with epileptic seizures (28). A progressive increase in myo-inositol and antioxidant glutathione before the onset of seizures has been found in pilocarpine-induced SE (25, 27). Furthermore, the level of antioxidant glutathione has shown to be negatively correlated with the frequency of spontaneous seizures (25). Although MRS analyses in seizure-prone brain areas following potential epileptogenic injuries may represent clinically meaningful biomarkers for the early identification of individuals at high risk for developing epilepsy, further human studies are warranted to validate the finding for the clinical setting.

PET

Alteration in the brain metabolic activity has been reported in the early development of the epileptogenesis after the initial epileptic insults. Nuclear imaging modalities such as PET are optimally used to assess functional brain metabolic activity using various radiotracers. Hence, PET has been used in several studies to assess potential mechanisms of epileptogenesis.

In the LFPI model, epileptic rats' ipsilateral hippocampi are reported to have subtle thickening on the surface analysis and 18F-FDG PET hypometabolism at 1 week, 1 month, and 3 months post-injury compared to the non-epileptic group. In addition, all the TBI rats have reported cortical and hippocampal hypometabolism, but the non-epileptic group has a partial recovery of the FDG uptake at 3 months post-injury (10). Thus, an initial reduction in glucose uptake is perhaps the result of both injury itself and early epileptogenesis, but in epileptic rats, there would be no recovery of the initial hypometabolism (29).

Multiple studies using KA and pilocarpine-induced models of SE have shown an initial increase in the glucose uptake during the acute seizures followed by the reduced metabolism at around day 3 of post-SE (24, 30). Furthermore, in the KA models of SE, glucose hypometabolism during early epilepsy correlates with the duration of the latent phase and frequency of spontaneous seizures in the spontaneous recurrent seizure (SRS) model of epilepsy (31, 32).

Several studies used different PET radioligands other than 18F-FDG to investigate the relationship between the density of GABA-A receptors and epileptogenesis in animal models of epilepsy. It is widely observed that GABA-A receptor density is decreased not only in hippocampi but also in several cortical regions in the KA models of SE (33, 34). One study using the focal cortical dysplasia model suggests that the decrease in the GABA-A receptor density may characterize a latent phase of epileptogenesis (35). Further studies are warranted to get more validation, but the promising results suggest that glucose hypometabolism and reduced GABA-A receptors might be the important hallmarks of early epileptogenesis.

Neuroinflammation is another pathological hallmark in one of the major pathophysiologies for epileptogenesis (42). The investigation of inflammation can be performed using a PET scan with radioligands that bind to18-kDa translocator protein (TSPO). TSPO is reported to be highly expressed on the mitochondrial membrane of activated microglia and reactive astrocytes. In the SRS model of epilepsy, TSPO levels at 14 days post-SE are predictive of SRS frequency at the onset of epilepsy (36). Subsequently, the same researcher group reported that TSPO upregulation at 14 days post-SE was associated with epileptogenesis, while TSPO overexpression at 14 days post-SE was associated with seizure frequency (37). Although TSPO-PET results are promising, clinical PET data on this topic is very limited due to the cost and availability of specific radioligands.

EEG

EEG, either non-invasive scalp recording or invasive microelectrode recording, is one of the most utilized modalities in the clinical setting and can monitor brain activity with high temporal resolution and relatively high spatial resolution. Several studies have demonstrated specific changes in the EEG as the potential biomarkers for the early development of epileptogenesis (**Table 2**).

High-Frequency Oscillations (HFOs)

HFOs, i.e., ripples (80-250 Hz) and fast ripples (250-600 Hz), have been studied and shown to be promising biomarkers for epileptogenesis markers over the last decade. In the KA-induced SE model, Bragin et al. reported the appearance of HFOs in the ipsilateral hippocampi dentate nuclei in rats that later developed epilepsy. The author also described that the appearance of the HFO timing was found to be associated with the delay in the onset of the first seizure (43). The same group reported different types of HFOs named repetitive HFO and spikes (rHFOSs), in which rhythmic spikes at the frequency of 10-16 Hz with superimposed pathological HFOs (80-300Hz). The appearance of rHFOSs in the injured cortex and around the adjacent injured cortex within 2 weeks from the initial insult in the LFPI model rats was reported to more likely develop spontaneous seizures later in life (20, 44). Although HFOs are typically detected with invasive intracranial EEG, the advancements in scalp EEG monitoring equipment enable one to record HFOs on scalp EEG in human studies (53). In a cohort of children after a first unprovoked seizure, the presence of scalp ripples can predict the development of epilepsy (45). Further studies, including patients with TBI and febrile seizures, can enhance our knowledge of the role of scalp HFOs as biomarkers of epileptogenesis.

Sleep Spindles and Theta Activity

Changes in the duration and frequency of the sleep spindles, one of the non-rapid eye movement stage II EEG features, have also been reported as a possible biomarker for epileptogenesis. In the LPFI model, Andrade et al. showed that shortening of the sleep spindles' duration and reducing of their frequency during slow-wave to rapid eye movement sleep transition can predict the development of epilepsy. Furthermore, receiver operating characteristics (ROC) analysis showed that spindle duration of <2.13 s (86% sensitivity, 80% specificity) and frequency of spindle <9.19 Hz (64% sensitivity, 60% specificity) could be used as biomarkers in differentiating rats with seizures from those without (46). These findings suggest that sleep spindles changes may be the indicators of widespread functional disturbance in the thalamocortical circuits following initial brain insult and could be used as a potential early biomarker for epileptogenesis.

Milkovsky et al. investigated the role of changes in the hippocampal dynamic in five animal models of epileptogenesis

EEG biomarkers	Animal model	Human epilepsy	References
HFO	KA-induced SE model	None	(43)
rHFOSs	LFPI model	None	(20, 44)
Scalp ripples	None	Children after a first unprovoked seizure	(45)
Sleep spindles	LPFI model	None	(46)
Theta band	Multiple rat and mouse models	None	(47)
Epileptiform activity	None	PTE and TSC	(48–51)
Background asymmetry	None	Epilepsy after stroke	(52)

TABLE 2 | Overview of EEG biomarkers of epileptogenesis.

HFO, High-frequency oscillations; rHFOSs, repetitive HFO and spikes; KA, kainic acid; SE, status epilepticus; LPFI, lateral fluid percussion injury; PTE, posttraumatic epilepsy; TSC, tuberous sclerosis complex.

using the intrahippocampal recording. Among five frequency bands, changes in the dynamic of the theta band on days 2–4 post brain injury showed more than 90% sensitivity and specificity in predicting the animal which would develop epilepsy (47). Overall this finding is intriguing, but given the invasiveness nature of intracranial electrodes, further studies using non-invasive source modeling may help further validating the finding as early epileptogenesis in the human.

Epileptiform Abnormalities and Background Asymmetry

The relation between epileptogenesis and scalp EEG findings such as interictal epileptiform discharges, lateralized periodic discharges, background EEG asymmetry, and electrographic seizures has been reported in humans. Although earlier studies in the 20th century do not give much yield in predicting the occurrence of epilepsy in patients with TBI (54), a recent retrospective study reported that during the acute traumatic phase, the presence of EEG interictal and ictal epileptiform abnormalities, such as sporadic interictal epileptiform discharges, lateralized or generalized periodic discharges, and seizures, are correlated with the development of the PTE at 1 year follow up (48). Punia et al. reported a similar result in adult patients that electrographic seizures or lateralized periodic discharges were related with the development of epilepsy after TBI (49). Two prospective multicenter studies investigated the role of scalp EEG in the infants with tuberous sclerosis complex. Among several EEG abnormalities, the author reported that the epileptiform discharges, not the hypsarrhythmia, showed the high positive predictive value and low negative predictive value in the development of epilepsy (50, 51). Furthermore, in addition to the interictal epileptiform activities, the presence of background asymmetry plays a role in the early development of epilepsy after stroke (52).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Here we aimed to provide a comprehensive review of recent innovations in the role of neuroimaging and EEG as biomarkers of epileptogenesis after the epileptogenic insult. Identifying biomarkers of epileptogenesis would greatly facilitate not only diagnosis and treatment but also the early prevention of epilepsy

in individuals at risk. Although several studies have identified potentially promising biomarkers for early epileptogenesis, such as changes in the amygdala T2 relaxation time, PVSs, TSPO-PET, global and local network connectivity reorganization, and HFOs, numerous challenges remain to implement the potential neuroimaging biomarkers to the bedside clinical setting. Firstly, the resolution capacity of human neuroimage is significantly lower than animal neuroimage. Thus, the same biomarker which is reported from animal studies may not be directly replicated in human studies. Secondly, each potential biomarker has both disadvantages and advantages, and it is unrealistic to expect that a single biomarker will epitomize the various types of epileptogenesis. Therefore, a combination of EEG and neuroimaging biomarkers might enhance the predictive power of epileptogenicity. Thirdly, the majority of published data are at the animal stage (summarized in Tables 1, 2). Before all these biomarkers can be utilized in the clinical setting, multicenter studies with standardized acquisition parameters and analysis procedures are needed to validate the robustness of biomarkers.

Currently, ongoing multicenter research studies are aiming to find biomarkers and treatments to prevent epileptogenesis. The European Union 7th Framework–funded project Targets and Biomarkers for Antiepileptogenesis (EPITARGET) is a consortium of 18 partners in nine European countries. In addition, the Epilepsy Bioinformatics Study for Antiepileptogenic Therapy (EpiBios4Rx), National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke funded Centers without Walls study, is a collaborative multicenter international study conducted in the United States, Europe, and Australia. To data, biomarkers for epileptogenesis are still in the initial phase of the process. However, there will be more conclusive innovative EEG and neuroimaging early epileptogenic biomarkers and treatments from the multicenter trials to combat epilepsy in the foreseeable future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GC: contributed to the conception and drafting the manuscript, ZZ: drafting the manuscript. MW and YG: revising the manuscript. BJ: contributed to the conception, drafting the manuscript, and final approval of the version to be published. TA: drafting the manuscript and revising the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant number: 82001366),

REFERENCES

- Thijs RD, Surges R, O'Brien TJ, Sander JW. Epilepsy in adults. *Lancet*. (2019) 393:689–701. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32596-0
- Zack MM, Kobau R. National and State estimates of the numbers of adults and children with active epilepsy - United States, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2017) 66:821–5. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6631a1
- Chen Z, Brodie MJ, Liew D, Kwan P. Treatment outcomes in patients with newly diagnosed epilepsy treated with established and new antiepileptic drugs: a 30-year longitudinal cohort study. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:279– 86. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.3949
- Löscher W, Schmidt D. Modern antiepileptic drug development has failed to deliver: ways out of the current dilemma. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:657– 78. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03024.x
- Crepeau AZ, Sirven JI. Management of adult onset seizures. Mayo Clin Proc. (2017) 92:306–18. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.11.013
- Pitkänen A, Engel J Jr. Past and present definitions of epileptogenesis and its biomarkers. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2014) 11:231–41. doi: 10.1007/s13311-014-0257-2
- Engel J. Biomarkers in epilepsy: foreword. *Biomark Med.* (2011) 5:529– 30. doi: 10.2217/bmm.11.63
- Engel J Jr, Pitkänen A, Loeb JA, Dudek FE, Bertram EH III, Cole AJ, et al. Epilepsy biomarkers. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54(Suppl. 4):61–9. doi: 10.1111/epi.12299
- Mayeux R. Biomarkers: potential uses and limitations. NeuroRx. (2004) 1:182– 8. doi: 10.1602/neurorx.1.2.182
- Shultz SR, Cardamone L, Liu YR, Hogan RE, Maccotta L, Wright DK, et al. Can structural or functional changes following traumatic brain injury in the rat predict epileptic outcome? *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:1240– 50. doi: 10.1111/epi.12223
- Immonen R, Kharatishvili I, Gröhn O, Pitkänen A. MRI biomarkers for post-traumatic epileptogenesis. J Neurotrauma. (2013) 30:1305–9. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2815
- Lutkenhoff ES, Shrestha V, Ruiz Tejeda J, Real C, McArthur DL, Duncan D, et al. Early brain biomarkers of post-traumatic seizures: initial report of the multicentre epilepsy bioinformatics study for antiepileptogenic therapy (EpiBioS4Rx) prospective study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2020) 91:1154–7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-322780
- Duncan D, Barisano G, Cabeen R, Sepehrband F, Garner R, Braimah A, et al. Analytic tools for post-traumatic epileptogenesis biomarker search in multimodal dataset of an animal model and human patients. *Front Neuroinform*. (2018) 12:86. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2018.00086
- Feldman RE, Rutland JW, Fields MC, Marcuse LV, Pawha PS, Delman BN, et al. Quantification of perivascular spaces at 7T: a potential MRI biomarker for epilepsy. *Seizure*. (2018) 54:11–8. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2017.11.004
- Choy M, Dubé CM, Patterson K, Barnes SR, Maras P, Blood AB, et al. A novel, noninvasive, predictive epilepsy biomarker with clinical potential. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:8672–84. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.4806-13.2014
- Curran MM, Haddad E, Patterson KP, Choy M, Dubé CM, Baram TZ, et al. Epilepsy-predictive magnetic resonance imaging changes following experimental febrile status epilepticus: are they translatable to the clinic? *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:2005–18. doi: 10.1111/epi.14561
- Huang YC, Weng HH, Tsai YT, Huang YC, Hsiao MC, Wu CY, et al. Periictal magnetic resonance imaging in status epilepticus. *Epilepsy Res.* (2009) 86:72–81. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.05.011
- Sierra A, Laitinen T, Gröhn O, Pitkänen A. Diffusion tensor imaging of hippocampal network plasticity. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2015) 220:781– 801. doi: 10.1007/s00429-013-0683-7
- 19. Wang H, Huang Y, Coman D, Munbodh R, Dhaher R, Zaveri HP, et al. Network evolution in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy revealed by

the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (grant number: LQ20H090019), and China and Zhejiang Medical Science and Technology Project (grant number: 2021KY020), China.

diffusion tensor imaging. Epilepsia. (2017) 58:824-34. doi: 10.1111/epi. 13731

- Reid AY, Bragin A, Giza CC, Staba RJ, Engel J Jr. The progression of electrophysiologic abnormalities during epileptogenesis after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Epilepsia*. (2016) 57:1558–67. doi: 10.1111/epi.13486
- Li L, He L, Harris N, Zhou Y, Engel J, Jr., Bragin A. Topographical reorganization of brain functional connectivity during an early period of epileptogenesis. *Epilepsia*. (2021) 62:1231–43. doi: 10.1111/epi.16863
- 22. Christiaen E, Goossens MG, Raedt R, Descamps B, Larsen LE, Craey E, et al. Alterations in the functional brain network in a rat model of epileptogenesis: a longitudinal resting state fMRI study. *Neuroimage*. (2019) 202:116144. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116144
- Bertoglio D, Jonckers E, Ali I, Verhoye M, Van der Linden A, Dedeurwaerdere S. *In vivo* measurement of brain network connectivity reflects progression and intrinsic disease severity in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2019) 127:45–52. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2019.02.012
- 24. Lee EM, Park GY, Im KC, Kim ST, Woo CW, Chung JH, et al. Changes in glucose metabolism and metabolites during the epileptogenic process in the lithium-pilocarpine model of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2012) 53:860– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03432.x
- Filibian M, Frasca A, Maggioni D, Micotti E, Vezzani A, Ravizza T. In vivo imaging of glia activation using 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy to detect putative biomarkers of tissue epileptogenicity. Epilepsia. (2012) 53:1907–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03685.x
- 26. van der Hel WS, van Eijsden P, Bos IW, de Graaf RA, Behar KL, van Nieuwenhuizen O, et al. *In vivo* MRS and histochemistry of status epilepticusinduced hippocampal pathology in a juvenile model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *NMR Biomed.* (2013) 26:132–40. doi: 10.1002/nbm.2828
- Pascente R, Frigerio F, Rizzi M, Porcu L, Boido M, Davids J, et al. Cognitive deficits and brain myo-Inositol are early biomarkers of epileptogenesis in a rat model of epilepsy. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2016) 93:146–55. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.05.001
- Croall I, Smith FE, Blamire AM. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy for traumatic brain injury. *Top Magn Reson Imaging*. (2015) 24:267– 74. doi: 10.1097/rmr.0000000000063
- Immonen R, Harris NG, Wright D, Johnston L, Manninen E, Smith G, et al. Imaging biomarkers of epileptogenecity after traumatic brain injury - Preclinical frontiers. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2019) 123:75–85. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2018.10.008
- Goffin K, Van Paesschen W, Dupont P, Van Laere K. Longitudinal microPET imaging of brain glucose metabolism in rat lithium-pilocarpine model of epilepsy. *Exp Neurol.* (2009) 217:205–9. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.02.008
- 31. Guo Y, Gao F, Wang S, Ding Y, Zhang H, Wang J, et al. In vivo mapping of temporospatial changes in glucose utilization in rat brain during epileptogenesis: an 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose-small animal positron emission tomography study. Neuroscience. (2009) 162:972–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.05.041
- 32. Jupp B, Williams J, Binns D, Hicks RJ, Cardamone L, Jones N, et al. Hypometabolism precedes limbic atrophy and spontaneous recurrent seizures in a rat model of TLE. *Epilepsia*. (2012) 53:1233-44. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03525.x
- 33. Syvänen S, Labots M, Tagawa Y, Eriksson J, Windhorst AD, Lammertsma AA, et al. Altered GABAA receptor density and unaltered blood-brain barrier transport in a kainate model of epilepsy: an *in vivo* study using 11C-flumazenil and PET. J Nucl Med. (2012) 53:1974–83. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.112.104588
- 34. Vivash L, Gregoire MC, Bouilleret V, Berard A, Wimberley C, Binns D, et al. *In vivo* measurement of hippocampal GABAA/cBZR density with [18F]-flumazenil PET for the study of disease progression in an animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e86722. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086722

- Morimoto K, Watanabe T, Ninomiya T, Hirao T, Tanaka A, Onishi T, et al. Quantitative evaluation of central-type benzodiazepine receptors with [(125)I]Iomazenil in experimental epileptogenesis: II. The rat cortical dysplasia model. *Epilepsy Res.* (2004) 61:113–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2004.07.006
- Bertoglio D, Verhaeghe J, Santermans E, Amhaoul H, Jonckers E, Wyffels L, et al. Non-invasive PET imaging of brain inflammation at disease onset predicts spontaneous recurrent seizures and reflects comorbidities. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 61:69–79. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.12.015
- 37. Bertoglio D, Amhaoul H, Goossens J, Ali I, Jonckers E, Bijnens T, et al. TSPO PET upregulation predicts epileptic phenotype at disease onset independently from chronic TSPO expression in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2021) 31:102701. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2021.102701
- Dubé CM, Brewster AL, Richichi C, Zha Q, Baram TZ. Fever, febrile seizures and epilepsy. *Trends Neurosci.* (2007) 30:490– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2007.07.006
- Yokoi S, Kidokoro H, Yamamoto H, Ohno A, Nakata T, Kubota T, et al. Hippocampal diffusion abnormality after febrile status epilepticus is related to subsequent epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2019) 60:1306–16. doi: 10.1111/epi. 16059
- Duncan JS. Imaging the brain's highways-diffusion tensor imaging in epilepsy. Epilepsy Curr. (2008) 8:85–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1535-7511.2008.00249.x
- Ogawa S, Lee TM, Kay AR, Tank DW. Brain magnetic resonance imaging with contrast dependent on blood oxygenation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1990) 87:9868–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.24.9868
- Vezzani A, French J, Bartfai T, Baram TZ. The role of inflammation in epilepsy. Nat Rev Neurol. (2011) 7:31–40. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2010.178
- Bragin A, Wilson CL, Almajano J, Mody I, Engel J, Jr. High-frequency oscillations after status epilepticus: epileptogenesis and seizure genesis. *Epilepsia*. (2004) 45:1017–23. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.17004.x
- 44. Bragin A, Li L, Almajano J, Alvarado-Rojas C, Reid AY, Staba RJ, et al. Pathologic electrographic changes after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Epilepsia*. (2016) 57:735–45. doi: 10.1111/epi. 13359
- Klotz KA, Sag Y, Schonberger J, Jacobs J. Scalp ripples can predict development of epilepsy after first unprovoked seizure in childhood. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 89:134–42. doi: 10.1002/ana. 25939
- 46. Andrade P, Nissinen J, Pitkänen A. Generalized seizures after experimental traumatic brain injury occur at the transition from slow-wave to rapid eye movement sleep. *J Neurotrauma*. (2017) 34:1482–7. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4675
- Milikovsky DZ, Weissberg I, Kamintsky L, Lippmann K, Schefenbauer O, Frigerio F, et al. Electrocorticographic dynamics as a novel

biomarker in five models of epileptogenesis. J Neurosci. (2017) 37:4450-61. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2446-16.2017

- Kim JA, Boyle EJ, Wu AC, Cole AJ, Staley KJ, Zafar S, et al. Epileptiform activity in traumatic brain injury predicts post-traumatic epilepsy. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 83:858–62. doi: 10.1002/ana.25211
- Punia V, Fitzgerald Z, Zhang X, Huynh H, Bena J, Morrison S, et al. Electroencephalographic biomarkers of epilepsy development in patients with acute brain injury: a matched, parallel cohort study. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2019) 6:2230–9. doi: 10.1002/acn3.50925
- Wu JY, Peters JM, Goyal M, Krueger D, Sahin M, Northrup H, et al. Clinical electroencephalographic biomarker for impending epilepsy in asymptomatic tuberous sclerosis complex infants. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2016) 54:29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2015. 09.013
- Wu JY, Goyal M, Peters JM, Krueger D, Sahin M, Northrup H, et al. Scalp EEG spikes predict impending epilepsy in TSC infants: a longitudinal observational study. *Epilepsia*. (2019) 60:2428–36. doi: 10.1111/epi.16379
- Bentes C, Martins H, Peralta AR, Morgado C, Casimiro C, Franco AC, et al. Early EEG predicts poststroke epilepsy. *Epilepsia Open.* (2018) 3:203– 12. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12103
- Fan Y, Dong L, Liu X, Wang H, Liu Y. Recent advances in the noninvasive detection of high-frequency oscillations in the human brain. *Rev Neurosci.* (2021) 32:305–21. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2020-0073
- Jennett B, Van De Sande J. EEG prediction of post-traumatic epilepsy. Epilepsia. (1975) 16:251–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1975.tb06055.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chen, Zhang, Wang, Geng, Jin and Aung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Case Report: Hypopituitarism Presenting With Nonconvulsive Status Epilepticus

Huimin Li, Lina Xu, Fengbing Yang, Longbin Jia*, Hongjiang Cheng and Wei Liu

Jincheng People's Hospital Affiliated to Shanxi Medical University, Jincheng, China

Introduction: Hypopituitarism is defined as one or more partial or complete pituitary hormone deficiencies. Nonconvulsive status epilepticus (NCSE) refers to a state of continuous or repetitive seizures without convulsions. In this paper, we review a case of an old female patient with hypopituitarism who presented with NCSE, which is rare in the clinic.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hongliu Sun, Binzhou Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Bharathi Hattiangady, Texas A&M University College of Medicine, United States Bernt A. Engelsen, University of Bergen, Norway Chiara Milano, University of Pisa, Italy

> *Correspondence: Longbin Jia sxjcjlb@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 27 May 2021 Accepted: 26 August 2021 Published: 22 September 2021

Citation:

Li H, Xu L, Yang F, Jia L, Cheng H and Liu W (2021) Case Report: Hypopituitarism Presenting With Nonconvulsive Status Epilepticus. Front. Neurol. 12:715885. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.715885 **Case Report:** This paper describes a 67-year-old female patient with hypopituitarism who presented as NCSE. She had surgical resection of pituitary tumor half a year before the seizures and did not get regular hormone replacement therapy. She presented general convulsive status epilepsy as the initial symptom and got sedation and antiepileptic drug in the emergency room. The seizure was terminated but the patient fell in coma in the following days. The patient had magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and other inspects, and EEG showed epileptic discharges. Combining these clinical symptoms and examinations, we made the diagnosis of NCSE. Finally, she regained consciousness after the treatment with diazepam.

Conclusion: This case report and literature review investigated the possible mechanism of hypopituitarism presenting with NCSE.

Keywords: nonconvulsive status epilepticus, hypopituitarism, hormone, seizure, case report

INTRODUCTION

Status epilepticus (SE) refers to a condition caused either by the failure of seizure termination or by the initiation of prolonged seizures. According to the classification of SE proposed by the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE), NCSE is defined as SE without prominent motor symptoms, including NCSE with coma and NCSE without coma (1). The role of hormones in the pathophysiology of epilepsy has been gradually recognized (2, 3). In this paper, we report a patient with hypopituitarism presenting with NCSE.

CASE REPORT

A 67-year-old woman with diabetes was admitted to the emergency department due to two generalized tonic-clonic seizures and loss of awareness in the interictal period. The patient had never experienced seizures before. Half a year ago she had surgical resection of pituitary tumor and did not get regular hormone replacement treatment. In the days leading up to the seizures, she did not have any signs of discomfort such as fever or headache. In the emergency room

32

diazepam (5 mg, i.v.) and sodium valproate (50 mg, intravenous pumped at the rate of 160 mg/h) were given immediately as antiepileptic therapy, the seizures were terminated in several minutes and the patient fell in state of sedation shortly after, during which the patient could gradually open her eyes, answer simple questions and no more convulsions were observed. Routine blood tests in the emergency department showed hyperglycaemia (13.0 mmol/L), mild hypernatremia (151.7 mmol/L), and hyperchloremia (111.3 mmol/L). Then she was admitted to the neurology department and rescue measures including oxygen inhalation, antiepileptic therapy with sodium valproate (56 mg/h, 1 mg/kg/h), rehydration, maintaining water, and electrolyte balance were continued. About 3 h later, the patient passed into a lethargic state and she could only open her eyes on hearing our call but could not respond in words (GCS score of 8). The lethargic state continued for several hours and the patient fell in coma then (GCS score of 5), which lasted for the following 3 days. During this period the sodium valproate was pumped for 36 h continuously (56 mg/h for 24 h, 50 mg/h for 12 h, 24 mg/h for 12 h, total dose of 2,232 mg) and no remarkable facial or limb spasms or convulsions were recorded from admission. Tests of thyroid function, adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), growth hormone (GH), cortisol, and sex hormone were conducted and the results supported the diagnosis of hypopituitarism (Table 1). MRI of the head was performed and no acute cerebral infarction, cerebral hemorrhage, and inflammatory changes were found (Figure 1). A lumbar puncture was performed to the patient on the 2nd day of admission. The cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) showed elevated protein levels (0.60/L, reference range 0.15-0.45 g/L) and increased chloride (137.8 mmol/L, reference range 118-132 mmol/L) and normal glucose levels and CSF pressure (Table 1). Autoimmune encephalitis and viral encephalitis tests were both negative, and thus the diagnosis of encephalitis was ruled out. A 24-h electroencephalogram (EEG) revealed sharp waves, spike waves, sharp-slow waves, spike-slow waves in the bilateral frontal region on a continuous slow-wave background with a trend of evolution, and the EEG also recorded paroxysmal electrical activities in this region (**Figure 2**). Combining the symptoms and examinations, the diagnosis of NCSE was considered. On the 3rd day of admission, diazepam (10 mg) was intravenously injected and the patient turned to a state of lethargy gradually and could open her eyes under painful stimulation, confirming the diagnosis of NCSE. Unfortunately, her family refused further treatment and she was discharged on the 3rd day, and she died of respiratory failure induced by epilepsy 5 days after her discharge from our hospital.

DISCUSSION

NCSE refers to a continuous nonconvulsive seizure that lasts for more than 30 min, or multiple nonconvulsive seizures happening during a period of more than 30 min and between which cognitive, motor, and/or sensory disorders is not fully recovered (4). Patients with NCSE can present as a variety of clinical manifestations, among which altered mental status is the most common (5). As the symptoms of NCSE are various, the diagnosis of NCSE relies on the combination of clinical presentation, electroencephalography findings, and clinical and electrographical reactions to antiepileptic treatments (4). The transition from generalized convulsive status epilepticus (GCSE) to NCSE is common: studies found that NCSE was quite common in patients in the ICU, accounting for about 50% (4). In our case, the patient initially presented as GCSE and went into coma which was diagnosed as NCSE finally.

The aetiology and risk factors of NCSE are complex, including acute and chronic pathological conditions (4). The role of endocrine system diseases in the pathogenesis and treatment of epilepsy has been studied continuously.

Test	Result	Normal range of value	Test	Result	Normal range of value
GH	0.031 ng/ml	(0.126–9.880)	FT3	2.40 pmol/L	(3.28–6.47)
Cortisol (00:00)	18.67 nmol/L	(185–624)	FT4	9.51 pmol/L	(7.64–16.03)
Cortisol (08:00)	17.28 nmol/L	(185–624)	ТТ3	0.24 nmol/L	(1.01-2.48)
Cortisol (16:00)	25.54 nmol/L	(185–624)	TT4	54.30 nmol/L	(69.97–152.52)
ACTH (00:00)	<1.00 pg/ml	(7.20-63.40)	TSH	0.04 ulU/ml	(0.56–5.91)
ACTH (08:00)	<1.00 pg/ml	(7.20-63.40)	Estradiol	0.02 pg/ml	(10–30)
ACTH (16:00)	<1.00 pg/ml	(7.20-63.40)	Testosterone	<0.1 ng/ml	(0.1–0.75)
Prolactin	28.67 ng/ml	(2.74–19.64)	Progesterone	<0.08 ng/ml	(<1.0 ng/ml)
LH	0.30 mIU/mI	(10.87–58.64)	FSH	10.87 mlU/ml	(16.74–113.5)
CSF protein	0.60 g/L	(0.15-0.45)	CSF chloride	137.8 mmol/L	(118–132)
CSF glucose	3.82 mmol/L	(2.5-4.2)	CSF white blood cell	$0.002 \times 10^{9}/L$	(0–8)
CSF red blood cell	0.002×10^{12} /L	0			

Tests of hormone levels support the diagnosis of hypopituitarism.

GH, growth hormone; ACTH, adrenocorticotropic hormone; LH, luteinising hormone; FSH, folliclestimulating hormone; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone; FT3, free triiodothyronine; FT4, free thyroxine; TT3, total triiodothyronine; TT4, total thyroxine.



and no acute cerebral infarction, cerebral hemorrhage, and inflammatory changes were found on T1 and T2 sequences [T1, T1-Weighted Magnetic Resonance Imaging; T2, T2-Weighted Magnetic Resonance Imaging (A) T1, (B) T2].

Hypopituitarism is defined as deficiency of one or more pituitary hormones produced in the anterior lobe and posterior lobe, including GH, the gonadotropins follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH), ACTH, thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), prolactin, oxytocin, and antidiuretic hormone (ADH) (6).

Metabolic encephalopathy can also present with disorders of consciousness and it can be differentiated from NCSE by etiology, laboratory examination, and EEG. While increasing slowing of the waking background frequency was observed in hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia, hyponatremia may initially produce posterior slowing followed by more diffuse delta activity (7), hypopituitarism and hypoadrenalism may cause diffuse theta and delta activity. Furthermore, diffuse suppression with scant activity may be found in patients with hypothyroidism (8).

The relation between hormones and epilepsy is complicated. Concerning sex hormones, while androgens, progesterone and its metabolites have been found to have anticonvulsant effects, proconvulsant effects of estrogens were well-described (9). Studies have found that changes in hormone levels correspond to changes in seizures' frequency, which was considered as the effect of hormones on brain excitability (9), and this association was well-documented in catamenial epilepsy, in which the distribution of seizure numbers varied across the days of the menstrual cycle (10). Our patient showed remarkably low level of sex hormones including estradiol, FSH, LH, progesterone, and testosterone, making the evaluation of the role of any single hormone in the seizures complicated. Studies have found increased serum prolactin in about 67% of cases after complexpartial seizures or generalized tonic-clonic seizures (11, 12). Our patient had a relatively high level of prolactin, which was consistent with the previous reports.

The use of sex steroid hormones or their analogs for the treatment of epilepsy has been studied (13). It has been shown that supplementation of progesterone was effective in the management of seizure in patients with anovulatory cycles (14). Indeed, studies have confirmed that hormones including corticosteroids and ACTH were effective in the management of pediatric epilepsies including West syndrome, the Landau-Kleffner syndrome, other epilepsies, and epilepsy syndromes (15, 16).

It has been reported increasingly that stress plays a role in precipitating seizures (17, 18). Preclinical models of epilepsy showed that neuronal excitability and seizure susceptibility were both influenced by stress hormones (19). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis is the main neuroendocrine system activated by stress (20). Studies on animal models revealed that neuronal excitability and seizure threshold were affected by stress hormones including corticotrophic hormone and corticosterone (21). It was reported that excitability of neurons was increased under the influence of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, and thus seizure activity was induced (22). Given the negative feedback effect of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis, our patient should theoretically have high levels of CRH which may induce seizures.

Under basal conditions, stress hormones can also affect disease activity in seizures (23). In most of the studies, it was shown that increases in cortisol levels were a promoter during epileptogenesis (24, 25). But Ostrowska's team had the opposite conclusion and they found that patients with epilepsy had lower cortisol levels than those without epilepsy (26). Pritchard et al. (27) found that before generalized tonic-clonic seizures and complex partial seizures, the cortisol levels increased, while before simple partial seizures and secondary generalized seizures, the results were opposite (28). More importantly, patients with epilepsy often showed increased cortisol levels (29, 30). While the mechanisms of interaction between stress and seizures are not entirely clear, both of the two would have impact on cortisol levels.

Zhang and Liu (28) conducted a study analysing ACTH and cortisol levels during sleep seizures had found that during and after an epileptic seizure, the ACTH and cortisol levels were higher than those before a seizure. The researchers believed that epileptic seizures may be induced by decrease in ACTH and cortisol levels. A possible explanation may be that at night the decrease in ACTH levels triggers the release of CRH through negative feedback regulation, and the release of CRH increase epilepsy susceptibility and lower epilepsy threshold (21, 31).

Although the mechanisms of epileptogenesis still remain to be unclear, it is well-proved that mitochondrial dysfunction (32, 33) and oxidative stress (34) play important roles in this process. Molecular evidences have revealed that thyroid hormones are involved in normal mitochondrial biogenesis and function (35) and decreased activity of thyroid hormones is related to mitochondrial dysfunction (36). As to oxidative stress, both hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism can affect antioxidant/oxidant balance (37). The impact of thyroid hormones in different aspects of epilepsy has been demonstrated (37). Thyroid function tests showed obvious hypothyroidism in our patient, which may also play an important role in the occurrence of epilepsy.

Treatments of NCSE should be based on expert opinions as well as individual aetiology including critical illness, subtherapeutic AED levels, etc. Recommendations for first-line

p1-F3	~	h	Imm	m		~~~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	hanv	hand		m	~~~~~	m	~
r303~~~~~~		m	M	www	m	v	m	mi	m	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m	mm	Am	w
c3.p3		in	Am.		~~~~~	V~~~~~	mm	mm	hur	mm	m	mm	min	w
P301		An	~~~	how		m		Ling			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		h	~~
F4C4~~~~~	~~~	m	m	m	m	mm	mi	m	m	mb	www	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	my	~
C4P4	m	m	mm.m	m		mm	min	m	h	mm	www	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m v	m.
P602		1mm	Am	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	mm	~~~~	sur s	m	Am			m	www.	~
F7-13		M	mm	min	m	nin	www.	my	him	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m	m	mm	~
13-15	m	h	Wm	m	mm	mm	vmm	mm	my	hum	m		m	~
15-01	m	In	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		m	~~~~~		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~	1-	m	- V
FBTE		m	nm	m	m	m	m	www.	hin	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	im	2
T4-T6	~	m	m	min	m	www	m	~~~~v	min	\sim	m	mm	him	~
16.02		VV	~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		wvvw	VV	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	man 1	······	mm	m	m	~
B 1112~~~V	m	~~~		·····	~~~		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m	.	Wanne	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m		\sim
63.P3~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	L	~~~~	~~~~		h	WW	MAyor My name	ANW M	hanna			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	m	~~~
P301	h	~~~~		him	m	mound	Mramm	mon	mining	mm	min	m	mm	~
F92F4	m	~~~	~~~~~			······	m			m				~~
CEPE M	m						Monor	man	mana .	man .	~~~~	······	mann n	~~
PHOR	h	~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	mm	m	www.w	warman	m	www.	mm	mun	www	ming	5
Fa1+77	m		~~~~~		m		W www	Maran Mar	mm	Murun	m	m	mun	urwy.
F7-T3-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~	~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~			Win Howen	Howard	mann	~~~~~	·····	more . M	mann	~
TS OID	In	man	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	www	hun	more alled	ran zanaza Killi dikilianiki	Mr. Mar		www	mm	Mar C	month	M.
r9270	m	~~~~					Memore	www.w	mound	Why Who want		Mun	Merender	~
F8-T4	n	~~~~				manul	Mallinum	ndanan kunaku	Monthym	Manufrances	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		whether work of	~
						mon						mar Mar	whenter	
18-02	~	~~~~			m	·······································	m. Manuar			~~~~			una and and and and and and and and and a	~
		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~											777
TE-02 C F31-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~				Marine Marine							7777
тьог С Ран та гаса гаса гаса гаса гаса гаса гаса га														1111
TE-02 C F31-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F3C-12 F														122222
														1 222225555
														151 157 157 157
														2121212
														1 27 23 23 23 23 2
					mann									1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
					mann									
	har	Mur			mar and the second									< 1 > 1 > 1 > 1 > 1 > 1 > 1 > 1 > 1 > 1
	har	Mur	my		mar and the second									
	har	Mur	my		mar and the second					v · v	Marine Marine			
	har	Mur	my		mar and the second					v · v				
	har	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	my		mar and the second					h	Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Manufa Ma			
														~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
			my								Marian Ma			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
														~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
														> > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > >
														<>>>< </td
														> > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > >
														<<>>>< >< >< >< <! <!<! <!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!<!</td
														3 < < > 3 > > < < 5 3 > > < 2 5 5

**FIGURE 2** [Electroencephalogram recorded. EEG demonstrates  $\delta$  and  $\theta$  waves in each lead as background, mingled with sharp waves, spike waves, sharp-slow waves (**A**). EEG shows a large number of sharp waves, spike waves, sharp-slow waves, spike-slow waves in the bilateral frontal pole, frontal and anterior temporal areas, paroxysmal or continuous, sometimes accompanied by evolution trend (**B–D**) (paper speed: 30 mm/s, high-frequency filter (HF): 30 Hz, low-frequency filter (LF): 0.53 Hz, notchfilers: 50 Hz, sensitivity:7  $\mu$ v/mm. EEG A provided EEG background and the EEG B showed epileptic discharges).
treatment of NCSE are usually benzodiazepines (4). In our patient, recovery of impaired consciousness after the use of diazepam confirmed the diagnosis of NCSE. Regrettably, the patient did not receive systemic therapy and passed away finally.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, our case, an old woman with hypopituitarism presenting with NCSE, led us to further explore the complex relationship between epilepsy and hormones, which contributes to the accurate diagnosis and treatment.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### REFERENCES

- Trinka E, Cock H, Hesdorffer D, Rossetti A, Scheffer I, Shinnar S, et al. A definition and classification of status epilepticus–Report of the ILAE Task Force on Classification of Status Epilepticus. *Epilepsia*. (2015) 56:1515– 23. doi: 10.1111/epi.13121
- Harden C, Pennell P. Neuroendocrine considerations in the treatment of men and women with epilepsy. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:72–83. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70239-9
- Pack A, Reddy D, Duncan S, Herzog A. Neuroendocrinological aspects of epilepsy: important issues and trends in future research. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2011) 22:94–102. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.02.009
- Sutter R, Semmlack S, Kaplan PW. Nonconvulsive status epilepticus in adults - insights into the invisible. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2016) 12:281– 93. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.45
- Sutter R, Ruegg S, Kaplan PW. Epidemiology, diagnosis, and management of nonconvulsive status epilepticus: opening Pandora's box. *Neurol Clin Pract.* (2012) 2:275–86. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.0b013e318278be75
- Higham CE, Johannsson G, Shalet SM. Hypopituitarism. Lancet. (2016) 388:2403–15. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30053-8
- Reddy V, Moorthy S. Electroencephalographic and clinical correlation of hyponatremia induced during transurethral resection of the prostate. *Ann Neurol.* (2001) 50:554–5. doi: 10.1002/ana.1241
- Kaplan P. The EEG in metabolic encephalopathy and coma. J Clin Neurophysiol. (2004) 21:307–18. doi: 10.1080/13803390490509574
- 9. Taubøll E, Sveberg L, Svalheim S. Interactions between hormones and epilepsy. *Seizure*. (2015) 28:3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2015.02.012
- Herzog A. Catamenial epilepsy: update on prevalence, pathophysiology and treatment from the findings of the NIH Progesterone Treatment Trial. *Seizure*. (2015) 28:18–25. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2015.02.024
- Trimble M. Serum prolactin in epilepsy and hysteria. Br Med J. (1978) 2:1682. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.6153.1682
- 12. Bauer J. Epilepsy and prolactin in adults: a clinical review. *Epilepsy Res.* (1996) 24:1–7. doi: 10.1016/0920-1211(96)00009-5
- Pennell PB. Hormonal aspects of epilepsy. Neurol Clin. (2009) 27:941– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2009.08.005
- Bauer J. Interactions between hormones and epilepsy in female patients. *Epilepsia*. (2001) 42(Suppl. 3):20– 2. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.042suppl.3020.x
- Gupta R, Appleton R. Corticosteroids in the management of the paediatric epilepsies. Arch Dis Childhood. (2005) 90:379– 84. doi: 10.1136/adc.2004.051375

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The study involving a human participant was reviewed and approved by the Ethics committee of Jincheng People's Hospital, Jincheng, China. The patient provided her written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LJ put forward research ideas. LX took the responsibility of communicating with the patient's family and obtaining the authorization in this paper. HL was responsible for drafting articles. FY revised the article. HC and WL were responsible for literature searches and final proofreading. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Brunson K, Avishai-Eliner S, Baram T. ACTH treatment of infantile spasms: mechanisms of its effects in modulation of neuronal excitability. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* (2002) 49:185–97. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7742(02)49013-7
- Lang J, Taylor D, Kasper B. Stress, seizures, and epilepsy: patient narratives. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2018) 80:163–72. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.01.005
- Novakova B, Harris P, Ponnusamy A, Reuber M. The role of stress as a trigger for epileptic seizures: a narrative review of evidence from human and animal studies. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:1866–76. doi: 10.1111/epi.12377
- van Campen J, Jansen F, de Graan P, Braun K, Joels M. Early life stress in epilepsy: a seizure precipitant and risk factor for epileptogenesis. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2014) 38:160–71. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.09.029
- van Campen JS, Hompe EL, Jansen FE, Velis DN, Otte WM, van de Berg F, et al. Cortisol fluctuations relate to interictal epileptiform discharges in stress sensitive epilepsy. *Brain.* (2016) 139:1673–9. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww071
- Joëls M. Stress, the hippocampus, and epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:586– 97. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01902.x
- Baram T, Schultz L. Corticotropin-releasing hormone is a rapid and potent convulsant in the infant rat. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res.* (1991) 61:97– 101. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(91)90118-3
- Cano-López I, González-Bono E. Cortisol levels and seizures in adults with epilepsy: a systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2019) 103:216– 29. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.05.023
- 24. Galimberti C, Magri F, Copello F, Arbasino C, Cravello L, Casu M, et al. Seizure frequency and cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS) levels in women with epilepsy receiving antiepileptic drug treatment. *Epilepsia.* (2005) 46:517–23. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2005.59704.x
- Gallagher B, Murvin A, Flanigin H, King D, Luney D. Pituitary and adrenal function in epileptic patients. *Epilepsia*. (1984) 25:683– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1984.tb03477.x
- Ostrowska Z, Buntner B, Rościszewska D, Guz I. Adrenal cortex hormones in male epileptic patients before and during a 2-year phenytoin treatment. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (1988) 51:374–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.5 1.3.374
- Pritchard P, Wannamaker B, Sagel J, Daniel C. Serum prolactin and cortisol levels in evaluation of pseudoepileptic seizures. *Ann Neurol.* (1985) 18:87– 9. doi: 10.1002/ana.410180115
- Zhang S, Liu Y. Changes of serum adrenocorticotropic hormone and cortisol levels during sleep seizures. *Neurosci Bull.* (2008) 24:84–8. doi: 10.1007/s12264-008-0084-8
- Bazil C, Short D, Crispin D, Zheng W. Patients with intractable epilepsy have low melatonin, which increases following seizures. *Neurology*. (2000) 55:1746–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.55.11.1746

- Abbott R, Browning M, Davidson D. Serum prolactin and cortisol concentrations after grand mal seizures. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1980) 43:163–7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.43.2.163
- Hooper A, Paracha R, Maguire J. Seizure-induced activation of the HPA axis increases seizure frequency and comorbid depression-like behaviors. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2018) 78:124–33. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017. 10.025
- Jarrett S, Liang L, Hellier J, Staley K, Patel M. Mitochondrial DNA damage and impaired base excision repair during epileptogenesis. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2008) 30:130–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007.12.009
- Kudin A, Zsurka G, Elger C, Kunz W. Mitochondrial involvement in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Exp Neurol.* (2009) 218:326–32. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.02.014
- Tsai H, Chang C, Chang S. The effects of pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus on oxidative stress/damage in developing animals. *Brain Dev.* (2010) 32:25–31. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2009.02.013
- Yuen A, Sander J. Impaired mitochondrial energy production: the basis of pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. *Med Hypotheses*. (2011) 77:536– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2011.06.025
- Wilms L, Larsen J, Pedersen P, Kvetny J. Evidence of mitochondrial dysfunction in obese adolescents. *Acta Paediatr.* (2010) 99:906– 11. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01635.x

 Tamijani SMS, Karimi B, Amini E, Golpich M, Dargahi L, Ali RA, et al. Thyroid hormones: possible roles in epilepsy pathology. *Seizure*. (2015) 31:155–64. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2015.07.021

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Xu, Yang, Jia, Cheng and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## The Role of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Epileptogenesis: an Update

Xinyi Wang, Zhe Hu and Kai Zhong*

Department of Pharmacology, School of Basic Medical Sciences and Forensic Medicine, Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, China

Epilepsy, which is characterized by spontaneous recurrent seizures, is one of the most common and serious chronic neurological diseases in the world. 30% patients failed to control seizures with multiple anti-seizure epileptic drugs, leading to serious outcomes. The pathogenesis of epilepsy is very complex and remains unclear. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), as a member of the neurotrophic factor family, is considered to play an important role in the survival, growth and differentiation of neurons during the development of the central nervous system. Recent years, a series of studies have reported that BDNF can maintain the function of the nervous system and promotes the regeneration of neurons after injury, which is believed to be closely related to epileptogenesis. However, two controversial views (BDNF inhibits or promotes epileptogenesis) still exist. Thus, this mini-review focuses on updating the new evidence of the role of BDNF in epileptogenesis and discussing the possibility of BDNF as an underlying target for the treatment of epilepsy.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Cenglin Xu, Zhejiang University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Shan Wang, Zhejiang University, China Hongliu Sun, Binzhou Medical University, China

#### *Correspondence:

Kai Zhong zker12er@zju.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuropharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 13 August 2021 Accepted: 09 November 2021 Published: 26 November 2021

#### Citation:

Wang X, Hu Z and Zhong K (2021) The Role of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Epileptogenesis: an Update. Front. Pharmacol. 12:758232. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.758232 Keywords: epilepsy, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, tyrosine kinase receptor B, treatment target, epileptogenesis

#### INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy, which currently afflicts approximately 0.5–1% of population in the world (Fisher et al., 2014; Chen L. et al., 2020), is a chronic progressive central nervous system (CNS) disorder with a sudden abnormal discharge of neurons in the brain. Epilepsy is characterized by spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS), which can lead to a range of serious consequences including temporary brain dysfunction, accidental injury, neurological damage and cognitive decline (Thijs et al., 2019). The clinical treatment of epilepsy is mostly dependent on anti-seizure drugs (ASDs). However, about 30% patients still failed to control seizures after regular treatment with multiple ASDs, who may gradually develop into intractable epilepsy patients (Wang and Chen, 2019). So there is an urgent need for seeking new therapeutic drugs or strategies. Since the pathogenesis of epilepsy and expect to find new therapeutic targets *via* further understanding the underlying mechanisms of several complex neural circuits (Wang et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2019) and associated molecules (Wang and Chen, 2019; Xu et al., 2021).

Several important pathological processes, such as neuronal damage, regeneration, and abnormal neural circuits formation in the epileptogenesis, have been reported (Chen B. et al., 2020; Chen LY. et al., 2020). Accumulated studies have focused on some key molecules that may be involved in these pathological processes, including brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). BDNF is an important

38

member of the neurotrophic factor family. It has a major role in promoting neuronal survival, growth and differentiation during the development of the CNS (Binder, 2004; Sharma et al., 2020); moreover, it can maintain the survival and function of the nervous system and promotes neuro-regeneration after injury (Song et al., 2008; Sun and Alkon, 2019). It was found that BDNF mainly exerts its effects through binding to at least two membrane receptors: tyrosine kinase receptor B (TrkB) and low affinity neurotrophic factor receptor (LNGFR, also known as p75) (Carito et al., 2014). TrkB is a high-affinity receptor for BDNF, while p75 is a low-affinity receptor, which is preferentially binded by BDNF precursor (proBDNF). A significant number of studies have shown an association between the BDNF-p75 pathway and psychiatric symptoms such as anxiety, depression and irritability (Lin and Huang, 2020), while very few studies have shown an effect of this pathway on epileptogenesis (Grabenstatter et al., 2014). The BDNF-TrkB pathway triggers a series of cascade reactions in downstream pathways, which is considered to play a main role in BDNF function (Naumenko et al., 2015). The signaling pathways downstream of the BDNF-TrkB include the following three: phospholipase Cy, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and extracellular signal-regulated kinase cascade pathways, which are cross-linked to form a complex signaling network. All of them ultimately lead to the phosphorylation and activation of the cyclic adenosine monophosphate-response element-binding protein (CREB), which mediates the transcription of genes related to neuronal differentiation and survival (Cunha et al., 2010).

Basic and clinical studies have successively found that BDNF in the brain has a broad effect. It can alleviate neurological damage caused by diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson disease, spinal cord injury, stroke, and other neurological disorders (de Boer et al., 2017; Tanila, 2017; Rosa et al., 2019; Vidal-Martinez et al., 2019), and is strongly associated with the development of cognitive function, learning, memory, and depression (Hing et al., 2018). For instance, BDNF couldregulate synaptic plasticity and long-term potentiation (LTP) in the hippocampus and other brain regions to affect learning and memory (Leal et al., 2014). Hippocampal LTP is damaged in mice lacking BDNF in their neurons, and BDNF can enhance synaptic plasticity and LTP in the hippocampus and visual cortex (Mattson, 2008). Due to synaptic plasticity and LTP being closely related with temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) and longterm memory (Tramoni-Negre et al., 2017), it is speculated that BDNF may be involved in TLE and the long-term memory deficits after TLE (Hattiangady et al., 2020).

In recent years, BDNF and its downstream pathways have also been found to play a role in the epileptogenesis (Walczak et al., 2013), but its exact role and potential mechanisms have not been completely illuminated. Based on the available studies, two opposing hypotheses have been proposed, that is BDNF may facilitate or inhibit the process of epileptogenesis (McNamara and Scharfman, 2012; Lin et al., 2020).

Therefore, to further understand the role of BDNF in the epileptogenesis, we aim to review the two views by summarizing the relevant literature in recent years, which may provide certain references for further elucidating the formation process of epilepsy and finding new targets for epilepsy treatment.

#### BDNF EXPRESSION INHIBITS EPILEPTOGENESIS

The hypothesis suggested that the expression of BDNF can suppress epileptogenesis by a combined receptor-ligand pathway; and the TrkB binding to BDNF may be the most closely associated with epilepsy between its two corresponding receptor-ligand pathways (McNamara and Scharfman, 2012; Iughetti et al., 2018).

#### **Evidences From Preclinical Trials**

In cell experiments, BDNF and proBDNF were found to have a strong regulation in neuronal injury and repair as well as plasticity of synapses, both of which are derived from a protein expressed in the CNS: pre-BDNF precursors (PreproBDNF). BDNF and proBDNF mainly bind to TrkB and p75, respectively (Walczak et al., 2013). Their binding activates a series of signal cascade responses that may suppress epilepsy by decreasing pyramidal neuron excitability (Gibon et al., 2015). It is well known that different processes of epileptogenesis eventually pass through two necessary pathways: increased excitability of excitatory synapses and diminished inhibition of GABAergic neurons (Pitkanen and Lukasiuk, 2009). So the results suggested that the proBDNF has another pathway except for transforming into BDNF, which also can suppress epilepsy. In an animal experiment, BDNF was also found to attenuate the decrease in the electrical potential of GABAergic neurons in the brain tissue of epilepsy model of rats (Cifelli et al., 2013). It is hypothesized that BDNF may inhibit epilepsy by promoting phosphorylation of certain subunits of GABAergic neurons to attenuate the disease-induced decrease in GABAergic neuronal excitability (Cifelli et al., 2013). In a recent study, loss of BDNF-TrkB signaling in the cortistatin-expressing interneurons resulted in behavioral hyperactivity and SRS in mice (Maynard et al., 2020). Meanwhile, BDNF could alleviate the inflammatory response associated with epileptogenesis and thus reduce the disruption of the blood-brain barrier, as well as reduce the number of SRS in an epilepsy model of rats (Bovolenta et al., 2010). These results also suggested that BDNF has an inhibitory effect on epileptogenesis. In addition, a study in epileptic pregnant rats and their offsprings reported that the treatment of phenytoin increased the level of BDNF in the offspring born by epileptic rats and exhibited neuroprotection effects. It is suggested that BDNF reduces the CNS damage caused by epilepsy through its neurotrophic effect and then reveals the inhibitory effect on the epileptogenesis (Soysal et al., 2016). Notably, the effects of drugs and hormones themselves on epileptogenesis could not be ignored in this study, so this study should be considered as a side or indirect evidence.

In the study of drugs, Chiu et al. investigated the protective effect of dexmedetomidine on brain injury in a rat model of kainic acid (KA) epilepsy and found that dexmedetomidine ameliorated KA-induced neuronal apoptosis in rats and increased the

expression of BDNF and TrkB meanwhile (Chiu et al., 2019). Also by exploring the effect of pantoprazole on pentylenetetrazolinduced seizures in rats, it is found that pantoprazole treatment delayed seizures, protected memory, and likewise increased the level of BDNF in the brain (Taskiran et al., 2021). From the above two studies, it is hypothesized that BDNF expression may inhibit the formation and recurrence of epilepsy and improve the prognosis through the protective effect of neurons. In addition, it has been found that CREB is an important nuclear transcription factor that regulates signaling pathways in the brain and is closely related to the expression of its downstream BDNF proteins, forming the CREB/BDNF pathway (Jiang et al., 2021). A recent study showed that hesperidin can promote the activation of the CREB-BDNF pathway and maintain physiological levels of BDNF to inhibit pentylenetetrazol-induced convulsions in zebrafish (Sharma et al., 2020). Thus, these drug studies suggested that BDNF expression may inhibit epileptogenesis from a side as well.

In general, many cellular and animal studies have shown a consistent relationship between decreased levels of BDNF and increased incidence of epilepsy, or that recovery of BDNF expression may alleviate epilepsy in experimental epilepsy. Notably, we noted that many studies have found the importance of maintaining normal levels of BDNF in suppressing epileptogenesis, but more direct evidences are still needed to clarify whether increasing BDNF to above physiological levels can significantly suppress epileptogenesis. Furthermore, although these results have suggested that BDNF expression may play a role in inhibiting the epileptogenesis, the precise mechanisms remain unsolved. Therefore, it is worthy of further researching the exact molecular mechanism of epileptogenesis inhibited by BDNF and its corresponding pathways, which may mainly involve in the binding of BDNF and proBDNF to TrkB and p75 followed by a series of signaling cascade reactions, the regulatory role of BDNF on GABA, and the CREB/BDNF pathway and so on.

#### **Evidences From Clinical Studies**

Only a few studies reported the relationship between serum levels of BDNF and epilepsy in patients. A clinical study in patients with TLE showed that BDNF serum level in patients with TLE was significantly lower than that in the healthy controlsand the BDNF serum levels correlated with epilepsy duration (Chen et al., 2016). Recently, Poniatowski et al.divided the subject patients (n = 143)into a generalized tonic-clonic seizure group (n = 50) and chronic epileptic patients (n = 93) to determine their serum BDNF levels after seizures separately compared to the control group (n = 48). They found a significant decrease in serum BDNF levels in patients after generalized tonic clonic seizures, at 1 and 72 h after seizures in this group (Poniatowski et al., 2021). These data suggest a direct relationship between the decrease in BDNF levels and the occurrence of epilepsy. However, it is not clear whether the decrease in BDNF levels causes the epileptogenesis or isonly a concomitant phenomenon of epilepsy. Hence, further clinical studies on this issue are warranted. In addition, BDNF is rarely reported worldwide as an epilepsy-related screening index, while BDNF-related genes are now found to be strongly associated with

the development of epilepsy in patients. It has been found (Shen et al., 2016) that polymorphisms in BDNF-related genes (Val66Met) will lead to abnormal BDNF secretion and functional alterations, which in turn will affect the progressive course of the disease in patients with TLE. Other clinical studies have found that several miRNAs are involved in the BDNF-TrkB pathway and certain miRNAs can increase the expression of BDNF and activate its downstream signaling pathways, which have an inhibitory effect on the development of epilepsy (Wang et al., 2016). For example, it has been shown that the expression of CREB, a key molecule in the downstream signaling pathway of BDNF, and its corresponding genes increased at the original foci in patients with intractable epilepsy, while miR-124 may retard the process of epileptogenesis by reducing the expression of mRNA corresponding to CREB1 to diminish the effect of CREB1 on its downstream receptor NMDAR (Wang et al., 2016). The close relationship among miRNAs, the BDNF-TrkB pathway, and epilepsy suggests that miRNAs acting on the BDNF-TrkB pathway may be a promising antiepileptic treatment strategy.

## BDNF EXPRESSION PROMOTES EPILEPTOGENESIS

The other hypothesis suggests that abnormal activity or increased levels of BDNF play a positive role in inducing epilepsy and promoting epileptogenesis (McNamara and Scharfman, 2012; Iughetti et al., 2018).

#### **Evidences From Preclinical Trials**

It has been reported that the deletion of TrkB in mice caused a significant reduction in behavioural evidence for epileptogenesis (He et al., 2004; Kotloski and McNamara, 2010), and BDNF and TrkB expression increased in the amygdala of rats with epilepsy and depression (Liu et al., 2013; Briz et al., 2015). Ghadiri et al. found that BDNF levels were reduced in the hippocampus of rats given 32 mg/kg progesterone in an epilepsy model, while the number of apoptotic cells in the ipsilateral hippocampus and the number of damaged neurons was significantly reduced. Thus, the data showed an antiepileptic effect, which suggested that BDNF may promote neuronal cell damage and apoptosis to induce epilepsy formation (Ghadiri et al., 2019). In addition, decreased percentage of BDNF alleles in KA-induced epilepsy model of rats causes stronger mossy fiber sprouting to lead to the formation of abnormal excitatory circuits in the brain, which are thought to be associated with the epileptogenesis (Skupien-Jaroszek et al., 2021). This finding is consistent with some previous studies that BDNF takes part in sprouting events in epilepsy (Danzer et al., 2002; Scharfman et al., 2002), which suggests BDNF may play a positive role for epileptogenesis via promoting the mossy fiber sprouting and the formation of abnormal circuits. In addition, BDNF induces ryanodine receptor channel-mediated Ca2+ release and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Yang et al., 2020), while oxidative damage to mitochondria leads to disruption of mitochondrial function and cell death signalling, allowing excessive ROS

production and ultimately triggering epilepsy (Quan et al., 2020). Therefore, it is speculated that BDNF may induce epilepsy by causing an increase in ROS production. Overall, BDNF may contribute to the development of epilepsy by activating its downstream pathways to modulate a variety of factors, (e.g., neuronal cell damage and apoptosis, mossy fiber sprouting, increase in ROS, etc.).

TrkB is a main downstream molecule of BDNF. Reduced TrkB receptors in the amygdala and hippocampus can hinder the process of epileptogenesis in TrkB receptor-related knockout mice (Kotloski and McNamara, 2010). The mechanism is believed that increased TrkB receptor activity inhibits Clefflux by reducing KCC2 expression, which inhibits GABAergic neuron function and induces epilepsy (Liu et al., 2014). Similarly, transient inhibition of the TrkB receptor by a TrkB inhibitor can effectively suppress TLE in mice (Liu et al., 2013). REST/NRSF, an upstream gene of BDNF, acts to prevent seizures by inhibiting the activation of the seizure-associated BDNF-TrkB pathway, suggesting a possible role of the BDNF-TrkB pathway in promoting epileptogenesis (Chmielewska et al., 2020). In addition, BDNF overexpression in astrocytes in a lithium-pilocarpine mouse model worsened their phenotype, while neuroprotective effects were exhibited after lithiumpilocarpine treatment in the mice with hippocampal neurons or astrocyte-specific genes deficient of TrkB and significant retention of spatial learning ability was observed in the mice with astrocyte-specific gene deletion of TrkB (Fernandez-Garcia et al., 2020). The data further suggests that the damaging effects of the BDNF-TrkB pathway on nerves may be associated with epileptogenesis.

In summary, these cellular and animal studies have shown that increased BDNF levels seem to be correlated with the incidence of epilepsy and increased BDNF may be companied with the neuronal cell damage. However, the related molecular mechanisms still require to be further investigated, including whether increased BDNF levels have a direct damaging effect on neuronal cells and whether high levels of BDNF can reverse their protective effect on neurons at low levels.

#### **Evidences From Clinical Studies**

Although BDNF has a nutritional and supportive effect on neurons under physiological conditions, overexpression of BDNF seems to play an opposite role. Excessive BDNF significantly increases excitability of neurons and increases susceptibility to epilepsy, thus producing damage to neurons and possibly promoting epileptogenesis (Scharfman et al., 2002). BDNF was found to increase excitatory synaptic transmission and decrease the inhibitory effect of inhibitory neurotransmitters on activated synapses, thereby enhancing the transmission of epileptiform discharges in neural networks (Doherty et al., 2019). The clinical study also found that the majority of epileptic patients had higher levels of serum BDNF than healthy individuals, and the expression of BDNF and TrkB receptors were positively correlated. It is suggested that BDNF may play an important role in the occurrence and development of TLE through TrkB receptors (Jughetti et al., 2018). In addition, BDNF and its conjugated receptor (TrkB) is increased in both

animal models and human epilepsy patients, especially in the temporal and hippocampal regions which provides a surgical strategy for epilepsy surgery. The distribution of BDNF showed the levels of BDNF and TrkB receptors in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with TLE are higher than that in peripheral blood. This phenomenon was also seen in some drug trials and studies. Investigating 80 epilepsy patients, who were already using new ASDs, and 13 healthy subjects, a study found that BDNF levels were higher in patients with focal epilepsy and new ASDs levels were negatively correlated with BDNF levels in serum and positively correlated with total quality of life scores in patients with multiple new ASDs (Demir et al., 2020). Therefore, the serum or cerebrospinal fluid test of BDNF may be a convenient and reliable test for prognostic assessment of TLE and medications.

Excessive transcriptional expression of BDNF has also been investigated in epileptic patient (Martinez-Levy et al., 2018). The use of BDNF gene polymorphism to replace the corresponding amino acid (Val66Met replaced by methionine) has a good therapeutic effect on epilepsy, while inhibiting the secretion of activity-dependent BDNF can prevent seizures (Egan et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2004). Some epidemiological studies have also found that BDNF Met66 allele carriers are relatively less prone to epilepsy in patients with Rett syndrome (Nectoux et al., 2008), suggesting that altering the molecular structure of BDNF may have an inhibitory effect on epilepsy formation and BDNF may have an important role in promoting epilepsy formation. A recent investigation from Hong Kong and Malaysia for BDNF genotyping showed a significant correlation between BDNF and risk of symptomatic epilepsy in Malaysian Indians (Sha'ari et al., 2016), suggesting that BDNF polymorphisms may increase the incidence of epilepsy in Malaysian Indians. Thus, all these studies support the idea that high expression of BDNF in certain brain regions may cause epilepsy.

In the above clinical study, BDNF levels were indeed higher in the serum or the cerebrospinal fluid of epileptic patients than that in normal subjects. However, due to technical and ethical limitations, we are generally unable to measure the changes of BDNF in epileptic patients during the epileptogenesis. Therefore, we have not been able to determine whether this elevation of BDNF induces neuronal excitation to promote epilepsy, or it is simply a stressful increase of the body to repair neurons after the onset of epilepsy. More researches are needed to further elucidate this issue in the future.

#### Outlook

Despite accumulated evidences have indicated BDNF is closely associated with epileptogenesis in recent years, the exact role of BDNF in the epileptogenesis is still controversial, which may be concerned with the expression level of BDNF, the brain region of expression, its upstream and downstream molecules and other factors. It is speculated that there exist two possible hypotheses needed to be further verified. One is the expression level of BDNF in the brain needs to be maintained in certain range; that means, too high or too low may be unbeneficial for preventing from epileptogenesis. The other is that the influence of BDNF expression on epileptogenesis in different neural circuits, brain

Role of BDNF on Epileptogenesis

area, or subgroup of neurons may also be diverse. In addition, its upstream and downstream molecules may be involved in epileptogenesis. However, the role of several molecules such as p75 on epileptogenesis is still unclear, which is worthy to be further studied and clarified. Therefore, more researches and more direct evidences are needed to further elucidate these issues in the future; especially the elucidation of the role of BDNF in different neural circuits, which may have important significance for further understanding of epileptogenesis. Furthermore, many proteins and molecules within the BDNF-related signaling pathway are expected to be molecular targets for clinical epilepsy detection and treatment, which may be exploited to participate in the clinical treatment, risk assessment and prognosis of epilepsy. Hence, BDNF-related translational research is also a research direction to be focused on in the future.

#### SUMMARY

BDNF is closely related to epilepsy, since its upstream related genes and downstream receptors are found to be involved in the epileptogenesis. Various proteins and molecules in the whole pathway cross each other to form a complex signal transduction network; meanwhile, it is regulated by various exogenous substances. It may play a key role in the excitatory/inhibitory balance of neurons, which also has important significance of the

#### REFERENCES

- Binder, D. K. (2004). The Role of BDNF in Epilepsy and Other Diseases of the Mature Nervous System. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 548, 34–56. doi:10.1007/978-1-4757-6376-8_3
- Bovolenta, R., Zucchini, S., Paradiso, B., Rodi, D., Merigo, F., Navarro Mora, G., et al. (2010). Hippocampal FGF-2 and BDNF Overexpression Attenuates Epileptogenesis-Associated Neuroinflammation and Reduces Spontaneous Recurrent Seizures. J. Neuroinflamm. 7, 81. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-7-81
- Briz, V., Zhu, G., Wang, Y., Liu, Y., Avetisyan, M., Bi, X., et al. (2015). Activity-Dependent Rapid Local RhoA Synthesis Is Required for Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity. J. Neurosci. 35 (5), 2269–2282. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2302-14.2015
- Carito, V., Venditti, A., Bianco, A., Ceccanti, M., Serrilli, A. M., Chaldakov, G., et al. (2014). Effects of Olive Leaf Polyphenols on Male Mouse Brain NGF, BDNF and Their Receptors TrkA, TrkB and P75. *Nat. Prod. Res.* 28 (22), 1970–1984. doi:10.1080/14786419.2014.918977
- Chen, Z. Y., Patel, P. D., Sant, G., Meng, C. X., Teng, K. K., Hempstead, B. L., et al. (2004). Variant Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) (Met66) Alters the Intracellular Trafficking and Activity-dependent Secretion of Wild-type BDNF in Neurosecretory Cells and Cortical Neurons. J. Neurosci. 24 (18), 4401–4411. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0348-04.2004
- Chen, N. C., Chuang, Y. C., Huang, C. W., Lui, C. C., Lee, C. C., Hsu, S. W., et al. (2016). Interictal Serum Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Level Reflects white Matter Integrity, Epilepsy Severity, and Cognitive Dysfunction in Chronic Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 59, 147–154. doi:10.1016/ j.yebeh.2016.02.029
- Chen, B., Xu, C., Wang, Y., Lin, W., Wang, Y., Chen, L., et al. (2020a). A Disinhibitory Nigra-Parafascicular Pathway Amplifies Seizure in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Nat. Commun.* 11 (1), 923. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-14648-8
- Chen, L., Wang, Y., and Chen, Z. (2020b). Adult Neurogenesis in Epileptogenesis: An Update for Preclinical Finding and Potential Clinical Translation. *Curr. Neuropharmacol* 18 (6), 464–484. doi:10.2174/1570159X17666191118142314

occurrence and development of epilepsy. Currently, despite BDNF showed its effect in several preclinical researches, clinical studies using BDNF as a therapeutic agent have not been encouraging. Thus, BDNF is considered as a potential therapeutic target but not a drug and the modulation of BDNF and its upstream or downstream molecules by other agents may have certain clinical feasibility.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XW and ZH searched and filtered literatures. XW, ZH, and KZ wrote and corrected the mini-review.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81402914) and the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (LQ14H310001).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to C. Qian, R. Lyu, and Y. Ye for their help and guidance with the review.

- Chen, L. Y., Liang, J., Fei, F., Ruan, Y. P., Cheng, H. M., Wang, Y., et al. (2020c). Pharmaco-genetic Inhibition of Pyramidal Neurons Retards Hippocampal Kindling-Induced Epileptogenesis. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 26 (11), 1111–1120. doi:10.1111/cns.13434
- Chiu, K. M., Lin, T. Y., Lee, M. Y., Lu, C. W., Wang, M. J., and Wang, S. J. (2019). Dexmedetomidine Protects Neurons from Kainic Acid-Induced Excitotoxicity by Activating BDNF Signaling. *Neurochem. Int.* 129, 104493. doi:10.1016/ j.neuint.2019.104493
- Chmielewska, N., Wawer, A., Maciejak, P., Turzyńska, D., Sobolewska, A., Skórzewska, A., et al. (2020). The Role of REST/NRSF, TrkB and BDNF in Neurobiological Mechanisms of Different Susceptibility to Seizure in a PTZ Model of Epilepsy. *Brain Res. Bull.* 158, 108–115. doi:10.1016/ j.brainresbull.2020.03.007
- Cifelli, P., Palma, E., Roseti, C., Verlengia, G., and Simonato, M. (2013). Changes in the Sensitivity of GABAA Current Rundown to Drug Treatments in a Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Front Cel Neurosci* 7, 108. doi:10.3389/ fncel.2013.00108
- Cunha, C., Brambilla, R., and Thomas, K. L. (2010). A Simple Role for BDNF in Learning and Memory? *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 3, 1. doi:10.3389/ neuro.02.001.2010
- Danzer, S. C., Crooks, K. R., Lo, D. C., and McNamara, J. O. (2002). Increased Expression of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Induces Formation of Basal Dendrites and Axonal Branching in Dentate Granule Cells in Hippocampal Explant Cultures. J. Neurosci. 22 (22), 9754–9763. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.22-22-09754.2002
- de Boer, R. G. A., Spielmann, K., Heijenbrok-Kal, M. H., van der Vliet, R., Ribbers, G. M., and van de Sandt-Koenderman, W. M. E. (2017). The Role of the BDNF Val66Met Polymorphism in Recovery of Aphasia after Stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 31 (9), 851–857. doi:10.1177/1545968317723752
- Demir, M., Akarsu, E. O., Dede, H. O., Bebek, N., Yıldız, S. O., Baykan, B., et al. (2020). Investigation of the Roles of New Antiepileptic Drugs and Serum BDNF Levels in Efficacy and Safety Monitoring and Quality of Life: A Clinical Research. Curr. Clin. Pharmacol. 15 (1), 49–63. doi:10.2174/ 1574884714666190312145409

- Doherty, C., Hogue, O., Floden, D. P., Altemus, J. B., Najm, I. M., Eng, C., et al. (2019). BDNF and COMT, but Not APOE, Alleles Are Associated with Psychiatric Symptoms in Refractory Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 94, 131–136. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.02.032
- Egan, M. F., Kojima, M., Callicott, J. H., Goldberg, T. E., Kolachana, B. S., Bertolino, A., et al. (2003). The BDNF Val66met Polymorphism Affects Activitydependent Secretion of BDNF and Human Memory and Hippocampal Function. *Cell* 112 (2), 257–269. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(03)00035-7
- Fernández-García, S., Sancho-Balsells, A., Longueville, S., Hervé, D., Gruart, A., Delgado-García, J. M., et al. (2020). Astrocytic BDNF and TrkB Regulate Severity and Neuronal Activity in Mouse Models of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Cell Death Dis* 11 (6), 411. doi:10.1038/s41419-020-2615-9
- Fisher, R. S., Acevedo, C., Arzimanoglou, A., Bogacz, A., Cross, J. H., Elger, C. E., et al. (2014). ILAE Official Report: a Practical Clinical Definition of Epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 55 (4), 475–482. doi:10.1111/epi.12550
- Ghadiri, T., Vakilzadeh, G., Hajali, V., and Khodagholi, F. (2019). Progesterone Modulates post-traumatic Epileptogenesis through Regulation of BDNF-TrkB Signaling and Cell Survival-Related Pathways in the Rat hippocampus. *Neurosci. Lett.* 709, 134384. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2019.134384
- Gibon, J., Buckley, S. M., Unsain, N., Kaartinen, V., Séguéla, P., and Barker, P. A. (2015). proBDNF and p75NTR Control Excitability and Persistent Firing of Cortical Pyramidal Neurons. J. Neurosci. 35 (26), 9741–9753. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4655-14.2015
- Grabenstatter, H. L., Carlsen, J., Raol, Y. H., Yang, T., Hund, D., Cruz Del Angel, Y., et al. (2014). Acute Administration of the Small-Molecule p75(NTR) Ligand Does Not Prevent Hippocampal Neuron Loss or Development of Spontaneous Seizures after Pilocarpine-Induced Status Epilepticus. J. Neurosci. Res. 92 (10), 1307–1318. doi:10.1002/jnr.23402
- Hattiangady, B., Kuruba, R., Shuai, B., Grier, R., and Shetty, A. K. (2020). Hippocampal Neural Stem Cell Grafting after Status Epilepticus Alleviates Chronic Epilepsy and Abnormal Plasticity, and Maintains Better Memory and Mood Function. Aging Dis. 11 (6), 1374–1394. doi:10.14336/AD.2020.1020
- He, X. P., Kotloski, R., Nef, S., Luikart, B. W., Parada, L. F., and McNamara, J. O. (2004). Conditional Deletion of TrkB but Not BDNF Prevents Epileptogenesis in the Kindling Model. *Neuron* 43 (1), 31–42. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.06.019
- Hing, B., Sathyaputri, L., and Potash, J. B. (2018). A Comprehensive Review of Genetic and Epigenetic Mechanisms that Regulate BDNF Expression and Function with Relevance to Major Depressive Disorder. *Am. J. Med. Genet. B Neuropsychiatr. Genet.* 177 (2), 143–167. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.32616
- Iughetti, L., Lucaccioni, L., Fugetto, F., Predieri, B., Berardi, A., and Ferrari, F. (2018). Brain-derived Neurotrophic Factor and Epilepsy: a Systematic Review. *Neuropeptides* 72, 23–29. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2018.09.005
- Jiang, H., Xiao, L., Jin, K., and Shao, B. (2021). Estrogen Administration Attenuates post-stroke Depression by Enhancing CREB/BDNF/TrkB Signaling in the Rat hippocampus. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 21 (5), 433. doi:10.3892/etm.2021.9850
- Kotloski, R., and McNamara, J. O. (2010). Reduction of TrkB Expression De Novo in the Adult Mouse Impairs Epileptogenesis in the Kindling Model. *Hippocampus* 20 (6), 713–723. doi:10.1002/hipo.20673
- Leal, G., Comprido, D., and Duarte, C. B. (2014). BDNF-induced Local Protein Synthesis and Synaptic Plasticity. *Neuropharmacology* 76 Pt C, 639–656. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.04.005
- Lin, C. C., and Huang, T. L. (2020). Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Mental Disorders. *Biomed. J.* 43 (2), 134–142. doi:10.1016/j.bj.2020.01.001
- Lin, T. W., Harward, S. C., Huang, Y. Z., and McNamara, J. O. (2020). Targeting BDNF/TrkB Pathways for Preventing or Suppressing Epilepsy. *Neuropharmacology* 167, 107734. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.107734
- Liu, G., Gu, B., He, X. P., Joshi, R. B., Wackerle, H. D., Rodriguiz, R. M., et al. (2013). Transient Inhibition of TrkB Kinase after Status Epilepticus Prevents Development of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Neuron* 79 (1), 31–38. doi:10.1016/ j.neuron.2013.04.027
- Liu, G., Kotloski, R. J., and McNamara, J. O. (2014). Antiseizure Effects of TrkB Kinase Inhibition. *Epilepsia* 55 (8), 1264–1273. doi:10.1111/epi.12671
- Martínez-Levy, G. A., Rocha, L., Rodríguez-Pineda, F., Alonso-Vanegas, M. A., Nani, A., Buentello-García, R. M., et al. (2018). Increased Expression of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Transcripts I and VI, cAMP Response Element Binding, and Glucocorticoid Receptor in the Cortex of Patients with Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55 (5), 3698–3708. doi:10.1007/s12035-017-0597-0

- Mattson, M. P. (2008). Glutamate and Neurotrophic Factors in Neuronal Plasticity and Disease. Ann. N. Y Acad. Sci. 1144, 97–112. doi:10.1196/annals.1418.005
- Maynard, K. R., Kardian, A., Hill, J. L., Mai, Y., Barry, B., Hallock, H. L., et al. (2020). TrkB Signaling Influences Gene Expression in Cortistatin-Expressing Interneurons. *eNeuro* 7 (1), ENEURO.0310–19.2019. doi:10.1523/ ENEURO.0310-19.2019
- McNamara, J. O., and Scharfman, H. E. (2012). "Temporal Lobe Epilepsy and the BDNF Receptor, TrkB," in *Jasper's Basic Mechanisms of the Epilepsies*. Editors J. L. Noebels, M. Avoli, M. A. Rogawski, R. W. Olsen, and A. V. Delgado-Escueta (Bethesda (MD)). doi:10.1093/med/9780199746545.003.0039,
- Naumenko, V. S., Kulikov, A. V., Kondaurova, E. M., Tsybko, A. S., Kulikova, E. A., Krasnov, I. B., et al. (2015). Effect of Actual Long-Term Spaceflight on BDNF, TrkB, P75, BAX and BCL-XL Genes Expression in Mouse Brain Regions. *Neuroscience* 284, 730–736. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.10.045
- Nectoux, J., Bahi-Buisson, N., Guellec, I., Coste, J., De Roux, N., Rosas, H., et al. (2008). The p.Val66Met Polymorphism in the BDNF Gene Protects against Early Seizures in Rett Syndrome. *Neurology* 70 (22 Pt 2), 2145–2151. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000304086.75913.b2
- Pitkänen, A., and Lukasiuk, K. (2009). Molecular and Cellular Basis of Epileptogenesis in Symptomatic Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 14 Suppl 1, 16–25. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2008.09.023
- Poniatowski, Ł. A., Cudna, A., Kurczych, K., Bronisz, E., and Kurkowska-Jastrzębska, I. (2021). Kinetics of Serum Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) Concentration Levels in Epileptic Patients after Generalized Tonic-Clonic Seizures. *Epilepsy Res.* 173, 106612. doi:10.1016/ j.eplepsyres.2021.106612
- Quan, H., Koltai, E., Suzuki, K., Aguiar, A. S., Jr., Pinho, R., Boldogh, I., et al. (2020). Exercise, Redox System and Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1866 (10), 165778. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.165778
- Rosa, J. M., Pazini, F. L., Olescowicz, G., Camargo, A., Moretti, M., Gil-Mohapel, J., et al. (2019). Prophylactic Effect of Physical Exercise on Aβ1-40-Induced Depressive-like Behavior: Role of BDNF, mTOR Signaling, Cell Proliferation and Survival in the hippocampus. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 94, 109646. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2019.109646
- Scharfman, H. E., Goodman, J. H., Sollas, A. L., and Croll, S. D. (2002). Spontaneous Limbic Seizures after Intrahippocampal Infusion of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor. *Exp. Neurol.* 174 (2), 201–214. doi:10.1006/ exnr.2002.7869
- Sha'ari, H. M., Haerian, B. S., Baum, L., Tan, H. J., Rafia, M. H., Kwan, P., et al. (2016). Association of BDNF Polymorphisms with the Risk of Epilepsy: a Multicenter Study. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53 (5), 2869–2877. doi:10.1007/s12035-015-9150-1
- Sharma, P., Kumari, S., Sharma, J., Purohit, R., and Singh, D. (2020). Hesperidin Interacts with CREB-BDNF Signaling Pathway to Suppress Pentylenetetrazole-Induced Convulsions in Zebrafish. *Front. Pharmacol.* 11, 607797. doi:10.3389/ fphar.2020.607797
- Shen, N., Zhu, X., Lin, H., Li, J., Li, L., Niu, F., et al. (2016). Role of BDNF Val66Met Functional Polymorphism in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 126 (5), 436–441. doi:10.3109/00207454.2015.1026967
- Skupien-Jaroszek, A., Walczak, A., Czaban, I., Pels, K. K., Szczepankiewicz, A. A., Krawczyk, K., et al. (2021). The Interplay of Seizures-Induced Axonal Sprouting and Transcription-dependent Bdnf Repositioning in the Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *PLoS One* 16 (6), e0239111. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0239111
- Song, X. Y., Li, F., Zhang, F. H., Zhong, J. H., and Zhou, X. F. (2008). Peripherallyderived BDNF Promotes Regeneration of Ascending Sensory Neurons after Spinal Cord Injury. *PLoS One* 3 (3), e1707. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001707
- Soysal, H., Doğan, Z., and Kamışlı, Ö. (2016). Effects of Phenytoin and Lamotrigine Treatment on Serum BDNF Levels in Offsprings of Epileptic Rats. *Neuropeptides* 56, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2015.12.001
- Sun, M. K., and Alkon, D. L. (2019). Neuro-regeneration Therapeutic for Alzheimer's Dementia: Perspectives on Neurotrophic Activity. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 40 (9), 655–668. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2019.07.008
- Tanila, H. (2017). The Role of BDNF in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 97 (Pt B), 114–118. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2016.05.008
- Taskiran, A. S., Ergul, M., Gunes, H., Ozturk, A., Sahin, B., and Ozdemir, E. (2021). The Effects of Proton Pump Inhibitors (Pantoprazole) on Pentylenetetrazole-Induced Epileptic Seizures in Rats and Neurotoxicity in the SH-SY5Y Human

Neuroblastoma Cell Line. Cell Mol Neurobiol 41 (1), 173–183. doi:10.1007/ s10571-020-00956-6

- Thijs, R. D., Surges, R., O'Brien, T. J., and Sander, J. W. (2019). Epilepsy in Adults. *Lancet* 393 (10172), 689–701. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18) 32596-0
- Tramoni-Negre, E., Lambert, I., Bartolomei, F., and Felician, O. (2017). Long-Term Memory Deficits in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Rev. Neurol. (Paris)* 173 (7-8), 490–497. doi:10.1016/j.neurol.2017.06.011
- Vidal-Martinez, G., Najera, K., Miranda, J. D., Gil-Tommee, C., Yang, B., Vargas-Medrano, J., et al. (2019). FTY720 Improves Behavior, Increases Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor Levels and Reduces α-Synuclein Pathology in Parkinsonian GM2+/- Mice. *Neuroscience* 411, 1–10. doi:10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2019.05.029
- Walczak, A., Szczepankiewicz, A. A., Ruszczycki, B., Magalska, A., Zamlynska, K., Dzwonek, J., et al. (2013). Novel Higher-Order Epigenetic Regulation of the Bdnf Gene upon Seizures. J. Neurosci. 33 (6), 2507–2511. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1085-12.2013
- Wang, Y., and Chen, Z. (2019). An Update for Epilepsy Research and Antiepileptic Drug Development: Toward Precise Circuit Therapy. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 201, 77–93. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2019.05.010
- Wang, W., Wang, X., Chen, L., Zhang, Y., Xu, Z., Liu, J., et al. (2016). The microRNA miR-124 Suppresses Seizure Activity and Regulates CREB1 Activity. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* 18, e4. doi:10.1017/erm.2016.3
- Wang, Y., Xu, C., Xu, Z., Ji, C., Liang, J., Wang, Y., et al. (2017). Depolarized GABAergic Signaling in Subicular Microcircuits Mediates Generalized Seizure in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Neuron* 95 (1), 92–105.e5. doi:10.1016/ j.neuron.2017.06.004

- Xu, C., Wang, Y., Zhang, S., Nao, J., Liu, Y., Wang, Y., et al. (2019). Subicular Pyramidal Neurons Gate Drug Resistance in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. Ann. Neurol. 86 (4), 626–640. doi:10.1002/ana.25554
- Xu, C., Zhang, S., Gong, Y., Nao, J., Shen, Y., Tan, B., et al. (2021). Subicular Caspase-1 Contributes to Pharmacoresistance in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Ann. Neurol.* 90 (3), 377–390. doi:10.1002/ana.26173
- Yang, N., Guan, Q. W., Chen, F. H., Xia, Q. X., Yin, X. X., Zhou, H. H., et al. (2020). Antioxidants Targeting Mitochondrial Oxidative Stress: Promising Neuroprotectants for Epilepsy. Oxid. Med. Cel Longev. 2020, 6687185. doi:10.1155/2020/6687185

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Wang, Hu and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Secondary Epileptogenesis: Common to See, but Possible to Treat?

Yujia Shen^{1,2}, Yiwei Gong^{1,2}, Yeping Ruan¹, Zhong Chen^{1,2*} and Cenglin Xu^{1*}

¹ Key Laboratory of Neuropharmacology and Translational Medicine of Zhejiang Province, School of Pharmaceutical Science, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China, ² Key Laboratory of Medical Neurobiology of National Health Commission and Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, College of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

Secondary epileptogenesis is a common phenomenon in epilepsy, characterized by epileptiform discharges from the regions outside the primary focus. It is one of the major reasons for pharmacoresistance and surgical failure. Compared with primary epileptogenesis, the mechanism of secondary epileptogenesis is usually more complex and diverse. In this review, we aim to summarize the characteristics of secondary epileptogenesis from both clinical and laboratory studies in a historical view. Mechanisms of secondary epileptogenesis in molecular, cellular, and circuity levels are further presented. Potential treatments targeting the process are discussed as well. At last, we highlight the importance of circuitry studies, which would further illustrate precise treatments of secondary epileptogenesis in the future.

Keywords: secondary epileptogenesis, mechanisms, pharmacotherapy, neuromodulation, neural circuits

#### INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological diseases, affecting nearly 70 million people with  $\sim 1\%$  incidence worldwide (1, 2). Patients with epilepsy suffer from unpredictable seizures. Seizures are characterized by synchronous neural firing originating from the seizure focus. However, more than one epileptic focus may emerge in some patients as the disease progresses, defined as secondary epileptogenesis (3). Frank Morrell initially put forward the term secondary epileptogenesis to describe an independent epileptic focus localized in the homotopic area of the primary focus in the contralateral hemisphere (4). The existence of a secondary focus may lead to further pharmacoresistance and failure of surgical intervention. Although the phenomenon of secondary epileptogenesis has been recognized for long, its mechanism is still "tales from the mist." Hypotheses include excitatory actions of glutamate, depolarized GABA transmission, and long-term alteration of synaptic plasticity. Here, we first summarized the characteristics of secondary epileptogenesis by reviewing both clinical and experimental studies, followed by different aspects of mechanisms. Then available and possible treatments for interfering secondary epileptogenesis in the recent decades were presented. Given the significant advances of experimental approaches, including optogenetics, neuroimaging, and electrophysiology, we suggest understanding secondary epileptogenesis in a circuitry view and proposing open questions for future direction to improve the management of this common and intractable clinical situation.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

#### Reviewed by:

Alberto Lazarowski, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina Shuang Wang, Zhejiang University, China

#### *Correspondence:

Zhong Chen chenzhong@zju.edu.cn Cenglin Xu xucenglin5zz@zju.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 26 July 2021 Accepted: 15 November 2021 Published: 06 December 2021

#### Citation:

Shen Y, Gong Y, Ruan Y, Chen Z and Xu C (2021) Secondary Epileptogenesis: Common to See, but Possible to Treat? Front. Neurol. 12:747372. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.747372

45

#### SECONDARY EPILEPTOGENESIS

#### **Early Findings From Animal Experiment**

For many years, it has been known that epileptic discharge in one hemisphere may be related to synchronous discharges in the symmetric region of the other hemisphere (5). However, the precise definition of secondary epileptogenesis was not introduced until the 1960s. Morrell confirmed that after forming the primary epileptic focus, an independent epileptic focus could develop in the symmetric regions (which was also defined as the mirror focus) (4). In another early study, researchers proposed that the direct callosal junction between the primary and the mirror focus is indispensable (6). They questioned whether transecting the corpus callosum in the early stage can prevent secondary epileptogenesis. To address this issue, experiments were firstly performed on cats and rabbits. Ethyl chloride spray was delivered to a small section of the pial surface to produce a relatively small epileptogenic lesion. Recording electrodes were implanted into the sprayed area as well as the symmetric region to record electrical activities. After a few hours, the spike activities in the lesion could be observed. However, several days later, the paroxysmal independent discharges could be recorded by the contralateral electrode. And the callosal transection could prevent this process. Thus, it could be concluded that the callosal pathway is probably the critical route for epileptic propagation to the mirror focus in secondary epileptogenesis (7). In 1975, secondary epileptogenesis was further confirmed in the hippocampal kindled cats by Sato. In that study, epileptic electroencephalographic (EEG) activities were found in different regions apart from the mirror focus (8).

As for rodents, in 1962, Dow et al. firstly reported the development of secondary epileptogenesis on rats. Ten to twenty days after the cobalt application, which would produce a chronic discharging focus at the right cerebral cortex, the epileptic activities were observed at the contralateral hemisphere (9). Another study from Levin et al. confirmed that the contralateral focus, which would show recurrent spontaneous seizures, was not rare in an ethyl chloride freezing induced epilepsy model (10). To analyze the secondary epileptogenesis in rats in detail, Engel applied cobalt powder into the posterior brain of the rats to induce spontaneous epileptic seizures. They found that an independent secondary epileptic focus was easy to develop in the cobalt-induced epileptic model. Furthermore, the secondary epileptic focus was usually more excitable than the primary ones in the latter stage (11). A further histological study found that the RNA level was decreased, and ganglioside sialic acid amount was increased in the secondary focus (12). In addition to the chemical convulsant, kainite acid (KA) induced secondary focus by intra-hippocampal and intra-amygdala microinjection into the mice brain (13). Similar results about secondary epileptogenesis were found on other animal species, regardless of the diverse approaches to induce epileptic seizures. As Engel et al. proposed, the subsequent application of pentylenetetrazol could easily induce epileptic discharges in the contralateral secondary focus at dry ice treated rabbit's cortex (14).

It has to be admitted that using chemical convulsants to induce epileptic seizures has a major limitation. The uncertainty

of drug diffusion may further influence other extensive regions beyond the injection site. Thus, further validation of secondary epileptogenesis with a more specific primary focus is necessary. Repetitive electrical stimulation in a routine region was commonly used to investigate the progressive increase of behavioral and EEG seizures (15). Secondary epileptogenesis caused by electrical stimulation has been reported in multiple animal species, including frog, caiman, opossum, and monkey (16, 17). All the animals developed projected or evoked epileptic discharge in the homotopic area. Among them, the squirrel monkeys and rhesus monkeys had the fully independent mirror focus in which the epileptic discharges at the contralateral cortex have no correlation in timeline with that of the primary focus. Furthermore, the time courses of secondary epileptogenesis in lower mammals (e.g., rats, cats, and rabbits) seem to be shorter than those of non-human primates (18).

Besides in vivo studies, in vitro, ictal models are also beneficial for studying secondary epileptogenesis. In 1997, Khalilov et al. firstly established a well-designed three-chamber in vitro model by placing the intact hippocampal structures of neonatal male Wistar rats in different compartments of a chamber. Those well-isolated chambers separated by latex membranes could be perfused with different solutions separately (19, 20). Using this in vitro model, researchers could study the generation of synchronized neuronal activities and investigate the propagation of local epileptic excitability to distant areas. In their study, the contralateral hippocampus developed an independent epileptic focus after KA treatment on the primary focus despite the application of tetrodotoxin on the commissural fibers to block the neural connections reversibly (21). This in vitro preparation of intact hippocampi demonstrated the existence of secondary epileptogenesis in the isolated chamber and could be a promising model to study its mechanisms.

Substantial findings obtained from different models have confirmed the existence of secondary epileptogenesis in different epileptic models (**Table 1**). The most common localization of the secondary focus is the homotopic area contralateral to the primary focus, and the time of formation may be related to the intrinsic epileptic characteristics of the primary focus. However, due to the limitations of experimental techniques, seizures of these early laboratory experiments were mainly triggered by convulsants or electrical stimulations and were characterized by relatively extensive lesion area and vague primary focus (mainly localized in the cortex). Given that only a certain amount of patients had one specific epileptic focus, we suggest that the chronic spontaneous epileptic models may be more appropriate to study the mechanisms and discover potential therapeutic targets for secondary epileptogenesis.

### Clinical Evidence of Secondary Epileptogenesis

Interestingly, the secondary epileptogenesis phenomenon was first presented in animal experiments, and clinicians took many years to validate secondary epileptogenesis in patients. The secondary focus, which can generate separate epileptic seizures in patients, was first reported in 1984. Morrell reviewed patients

TABLE 1	Secondary	epileptogenesis ir	n animal	models.
	Cocorriadity	ophoptogonooio n	i ai ili i iai	1110000.

Years	Authors (Ref.)	Species	Epileptogenic factors	Primary focus	Secondary focus
1947	Pacella et al. (5)	Monkey	Hydrous oxides of aluminum	Motor cortex	Contralateral motor cortex
1959	Morrell (4)	Rabbit	Ethyl chloride spray	Right cortex	Left cortex
1960	Morrell (7)	Cat	Ethyl chloride spray	Right cortex	Left cortex
1962	Dow et al. (9)	Rat	Cobalt powder	Right frontal lobe	Left frontal lobe
1967	Levin and McCrimmon (10)	Rat	Ethyl chloride spray	Right somatosensory cortex	Left somatosensory cortex
1968	Engel (11)	Rat	Cobalt powder	Left posterior portion	Right posterior portion
1968	Wilder et al. (16)	Frog, cayman, opossum, monkey	Freeze lesion, penicillin	Left cortex	Right cortex
1970	Engel and Morrell (14)	Rabbit	Slivers of dry ice	Right cortex	Left cortex
1972	Westmoreland et al. (12)	Rat	Cobalt powder	Right somatosensory area	Left somatosensory area
1975	Morrell et al. (17)	Frog	Electrical stimulation	Right hippocampal cortex	Left hippocampal cortex
1975	Sato (8)	Cat	Electrical stimulation	Left hippocampus	Right hippocampus
1978	Schwarcz et al. (22)	Rat	Kainic acid	Hippocampus	Contralateral hippocampus
1980	Ben-Ari et al. (6)	Rat	Kainic acid	Amygdala, caudate-putamen, globus pallidus, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and septum	Contralateral homotopic area
1983	Jibiki et al. (23)	Rabbit	Electrical stimulation	Right visual cortex	Left visual cortex
1991	Kirkby et al. (24)	Rat	Electrical stimulation	Right hippocampus	Left hippocampus
1993	Beldhuis et al. (25)	Rat	Electrical stimulation	Amygdala	Contralateral amygdala
1993	Hiyoshi et al. (26)	Cat	Electrical stimulation	Right amygdala	Left mygdala
1994	Szente and Boda (27)	Rat	4-aminopyridine	Cortex	Contralateral cortex
1996	Federico and MacVicar (28)	Guinea pig	Electrical stimulation	Lateral entorhinal cortex (in vitro)	Contralateral lateral entorhinal cortex ( <i>in vitro</i> )
1997	Forti et al. (29)	Guinea pig	Bicuculline	Right anterior piriform cortex (in vitro)	Left anterior piriform cortex (in vitro
1997	Kudo et al. (30)	Cat	Electrical stimulation	Right motor cortical	Left motor cortical
1997	Mihaly et al. (31)	Rat	4-aminopyridine	Right frontal neocortex	Left frontal neocortex
2000	Barna et al. (32)	Rat	4-aminopyridine	Right somatosensory cortex	Left somatosensory cortex
2003	Gajda et al. (33)	Rat	4-aminopyridine	Somatosensory cortex	Contralateral somatosensory corte:
2003	Khalilov et al. (21)	Rat	Kainic acid	Right hippocampus (in vitro)	Left hippocampus (in vitro)
2005	Arabadzisz et al. (34)	Mouse	Kainic acid	Right hippocampus	Left hippocampus
2005	Gajda et al. (35)	Rat	4-AP	Right cortex	Left cortex
2008	Mouri et al. (36)	Mouse	Kainic acid	Amygdala	Contralateral amygdala
2009,20	11 Nardou et al. (37–39)	Rat	Kainic acid	Right hippocampus ( <i>in vitro</i> )	Left hippocampus (in vitro)
2013	Sobayo and Mogul (40)	Rat	Kainic acid	Hippocampus	Contralateral hippocampus
2017	Ito et al. (41)	Rat	Hyperthermia	Right hippocampus	Left hippocampus
2017	Kuang et al. (42)	Rat	Electrical stimulation	Right amygdala	Left amygdala

with benign brain tumors in whom the lesion stayed relatively stable over time. However, EEG recordings confirmed that 34% of those patients could develop an independent secondary epileptogenic focus remote from the tumor sites (13, 43).

The phenomenon of secondary epileptogenesis could be further identified in patients with progressive epilepsy. In those patients, determination of the epileptogenic zone has become a considerable challenge. In a study in 1970, EEG parameters, including the distribution of the beta rhythms and the behavior of the bilateral spike, were analyzed after repetitive injections of thiopental sodium in a total of 82 patients, aiming to guide the epilepsy surgery. The simply routine EEG criteria appeared unreliable for those patients who had widespread epileptic lesions (44). Similarly, Gollwitzer et al. reviewed video-EEG recordings from 100 patients with temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) and found that the bilateral independent interictal epileptiform activities could be detected in 64% of patients. Their findings suggested that seizure foci were localized in both hemispheres (45). Schmidt et al. reported the phenomenon of seizure recurrence after discontinuing anti-seizure drugs (ASDs) in six patients who had undergone epilepsy surgery (most are temporal lobe surgery). This phenomenon could be attributed to the formation of secondary epileptic foci (46). Another evidence of secondary epileptogenesis was that some patients could develop different

#### TABLE 2 | Secondary epileptogenesis in patients.

	. , , , ,						
Years	Authors	Sample size	Conclusion				
1952	Tukel and Jasper (49)	31 patients with parasagittal epileptogenic lesions	Epileptogenic foci in the cortex near the corpus callosum can cause widespread discharges at both hemisphere.				
1961	Falconer and Kennedy (43)	7 patients with small focal lesions (glial hamartomas, angiomas, or other neoplasms)	The EEG disclosed there were bilateral, independent spike discharges in both temporal regions.				
1961	Rovit et al. (50)	20 patients	Unilateral carotid amobarbital injection at primary epileptogenic lesions can inhibit bilateral discharges.				
1970	Lombroso and Erba (44)	82 patients presenting variety of seizures	Patients with widespread brain involvement in seizure activity are unappropriate for surgery.				
1985	Morrell (13)	47 patients with cerebral tumor seen as epilepsy	34% of patients had bilateral, independent epileptiform discharge in their EEGs, and more than one seizure type.				
1994	Gilmore et al. (51)	22 patients with complex partial seizures and had temporal lobe neoplasms	The mirror focus is not a contraindication to operation even when the preponderance of interictal discharge is contralateral to the tumor.				
1997	Eliashiv et al. (52)	60 patients who had standard en bloc anterior temporal lobe resection	The seizure recurrence at sites distant to the lesion may relevant to years o uncontrolled seizures.				
1998	Morris et al. (53)	38 patients with intractable epilepsy and ganglioglioma	Despite years of medically resistant seizures, patients with ganglioglioma can still have good surgical outcomes.				
2006	Kimiwada et al. (54)	14 children with partial epilepsy involving the temporal lobe	Radiographic results show the recruitment of hippocampal and thalamic in epileptic network.				
2008	Surges et al. (55)	14 patients with tonic–clonic seizures of extrahippocampal onset	Repeated extrahippocampal seizures can result in persistent modifications in hippocampal excitability.				
2010	Bortolato et al. (56)	One patient with bilateral foci in frontal lobe	The density of $GABA_A$ /benzodiazepine receptor binding in the mirror focus had a significant increase.				
2014	Kim et al. (48)	One patient with intractable occipital lobe epilepsy	Occipital lobe epilepsy can also have the mirror focus.				
2017	Gollwitzer et al. (45)	100 patients diagnosed with temporal lobe epilepsy	Bilateral independent interictal epileptiform activities could be detected in the progress of TLE.				

types of seizures later in the disease course, with an epileptic focus distinct from the primary site. For instance, Morrell reported a patient who developed a new seizure type (automatism followed by head and eye turning to the left) distinct from the habitual seizures with epigastric sensations followed by lip-smacking. (47). These seizures were distinct from the primary ones as a consequence of the formation of other epileptic foci. As mentioned above, the phenomenon of secondary epileptogenesis was reported more often in patients with temporal or frontal lobe epilepsy and rarer in occipital lobe epilepsy. However, Kim et al. reported an exception in occipital lobe epilepsy. The patient had relapses of seizures 10 months after resecting the defined seizure focus located at the left occipital lobe. Further validation confirmed the formation of a secondary focus located in the homotopic area of the right occipital lobe (48).

Clinical evidence on secondary epileptogenesis is still lacking, limited to case reports or series with small sample size. It could occur in different types of epilepsy (**Table 2**). Systematic and comprehensive prospective cohort studies are still needed to assess the prevalence and incidence of secondary epileptogenesis in different types of epilepsy and identify factors related to this phenomenon.

### Dilemmas in Treating Secondary Epileptogenesis

Over the last 30 years, about 30 ASDs have been approved and used to help control epileptic seizures (57). In many conditions, the seizure frequency could be reduced after taking ASDs. However, there are still a certain proportion of patients who would become pharmacoresistant. Compared with patients who had only one seizure focus, those with a secondary focus are more susceptible to pharmacoresistance (58). For pharmacoresistant epilepsy, uncontrolled seizures increase the risk of sudden unexpected death in epilepsy and seriously affect the quality of patients' daily life. Resection of the epileptogenic zones turns to be the optimal option. However, a secondary focus could restrict the surgery's efficiency because the presence of a secondary focus can generate epileptic discharges independently, even when the primary focus is resected.

Some researchers propose that the presence of secondary epileptogenic focus might not account for surgical failure in patients with epilepsy. Take the tumor patients, for instance. Resection of the tumor itself was mostly sufficient for seizure control, even if the mirror focus was spared in the surgery (59). Meanwhile, Goldensohn insisted that EEG evidence of multifocal discharge should not be considered when making decisions regarding epilepsy surgery because follow-up research showed that patients with bilateral foci still have a good prognosis after resection of the unilateral seizure focus (60). A study with 22 patients with temporal lobe neoplasms demonstrated that the mirror focus is not a contraindication for epilepsy surgery. Resection of the primary focus resulted in the disappearance of the secondary focus (51). In contrast, another study argued that the seizure relapses after resection were usually due to secondary foci in homotopic regions contralateral to the primary focus

(48). Different phases of secondary epileptogenesis (dependent, intermediate, and independent stages) proposed by Morrell may explain these conflicting reports (13, 47). During the dependent stage, the discharges that originated from the secondary focus are always time-locked to that of the primary focus, which means epileptic discharges at the secondary focus may only be propagated from the primary focus. In the intermediate stage, the discharges of the secondary focus can be different in time phases from that of the primary focus. However, surgical resection of the primary focus can lead to the vanishment of the secondary focus, which means the maintenance of the seizures in the secondary focus needs the existence of the primary focus. Eventually, the secondary focus becomes permanent in the last independent stage. In this stage, the seizure may originate from the secondary focus after the resection of the primary focus. Nevertheless, it should be noted that if the resection of a seizure focus leads to a certain period of seizure-free at first, but followed by a relapse of seizures, other epileptogenic factors such as abnormal stem cells attributed by developmental malformations or tumors may be also taken into account besides secondary epileptogenesis (61).

Thus, although contradictions exist, a conclusion could be drawn that secondary epileptogenesis is one of the major causes of the less favorable surgical outcome. However, the outcome of epilepsy surgery cannot be solely determined on the presence of the secondary focus but should take the different phases into account.

## Possible Mechanisms of Secondary Epileptogenesis

Unlike those neurological diseases with clear pathogenesis, multiple epileptogenic factors include tumor, trauma, neuroinflammation, genetic predisposition, etc., have been shown to result in abnormal excitation in the brain and consequently provoked seizures (1). Moreover, uncontrolled repetitive seizures further aggravate epileptic conditions like secondary epileptogenesis. Given that the genesis of secondary epileptic focus largely depends on the seizure propagation from the primary focus, mechanisms of excitability spreading such as neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity are closely related to secondary epileptogenesis. In the following sections, we discuss the possible mechanisms of secondary epileptogenesis systematically.

#### **MOLECULAR MECHANISMS**

# Involvement of Excitotary Neurotransmission

It is widely accepted that the actions of excitatory neurotransmitters play a vital role in the process of seizure propagation. The glutamate-mediated amplified excitatory activity could lead to the recruitment of excitatory neurons and initiation of the hyperactivity, then the spread of the hyperactivity would cause the seizures (62). Pathological excitatory neurotransmission mediated by glutamate receptors has long been regarded as a major factor in clinical and

experimental epilepsy etiology. Ionic glutamate receptors include N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA) receptor, KA receptor, and α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor, which conjugate with ion channels to mediate fast signal transduction. Khalilov et al. preliminarily revealed the correlation between ionic glutamate receptors and secondary epileptogenesis in the three-chamber model. They reported that the application of NMDA receptor antagonist on the contralateral hippocampus could prevent the formation of the secondary focus but not the propagation of seizure activity (21), which means NMDA receptors were involved in secondary epileptogenesis caused by the long-lasting synaptic excitatory effects originating from the primary focus. Given that the NMDA receptors were composed of two GluN1 obligatory subunits and two regulatory subunits (63), just as Acutain et al. reported, the decreased expression of GluN2A would further lead to increased seizure susceptibility (64). Thus it can be speculated that changes of the NMDA subunits may also underly secondary epileptogenesis. These findings suggest that the activation of the NMDA receptor is necessary for forming the secondary focus.

Similar to the NMDA receptor, other studies verified the role of the AMPA receptor in secondary epileptogenesis. Barna et al. proposed that intracerebral injection of the AMPA receptor antagonist GYKI-52466 into both the primary and mirror focus led to anticonvulsant effects in anesthetized rats treated by 4-AP (32). Also, the role of the AMPA receptors in secondary epileptogenesis of a KA treated rat model was examined. Interestingly, the application of the AMPA receptor antagonist CNQX led to a priority of seizure generation in the ipsilateral hippocampus, while in the selective KA receptor antagonist and the control group, epileptic discharge mainly originated from the contralateral side (40). Another study further verified this by showing that the AMPA receptor antagonist could reversibly suppress the seizure activity originating from the secondary focus (28). Besides, although barbiturate anesthetics have been widely accepted as a GABAergic function enhancer (65), it is also reported that phenobarbital could modulate the expression of AMPA-type glutamate receptor channels (66). Based on this, Nardou et al. compared the effects of diazepam, unrelated to the AMPA receptors and phenobarbital, on the formation of the mirror focus. They reported that phenobarbital but not diazepam could reduce the occurrence of epileptic spikes in the mirror focus with the presence of GABA and NMDA receptor antagonists (37), which laterally provide evidence for the involvement of the AMPA receptors in secondary epileptogenesis.

In brief, epileptic discharges resulted from neuronal hyperexcitability. The repetitive abnormal epileptic discharges in the primary focus can lead to an increased glutamatergic driving force acting on both excitatory NMDA and AMPA receptors of the possible secondary epileptic focus. This process will decrease the threshold of seizure generation and thus contribute to secondary epileptogenesis.



#### The Role of Inhibitory Neurotransmission

Besides excitatory glutamatergic synaptic transmission, inhibitory GABA synaptic transmission also plays a crucial role in maintaining the balance of excitation and inhibition in the central nervous system. Abnormalities in the GABAergic systems lead to declined inhibitory function in the brain, resulting in the dominance of excitation.

Federico et al. examined the role of GABA and glutamate receptor subtypes in the spread of epileptic activity. They confirmed that GABAA but not GABAB receptors were essential in seizure propagation (28). Perfusion of GABAA receptor antagonist bicuculline could lead to spontaneous seizure activity in the isolated guinea pig brain (29). The role of GABA receptors was further verified in a clinical study. Bortolato et al. reported a patient with neural damage in the right frontal lobe and a mirror focus in the contralateral hemisphere. After the resection of the primary focus, the density of GABAA/benzodiazepine receptor binding in the left frontal lobe significantly increased (56). A recent study has further reported the role of inhibition defects in the formation of a secondary epileptic focus. The application of bicuculline enhanced contiguous seizure propagation and focal bicuculline microinjection into the regions distant to the 4-AP injection site leading to a secondary, non-synchronous epileptic discharge (67).

Additionally, excitatory GABA action induced by high chloride concentration contributed to seizure generation (68–70). After experiencing recurrent seizures, GABA transmitters directly depolarized neurons due to a persistent increase of extracellular chloride ions termed as a shift of GABA function from inhibitory to excitatory. This early elevated concentration of chloride ions is due to two chloride co-transporters: NKCC1, which imports the chloride ions, and KCC2, which extrudes them. In epileptic conditions, the changed expression of KCC2 and NKCC1 would occasionally influence the ionic homeostasis of chloride ions and contributes to secondary epileptogenesis (71, 72). For example, the GABA-acting ASD phenobarbital is a first-line drug to treat neonatal seizures. However, it would be less efficient after recurrent seizures because phenobarbital exacerbated the high intracellular

chloride mediated by a combined action of NKCC1 and the downregulation of KCC2 in an established mirror focus (38). Moreover, although the NKCC1 antagonist bumetanide could not prevent the seizure propagation to the contralateral hippocampus and the formation of the mirror focus, it could block the spontaneous epileptiform activities and partly reduce the excitatory action of GABA in the isolated mirror focus (39). In conclusion, these results suggest the excitatory action mediated by chloride co-transporters can cause a longlasting shift in the depolarizing direction of the actions of GABA and ultimately induce secondary epileptogenesis.

The formation of the secondary focus is different from that of the primary one and is mainly dependent on synaptic transmission. According to the currently available evidence, the excitatory transmission may mediate the early stage of the secondary focus (dependent and intermediate phase proposed by Morrell). In contrast, the abnormality of inhibitory transmission may further mediate the consolidation stage of the secondary focus (the independent phase). Therefore, the role of these two kinds of synaptic transmission cannot be completely dissected (**Figure 1**), and further integrating studies are needed to dissect the mechanism of secondary epileptogenesis contributed by both excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission.

## Other Molecules Participate in Secondary Epileptogenesis

In the central nervous system, besides the excitatory/inhibitory neurotransmission, which is also the main target of available ASDs, neurons directly connect the cytoplasms of adjacent cells through channels docking of two hemichannels called gap junction (73). It is a common direct pathway for intercellular communication between glial cells and neurons. Connexin 36 (Cx36) mediated gap junction communication had been certified to participate in epileptogenesis and emerge as a potential target for epilepsy (74). Gajda et al. investigated the role of Cx36 mediated gap junction communication in the maintenance and propagation of epileptic discharges in both the primary focus and the mirror focus. They reported that the Cx36 channels also promoted secondary epileptogenesis (35). The above function partially mediated the formation of the mirror focus. They also demonstrated that the level of Cx36 mRNA was significantly increased after experiencing 25–30 spontaneous seizures (33).

On the other hand, cumulative studies demonstrated that epileptic pathogenesis might be associated with other factors which indirectly regulate neural excitability. Such as neurodegeneration, neurogenesis, and neuroinflammation, of which neuroinflammation gradually attracts researchers' attention (75-77). The inflammatory mediators play a significant role in the development of chronic spontaneous seizures (41). Early experiencing febrile seizures can induce the formation of secondary adult epileptogenesis in some cases, which might be mediated by neuroinflammation (78, 79). As Choi et al. reported, the level of HMGB1 showed a significant increase in the serum of patients with febrile seizures at first (80). It significantly contributed to the pathogenesis of hyperthermia-induced seizures and the following epileptogenesis. The application of HMGB1 further aggravated the acquired epilepsy after experiencing febrile seizures, which suggested that it played a vital role in acquired secondary epileptogenesis (81). One of the possible mechanisms may be that HMGB1 induces the expression of P-glycoprotein (P-gp) (82), which is directly related to drug resistance and epileptogenesis (83, 84).

In addition to neuroinflammatory cytokines, other molecules have also been reported to be involved in secondary epileptogenesis. Sulfated octapeptide of cholecystokinin (CCK-8) was a kind of neuropeptide that could increase the firing frequency of the action potentials in the neurons of the hippocampal CA1 (85). Moreover, the decreased calbindin staining might lead to decreased excitability and firing rate of pyramidal cells (86). The unilateral injection of KA into the dorsal hippocampus induced acute status epilepticus, followed by a latent phase with ipsilateral neuronal degeneration, which could generate epileptic seizures. Arabadzisz et al. investigated the expression and distribution of some specific neuromodulators in the hippocampus contralateral to the injection site in this process. The labelings of CCK-8 and calbindin were selectively decreased in the latent phase (34). The authors suggest that such changes in CCK-8 and calbindin expression may relate to the formation of epileptic seizures in the contralateral hippocampus.

Decades of studies have already revealed changes of some crucial molecules in secondary epileptogenesis. Nevertheless, the brain works as an interconnected network. The microscopic molecular mechanisms may not reflect the whole dynamic processes in secondary epileptogenesis. Macroscopical perspectives should be taken into account in different experimental designs.

#### **CELLULAR MECHANISMS**

#### Synaptic Plasticity in Secondary Epileptogenesis

In addition to molecular mechanisms, changes in synaptic function were also related to secondary epileptogenesis. The concept "seizures beget seizures" has been widely known for years. Moreover, cumulative studies have proved that repetitive seizures lead to more severe chronic epilepsy (87). In that process, synaptic plasticity certainly plays a key role. The longterm potentiation and depotentiation (LTP and LTD) of synaptic transmission are forms of long-lasting synaptic plasticity in the mammalian brain. During the process of LTP, synaptic strength gradually increases with the repetitive excitatory stimulation, while the situation is inverse in LTD. Both LTP and LTD mediate diverse forms of experience-dependent plasticity, including learning and memory, emotional feelings, and epilepsy (88). The phenomenon of LTP was first found in dentate granule excitatory neurons, which was essential in the stabilization and elimination of synapses during the development and adjustment of neural circuits (89). It is reasonable that the genesis of the secondary epileptic focus is associated with LTP due to that the process of these two phenomena is very similar-both of the two processes require repeated stimulation and reinforcement (90). An electrophysiological study performed by Beldhuis et al. analyzed bilateral hemispheres epileptiform activities on the amygdala kindling rats. The analysis of the linear and non-linear association functions showed that the connection between the two amygdalas was strengthened after daily kindling, and the excitability of the contralateral amygdala increased along with the kindling process (25). Further immunohistochemical studies illustrated that the activation of the neocortical areas contralateral to the primary focus was the result of synaptic connections, repeatedly strengthened synapses could lead to the spread of seizures (31, 55).

Given that the changes in synaptic plasticity are closely related to drug addiction (91). Kirkby et al. provided direct evidence about the role of enhanced synaptic plasticity caused by drug addiction in the secondary kindling process. They used amphetamine as a pretreatment agent to induce addiction in rats, thereby enhancing synaptic plasticity in the brain. Then the relationship between amphetamine pretreatment and the rate of kindling acquisition was studied. They demonstrated that the amphetamine pretreatment would lead to a much faster procedure of the kindling process in the secondary but not the primary epileptic focus (24).

Synaptic plasticity changes eventually lead to the remodeling of neural circuits and can be considered the connection from macroscopic brain network to microscopic synaptic function and transmitters, which provides another perspective for studying secondary epileptogenesis.

#### **Other Cellular Changes**

Other alternative mechanisms for secondary epileptogenesis which were occasionally reported include selective loss of interneurons, formation of excitatory synapses, etc. (87). Also, both mossy fibers sprouting and astrogliosis are reported as biomarkers of aberrant excitatory synaptogenesis, and they were observed in the unilateral KA model and electrical stimulation model (92). Meanwhile, postepileptic lesions showed changes in neuronal density, reactive astrogliosis, and sclerosis of critical structures that might cause secondary epileptogenesis. A histopathological study showed that most patients with TLE would have the characteristics of severe neuronal loss in the amygdala (93). However, the relatively small sample size of these studies limits the utility of these findings, and further systematic studies are required.

## **Circuitry Views for Secondary Epileptogenesis**

With significant developments in neuroscientific experimental techniques such as optogenetics, trans-synaptic viral tracing, and large-scale single-unit recordings, epilepsy is gradually considered a circuitry disease caused by the formation of abnormal brain networks (94, 95). The study of the time sequence of seizure initiation had demonstrated that the seizures were not just synchronized events in a single region but involved many crucial circuits originating from seizure focus to its downstream regions. The formation of abnormal excitatory circuits usually leads to the generation of seizures. For example, our previous studies have demonstrated that the microcircuit in the subiculum gates the genesis of the generalized seizures and further pharmacoresistance in TLE (68, 96, 97). It can be deduced that the heterogeneity of seizure spread sequence and excitation amplitudes may further lead to the formation of the secondary focus.

After reviewing decades of researches on secondary epileptogenesis, a conclusion can be drawn that the secondary focus was most likely to occur at the homotopic area of the contralateral hemisphere. Because the two hemispheres of the brain, especially in the temporal lobe regions, have the densest neural projection. Our previous study demonstrated that the unilateral kindled amygdala could promote the process of kindling acquisition in the contralateral amygdala (42). Also, it has long been deemed that the secondary epileptic focus can occur not only in the contralateral homotopic areas but also in the other regions of the ipsilateral hemisphere. The independent epileptic discharge could be detected in both the amygdala and the globus pallidus in an epileptic model whose seizures originate from the hippocampus (98). In unilateral amygdaloid overkindled cats, seizures could originate from both the amygdala and the ipsilateral frontal cortex (26). These studies suggest that the secondary epileptic foci do not form in isolation. Generalization of epileptic excitability is usually accompanied by the evolution of epileptic circuits.

Neuroimaging is a valuable tool to visualize the microstructural changes of epileptic circuits. Moreover, isotopic indicators in positron emission tomography (PET) have become one of the most commonly used methods to estimate glucose utilization of a particular nucleus. Handforth et al. compared the behavioral severity with autoradiography anatomic patterns in amygdala-induced status epilepticus. The spread of seizure activities from the amygdala to other limbic and non-limbic structures existed long before the appearance of motor seizures. This network first recruited the direct amygdala projection areas, then the contralateral structures (99). As Bankstahl et al. reported, by applying a novel PET protocol targeting the overactivity of P-gp, seizure-induced regional changes in P-gp activity can be identified (100). The overexpression of P-gp is closely related to epileptogenesis, by which method, the potential secondary epileptic focus can be detected. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) changes in patients with TLE were evaluated, and evidence for the microstructural changes of the hippocampus was also provided. Less-robust abnormalities of DTI suggested the secondary involvement of the thalamus in epilepsy. This structure was recruited into the hippocampal epileptic network (54). Additionally, Pustina et al. compared the role of three interhemispheric white matter pathways in generating contralateral epileptiform spikes during interictal activity. Diffusion tensor imaging was used to measure the integrity of those pathways in the temporal lobes: the tapetum, the anterior commissure, and the body of the fornix. These data suggested that the tapetum pathway could cause the emergence of contralateral spikes, and it was not due to the containment of callosal fibers (101).

Growing evidence suggests that understanding the mechanisms in neurological functions and diseases, especially in epilepsy, cannot be focused solely on the microscopic molecular level. Macroscopic circuitry views provide a more accurate and dynamic mechanism perspective. Although a few studies have already suggested that the formation of the secondary focus is related to the circuits, systematic studies are still needed to elucidate the circuitry mechanism of secondary epileptogenesis (**Figure 2**).

## AVAILABLE AND POTENTIAL TREATMENTS FOR SECONDARY EPILEPTOGENESIS

#### **Epilepsy Surgery**

In the early 1960s, the development of neurosurgical intervention was just getting started. At that period, ASDs and surgical resection were the main available treatments for epilepsy. For patients with bilateral epileptic foci, neither medication nor surgery can achieve a satisfactory curative effect. However, given that corpus callosum was reported to play a critical role in bilateralization and symmetrization of seizures (30). Some clinicians would choose corpus callosotomy for patients with intractable epilepsy. The curative effect of corpus callosotomy on secondary epileptogenesis was initially demonstrated in animal models. The effect of corpus callosotomy was firstly demonstrated in a motor cortical kindling model. Kudo et al. divided twelve cats into two groups, five with the corpus callosotomy. The corpus callosotomy could significantly delay the seizure progression from focal to generalized convulsive seizures and decline the transfer effect of epileptic seizures (30). Callosotomy was mainly chosen for those patients with complex focal seizures or Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (102). Ono et al. reported that 63.2% of the patients with bilateral discharges showed desirable outcomes after callosotomy for intractable epilepsy. While after correlating postoperative outcomes with EEG data, it turned out that the patients with lateralized seizure discharges often had superior effects compared with those who had bilateral discharges (103).

However, besides the therapeutic effects, side effects should not be ignored. The split brain syndrome as a side effect of callosotomy had been reported due to brain



asymmetry. Dyssynchrony of consciousness in the two hemispheres can be observed and further affects the selfcare abilities of patients. Sometimes, callosotomy can even ameliorate both generalized seizure and status epilepticus (102). Thus, the callosotomy must be performed with special caution and regarded as the last choice when no alternative options exist.

#### Pharmacotherapy Available ASDs

Most of the first and second generation ASDs like phenytoin, valproic acid, and benzodiazepines are used to control seizures in patients with or without secondary focus. Those ASDs act on diverse molecular targets, including voltage-gated sodium/calcium channels and GABA_A receptors. Taken that almost no available ASDs can interfere the epileptogenesis (3), the ineffectiveness of these ASDs on secondary epileptogenesis is imaginable.

However, some third-generation drugs act differently. Levetiracetam (LEV) is a pyrrolidone derivative which can be used as both anticonvulsant and antiepileptogenic medication. It does not target postsynaptic receptors or membrane ion channels but acts by combining with the component factor of the synaptic vesicle (SV2A) and further blocks the transmission of excitatory neurotransmission (104). The antiepileptogenic effect of LEV was firstly demonstrated on animal models and can persist after drug withdrawal (105). Yang et al. demonstrated

that early administration of LEV could prevent posttraumatic epileptogenesis both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. It also significantly raised the stimulus intensity required to trigger epileptiform bursts (106). Furthermore, combined use of LEV and topiramate could also significantly retard the epileptogenesis in rats after pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus (107). Although direct evidence was still lacking, it can be deduced that LEV might also interfere with the genesis of secondary epileptogenesis.

To sum up, the complete abolishment of secondary epileptogenesis by current ASDs is still not evident. Available ASDs, which mainly target ion channels and GABA receptors, turn out to be invalid for epileptogenesis. Future drug designs should focus on molecules and mechanisms closely related to secondary epileptogenesis.

#### **Future Potential Medications**

Novel mechanisms findings of secondary epileptogenesis would, in turn, provide potential therapeutic targets for it. For example, both preclinical and clinical evidence has highlighted the importance of neural inflammation on epileptogenesis in recent years. There is positive feedback between the proinflammatory factors and the epileptic activities. The biosynthesis of inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins will be activated after epileptic stimuli and, in turn, enhance the epileptic excitability (108). Thus, the inflammatory inhibitors may have potential antiepileptic effects. We previously reported that targeting the caspase-1-interleukin-1 $\beta$  inflammatory pathway could reduce neuronal excitability and suppress secondary epileptic susceptibility caused by febrile seizures (79, 109). Besides, as mentioned above, the inhibitor of HMGB1 may also have the potential to treat secondary epileptogenesis (81). Additionally, the phenomenon of LTP is based on the function of AMPA receptors and NMDA receptors. (88). Consequently, the AMPA and NMDA receptor antagonist application delays the enhancement of synaptic connection and may prevent the formation of the secondary focus.

Aside from approaches targeted on the molecules closely related to secondary epileptogenesis, directly retarding the primary epileptogenesis may also be helpful (110). New directions of ASDs development should address both the primary and secondary epileptogenesis rather than merely seizure control. With the development of pharmacogenomics and the discovery of accurate biomarkers, precise individualized therapy for secondary epileptogenesis will be possible and could certainly help those patients.

#### **Other Treatment Options**

Neurostimulations, including deep brain stimulation, vagus nerve stimulation, and transcranial magnetic stimulation, are effective for neurological diseases (1). Among these, deep brain stimulation has gradually evolved as an effective alternative treatment in epilepsy, with the advantages of reversibility and controllability. For secondary epileptogenesis, our previous research firstly reported that low frequency stimulation (LFS, 1 Hz) at the primary focus could significantly retard the secondary kindling acquisition of the mirror focus (Figure 3). Then we further specified the time window of LFS for secondary epileptogenesis treatment. The LFS would have a better effect before developing into a generalized seizure (42). Similarly, Couturier et al. determined the relative efficacy of different protocols of brain stimulation for secondary epileptogenesis. By comparing the antiepileptic effects of LFS on the corpus callosum and high frequency stimulation (HFS) at both primary focus and anterior nucleus, a conclusion can be drawn that the LFS at the corpus callosum can significantly reduce the seizure frequency of both primary and secondary focus (111). These results provided direct evidence to confirm the promising therapeutic effect of LFS for secondary epileptogenesis.

Recently, the brain-responsive neurostimulator (RNS System, NeuroPace Inc.) has been approved by the FDA as an adjunct treatment for refractory epilepsy, including patients who had more than one epileptic foci (112). In a case report, by implanting an RNS System into a patient whose left temporal seizure focus overlapped with language areas which led to the residual of epileptic structures after surgery, Geller et al. reported that this adjunct treatment achieved a desirable curative effect in that patient (113). Transcranial focal stimulation (TFS), a noninvasive neuromodulation strategy, has been shown to reduce seizure activities and avoid P-gp overexpression in different experimental models. According to these, it is indicated that TFS may also



represent a new neuromodulatory strategy to revert secondary epileptogenesis (114).

Despite the promising results, neuromodulation is limited by its invasive nature (associated with device implantation) and battery-related problems. Future studies should focus on the crucial brain regions involved in secondary epileptogenesis and develop more biocompatible and continuable devices.

#### CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTIVES

To sum up, secondary epileptogenesis is a longlasting issue that remains unsolved in epilepsy. Decades of clinical and experimental evidence have confirmed its existence and gradually revealed the possible mechanisms ranging from the molecular to the circuitry level. Both excessive activation of excitatory receptors and reduced inhibition of GABA receptors eventually lead to the formation of the secondary epileptic focus. Other molecules such as HMGB1, caspase-1, and CCK-8 may also contribute to this process. Currently, surgery seems to be the optimal option for secondary epileptogenesis. However, both neuroinflammation inhibitors and DBS show great potential in retarding secondary epileptogenesis. More importantly, with the development of optogenetics and chemogenetics, treatments targeting crucial circuits show great potential in interfering with secondary epileptogenesis. The combination of new neurobiological techniques can bring new insights to illustrate the mechanism of this longlasting problem and novel therapeutic approaches as well.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Thijs RD, Surges R, O'Brien TJ, Sander JW. Epilepsy in adults. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:689–701. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32596-0
- Fei F, Wang X, Wang Y, Chen Z. Dissecting the role of subiculum in epilepsy: research update and translational potential. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2021) 201:102029. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2021.102029
- Löscher W, Klitgaard H, Twyman RE, Schmidt D. New avenues for antiepileptic drug discovery and development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2013) 12:757–76. doi: 10.1038/nrd4126
- Morrell F. Experimental focal epilepsy in animals. Arch Neurol. (1959) 1:141–7. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1959.03840020015003
- Pacella BL, Kopeloff LM, Kopeloff N. Electroencephalographic studies on induced and excised epileptogenic foci in monkeys. *Arch Neurol Psychiatry*. (1947) 58:693–703. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1947.02300350043003
- Ben-Ari Y, Tremblay E, Ottersen OP, Meldrum BS. The role of epileptic activity in hippocampal and "remote" cerebral lesions induced by kainic acid. *Brain Res.* (1980) 191:79–97. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(80)90316-9
- Morrell F. Secondary epileptogenic lesions. *Epilepsia*. (1960) 1:558– 60. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1959.tb04288.x
- Sato M. Hippocampal seizure and secondary epileptogenesis in the "kindled" cat preparations. *Folia Psychiatr Neurol Jpn.* (1975) 29:239– 50. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.1975.tb02341.x
- Dow RS, Fernandez-Guardiola A, Manni E. The production of cobalt experimental epilepsy in the rat. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*. (1962) 14:399–407. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(62)90116-5
- Levin E, McCrimmon A. ATPase activity in discharging cortical lesions induced by freezing. Arch Neurol. (1967) 16:321–5. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1967.00470210097010
- Engel JJ. Secondary epileptogenesis in rats. *Electroencephalogr Clin* Neurophysiol. (1968) 25:494–8. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(68)90160-0
- Westmoreland BF, Hanna GR, Bass NH. Cortical alterations in zones of secondary epileptogenesis: a neurophysiologic, morphologic and microchemical correlation study in the albino rat. *Brain Res.* (1972) 43:485–99. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(72)90403-9
- Morrell F. Secondary epileptogenesis in man. Arch Neurol. (1985) 42:318– 35. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1985.04060040028009
- Engel JJ, Morrell F. Turnover of RNA in normal and secondarily epileptogenic rabbit cortex. *Exp Neurol.* (1970) 26:221-38. doi: 10.1016/0014-4886(70)90121-4
- Sato M. A study on psychomotor epilepsy with "kindled" cat preparations. *Folia Psychiatr Neurol Jpn.* (1976) 30:425– 34. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.1976.tb02279.x
- Wilder BJ, King RL, Schmidt RP. Comparative study of secondary epileptogenesis. *Epilepsia*. (1968) 9:275– 89. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1968.tb04961.x
- Morrell F, Tsuru N, Hoeppner TJ, Morgan D, Harrison WH. Secondary epileptogenesis in frog forebrain: effect of inhibition of protein synthesis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (1975) 2:407–16. doi: 10.1017/s0317167100020552
- Tsuru N. Phylogenesis and kindling. Folia Psychiatr Neurol Jpn. (1981) 35:245–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.1981.tb00222.x

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YS wrote the manuscript. YG, YR, CX, and ZC edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81630098) and the Research Project of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University (2021JKZKTS010A).

- Khalilov I, Esclapez M, Medina I, Aggoun D, Lamsa K, Leinekugel X, et al. A novel *in vitro* preparation: the intact hippocampal formation. *Neuron*. (1997) 19:743–9. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80956-3
- Khazipov R, Desfreres L, Khalilov I, Ben-Ari Y. Three-independentcompartment chamber to study *in vitro* commissural synapses. J Neurophysiol. (1999) 81:921–4. doi: 10.1152/jn.1999.81.2.921
- Khalilov I, Holmes GL, Ben-Ari Y. *In vitro* formation of a secondary epileptogenic mirror focus by interhippocampal propagation of seizures. *Nat Neurosci.* (2003) 6:1079–85. doi: 10.1038/nn1125
- Schwarcz R, Zaczek R, Coyle JT. Microinjection of kainic acid into the rat hippocampus. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (1978) 50:209–20. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(78)90353-9
- Jibiki I, Ohtani T, Kubota T, Hosokawa K, Wada Y, Yamaguchi N. "Convulsoid responses" suggesting development of autonomous epileptogenicity. *Exp Neurol.* (1983) 80:529–48. doi: 10.1016/0014-4886(83)90305-9
- Kirkby RD, Gelowitz DL, Kokkinidis L. The effects of amphetamine preexposure on electrical kindling of the hippocampus and related transfer phenomena. *Brain Res.* (1991) 550:161– 4. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(91)90422-r
- Beldhuis HJ, Suzuki T, Pijn JP, Teisman A, Lopes da. Silva FH, Bohus B. Propagation of epileptiform activity during development of amygdala kindling in rats: linear and non-linear association between ipsi- and contralateral sites. *Eur J Neurosci.* (1993) 5:944–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.1993.tb00945.x
- Hiyoshi T, Seino M, Kakegawa N, Higashi T, Yagi K, Wada JA. Evidence of secondary epileptogenesis in amygdaloid overkindled cats: electroclinical documentation of spontaneous seizures. *Epilepsia*. (1993) 34:408–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1993.tb02580.x
- Szente MB, Boda B. Cellular mechanisms of neocortical secondary epileptogenesis. Brain Res. (1994) 648:203–14. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(94)91119-3
- Federico P, MacVicar BA. Imaging the induction and spread of seizure activity in the isolated brain of the guinea pig: the roles of GABA and glutamate receptors. J Neurophysiol. (1996) 76:3471–92. doi: 10.1152/jn.1996.76.5.3471
- Forti M, Biella G, Caccia S, de Curtis M. Persistent excitability changes in the piriform cortex of the isolated guinea-pig brain after transient exposure to bicuculline. *Eur J Neurosci.* (1997) 9:435–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.1997.tb01621.x
- Kudo T, Yagi K, Seino M. Effect of callosal bisection on seizure development and interhemispheric transfer effects in feline motor cortical kindling. *Epilepsy Res.* (1997) 28:105–18. doi: 10.1016/s0920-1211(97)00032-6
- Mihaly A, Szente M, Dubravcsik Z, Boda B, Kiraly E, Nagy T, et al. Parvalbumin- and calbindin-containing neurons express c-fos protein in primary and secondary mirror epileptic foci of the rat neocortex. *Brain Res.* (1997) 761:135–45. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(97) 00317-x
- Barna B, Szász A, Világi I, Szente M. Anticonvulsive effect of AMPA receptor antagonist GYKI 52466 on 4-aminopyridine-induced cortical ictal activity in rat. *Brain Res Bull.* (2000) 51:241–8. doi: 10.1016/s0361-9230(99)00224-5

- 33. Gajda Z, Gyengesi E, Hermesz E, Ali KS, Szente M. Involvement of gap junctions in the manifestation and control of the duration of seizures in rats *in vivo*. *Epilepsia*. (2003) 44:1596– 600. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2003.25803.x
- 34. Arabadzisz D, Antal K, Parpan F, Emri Z, Fritschy JM. Epileptogenesis and chronic seizures in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy are associated with distinct EEG patterns and selective neurochemical alterations in the contralateral hippocampus. *Exp Neurol.* (2005) 194:76– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2005.01.029
- Gajda Z, Szupera Z, Blazsó G, Szente M. Quinine, a blocker of neuronal cx36 channels, suppresses seizure activity in rat neocortex *in vivo. Epilepsia.* (2005) 46:1581–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005. 00254.x
- Mouri G, Jimenez-Mateos E, Engel T, Dunleavy M, Hatazaki S, Paucard A, et al. Unilateral hippocampal CA3-predominant damage and short latency epileptogenesis after intra-amygdala microinjection of kainic acid in mice. *Brain Res.* (2008) 1213:140–51. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.03.061
- Nardou R, Yamamoto S, Bhar A, Burnashev N, Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I. Phenobarbital but not diazepam reduces AMPA/kainate receptor mediated currents and exerts opposite actions on initial seizures in the neonatal rat hippocampus. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2011) 5:16. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2011.00016
- Nardou R, Yamamoto S, Chazal G, Bhar A, Ferrand N, Dulac O, et al. Neuronal chloride accumulation and excitatory GABA underlie aggravation of neonatal epileptiform activities by phenobarbital. *Brain.* (2011) 134:987– 1002. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr041
- Nardou R, Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I. Bumetanide, an NKCC1 antagonist, does not prevent formation of epileptogenic focus but blocks epileptic focus seizures in immature rat hippocampus. *J Neurophysiol.* (2009) 101:2878– 88. doi: 10.1152/jn.90761.2008
- Sobayo T, Mogul DJ. Rapid onset of a kainate-induced mirror focus in rat hippocampus is mediated by contralateral AMPA receptors. *Epilepsy Res.* (2013) 106:35–46. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2013.03.010
- Webster KM, Sun M, Crack P, O'Brien TJ, Shultz SR, Semple BD. Inflammation in epileptogenesis after traumatic brain injury. J Neuroinflammation. (2017) 14:10. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0786-1
- Kuang Y, Xu C, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Wu X, Wang Y, et al. Low-frequency stimulation of the primary focus retards positive transfer of secondary focus. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:345. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00479-z
- Falconer MA, Kennedy WA. Epilepsy due to small focal temporal lesions with bilateral independent spike-discharging foci. A study of seven cases relieved by operation. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (1961) 24:205– 12. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.24.3.205
- Lombroso CT, Erba G. Primary and secondary bilateral synchrony in epilepsy; a clinical and electroencephalographic study. *Arch Neurol.* (1970) 22:321–34. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1970.00480220035006
- 45. Gollwitzer S, Scott CA, Farrell F, Bell GS, de Tisi J, Walker MC, et al. The long-term course of temporal lobe epilepsy: from unilateral to bilateral interictal epileptiform discharges in repeated video-EEG monitorings. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2017) 68:17–21. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.12.027
- Schmidt D, Baumgartner C, Loscher W. Seizure recurrence after planned discontinuation of antiepileptic drugs in seizure-free patients after epilepsy surgery: a review of current clinical experience. *Epilepsia*. (2004) 45:179– 86. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.37803.x
- Morrell F. Varieties of human secondary epileptogenesis. J Clin Neurophysiol. (1989) 6:227–75. doi: 10.1097/00004691-198907000-00002
- Kim J, Shin HK, Hwang KJ, Choi SJ, Joo EY, Hong SB, et al. Mirror focus in a patient with intractable occipital lobe epilepsy. *J Epilepsy Res.* (2014) 4:34–7. doi: 10.14581/jer.14009
- Tukel K, Jasper H. The electroencephalogram in parasagittal lesions. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol.* (1952) 4:481–94. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(52)90079-5
- Rovit RL, Gloor P, Rasmussen T. Intracarotid amobarbital in epileptic patients. A new diagnostic tool in clinical electroencephalography. Arch Neurol. (1961) 5:606–26. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1961.00450180028005
- Gilmore R. Morris HR, Van Ness PC. Mirror focus: function of seizure frequency and influence on outcome after surgery. *Epilepsia*. (1994) 35:258– 63. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1994.tb02429.x

- Eliashiv SD, Dewar S, Wainwright I, Engel J, Fried I. Long-term follow-up after temporal lobe resection for lesions associated with chronic seizures. *Neurology*. 48:1383–8. doi: 10.1212/wnl.48.5.1383
- Morris HH, Matkovic Z, Estes ML, Prayson YA, Comair YG, Turnbull J, et al. Ganglioglioma and intractable epilepsy: clinical and neurophysiologic features and predictors of outcome after surgery. *Epilepsia*. (1998) 39:307–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1998.tb01378.x
- Kimiwada T, Juhasz C, Makki M, Muzik O, Chugani DC, Asano E, et al. Hippocampal and thalamic diffusion abnormalities in children with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2006) 47:167–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00383.x
- Surges R, Schulze-Bonhage A, Altenmuller DM. Hippocampal involvement in secondarily generalised seizures of extrahippocampal origin. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2008) 79:924–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.129387
- Bortolato M, Barberini L, Puligheddu M, Muroni A, Maleci A, Ennas F, et al. Involvement of GABA in mirror focus: a case report. *Epilepsy Res.* (2010) 90:300–3. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2010.05.012
- Loscher W, Potschka H, Sisodiya SM, Vezzani A. Drug resistance in epilepsy: clinical impact, potential mechanisms, and new innovative treatment options. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2020) 72:606–38. doi: 10.1124/pr.120.019539
- Kalilani L, Sun X, Pelgrims B, Noack-Rink M, Villanueva V. The epidemiology of drug-resistant epilepsy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:2179–93. doi: 10.1111/epi.14596
- Lüders HO. Clinical evidence for secondary epileptogenesis. Int Rev Neurobiol. (2001) 45:469–80. doi: 10.1016/s0074-7742(01)45024-0
- Goldensohn ES. The relevance of secondary epileptogenesis to the treatment of epilepsy: kindling and the mirror focus. *Epilepsia*. (1984) 25(Suppl 2):S156–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1984.tb05648.x
- Czornyj L, Lazarowski A. ABC-transporters as stem-cell markers in brain dysplasia/tumor epilepsies. *Front Biosci.* (2014) 19:1425–35. doi: 10.2741/4293
- Bradford HF. Glutamate, GABA and epilepsy. Prog Neurobiol. (1995) 47:477-511. doi: 10.1016/0301-0082(95)00030-5
- Paoletti P, Bellone C, Zhou Q, NMDA. receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 14:383–400. doi: 10.1038/nrn3504
- 64. Acutain MF, Griebler Luft J, Vazquez CA, Popik B, Cercato MC, Epstein A, et al. Reduced expression of hippocampal GluN2A-NMDAR increases seizure susceptibility and causes deficits in contextual memory. *Front Neurosci.* (2021) 15:644100. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.644100
- Macdonald R, Barker JL. Benzodiazepines specifically modulate GABAmediated postsynaptic inhibition in cultured mammalian neurones. *Nature*. (1978) 271:563–4. doi: 10.1038/271563a0
- Jin LJ, Schlesinger F, Song YP, Dengler R, Krampfl K. The interaction of the neuroprotective compounds riluzole and phenobarbital with AMPAtype glutamate receptors: a patch-clamp study. *Pharmacology.* (2010) 85:54– 62. doi: 10.1159/000268641
- Liou JY, Ma H, Wenzel M, Zhao M, Baird-Daniel E, Smith EH, et al. Role of inhibitory control in modulating focal seizure spread. *Brain.* (2018) 141:2083–97. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy116
- Wang Y, Xu C, Xu Z, Ji C, Liang J, Wang Y, et al. Depolarized GABAergic signaling in subicular microcircuits mediates generalized seizure in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuron.* (2017) 95:92.e5–105.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.06.004
- 69. Pallud J, Le Van Quyen M, Bielle F, Pellegrino C, Varlet P, Cresto N, et al. Cortical GABAergic excitation contributes to epileptic activities around human glioma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:244ra89. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008065
- Khazipov R, Valeeva G, Khalilov I. Depolarizing GABA and developmental epilepsies. CNS Neurosci Ther. (2015) 21:83–91. doi: 10.1111/cns.12353
- Munakata M, Watanabe M, Otsuki T, Nakama H, Arima K, Itoh M, et al. Altered distribution of KCC2 in cortical dysplasia in patients with intractable epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2007) 48:837–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00954.x
- Liu R, Wang J, Liang S, Zhang G, Yang X. Role of NKCC1 and KCC2 in epilepsy: from expression to function. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:1407. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.01407
- Ben-Ari Y. Seizures beget seizures: the quest for GABA as a key player. Crit Rev Neurobiol. (2006) 18:135–44. doi: 10.1615/critrevneurobiol.v18.i1-2.140

- Wang G, Wu X. The potential antiepileptogenic effect of neuronal Cx36 gap junction channel blockage. *Transl Neurosci.* (2021) 12:46– 51. doi: 10.1515/tnsci-2021-0008
- Chen L, Wang Y, Chen Z. Adult neurogenesis in epileptogenesis: an update for preclinical finding and potential clinical translation. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2020) 18:464– 84. doi: 10.2174/1570159X17666191118142314
- Lukawski K, Andres-Mach M, Czuczwar M, Luszczki JJ, Kruszynski K, Czuczwar SJ. Mechanisms of epileptogenesis and preclinical approach to antiepileptogenic therapies. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2018) 70:284–93. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2017.07.012
- Simonato M, Agoston DV, Brooks-Kayal A, Dulla C, Fureman B, Henshall DC, et al. Identification of clinically relevant biomarkers of epileptogenesis - a strategic roadmap. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2021) 17:231– 42. doi: 10.1038/s41582-021-00461-4
- Wu D, Feng B, Dai Y, Wu X, Chen B, Xu C, et al. Intergenerational transmission of enhanced seizure susceptibility after febrile seizures. *EBioMedicine*. (2017) 17:206–15. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.02.006
- 79. Feng B, Tang Y, Chen B, Xu C, Wang Y, Dai Y, et al. Transient increase of interleukin-1beta after prolonged febrile seizures promotes adult epileptogenesis through long-lasting upregulating endocannabinoid signaling. Sci Rep. (2016) 6:21931. doi: 10.1038/srep21931
- Choi J, Min HJ, Shin JS. Increased levels of HMGB1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines in children with febrile seizures. J Neuroinflammation. (2011) 8:135. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-135
- Ito M, Takahashi H, Yano H, Shimizu YI, Yano Y, Ishizaki Y, et al. High mobility group box 1 enhances hyperthermiainduced seizures and secondary epilepsy associated with prolonged hyperthermia-induced seizures in developing rats. *Metab Brain Dis.* (2017) 32:2095–104. doi: 10.1007/s11011-017-0103-4
- Chen Y, Huang XJ Yu N, Xie Y, Zhang K, Wen F, et al. HMGB1 Contributes to the expression of P-glycoprotein in mouse epileptic brain through toll-like receptor 4 and receptor for advanced glycation end products. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0140918. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140918
- Lazarowski A, Czornyj L, Lubienieki F, Girardi E, Vazquez S, D'Giano C, et al. transporters during epilepsy and mechanisms underlying multidrug resistance in refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2007) 48(Suppl 5):140– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01302.x
- Auzmendi JA, Orozco-Suarez S, Banuelos-Cabrera I, Gonzalez-Trujano ME, Calixto Gonzalez E, Rocha L, et al. P-glycoprotein contributes to cell membrane depolarization of hippocampus and neocortex in a model of repetitive seizures induced by pentylenetetrazole in rats. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2013) 19:6732–8. doi: 10.2174/1381612811319380006
- Böhme GA, Stutzmann J-M, Blanchard J-C. Excitatory effects of cholecystokinin in rat hippocampus: pharmacological response compatible with 'central'- or B-type CCK receptors. *Brain Res.* (1988) 451:309–18. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(88)90776-7
- Selke K, Muller A, Kukley M, Schramm J, Dietrich D. Firing pattern and calbindin-D28k content of human epileptic granule cells. *Brain Res.* (2006) 1120:191–201. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2006.08.072
- Ben-Ari Y, Dudek FE. Primary and secondary mechanisms of epileptogenesis in the temporal lobe: there is a before and an after. *Epilepsy Curr.* (2010) 10:118–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1535-7511.2010.01376.x
- Malenka RC, Bear MF. LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. *Neuron*. (2004) 44:5–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012
- Bliss TV, Lomo T. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J Physiol. (1973) 232:331–56. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1973.sp010273
- Teyler TJ, Morgan SL, Russell RN, Woodside BL. Synaptic plasticity and secondary epileptogenesis. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* (2001) 45:253–67. doi: 10.1016/s0074-7742(01)45014-8
- Kauer JA, Malenka RC. Synaptic plasticity and addiction. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2007) 8:844–58. doi: 10.1038/nrn2234
- Bumanglag AV, Sloviter RS. Minimal latency to hippocampal epileptogenesis and clinical epilepsy after perforant pathway stimulationinduced status epilepticus in awake rats. J Comp Neurol. (2008) 510:561–80. doi: 10.1002/cne.21801

- Wolf HK, Aliashkevich AF, Blumcke I, Wiestler OD, Zentner J. Neuronal loss and gliosis of the amygdaloid nucleus in temporal lobe epilepsy. A quantitative analysis of 70 surgical specimens. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1997) 93:606–10. doi: 10.1007/s004010050658
- Wang Y, Chen Z. An update for epilepsy research and antiepileptic drug development: toward precise circuit therapy. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2019) 201:77–93. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2019.05.010
- Goldberg EM, Coulter DA. Mechanisms of epileptogenesis: a convergence on neural circuit dysfunction. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 14:337–49. doi: 10.1038/nrn3482
- Xu C, Wang Y, Zhang S, Nao J, Liu Y, Wang Y, et al. Subicular pyramidal neurons gate drug resistance in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Ann Neurol.* (2019) 86:626–40. doi: 10.1002/ana.25554
- Xu C, Zhang S, Gong Y, Nao J, Shen Y, Tan B, et al. Subicular caspase-1 contributes to pharmacoresistance in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Ann Neurol.* (2021). doi: 10.1002/ana.26173
- Sato M, Nakashima T. Kindling: secondary epileptogenesis, sleep and catecholamines. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (1975) 2:439– 46. doi: 10.1017/s0317167100020588
- Handforth A, Ackermann RF. Functional [14C]2-deoxyglucose mapping of progressive states of status epilepticus induced by amygdala stimulation in rat. *Brain Res.* (1988) 460:94–102. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(88) 90433-7
- 100. Bankstahl JP, Bankstahl M, Kuntner C, Stanek J, Wanek T, Meier M, et al. A novel positron emission tomography imaging protocol identifies seizureinduced regional overactivity of P-glycoprotein at the blood-brain barrier. J Neurosci. (2011) 31:8803–11. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6616-10.2011
- Pustina D, Doucet G, Skidmore C, Sperling M, Tracy J. Contralateral interictal spikes are related to tapetum damage in left temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2014) 55:1406–14. doi: 10.1111/epi. 12721
- Wada JA. Callosal bisection and transcallosal secondary antiepileptogenesis. Epilepsia. (2005) 46 Suppl 1:2–6. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2005.461002.x
- Ono T, Baba H, Toda K, Ono K. Hemispheric asymmetry of callosal neuronal participation in bilaterally synchronous epileptiform discharges. *Seizure*. (2009) 18:7–13. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2008.05.005
- 104. Shorvon SD, van Rijckevorsel K. A new antiepileptic drug. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2002) 72:426–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.72.4.426
- 105. Kikuyama H, Hanaoka T, Kanazawa T, Yoshida Y, Mizuno T, Toyoda H, et al. The mechanism of anti-epileptogenesis by levetiracetam treatment is similar to the spontaneous recovery of idiopathic generalized epilepsy during adolescence. *Psychiatry Investig.* (2017) 14:844–50. doi: 10.4306/pi.2017.14.6.844
- 106. Yang L, Afroz S, Valsamis HA, Michelson HB, Goodman JH, Ling DSF. Early intervention with levetiracetam prevents the development of cortical hyperexcitability and spontaneous epileptiform activity in two models of neurotrauma in rats. *Exp Neurol.* (2021) 337:113571. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2020.113571
- Miziak B, Konarzewska A, Ulamek-Koziol M, Dudra-Jastrzebska M, Pluta R, Czuczwar SJ. Anti-epileptogenic effects of antiepileptic drugs. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:2340. doi: 10.3390/ijms21072340
- Shimada T, Takemiya T, Sugiura H, Yamagata K. Role of inflammatory mediators in the pathogenesis of epilepsy. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2014) 2014:901902. doi: 10.1155/2014/901902
- 109. Tang Y, Feng B, Wang Y, Sun H, You Y, Yu J, et al. Structure-based discovery of CZL80, a caspase-1 inhibitor with therapeutic potential for febrile seizures and later enhanced epileptogenic susceptibility. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2020) 177:3519–34. doi: 10.1111/bph.15076
- Perucca E, Brodie MJ, Kwan P, Tomson T. 30 years of second-generation antiseizure medications: impact and future perspectives. *Lancet Neurol.* (2020) 19:544–56. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(20)30035-1
- 111. Couturier NH, Durand DM. Comparison of fiber tract low frequency stimulation to focal and ANT stimulation in an acute rat model of focal cortical seizures. *Brain Stimul.* (2020) 13:499–506. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2019.12.026
- 112. Skarpaas TL, Jarosiewicz B, Morrell MJ. Brain-responsive neurostimulation for epilepsy (RNS((R)) system). *Epilepsy Res.* (2019) 153:68–70. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2019.02.003

- Geller AS, Friedman D, Fang M, Doyle WK, Devinsky O, Dugan P. Runningdown phenomenon captured with chronic electrocorticography. *Epilepsia Open.* (2018) 3:528–34. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12265
- 114. Perez-Perez D, Castaneda-Cabral JL, Orozco-Suarez S, Sotelo J, Besio W, Rocha L. Noninvasive transcranial focal stimulation affects the convulsive seizure-induced P-glycoprotein expression and function in rats. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2021) 115:107659. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107659

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer SW declared a shared affiliation with the authors to the handling editor at the time of review.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Shen, Gong, Ruan, Chen and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## VEGF Modulates Neurogenesis and Microvascular Remodeling in Epileptogenesis After Status Epilepticus in Immature Rats

#### Wei Han, Li Jiang*, Xiaojie Song, Tianyi Li, Hengsheng Chen and Li Cheng

Department of Neurology Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, National Clinical Research Center for Child Health and Disorders, Ministry of Education Key Laboratory of Child Development and Disorders, China International Science and Technology Cooperation Base of Child Development and Critical Disorders, Chongqing Key Laboratory of Pediatrics, Chongqing, China

Neurogenesis and angiogenesis are widely recognized to occur during epileptogenesis and important in brain development. Because vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a critical neurovascular target in neurological diseases, its effect on neurogenesis, microvascular remodeling and epileptogenesis in the immature brain after lithium-pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus (SE) was investigated. The dynamic changes in and the correlation between hippocampal neurogenesis and microvascular remodeling after SE and the influence of VEGF or SU5416 injection into the lateral ventricles at different stages after SE on neurogenesis and microvascular remodeling through regulation of VEGF expression were assessed by immunofluorescence and immunohistochemistry. Western blot analysis revealed that the VEGFR2 signaling pathway promotes phosphorylated ERK and phosphorylated AKT expression. The effects of VEGF expression regulation at different stages after SE on pathological changes in hippocampal structure and spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS) were evaluated by Nissl staining and electroencephalography (EEG). The results showed that hippocampal neurogenesis after SE is related to microvascular regeneration. VEGF promotion in the acute period and inhibition in the latent period after SE alleviates loss of hippocampal neuron, abnormal vascular regeneration and inhibits neural stem cells (NSCs) ectopic migration, which may effectively alleviate SRS severity. Interfering with VEGF via the AKT and ERK pathways in different phases after SE may be a promising strategy for treating and preventing epilepsy in children.

#### Keywords: VEGF, neurogenesis, microvascular remodeling, epileptogenesis, SE

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Convulsive disorders are the most common emergency in pediatric neurology. The incidence of convulsions is higher in children than in adults (1), and children are more prone to severe convulsions and status epilepticus (SE), which is associated with more serious long-term nervous system sequelae such as epilepsy, cognitive impairment, and emotional disorders and thus greatly affects the quality of life of children (2–4). However, at present, the specific

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Hongliu Sun, Binzhou Medical University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Miguel A. Pozo García, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain Neil M. Fournier, Trent University, Canada

*Correspondence:

dr_jiangcqmu@163.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 03 November 2021 Accepted: 06 December 2021 Published: 24 December 2021

#### Citation:

Han W, Jiang L, Song X, Li T, Chen H and Cheng L (2021) VEGF Modulates Neurogenesis and Microvascular Remodeling in Epileptogenesis After Status Epilepticus in Immature Rats. Front. Neurol. 12:808568. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.808568

59

mechanism of epileptogenesis after SE is not fully understood, and there is no effective method for repairing convulsioninduced brain damage or effectively preventing epilepsy.

Epileptogenesis is a pathological process characterized by spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS) that gradually emerge after SE. The progression from acute convulsive brain injury to epileptogenesis can be divided into the acute phase, latent phase and chronic phase according to the different physiological and pathological changes that occur in the brain and the occurrence of SRS. In animal model, 0-3 days after SE were identified acute period, 3-7 days after SE were identified the latency period and approximately after 7-10 days was chronic early stage. SRS appears from chronic early stage. Of course, the onset and duration of such changes are approximated (2). Studies have found that a series of molecular pathological changes occur in the brain during the latent phase (5) and that SE-induced brain damage in the immature brain is different from that in the mature brain. It may be possible to prevent epileptogenesis by identifying important targets related to the mechanism of epilepsy in the immature brain.

Previous research has widely recognized that SE increases neurogenesis both in animal models of epilepsy and human temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) (6, 7). It is known that the immature brain has a greater regenerative capacity than the mature brain and SE-induced endogenous neurogenesis may compensate for hippocampal neuronal loss. However, our previous study revealed that hippocampal neurons in the immature brain undergo excessive apoptosis after SE and that endogenous neural stem cells (NSCs) in the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the hippocampal dentate gyrus (DG) exhibit a proliferative response and abnormal migration as in the mature brain (8). The abnormal migration of newborn granule cells leads to brain development disorders and increased susceptibility to convulsions through forming functional excitatory synapses in the molecular layer of the DG (MoDG) and excitatory recurrent circuits (9). SE-induced neurogenesis is a complicated process and may be regulated by numerous other factors. The microenvironment of NSCs is closely related to the proliferation, migration, differentiation, and survival of NSCs. Microvessels are some of the most important components of the NSCs microenvironment. In addition to providing nutritional support to NSCs, blood vessels affect the migration of NSCs in normal brains. Some studies have found that microvascular injury is characterized by blood-brain barrier (BBB) destruction and excessive angiogenesis after SE (10-14). Thus, we hypothesized that pathological angiogenesis after SE might affect the migration and integration of NSCs and thus cause neurons to migrate ectopically and glial cells to establish abnormal synaptic connections, form a pathological neural network, promote abnormal excitation of neurons, and participate in epileptogenesis (15). An increasing number of studies have confirmed that continuous proliferation of hippocampal NSCs and microvascular remodeling in pathological changes are involved in the pathogenesis of epilepsy, but the specific mechanism is still unclear (16-18).

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), as an important common factor between the nervous system and the vascular

system, is a promising neurovascular molecular target (19); however, research on its role in epilepsy is limited. VEGF is a dimeric glycoprotein that was first isolated and purified from cultured bovine pituitary astrocytes in 1989 by Ferrara et al. (20). Its molecular weight is 34-45 kDa. VEGF is secreted by neural tube cells in the developing brain, and it mainly binds to its receptor to perform its biological functions. The members of the VEGF family that have been discovered thus far include VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E, and placental growth factor. VEGF commonly refers to VEGF-A. The known VEGF receptors (VEGFRs) are VEGFR1 (Flt1), VEGFR2 (Flk-1), VEGFR3 (Flt-4), NP-1 and NP2 (21-23). The localization and functions of different VEGFRs are distinct. VEGF-A, which plays an important role in angiogenesis, endothelial cell proliferation and migration and the proliferation of NSCs, mainly exerts its biological functions by binding to VEGFR2 in the nervous system (24). Because VEGF has dual effects on blood vessels and nerves in the nervous system, some researchers believe that VEGF acts as a double-edged sword in epilepsy. It promotes the proliferation of blood vessels and contributes to the development of epilepsy. On the other hand, it inhibits hippocampal cell apoptosis and promotes the proliferation of NSCs, the survival of neurons, and the repair of damaged nerves (25-27). Previous research revealed that the dynamic expression of VEGF and VEGFR2 fluctuates during the development of epilepsy after SE, which is consistent with the trend in SRS (8, 28). VEGF can promote the regeneration of hippocampal NSCs in the acute phase after SE (8), suggesting that it may be involved in epileptogenesis. Does VEGF, in addition to promoting the proliferation of NSCs after SE, affect the regeneration of microvessels in the brain? Does VEGF have distinct effects in different stages of epilepsy development after SE? Does the temporal regulation of VEGF expression and receptor signaling pathways after SE have different effects and influence the development of epilepsy?

Since the proliferation of hippocampal NSCs after SE is not synchronized with vascular remodeling, we speculated that VEGF expression is regulated differently during different time windows after SE. Therefore, based on our previous studies, we performed the present study to investigate the critical role of VEGF and VEGFR-2 inhibitor SU5416 expression regulation and the time-dependent effect of the VEGF on neurogenesis and microvascular remodeling in the immature brain after SE to explore the role of VEGF in the development of epilepsy and to provide new ideas for the prevention and treatment of epilepsy.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals

Healthy male specific pathogen-free (SPF) Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats aged 18 and 20 days were provided by the Experimental Animal Center of Chongqing Medical University. All animal experiments were performed in accordance with protocols approved by the Animal Care Committee of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China. The animals were housed in a controlled environment at a humidity of 60% and a temperature of 21  $\pm$  1°C on a 12 h light/dark cycle (lights on from 7:00 AM-7:00 PM) and provided food and water ad libitum.

## Lithium Chloride-Pilocarpine-Induced Rat Model of SE

SE was induced in 20-d-old male SD rats. Seizures were scored as stages 1–5 based on Racine's five-point seizure scale (29). SE was induced *via* intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of pilocarpine (30 mg/kg, Sigma) 18–20 h after lithium chloride injection (127 mg/kg, i.p., Solarbio, Beijing, China). Atropine (Shuanghe, Beijing, China) was administered via i.p. injection (1 mg/kg) 30 min after the onset of seizure. Sixty min after SE, all rats received a single dose of diazepam (10 mg/kg, i.p.). Rats that did not display SE and those that died during SE were excluded. Control rats were treated with the same volumes of saline.

The study was divided into two parts. In the first part, thirty male postnatal day 20 rats were randomly divided into the SE (n = 15) and control groups (n = 15). Pilocarpine was administered in accordance with the protocol described above. The rats were sacrificed by decapitation under deep anesthesia with 10% chloral hydrate (3 ml/kg, i.p.) at various time points (7, 14 or 28 d after SE, n = 5 in each group at each time point). In the second part, ninety-five postnatal day 18 rats were randomly divided into the control group (n = 13), the SE group (n = 82), the acute-phase SE VEGF intervention (SV0) group (injection of VEGF into the lateral ventricle from 2 h to 2 d after SE), the acute-phase SE SU5416 intervention (SU0) group (injection of SU5416, a VEGFR2 inhibitor, into the lateral ventricle from 2 h to 2 d after SE), the latent-phase SE VEGF intervention (SV5) group (injection of VEGF into the lateral ventricle from 5 d to 7 d after SE), and the latent-phase SE SU5416 intervention (SU5) group (injection of SU5416 into the lateral ventricle from 5 d to 7 d after SE). A catheter was implanted into the lateral ventricle on the 18th day after birth, and SE was induced 21 d after birth. The model rats were administered VEGF or SU5416 via the catheter inserted into the lateral ventricle from 2 h or 5 d after SE induction. The rats were sacrificed 2, 7, or 28 d after SE  $(n \ge 14$  in each group). The experimental procedure is presented in Figure 1.

## Pump Implantation and Intracerebroventricular Drug Injection

The rats were anesthetized via ether inhalation and placed in a stereotactic frame. The anterior fontanelle was used as the origin. A Hamilton syringe was placed in the right lateral cerebral ventricle at predetermined coordinates: 1.2 mm posterior to and 1.2 mm lateral from lambda and a depth of 3.8 mm. A drill was used to create a small hole in the skull, a catheter was inserted (Roanoke Corporation, USA) into the lateral ventricle and fixed with glass ionomer cement, and a tube was inserted into the catheter to seal it after the cement solidified. After the operation was completed, the rats were placed in cages and kept warm. After the operation, an i.p. injection of 300,000 units/kg penicillin was administered to prevent infection.

Rats with SE were randomly divided into the SV0, SU0, SV5, and SU5 groups and received injection of VEGF 165 40 ng [8 ng/ $\mu$ l, dissolved in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS),Peprotech, Rocky Hill, USA] or SU5416 5 mM [1 mM/ $\mu$ l, dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), Selleck, USA] per rat for 3

continuous days (2 h, 1 d, and 2 d or 5 d, 6 d, and 7 d after SE) at a rate of 0.5  $\mu$ l/min. After injection, the microsyringe was kept in place for 5 min until the liquid was fully diffused. Then, the injection needle was removed, and the cap was closed.

## Immunofluorescence and Immunohistochemistry

Anesthetized rats were perfused through the left ventricle with 4% paraformaldehyde. Hippocampal coronal slices were cut into consecutive sections at a thickness of 40 µm and immediately placed in cryoprotectant solution [150 g of C12H22O11 and 150 ml of (CH₂OH)₂ dissolved in 500 ml of PBS] at 4°C until immunofluorescence was performed. The following primary antibodies were used: anti-VEGF (rabbit polyclonal antibody, Abcam, 1:200), anti-VEGFR2 (rabbit polyclonal antibody, Abcam, 1:200), anti-Dcx (rabbit polyclonal antibody, Abcam, 1:200), anti-CD31 (mouse monoclonal antibody, Abcam, 1:200), and anti-polysialic acid-neural cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM) (mouse monoclonal antibody, Millipore, 1:80). Niselement BR3.2 software was used to capture images of the hippocampal DG area and blindly analyzed the average fluorescence intensity from 2 sections per animal (n = 5 for each group) selected randomly.

Brain tissues were embedded in paraffin after dehydration, and the paraffin sections were cut coronally at a thickness of 4  $\mu$ m. The sections were soaked in xylene for at least 1 h for dewaxing and then blocked in 5% BSA. A CD31 primary antibody (mouse monoclonal antibody, Abcam, 1:200) was used, DAB was used for color development (Zhongshan, China), and the sections were counterstained with hematoxylin. The slices were imaged under a microscope with an oil immersion lens. Vessels with a diameter of <10  $\mu$ m were considered microvessels. The microvessel density (MVD) in the hilar area of the DG was calculated with NIS software according to the following formula: MVD = number of microvessels (N)/area of interest (mm²). The averaged MVD from 4 sections per animal (n = 5 for each group) selected randomly was assessed in each group.

## Western Blot Analysis

The hippocampus of each rat was rapidly dissected and stored in liquid nitrogen immediately after dissection. Protein concentrations were determined using a Bio-Rad protein assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA). An equal amount (30 µg) of each sample was loaded on 6% and 10% SDS polyacrylamide gels. The proteins were separated by electrophoresis and then transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membranes (0.22 µm, Millipore Corp, Billerica, MA, USA). The membranes were blocked with PBS containing 10% milk for 1 h and then incubated with the following specific primary antibodies overnight at 4°C: anti-VEGFR2 (rabbit polyclonal antibody, Abcam, 1:1000), anti-AKT (rabbit monoclonal antibody, Abcam, 1:2000), anti-phospho-akt (rabbit monoclonal antibody, Cell Signaling Technology, 1:2000), anti-ERK (rabbit monoclonal antibody, Cell Signaling Technology, 1:2000), and anti-phosphoerk (rabbit monoclonal antibody, Cell Signaling Technology, 1:2000). In parallel, the Western blots were probed with an antiβ-actin antibody (mouse monoclonal antibody, 1:500, Boster) for



data normalization. The proteins were visualized using Clarity Western Electrochemiluminescence (ECL) Substrate (Bio-Rad, USA), and the gray values were analyzed using a Syngene imaging system.

## **Nissl Staining**

Samples were processed in the same way as described for immunohistochemistry, and paraffin sections were cut coronally at a thickness of  $5\,\mu m$  and subjected to Nissl staining. The sections were stained with cresyl violet for the subjective evaluation of hippocampal damage.

#### Electroencephalography

A 1.00-mm-diameter hole was made in the parietal skull of each rat (n = 3 for every group) on the left and right sides of the sagittal suture, and a hole was drilled above the telencephalon for grounding. Then, simple homemade electrodes with 0.1-mm nickel-chromium wires were inserted so that the wires touched the dura mater for scalp EEG (Supplementary Figure 1). After 3 days of recovery, SE was induced in rats to establish the SE model, and EEG was performed during modeling and then for 2 h per day until 28 days after SE with a radiophysiological signal detection system (Telemetry ReSCarch Limited, New Zealand). The rats in the other intervention groups were subjected to EEG for 2h per day for 18 days starting after drug administration (10 days after SE). EEG was mainly used to record changes in SRS. An ADL instrument amplifier was used with the following parameters: low pass filter at 100 Hz, digitization rate of 2 kHz and amplification rate of 1,000 times. According to a previous study (24), seizures were defined as discharges with a frequency >5 Hz, an amplitude >2 times than baseline and a duration of 10 s. pClampfit software was used to record the average number of daily spontaneous seizures, identify the 10-min period with the most severe seizures, and analyze the frequency of seizures and the duration of each seizure in a 10-min period.

## **Statistical Analysis**

All data are presented as the means  $\pm$  SD and were analyzed with SPSS 17.0 statistical software. The data were analyzed using independent sample Student's *t*-tests or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the LSD *post hoc* test or Dunnett's T3 test. *p* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

## SE Induction and EEG Recording

According to Racine's five category classification of seizures (29), SE was successfully induced in a total of 111 rats after pilocarpine administration, and the SE was interrupted after 60 min by injection with diazepam. Fourteen rats that failed to develop SE or died during SE were excluded. EEG recording was performed to detect epileptic discharge from SE to epileptogenesis (Figure 7A). The electroencephalograms of SD rats in the control group mainly consisted of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  waves, with scattered  $\theta$  waves and no SRS. Lithium chloride-pilocarpine induced SE in immature rats, and the electroencephalograms of these rats mainly showed persistent high-amplitude sharp waves and spike waves during convulsive states. However, in the latent phase after SE, electroencephalograms were almost normal, showing a few sharp waves and spikes. In the chronic phase, electroencephalograms mainly showed scattered sharp waves and spine waves lasting from a few seconds to tens of seconds, which represented spontaneous repeated epileptic discharges. The rats exhibited stage 2-4 epileptic seizures on the Racine scale, as unilateral or bilateral forelimb clonus was common during the seizures, and generalized convulsions were rare.

# Relationship Between NSCs and Neovascularization

PSA-NCAM is a single-chain transmembrane glycoprotein that mediates cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion and is a marker of



NSCs migration. Double labeling immunofluorescence for PSA-NACM (red fluorescence) and CD31 (green fluorescence) was used to assess the spatial relationship between hippocampal NSCs and blood vessels in the latent period after SE. As shown in the merged image in **Figure 2**, CD31 colocalized with PSA-NACM are concentrated in the SGZ and arranged in chains along CD31 after SE. It indicates that NSCs along with newly blood vessel gradually migrating into the granule cell layer (GCL) even arrived at molecular layer of the DG (MoDG) or the polymorphic layer of the DG (PoDG) from SGZ after SE.

### Effect of Differential Regulation of VEGF During Different Time Periods on Neurogenesis During Epileptogenesis After SE

Doublecortin (Dcx) is a specific marker of neuronal precursor cells that can act on tubulin to polymerize microtubules, stabilize the cytoskeleton, and directly impact the initiation of neuronal migration. Immunofluorescence was conducted to assess the dynamic changes in Dcx expression from the latent period to the chronic period of epileptogenesis after SE (Figure 3A). Dcx (green fluorescence) was expressed on the cell membrane in the shape of a flocculent ribbon or ring and was mainly expressed in the hippocampal SGZ in a chain arrangement. In the control group, almost all of the Dcx-positive cells in the hippocampus were distributed in the hippocampal SGZ. The fluorescence intensity of Dcx in the hippocampal DG area showed a decreasing trend from 28 to 49 days after birth, which was consistent with the process of brain development. Dcx expression also gradually decreased from 7 to 28 days after SE in the SE group, but the Dcx fluorescence intensity was higher in the SE group than in the control group at each time point, and the Dcx fluorescence intensity was significantly higher in the SE group than in the control group at 7 days after SE. The difference was statistically significant (control:  $1,132.03 \pm 106.10$ ; SE:  $1,328.69 \pm 94.81$ , P < 0.01), as shown in **Figure 3B**. In addition, Dcx-positive cells were not confined to the SGZ in the SE group. Dcx-positive cells were distributed in the GCL of the DG at 7 days after SE and showed a tendency to migrate across the GCL to the PoDG. This finding suggests that NSCs that proliferate in the acute phase after SE tend to migrate during the latent period and that the latent period is critical for neurogenesis and the migration of NSCs (**Figure 3A**).

We further interfered with the expression of VEGF in the acute and latent phases after SE and evaluated the migration of NSCs (Figure 3C). ANOVA revealed a significant effect of VEGF at different time periods on DCX  $[F_{(5,54)} = 50.746, P]$ < 0.001]. In the SV0 group, Dcx was still mainly located in the SGZ and GCL, but the fluorescence intensity of Dcx was significantly higher in the SV0 group than in the SE group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.001). In the SV5 group, Dcx-positive cells were not confined to the SGZ and GCL, and many Dcx-positive cells were scattered in the PoDG and MoDG. The Dcx fluorescence intensity was significantly lower in the SV5 group than in the SV0 group (P < 0.01), but the difference in Dcx fluorescence intensity between the SV5 group and the SE group was not significant. However, in the SU0 and SU5 groups, Dcx-positive cells were mainly distributed in the SGZ, and the fluorescence intensity was much lower in the SU0 and SU5 groups than in the SE group (Figures 3C,D). These data suggest that promotion of VEGF expression in the acute phase after SE can significantly promote the proliferation of NSCs, that the promotion of VEGF expression during the latent phase after SE may lead to abnormal migration of NSCs. Becides, the inhibition of VEGF expression in the acute phase or the latent phase after SE may inhibit neurogenesis.



green; DAPI: blue; 200×, scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m). (B) Dcx fluorescence intensity in the DG of the hippocampus after SE. The mean fluorescence intensity of DCX prominently increased at 7 days post SE compared to the control, ***P* < 0.01. (C) Effect of VEGF-based interventions on neurogenesis in different phases after SE (SV, VEGF injection; SU, application of a VEGFR2 inhibitor. Dcx: green, scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m). (D) Dcx fluorescence intensity in the VEGF intervention groups in different phases after SE. Values were mean  $\pm$  SD, ***P* < 0.01, *n* = 5 for each group.

### Effect of Differential Regulation of VEGF During Different Time Periods on Microvascular Regeneration During Epileptogenesis After SE

Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1/CD31), which is present in the tight junctions of vascular endothelial cells, is a marker of neovascularization. Immunohistochemistry was used to detect the dynamic changes in CD31 expression from the latent phase to the chronic phase after SE. The results, which are shown in **Figure 4A**, showed changes in microvascular regeneration.

During the development of the immature brain (28 d-49 d after birth), the expression of CD31 in the hippocampus was not significantly correlated with age in the control group, while the expression of CD31 in the hippocampal DG gradually increased from 7 to 28 days after SE in the SE group. The microvessel density (MVD) in the hilar area of the DG was calculated with NIS software according to the following formula: MVD = number of microvessels (N)/area of interest (mm2). The MVD

in the SE group was significantly higher than that in the control group at each time point, and the difference was statistically significant (Control-7d: 334.62  $\pm$  154.46, SE-7d: 521.62  $\pm$  156.75, P < 0.01; Control-14d: 339.54  $\pm$  121.48, SE-14d: 684.01  $\pm$  147.97, P < 0.01; Control-28d: 354.30  $\pm$  86.86, SE-28d: 1033.39  $\pm$  190.25, P < 0.01), as shown in **Figure 4B**. This result suggests that vascular proliferation occurs during the latent phase after SE, gradually increases during epileptogenesis, and peaks in the chronic phase after SE.

We further interfered with the expression of VEGF in the acute and latent phases after SE and investigated the changes in the density of new microvessels in the hippocampus in the chronic phase after SE (**Figures 4C,D**). ANOVA revealed a significant effect of VEGF at different time periods on CD31 and MVD [ $F_{(3,76)} = 79.087$ , P < 0.001]. However, the expression of CD31 and MVD in the hippocampus in the chronic phase after SE was not significantly different between the groups treated in acute-phase SE (the SV0 and SU0 groups) and the SE group. The expression of CD31 in the chronic phase after SE and the MVD were significantly higher in the SV5 group, in which



10  $\mu$ m). (**B**) MVD in the hippocampus after SE (N/mm2). The MVD in the SE group was significantly higher at each time point than that in the control group, **P < 0.01. (**C**) Effect of VEGF intervention in different phases after SE on microvascular regeneration (1,000 ×, scale bar: 10  $\mu$ m). (**D**) MVD in the hippocampus after VEGF intervention in different phases after SE. The MVD of SV5 was much higher than that of the SE group; however, the MVD of SU5 was much lower than that of the SE group. **P < 0.01, n = 5 for each group. SV, VEGF injection; SU, application of a VEGFR2 inhibitor.

intervention occurred in the latent phase after SE, than in the SE group. The difference was statistically significant (P < 0.01). This finding suggests that the best time window for regulating microvessel regeneration after SE is the latent phase. Inhibition of VEGF expression in the latent phase after SE can inhibit the regeneration of microvessels after SE.

# Molecular Mechanism of VEGF Regulation in Different Phases After SE

Western blotting was used to determine the activation status of VEGFR2, phospho-protein kinase B (P-akt), and phosphoextracellular signal-regulated kinase (P-erk) to study the influence of VEGF regulation in different stages after SE on its downstream signaling pathways. The expression levels of kinase B (AKT) and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), which are downstream of the VEGFR2 protein, were significantly higher in the SE group than in the control group. The protein expression of VEGFR2 in the hippocampus was upregulated in the SV0 group and SV5 group compared with the SE group  $[F_{(3,20)} = 29.801, P < 0.001]$ , and the expression levels of the downstream proteins P-akt  $[F_{(3,20)} = 6.270, P = 0.004]$  and P-erk were increased to varying degrees  $[F_{(3,20)} = 6.581, P = 0.003]$ . VEGFR2 and P-erk protein levels in the SU0 group were significantly lower than those in the SE group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.01). P-erk and P-akt protein levels in the SU5 group were significantly lower than those in the SE group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.01). P-erk and P-akt protein levels in the SU5 group were significantly lower than those in the SE group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.01, P < 0.05), as shown in **Figure 5**. The results indicate that the AKT and ERK signaling pathways are activated in the acute phase after SE. The AKT and ERK signaling pathways downstream of VEGFR2 are activated to varying degrees and may participate in epileptogenesis.

## Nissl Staining for the Assessment of Hippocampal Structure in the Chronic Phase After SE

As shown in Figure 6, in the control group, the size and morphology of neurons in the CA1 and CA3 regions of the



hippocampus were neurons; the neurons were neatly and closely arranged and structurally intact, the Nissl bodies were clearly visible, and there was no obvious neuronal loss. The hippocampal structure was disrupted in the chronic phase after SE, the cell arrangement was loose, the CA1 and CA3 regions were missing, Nissl bodies were missing, and scattered nuclear lysis was observed (shown as arrowhead). In the SV0 and SV5 groups, the pyramidal cell of CA1 and CA3 areas were almost tightly organized and ordered. The Nissl bodies were visible in the SV0 group. In addition, vascular infiltration was observed in the CA1 region in the SV5 group (shown as arrow). However, in the SU0 and SU5 groups, the CA1 and CA3 regions showed obvious Nissl bodies and neuronal loss that were same as observed SE group.

#### **EEG Manifestations in Different Phases of Epileptogenesis in Immature Rats**

EEG discharges were recorded daily in the different intervention groups during epileptogenesis from 10 to 28 days after SE, and spontaneous epileptic discharges of varying degrees, which manifested as scattered sharp waves and spike waves lasting tens of seconds, were detected in all experimental rats in the chronic phase after SE (**Figure 7B**). This result indicates that inhibiting or promoting VEGF expression in different phases after SE does not significantly reduce or increase the incidence of epileptic discharges in the chronic phase after SE.

The duration, frequency and average number of SRS per day in each intervention group were further analyzed. The treatment factor had a significant effect on the seizure duration  $[F_{(4,190)} =$ 

35.918, P < 0.0,01], seizure frequency [F_(4,160) = 28.851, P <0.001], and number of discharges  $[F_{(4,65)} = 10.737, P < 0.001]$ . There were no significant differences between the SV0 and SU0 groups and the SE group; however, the duration, frequency, and average number of seizures per day were significantly higher in the SV5 group than in the SE group, and the difference was significant (P < 0.01). The main behavioral manifestations of SV5 group rats during SRS were facial twitching, rhythmic nodding and chewing, general rigidity, raised unilateral forelimb clonus, and bilateral forelimb clonus with hindlimb standing in the most severe cases. Interestingly, the average duration of each seizure (P < 0.05), seizure frequency (P < 0.01), and average number of seizures per day (P < 0.05) were significantly lower in the SU5 group than in the SE group, and the difference was statistically significant. Based on observation by the naked eye, the behavioral manifestations, which mainly included spontaneous eye gaze and facial muscle twitching and rarely included unilateral or bilateral forelimb clonus, were significantly less severe in the SU5 group than in the SE group. These results suggest that regulation of VEGF expression in the latent phase after SE has a greater impact on the degree of epilepsy. Inhibiting the expression of VEGF in the latent phase after SE can reduce the severity of EEG epileptic discharges.

#### DISCUSSION

SE is more likely to impair the development of neural networks and thus lead to intractable epilepsy in infants and young



(scale bar:  $50 \,\mu$ m).

children than in older individuals. In general, pathological changes in the brain occur in acute, latent phase and chronic phases after convulsive brain injury (3). Neurogenesis and remodeling of microvessels are important role in the process of epileptogenesis (17).

Studies have found that hippocampal neurogenesis can be induced within at least 1–2 weeks after an acute seizure. In turn, the SRS could also stimulate the proliferation of NSCs in the DG (30–33). New neurons in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the adult hippocampus migrate only a short distance to the GCL to replace apoptotic neurons and reintegrate with neurons in the GCL under normal conditions. However, in the mature brain after SE, the NSCs show abnormal migration, with neurons directly entering the DG or even passing through the GCL to enter the MoDG. The axons of mature neurons in the MoDG follow the pathway of moss fibers of granular cells in the hippocampal DG into the CA3 region after SE, forming abnormal synaptic connections with CA3 neurons (34). The synapses formed by moss fibers exhibit high excitability and low inhibition and are prone to abnormal synchronous discharges; thus, they increase excitability, lead to SRS, form abnormal excitatory neural circuits associated with epilepsy and are the pathological basis of refractory temporal lobe epilepsy (35, 36).

Our data suggest that the latent phase of SE is a critical period for the migration of NSCs in the immature brain. Unfortunately, early migration-related regulatory signals are often lacking or incorrect in this period and can thus easily cause ectopic migration of neurons instead of contributing to their correct integration in the GCL as in the mature brain. Besides, the ectopic NSCs destined for apoptosis even before integrating into the DG circuit during the acute period post-SE. Besides, it has a widely recognized that vascular regeneration is involved in epilepsy pathogenesis (14, 37). In our study, we also found that seizures could affect microvessel proliferation that the density of hippocampal microvessels gradually increased after the incubation period and continued to increase until the chronic phase. According to our data, neovascularization acted as a stent for NSC migration, and pathological angiogenesis affected the direction of migration and abnormal integration of NSCs and contributed to the development of epilepsy, which is consistent



with previous research (13, 17, 38). If the survival of hippocampal NSCs is protected during the acute period after SE and the regeneration of microvessels is inhibited during the latent period after SE, the formation of epileptic networks could be prevented.

The interaction of VEGF has been indicated to be involved in neurogenesis and angiogenesis in normal adult brain. It has been confirmed in cerebral ischemia models that VEGF has different effects in different periods after brain injury. Blocking VEGF expression in the early stage of ischemia can reduce cerebral edema. Promoting VEGF expression in the subacute stage can improve cerebral vascular perfusion. VEGF can improve cerebral vascular perfusion 48 h after cerebral ischemia and can promote angiogenesis and coordinate neurogenesis at the injury site but does not further increase or disrupt vascular penetration (39). A study (40) revealed that injection of exogenous VEGF into the lateral ventricle in the subacute stage after brain injury, i.e., 7 days after successful modeling of stroke in neonates, promotes the proliferation of endothelial cells, increases the total number of blood vessels and protects the brain. Our previous studies showed that the peak expression of VEGF in the hippocampus was in the acute phase after SE, which promotes the proliferation of NSCs and reverses cognitive deficits (8). Considering the dual role and time-dependent effects of VEGF in pathological changes after brain injury, safe and practical application of VEGF after SE is the key to treatment. The results of our study could identify the appropriate time window for regulating vascular regeneration by targeting VEGF after SE.

In this study, by regulating the expression of VEGF in different periods after SE, we found that upregulation of VEGF expression in the acute phase after SE significantly promotes the proliferation of NSCs and can significantly prevent the loss of neurons in the CA1 and CA3 regions but has no obvious effect on microvascular regeneration. However, promoting the expression of VEGF during the latent period after SE further aggravates the ectopic migration of NSCs and significantly increases MVD. However, if VEGFR2 is blocked in the acute phase, it has little effect on the proliferation of NSCs and no obvious effect on the microvasculature. Blocking VEGFR2 in the latent phase can inhibit the remodeling of blood vessels and the ectopic migration of NSCs.

SRS emergence is a key indicator of the occurrence and development of epilepsy, and our data showed that downregulation of VEGF expression in the latent phase after SE could effectively reduce the severity of epileptic discharges during SRS by shortening the duration of each seizure and reducing the frequency and number of seizures, suggesting that the key regulatory period of epileptogenesis is the latent phase. This finding is consistent with previous reports (28, 41) that selective inhibition of neurogenesis after SE would be valuable to reduce the severity of SRS. The present study also indicated that timig is very important to regulating the frequency and severity of SRS. We speculated that in the latent phase after SE, VEGF expression is inhibited, the level of hippocampal newly ectopic cell could be reduced, and these changes may interfere with the formation of abnormal excitatory synaptic connections and epileptic networks.

VEGFR2 is a tyrosine kinase receptor that can activate multiple downstream signaling pathways, causing neurogenesis, angiogenesis, neural circuit reconstruction and abnormal neural network formation. The PI3K/Akt signaling pathway and the MAPK/ERK signaling pathway are important signaling pathways in cells that play an important role in cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (42, 43). Both of these pathways may play a role in the development of epilepsy. A previous study (44) showed that the key pathophysiological mechanism underlying the ability of VEGF to protect against focal cerebral ischemia and increase the permeability of the BBB is the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Researchers (45) found that electrical convulsive stimulation can induce VEGF expression to regulate P-akt in the treatment of acute cerebral infarction. In addition, a previous study revealed that ERK is activated immediately after severe convulsions and that P-erk expression is upregulated and maintained at a high level from 28 d to 3 months after SE (46). In fact, it has been found that the crosstalk exists between AKT and ERK pathways. In the hippocampus, AKT could be activated first and then initiate ERK pathway to induct cell proliferation (47-49). In this study, the AKT and ERK signaling pathways were activated to varying degrees when VEGF/VEGFR2 signal transduction was interfered with in the acute phase or the latent phase after SE. This finding indicates that the molecular mechanism by which VEGF regulates hippocampal neurogenesis and vascular regeneration after SE may be these two signaling pathways, which are downstream of VEGFR2.

In summary, the present study demonstrated that VEGF, as a common target in nerves and blood vessels, might be closely related to neurogenesis and vascular regeneration in the immature brain during the development of epilepsy after SE. VEGF and VEGFR2 receptor may be valuable therapeutic targets for the prevention of epilepsy. An important aspect may be the proper therapeutic timing. Selective promotion the proliferation

#### REFERENCES

- Hauser WA. The prevalence and incidence of convulsive disorders in children. *Epilepsia*. (1994) 35(Suppl. 2):S1–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1994.tb05932.x
- Haut SR, Velísková J, Moshé SL. Susceptibility of immature and adult brains to seizure effects. *Lancet Neurol.* (2004) 3:608–17. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00881-6
- Holopainen IE. Seizures in the developing brain: cellular and molecular mechanisms of neuronal damage, neurogenesis and cellular reorganization. *Neurochem Int.* (2008) 52:935–47. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2007.10.021

of hippocampal NSCs and inhibition of neurogenesis after SE, alleviation of the loss of neurons in the hippocampal and ectopic migration of newborn nerve cells caused by pathological regeneration, which contributes to effectively alleviate SRS severity. The upstream and regulatory factors of VEGF and the mechanism by which VEGF-mediated neovascularization affects the migration of NSCs were not investigated in this study and need to be further explored.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Animal Care Committee of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

WH and LJ conceived and designed the experiments. WH and HC performed the experiments and analyzed the data. XS, TL, and LC contributed reagents, materials, and analytical tools. WH wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This research was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, grant number NSFC Grant 81873792, the Science and Technology Research Program of Chongqing Municipal Education Commission, grant number Grant No. KJQN202100423, the Youth Basic Research Project from Ministry of Education Key Laboratory of Child Development and Disorders, grant number No.YBRP-202110, and Special Funding of Chongqing Postdoctoral Research Projects for WH.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2021.808568/full#supplementary-material

- Ben-Ari Y, Holmes GL. Effects of seizures on developmental processes in the immature brain. *Lancet Neurol.* (2006) 5:1055– 63. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70626-3
- Cavalheiro EA, Leite JP, Bortolotto ZA, Turski WA, Ikonomidou C, Turski L. Long-term effects of pilocarpine in rats: structural damage of the brain triggers kindling and spontaneous recurrent seizures. *Epilepsia*. (1991) 32:778– 82. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1991.tb05533.x
- Siebzehnrubl FA, Blumcke I. Neurogenesis in the human hippocampus and its relevance to temporal lobe epilepsies. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49:55– 65. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01638.x

- Cho KO, Lybrand ZR, Ito N, Brulet R, Tafacory F, Zhang L, et al. Aberrant hippocampal neurogenesis contributes to epilepsy and associated cognitive decline. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:6606. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7606
- Han W, Song X, He R, Li T, Cheng L, Xie L, et al. VEGF regulates hippocampal neurogenesis and reverses cognitive deficits in immature rats after status epilepticus through the VEGF R2 signaling pathway. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2017) 68:159–67. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.12.007
- 9. Koyama R. Dentate circuitry as a model to study epileptogenesis. *Biol Pharm Bull.* (2016) 39:891–6. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b16-00125
- Ogaki A, IkegayaY, Koyama R. Vascular abnormalities and the role of vascular endothelial growth factor in the epileptic brain. *Front Pharmacol.* (2020) 11:20. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00020
- Taupin P. Adult neural stem cells, neurogenic niches, and cellular therapy. Stem Cell Rev. (2006) 2:213–9. doi: 10.1007/s12015-006-0049-0
- Tavazoie M, Van der Veken L, Silva-Vargas V, Louissaint M, Colonna L, Zaidi B, et al. A specialized vascular niche for adult neural stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2008) 3:279–88. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2008.07.025
- Ndode-Ekane XE, Hayward N, Gröhn O, Pitkänen A. Vascular changes in epilepsy: functional consequences and association with network plasticity in pilocarpine-induced experimental epilepsy. *Neuroscience*. (2010) 166:312– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.12.002
- Rigau V, Morin M, Rousset MC, de Bock F, Lebrun A, Coubes P, et al. Angiogenesis is associated with blood-brain barrier permeability in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain.* (2007) 130:1942–56. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm118
- Scharfman HE, Hen R. Neuroscience. Is more neurogenesis always better? Science. (2007) 315:336–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1138711
- Zhai X, Liang P, Li Y, Li L, Zhou Y, Wu X, et al. Astrocytes regulate angiogenesis through the jagged1-mediated notch1 pathway after status epilepticus. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2016) 53:5893– 901. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9492-8
- 17. Shu Y, Xiao B, Wu Q, Liu T, Du Y, Tang H, et al. The ephrin-A5/EphA4 interaction modulates neurogenesis and angiogenesis by the p-Akt and p-ERK pathways in a mouse model of TLE. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2016) 53:561–76. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-9020-2
- Benini R, Roth R, Khoja Z, Avoli M, Wintermark P. Does angiogenesis play a role in the establishment of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy? *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (2016) 49:31–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2016.01.001
- Croll SD, Goodman JH, Scharfman H E. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in seizures: a double-edged sword. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2004) 548:57– 68. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-6376-8_4
- Ferrara N, Henzel WJ. Pituitary follicular cells secrete a novel heparin-binding growth factor specific for vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2012) 425:540–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.08.021
- Mackenzie F, Ruhrberg C. Diverse roles for VEGF-A in the nervous system. Development. (2012) 139:1371–80. doi: 10.1242/dev.072348
- Quaegebeur A, Lange C, Carmeliet P. The neurovascular link in health and disease: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *Neuron.* (2011) 71:406–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.07.013
- Nagaoka S, Yoshida T, Akiyoshi J, Akiba J, Hisamoto T, Yoshida Y, et al. The ratio of serum placenta growth factor to soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 predicts the prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncol Rep.* (2010) 23:1647–54. doi: 10.3892/or_00000807
- Cao L, Jiao X, Zuzga DS, Liu Y, Fong DM, Young D, et al. VEGF links hippocampal activity with neurogenesis, learning and memory. *Nat Genet.* (2004) 36:827–35. doi: 10.1038/ng1395
- Nicoletti JN, Shah SK, McCloskey DP, Goodman JH, Elkady A, Atassi H, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor is up-regulated after status epilepticus and protects against seizure-induced neuronal loss inhippocampus. *Neuroscience*. (2008) 151:232–41. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.09.083
- Nicoletti JN, Lenzer J, Salerni EA, Shah SK, Elkady A, Khalid S, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor attenuates status epilepticusinduced behavioral impairments in rats. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2010) 19:272– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.07.011
- Lenzer-Fanara JR, Li T, Salerni E A, Payen F, Croll SD. VEGF treatment during status epilepticus attenuates long-term seizureassociated alterations in astrocyte morphology. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2017) 70:33–44. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.02.019

- Zhu L, Dai S, Lu D, Xu P, Chen L, Han Y, et al. Role of NDEL1 and VEGF/VEGFR-2 in mouse hippocampus after status epilepticus. *ASN Neuro*. (2020) 12:1759091420926836. doi: 10.1177/1759091420926836
- Racine RJ. Modification of seizure activity by electrical stimulation: cortical areas. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol.* (1975) 38:1–12. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(75)90204-7
- 30. Song XJ, Han W, He R, Li TY, Xie LL, Cheng L, et al. Alterations of hippocampal myelin sheath and axon sprouting by status convulsion and regulating lingo-1 expression with RNA interference in immature and adult rats. *Neurochem Res.* (2018) 43:721–35. doi: 10.1007/s11064-018-2474-2
- Parent JM, Yu TW, Leibowitz RT, Geschwind DH, Sloviter RS, Lowenstein DH. Dentate granule cell neurogenesis is increased by seizures and contributes to aberrant network reorganization in the adult rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci.* (1997) 17:3727–38. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-10-03727.1997
- Kron MM, Zhang H, Parent JM. The developmental stage of dentate granule cells dictates their contribution to seizure-induced plasticity. J Neurosci. (2010) 30:2051–9. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5655-09.2010
- Andres-Mach M, Fike JR, Łuszczki JJ. Neurogenesis in the epileptic brain: a brief overview from temporal lobe epilepsy. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2011) 63:1316– 23. doi: 10.1016/S1734-1140(11)70696-X
- Pierce JP, Punsoni M, McCloskey DP, Scharfman HE. Mossy cell axon synaptic contacts on ectopic granule cells that are born following pilocarpine-induced seizures. *Neurosci Lett.* (2007) 422:136–40. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.016
- 35. Szewczyk A, Zagaja M, Szala-Rycaj J, Maj M, Andres-Mach M. Effect of lacosamide and ethosuximide chronic treatment on neural precursor cells and cognitive functions after pilocarpine induced status epilepticus in mice. *Brain Sci.* (2021) 11:1014. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11081014
- Danzer SC. Depression, stress, epilepsy and adult neurogenesis. *Exp Neurol.* (2012) 233:22–32. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.05.023
- Hellsten J, West MJ, Arvidsson A, Ekstrand J, Jansson L, Wennström M, et al. Electroconvulsive seizures induce angiogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2005) 58:871–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.05.023
- Romariz SA, Garcia Kde O, Paiva Dde S, Bittencourt S, Covolan L, Mello LE, et al. Participation of bone marrow-derived cells in hippocampal vascularization after status epilepticus. *Seizure*. (2014) 23:386–9. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2014.01.017
- Zhang ZG, Zhang L, Jiang Q, Zhang R, Davies K, Powers C, et al. VEGF enhances angiogenesis and promotes blood-brain barrier leakage in the ischemic brain. J Clin Invest. (2000) 106:829–38. doi: 10.1172/JCI9369
- Dzietko M, Derugin N, Wendland MF, Vexler ZS, Ferriero DM. Delayed VEGF treatment enhances angiogenesis and recovery after neonatal focal rodent stroke. *Transl Stroke Res.* (2013) 4:189–200. doi: 10.1007/s12975-012-0221-6
- 41. Jung KH, Chu K, Lee ST, Kim J, Sinn DI, Kim JM, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, inhibits the altered hippocampal neurogenesis with attenuation of spontaneous recurrent seizures following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2006) 23:237–46. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2006.02.016
- Dienstmann R, Rodon J, Serra V, Tabernero J. Picking the point of inhibition: a comparative review of PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway inhibitors. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2014) 13:1021–31. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-13-0639
- Ward SG, Finan P. Isoform-specific phosphoinositide 3-kinase inhibitors as therapeutic agents. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2003) 3:426–34. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4892(03)00078-X
- 44. Kilic E, Kilic U, Wang Y, Bassetti CL, Marti HH, Hermann DM. The phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/Akt pathway mediates VEGF's neuroprotective activity and induces blood brain barrier permeability after focal cerebral ischemia. *Faseb j.* (2006) 20:1185–7. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-4829fje
- 45. Elfving B, Wegener G. Electroconvulsive seizures stimulate the vegf pathway via mTORC1. *Synapse*. (2012) 66:340–5. doi: 10.1002/syn.21518
- 46. Choi YS, Cho HY, Hoyt KR, Naegele JR, Obrietan K. IGF-1 receptormediated ERK/MAPK signaling couples status epilepticus to progenitor cell proliferation in the subgranular layer of the dentate gyrus. *Glia.* (2008) 56:791–800. doi: 10.1002/glia.20653
- 47. Zheng H, Wang X, Tang Z, Zheng W, Li Z. The PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 signaling pathways mediate the erythropoietin-modulated calcium influx in kainic acid-induced epilepsy. *Neuroreport.* (2013) 24:335–41. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e32835ffe03

- 48. Huang JB, Hsu SP, Pan HY, Chen SD, Chen SF, Lin TK, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  coactivator 1 $\alpha$  activates vascular endothelial growth factor that protects against neuronal cell death following status epilepticus through PI3K/AKT and MEK/ERK signaling. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:7247. doi: 10.3390/ijms21197247
- Fournier NM, Lee B, Banasr M, Elsayed M, Duman RS. Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates adult hippocampal cell proliferation through MEK/ERK- and PI3K/Akt-dependent signaling. *Neuropharmacology*. (2012) 63:642–52. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.04.033

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Han, Jiang, Song, Li, Chen and Cheng, This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




# Targeting Inflammatory Mediators in Epilepsy: A Systematic Review of Its Molecular Basis and Clinical Applications

Giorgio Costagliola^{1†}, Greta Depietri^{2†}, Alexandre Michev^{3*}, Antonella Riva⁴, Thomas Foiadelli³, Salvatore Savasta³, Alice Bonuccelli², Diego Peroni^{1,2}, Rita Consolini¹, Gian Luigi Marseglia³, Alessandro Orsini² and Pasquale Striano^{4,5}

¹ Pediatric Immunology, Pediatric University Department, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Pisana, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ² Pediatric Neurology, Pediatric University Department, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Pisana, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ³ Pediatric Clinic, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS) Policlinico San Matteo Foundation, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁴ Pediatric Neurology and Muscular Diseases Unit, IRCCS Istituto "Giannina Gaslini", Genova, Italy, ⁵ Department of Neurosciences, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health, University of Genova, Genova, Italy

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Eliane Kobayashi, McGill University, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Tobias Engel, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Ireland Coral Stredny, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

#### *Correspondence:

Alexandre Michev a.michev@aol.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 14 July 2021 Accepted: 08 February 2022 Published: 11 March 2022

#### Citation:

Costagliola G, Depietri G, Michev A, Riva A, Foiadelli T, Savasta S, Bonuccelli A, Peroni D, Consolini R, Marseglia GL, Orsini A and Striano P (2022) Targeting Inflammatory Mediators in Epilepsy: A Systematic Review of Its Molecular Basis and Clinical Applications. Front. Neurol. 13:741244. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.741244 **Introduction:** Recent studies prompted the identification of neuroinflammation as a potential target for the treatment of epilepsy, particularly drug-resistant epilepsy, and refractory status epilepticus. This work provides a systematic review of the clinical experience with anti-cytokine agents and agents targeting lymphocytes and aims to evaluate their efficacy and safety for the treatment of refractory epilepsy. Moreover, the review analyzes the main therapeutic perspectives in this field.

**Methods:** A systematic review of the literature was conducted on MEDLINE database. Search terminology was constructed using the name of the specific drug (anakinra, canakinumab, tocilizumab, adalimumab, rituximab, and natalizumab) and the terms "status epilepticus," "epilepsy," and "seizure." The review included clinical trials, prospective studies, case series, and reports published in English between January 2016 and August 2021. The number of patients and their age, study design, specific drugs used, dosage, route, and timing of administration, and patients outcomes were extracted. The data were synthesized through quantitative and qualitative analysis.

**Results:** Our search identified 12 articles on anakinra and canakinumab, for a total of 37 patients with epilepsy (86% febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome), with reduced seizure frequency or seizure arrest in more than 50% of the patients. The search identified nine articles on the use of tocilizumab (16 patients, 75% refractory status epilepticus), with a high response rate. Only one reference on the use of adalimumab in 11 patients with Rasmussen encephalitis showed complete response in 45% of the cases. Eight articles on rituximab employment sowed a reduced seizure burden in 16/26 patients. Finally, one trial concerning natalizumab evidenced a response in 10/32 participants.

**Conclusion:** The experience with anti-cytokine agents and drugs targeting lymphocytes in epilepsy derives mostly from case reports or series. The use of anti-IL-1, anti-IL-6, and anti-CD20 agents in patients with drug-resistant epilepsy and refractory status epilepticus

72

has shown promising results and a good safety profile. The experience with TNF inhibitors is limited to Rasmussen encephalitis. The use of anti- $\alpha$ 4-integrin agents did not show significant effects in refractory focal seizures. Concerning research perspectives, there is increasing interest in the potential use of anti-chemokine and anti-HMGB-1 agents.

Keywords: adalimumab, anakinra, canakinumab, cytokines, neuroinflammation, epilepsy, tocilizumab, rituximab

# INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy affects more than 50 million people worldwide and represents an unsolved public health problem (1). In 2017 ILEA published an operational classification of seizures ad epilepsies which gave a remarkable contribution in improving epilepsy diagnosis and treatment (2, 3) (Figure 1). Despite the significant advances made in its treatment, about 7-20% of the children and 30-40% of the adults develop drugresistant epilepsy (DRE) (4), which can be reasonably defined as an incompletely controlled disease despite the trial with two appropriate antiseizure medications (ASM; whether as monotherapy or in combination) at the correct posology) (5, 6). One of the most severe clinical complications observed in epileptic individuals is status epilepticus (SE), defined by ILEA (7) (Table 1). Refractory status epilepticus (RSE) is defined by a SE in which the administration of a benzodiazepine bolus and another ASM does not resolve the clinical picture (13). Among the research areas to improve the therapeutic strategy against drug-resistant epilepsy and RSE, there is increasing interest in the role of agents targeting neuroinflammation. Neuroinflammation is a non-specific biologic response of the brain and spinal cord innate immune system (14), which shows a bidirectional relationship with seizures. Indeed, seizures themselves can be responsible for neuronal and glial damage followed by an inflammatory response, while experimental studies investigating the effects of the administration of proinflammatory molecules in the central nervous system (CNS) evidenced that inflammation significantly reduces the seizure threshold (15). Although different authors have focused on the identification of the molecular mechanisms responsible for the inflammatory-dependent induction of seizures and the research for potential therapeutic agents targeting neuroinflammation for the treatment of epilepsy (16, 17), there is no uniform agreement on their use, and data from large cohorts of patients and randomized studies are missing.

In this work, we review the known molecular mechanisms linking neuroinflammation and epilepsy, including the role of the main inflammatory mediators involved in the process of epileptogenesis. For epileptic syndromes cited and terminology related to epilepsy we used the new ILEA operational practical clinical definition of epilepsy (**Table 1**) (8). Moreover, we provide a systematic review of the clinical experience with anti-cytokine agents (anti-IL-1, anti-IL-6, and anti-TNF agents) and with agents targeting the effectors of adaptive immunity in the treatment of epilepsy, with a focus on DRE and RSE. Finally, in the last section of this work, we discuss the main research perspectives in this field, including anti-chemokine agents. This paper aims to help reduce the knowledge gap in the field of neuroinflammation in epileptic individuals and represents the first systematic review performed on the role of anti-cytokine and anti-lymphocyte agents.

# SEIZURES AND NEUROINFLAMMATION – AN OVERVIEW

Neuroinflammation develops as a consequence of different stimuli, such as CNS trauma, infection, ischemic and hemorrhagic diseases, and seizures, although it can be also the consequence of a systemic inflammatory response spreading to CNS (14). Additionally, neuroinflammation is partly responsible for the neuronal damage and clinical manifestations of CNS disorders primarily featured by uncontrolled adaptive immune function, including autoimmune encephalitis (Anti-NMDR, Anti-AMPAR, Anti-GABA/AR and Anti-GABA/BR, Anti-VGKC, Anti-GAD, Anti-GlyR, Anti-DPPX, Anti-mGluR5, Anti-IgLON5) (18, 19) and Rasmussen syndrome (10) (Table 1), and others. Although inflammatory mediators are central in maintaining brain homeostasis, being implicated in the initiation of tissue repair after CNS injury, the process of neurogenesis, neuronal plasticity, and in the behavioral responses related to stress, neuroinflammation can be responsible for neuronal damage, altered cellular function, and impaired secretion and response to neurotransmitters, thus participating to the process of epileptogenesis (14). The CNS inflammatory response depends on the activity of the resident innate immune cells (particularly, microglial cells and astrocytes) and the release of inflammatory mediators, including cytokines, chemokines, prostaglandin, nitric oxide (NO), and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (17). Among the cellular effectors of neuroinflammation, microglial cells play a central role. They function as sensors for different triggers, having macrophage-like activity, and are implicated in the recognition of pathogens and cellular debris, and the secretion of cytokines and chemokines (20). The function of immune surveillance of microglial cells depends on multiple cellular receptors, with toll-like receptors (TLR) being directly involved in the recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) (21). Other cellular subtypes are involved in CNS inflammation and include endothelial cells and perivascular macrophages, which can act increasing vascular permeability and, through the expression of adhesion molecules, contribute to leukocyte chemotaxis (14, 22). The main cytokines participating in the CNS inflammatory response and epileptogenesis are interleukin 1β (IL-1β), IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (Figure 2). An elevation of the serum



and cerebrospinal (CSF) levels of these cytokines in individuals with epilepsy has been demonstrated in different studies (23), as well as the higher expression of genes encoding for these mediators in the brain tissue from patients who underwent brain resection for drug-resistant focal epilepsy (17). Interestingly, the levels of inflammatory mediators are higher in patients with drug-resistant epilepsy (24), suggesting a contribution of neuroinflammation in the development of drug resistance. Additionally, the demonstration that in animal models the intrathecal administration of IL-1 $\beta$  causes a reduction of the seizure threshold pointed out the direct role of cytokines in seizure and epileptogenesis (15).

Among soluble inflammatory mediators, the danger signal molecule high-mobility group box-1 (HMGB-1) also plays a central role in neuroinflammation, being involved in the TLR4-IL-1 $\beta$  axis, and in the enhancement of the CNS inflammatory response (25). Chemokines and their receptors participate in CNS inflammation favoring leukocyte migration to the site of inflammation and endothelial adhesion but are also directly implicated in epileptogenesis through the interaction with neurotransmitters and neuropeptides (26), as further discussed. Finally, the role of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) in neuroinflammation and epileptogenesis is of extreme clinical and research interest (25). Inflammatory mediators, produced both in CNS and systemically, can enhance its permeability and BBB leakage allows the spread of systemic inflammatory mediators within the CNS, thus amplifying the inflammatory process (17).

# IL-1 and Epilepsy: Molecular Basis

 $IL\text{-}1\beta$  is mostly produced by cells of the innate immune system, including monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells, following

a wide range of triggers, such as infections and cellular damage (i.e., oxidative stress) (27). In CNS, IL-1β is produced by glial cells and other cellular sources, including endothelial cells (28). The main molecular mechanism leading to the synthesis of IL- $1\beta$  is the assembly and function of the macromolecular complex of the inflammasome, in a process that requires the recognition of the inflammatory trigger (i.e., via toll-like receptors) leading to the activation of caspase-1, finally allowing the release of active IL-1ß (29). Once released, IL-1ß acts as an initiator of the inflammatory response, promoting the synthesis of other pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL-6), induces fever, and acts as a direct effector of inflammatory organ damage (30). High serum and CSF levels of IL-1β have been demonstrated in individuals suffering from epilepsy, including those affected by developmental epileptic encephalopathies, with even higher concentrations in patients with drug-resistant epilepsy (17). Although the mechanisms linking IL-1 $\beta$  and epileptogenesis are far to be fully understood, pieces of evidence suggest that neuronal excitation and excitotoxicity secondary to the enhanced effect of glutamate play a significant role (31). Indeed, IL-1 $\beta$  has been demonstrated to influence the calcium influx across the Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, reduce glutamate uptake by astrocytes and increase glutamate release by glial cells (32). On the other hand, studies on the influence of IL-1β on GABA-ergic transmission show conflicting results (32).

Currently, the agents targeting IL-1 $\beta$  comprise the IL-1 receptor antagonist anakinra, the anti-IL-1 monoclonal antibodies canakinumab (human antibody) and gevokizumab (humanized antibody), and the IL-1 inhibitor rilonacept, which consists of a fusion protein composed of the Fc portion of human IgG and the extracellular domain of IL-1 receptor (33,

#### TABLE 1 | Definitions.

#### Operational (practical) clinical definition of epilepsy (8)

Epilepsy is a disease of the brain defined by any of the following conditions:

- 1. At least two unprovoked (or reflex) seizures occurring >24 h apart
- 2. One unprovoked (or reflex) seizure and a probability of further seizures similar to the general recurrence risk (at least 60%) after two unprovoked seizures, occurring over the next 10 years
- 3. Diagnosis of an epilepsy syndrome

Epilepsy is considered to be resolved for individuals who had an age-dependent epilepsy syndrome but are now past the applicable age or those who have remained seizure-free for the last 10 years, with no seizure medicines for the last 5 years.

#### Status epilepticus (7)

"A condition resulting either from the failure of the mechanisms responsible for seizure termination or from the initiation of mechanisms, which lead to abnormally, prolonged seizures (after time point  $t_1$ ). It is a condition, which can have long-term consequences (after time point  $t_2$ ), including neuronal death, neuronal injury, and alteration of neuronal networks, depending on the type and duration of seizures."

#### Super refractory status epilepticus (7)

SE continues for more than 24 h after the first administration of general anesthesia.

#### Autoimmune encephalitis (9)

Autoimmune encephalitis encompasses a wide variety of protean pathologic processes associated with the presence of antibodies against neuronal intracellular proteins, synaptic receptors, ion channels and/or neuronal surface proteins.

#### Rasmussen encephalitis (10)

Unilateral hemispheric encephalitis whose main clinical features include refractory focal epilepsy or epilepsia partialis continua, hemiparesis, and progressive cognitive decline.

#### New-onset refractory status epilepticus (NORSE) (11)

NORSE is a clinical presentation, not a specific diagnosis, in a patient without active epilepsy or other preexisting relevant neurological disorder, with new onset of refractory status epilepticus without a clear acute or active structural, toxic or metabolic cause.

#### Febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome (FIRES) (11)

FIRES is a subcategory of NORSE, applicable for all ages, that requires a prior febrile infection starting between 2 weeks and 24 h prior to onset of refractory status epilepticus, with or without fever at onset of status epilepticus.

#### Electrical status epilepticus in sleep (ESES) (12)

Electrical status epilepticus in sleep (ESES), a childhood-onset epileptic encephalopathy, is characterized by epilepsy, cognitive regression, and marked activation of epileptiform activity during non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep to produce an electroencephalography (EEG) pattern of near-continuous spike-wave discharges.

34). Since their introduction, anti-IL-1 agents have become a cornerstone in the treatment of autoinflammatory disorders, and have also been used in other rheumatologic disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), gout, adult-onset Still diseases and systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis (sJIA), and cytokine storm syndromes (35), with anakinra and canakinumab being the most widely used drugs. The use of gevokizumab is still experimental, since the drug has not been approved by the Food and Drug Administration.

### IL-6 and Epilepsy: Molecular Basis

IL-6 has a pivotal role in enhancing and maintaining the inflammatory response and activating adaptive immunity. Systemically, the release of IL-6 is followed by the production of acute-phase proteins (C-reactive protein, serum amyloid protein, fibrinogen), the release of platelets, angiogenesis, and an increase in vascular permeability (36). Additionally, IL-6 participates in driving the differentiation of T CD4+ cells in T helper 17 (Th17) cells, promotes the differentiation and expansion

of T CD8+ cytotoxic cells, and inhibits the proliferation of regulatory T cells (Tregs) (36). In the CNS, this cytokine is mostly produced by glial cells, with a mechanism triggered by multiple factors, including the binding of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ to specific surface receptors on glial cells (37). Additionally, IL-6 can be secreted by astrocytes and neurons and can be released by perivascular and brain endothelial cells in response to inflammatory and infectious stimuli (37). Increased serum and CFS levels of IL-6 have been demonstrated in patients with refractory epilepsy, and an association between IL-6 levels and the degree of neuronal apoptosis was evidenced in patients undergoing surgery for refractory temporal lobe epilepsy (38). Notably, the serum cytokine levels have been shown to decrease after surgery (38). Apart from the induction of apoptosis, a direct role of IL-6 in epileptogenesis has been suggested (31). It is known that IL-6 interferes with GABA-A receptor functioning, while recent data suggest that the cytokine could reduce glutamate signaling and consequent neuronal toxicity (32).



The most widely used anti-IL-6 therapeutic agent is tocilizumab, a humanized monoclonal anti-IL-6 receptor antibody that is part of the therapeutic armamentarium against autoinflammatory disorders, cytokine storm syndromes, and autoimmune diseases (36, 39). Concerning neurological diseases, tocilizumab is used in autoimmune encephalitis and different systemic inflammatory disorders with CNS involvement, including linear scleroderma "*en coup de sabre*" (LSCS), and neuro-Behcet's disease (40, 41). The human monoclonal anti-IL-6 antibody sarilumab is a therapeutic option in patients with RA and different authors suggested a role in the treatment of severe COVID-19 (42, 43).

# TNF- $\alpha$ and Epilepsy: Molecular Basis

Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) is a pleiotropic effector cytokine of the TNF superfamily that plays a role in the regulation of cell homeostasis and of the immune-inflammatory pathways (28). TNF- $\alpha$  is produced by a wide range of cells (including microglia, astrocytes, and neurons) (44, 45) and interacts with two transmembrane glycoprotein receptors, TNF receptor 1 (TNFR1) and TNF receptor 2 (TNFR2), that differ in their cellular expression profiles, ligand affinities and signaling pathways (45). The main downstream effectors are Nuclear Factor Kappa-B, C-Jun N-terminal Kinase, p38, and the pathway of sphingomyelinase/ceramide. The exact role of TNF- $\alpha$  in

epileptogenesis is not yet understood (46). The cytokine may operate by direct interaction with neurons or by influencing the expression of neurotransmitter receptors on glial cells (47, 48). TNF- $\alpha$  can also alter the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (28, 49). Reportedly, the expression of TNF- $\alpha$  in astrocytes may promote an inflammatory and degenerative outcome, while the cytokine expression in neuronal and microglial cells would be associated with tissue repair and remyelination (50-52). This dual role of TNF- $\alpha$  reflects the subtype of receptor that is preferentially involved in the signaling: TNFR1 is thought to induce an epileptogenic and proinflammatory phenotype through a series of post-translational mechanisms that regulate the expression and the turnover of AMPA, GABAA, and NMDA-NR1 receptors, while TNFR2 shows an anticonvulsant and neurotrophic orientation. Indeed, a study conducted on hippocampal tissues from patients with intractable temporal lobe epilepsy documented the predominance of TNFR1 pathways. Specifically, the involvement of TNFR1 caused the activation of apoptosis pathways capable to perpetrate the seizure-induced brain injury (53).

All molecules with TNF-inhibitory action that are currently approved for therapeutic use are monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) obtained by mutation and gene-splicing techniques (54, 55). These drugs can act both with an antagonistic effect, blocking the cellular functions mediated by TNF-receptors, or with an



agonistic function through reverse signaling mediated by the transmembrane portion of TNF- $\alpha$  (56). In the spectrum of CNS disorders, the use of anti TNF-a agents has been specifically studied for multiple sclerosis (MS) (57, 58). However, two clinical trials evidenced discouraging results, since patients showed clinical and radiological signs of progression of the disease during treatment (57, 58). Moreover, a possible correlation between the exposure to anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agents and the occurrence of inflammatory demyelinating and nondemyelinating events emerges from different cases and caseseries of patients treated for non-CNS related disorders (59-69). We speculate that the adverse neurological effects observed in patients treated with TNF-inhibitors for other diseases influence and limit the choice of these therapies for the treatment of many neurological conditions. Despite a causal correlation between demyelination and the use of anti TNF- $\alpha$  agents is uncertain, some mechanisms have been proposed to explain the pathogenesis of the adverse events observed, including the fact that the use of TNF-inhibitors may reduce the expression of TNFR2 receptors within the brain tissues, impairing the course of reparative processes (70-73). In the particular case of epilepsy, animal models highlighted how the effects of the TNF- $\alpha$  can be different depending on which receptor subtype governs the signaling pathway. Hence, future therapeutic agents may be targeted to the mechanisms that govern the predominance between TNFR1 and TNFR2, to downregulate the former without reducing the expression of the latter (74).

# Adaptive Immunity and Epilepsy: Molecular Basis

Adaptive immunity plays an important role in the immune surveillance within the CNS through a series of mechanisms, considering the status of immune privilege of the CNS (75). Nonetheless, cells of adaptive immunity have also been implied in the pathogenesis of different immune-mediated diseases of the CNS (76). Moreover, experimental studies conducted in models of epilepsy suggested that adaptive immunity is actively involved in this process (77). Following seizures, the alteration of the BBB leads to the release of chemokines and drives the infiltration of lymphocytes and other cells of the innate immunity (i.e., monocytes) (78). Within the CNS, B and T cells exert their effector functions with different mechanisms. The understanding of the pathogenesis of certain forms of immune-mediated epilepsy revealed that B and T cells can respond to stimuli originating directly by neuronal antigens or by molecular mimicry between the antigens of infectious agents (mainly viruses) and components of the CNS tissues (79, 80). To date, a wide range of antibodies directed toward extracellular domains have been described and reunited under the term "Neuronal Surface Antibodies." The presence of such antibodies underlies several CNS syndromes characterized by seizures (81). In other conditions, identified as paraneoplastic syndromes, the production of antibodies is rather an epiphenomenon and the pathogenesis recognizes a role of cytotoxic T cells (82). Xu et al. investigated the involvement of cell-mediated immunity in patients with intractable forms of epilepsy and demonstrated

Costagliola et al.

TABLE 2 | Systematic review of anti-IL-1 agents in epilepsy.

References	Disease	<i>N</i> , (age)	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
Sa et al. (105)	FIRES	2 Pt 1: 1.9 years Pt 2. 2.5 years	Case Report	Pt 1 Anakinra 5 mg/Kg/day s.c for 14 days	Start: Day 43	From Day 51 seizures decreased in frequency and on Day 60 these stopped. After 3 weeks new onset of seizures (2–5/month)	No adverse effects
				Pt 2 Anakinra 10 mg/Kg/day s.c for 90 days	Start: day 22 Discontinued after 3 months of treatment	No improvement	No adverse effects
Yang et al. (106)	FIRES	1 (6 years old)	Case Report	Anakinka 100 mg s.c. twice daily for 1 year	Start: Day 28	Resolution of seizures after 4 days. Stop ketogenic diet after 9 months. Follow-up: 1 seizure/month	No adverse effects
Kern-Smith et al. (107)	NORSE	1 (5 years old)	Case Report	Anakinra for 13 days (posology not specified)	Start: Day 12 Stop: Day 24	Stop midazolam infusion, without return of electrographic status epilepticus, after 2 days	No adverse effects
Dilena et al. (108)	FIRES	1 (10 years old)	Case Report	Anankinra 2.5 mg/kg/day (100 mg) s.c and, 3 days after, 2.5 mg/kg twice daily	Start: after 18 months from diagnosis Stop: 7 months after	Full seizure control after 3 days	No adverse effects
Jyonouchi and Geng (109)	ESES	1 (6 years old)	Case Report	Anakinra 100 mg/day s.c.	Start: 25 months after diagnosis	Despite the improvement of behavioral symptoms, ESES pattern persisted.	No adverse effects
Lai et al. (110)	FIRES	25, (5–11 years old)	Retrospective	Anakinra 3–5 mg/kg/day (initial dose) Anakinra 4–9 mg/kg/day (final dose)	Start: 20 days after the onset of FIRES Stop: 86 days after	Earlier anakinra initiation after seizure onset was associated with shorter duration of mechanical ventilation, and ICU and hospital LOS. Amongst children with available seizure frequency data, 11/15 (73.3%) exhibited> 50% seizure reduction at 1 week of anakinra treatment. 3/25 (12%) died	3/25 (12%) developed DRESS 2/25 (8%) developed cytopenia 10/25 (40%) developed infections (1 discontinue anakinra for infections)
Westbrook et al. (111)	FIRES	1 (21 years old)	Case Report	Anakinra 100 mg 3 times daily s.c (Initial dose) Anakinra 100 mg twice daily s.c (after 10 days) Anakinra 100 mg once daily s.c. (after 25 days)	Start: 32 days after the diagnosis of FIRES Stop: 1 year after at which time discontinuation will be discussed	Full seizure control after 24 h	No adverse effects

(Continued)

Targeting Inflammatory Mediators in Epilepsy

Costagliola et al.

#### TABLE 2 | Continued

References	Disease	<i>N</i> , (age)	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
Kenney- Jung et al. (112)	FIRES	1 (32 months old)	Case Report	Anakinra 5 mg/kg/twice daily s.c. Anakinra 5 mg/kg/twice daily s.c.	2 cycles: Day 6–23 Day 54-ongoing	Improved seizure control in both cycles (from 5.8 to 1.3 seizure/day in the first cycle; from 8 to 0.17 seizure/day in the second). Twelve months after initial presentation, the patient experiences rare focal seizures.	Development of DRES (day 22, followed by discontinuation)
DeSena et al. (113)	DRE	1 (14 years old)	Case Report	Anakinra 100 mg daily Anakinra 100 mg twice daily Canakinumab 300 mg every 4 weeks	Start: 2 years Stop: After 4 weeks After: 2 months	Rapid ~80% reduction in seizure frequency (from 4 to 15/day to 4/week). No clinically evident seizures. Improvements in her fatigue, general malaise, quality of life, and academic performance. Long periods of being seizure-free, currently averaging one seizure per several months.	No adverse effects
Stredny et al. (114)	FIRES	1 (6 years old)	Case Report	Anakinra 20 mg/kg daily	From day 6 to 20 of hospitalization	No clinical response	No adverse effects
Mochol et al. (115)	RE	1 (43 years old)	Case Report	Anakinra 100 mg daily sc	26 years after disease presentation. 1st cycle: 2 months 2nd cycle: 7 months	Complete seizure control after 1 week of treatment. Relapse after 2 weeks of withdrawal 2nd cycle: full seizure control after 10 days 13 months seizure-free	Pneumonia
Choi et al. (116)	SRSE in AE	1 (38 years old)	Case Report	Anakinra 100 mg daily s.c	From week 12 Duration: 12 days	Resolution of status epilepticus Recovery in communication and walking)	No adverse effects

AE, autoimmune encephalitis; DRE, drug-resistant epilepsy; DRESS, Drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms; ESES, Encephalopathy with electrical status epilepticus in sleep; FIRES, Febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome; NORSE, New-onset refractory status epilepticus; RE, Rasmussen encephalitis; SRSE, super-refractory status epilepticus.

localization of blood-derived, antigen-specific CD8+ and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the epileptogenic zone, showing how the amount of infiltrated cells correlated with seizure severity (83). Interestingly, the majority of T cells detected resulted to be memory T cells, capable to sustain an inflammatory response even in the absence of costimulatory signals. Additionally, the amount of brain infiltrating T reg cells resulted inversely correlated with seizure severity (83). The role of CD8+ cells is peculiar since under inflammatory conditions neurons can express MHC class I and II molecules perpetrating cell-mediated brain damage (84).

Studies conducted in the past years raised the awareness of how targeting the mechanisms of action of B and T cells could be of therapeutic interest. The use of monoclonal antibodies as immune modulators has substantially changed the approach to many inflammatory diseases, including some autoimmune disorders of the CNS (85). The activity of these agents consists mainly in inhibiting the production of antibodies and blocking the intrusion of effector lymphocytes in the CNS. Rituximab is a chimeric anti-CD20 mAb engineered to reduce the pool of B cells that undergo maturation and that produce antibodies, hence decreasing the entity of humoral immune response (86). Originally approved for the treatment of B cell lymphoma, to date rituximab is employed in the treatment of many immunemediated diseases of the CNS, including multiple sclerosis and other forms of autoimmune demyelinating disorders (87, 88). This molecule represents also an off-label second line of treatment for several forms of autoimmune encephalitis (89). Particularly, the use of rituximab for the treatment of anti-NMDR has been the object of studies that evidenced a good response in terms of outcome and a lower frequency of relapses (19, 90). With a more heterogeneous degree of clinical response, the use of rituximab is also reported in cases of encephalitis associated with anti-GAD, anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein, and anti-leucine-rich glioma inactivated 1 (LGI1) antibodies (91-93). Additionally, occasional reports in patients with RE and one patient with FIRES sustain a possible therapeutical application for rituximab in these diseases (94, 95). Natalizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody targeting α4-integrin (CD49d) on the surface of lymphocytes (96). The interaction between this integrin and the VCAM receptor is involved in the process of diapedesis and hence crucial to lymphocyte extravasation to the CNS. Natalizumab has been prominently employed in patients with multiple sclerosis, with good therapeutic results despite the onset of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (96, 97). The use of natalizumab has been studied in animal models of RE (98) and one patient with RE treated with natalizumab is reported in literature (99).

# SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

#### **Objective of the Systematic Review**

This systematic review aims to assess whether anti-cytokine (anti-IL-1, anti-IL-6, anti-TNF), anti-CD20, and anti- $\alpha$ 4-integrin agents could be effective and safe for the treatment of DRE and RSE.



# Methods

#### Protocol

This systematic review was performed following the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis protocol (PRISMA-P) reporting guidelines (100). The review protocol has not been registered.

#### **Inclusion Criteria**

#### Population

The study included patients with no age restriction and diagnosed with DRE or RSE. Patients with DRE or RSE caused by specific syndromes (autoimmune encephalitis, LSCS, RE) were included.

#### Intervention

We included patients receiving treatment with anti-IL-1 (anakinra, canakinumab), anti-IL-6 (tocilizumab), anti-TNF (infliximab, adalimumab, etanercept), anti-CD20 (rituximab), anti- anti- $\alpha$ 4-integrin (natalizumab) agents.

#### **Comparators**

Patients receiving ASM, corticosteroids, and other conventional immunosuppressive agents or placebo were included. Studies not including a comparator arm have also been included.

#### Outcomes

The primary outcomes for this review were the efficacy in decreasing or arresting seizures in RSE, controlling the epileptic phenotype in DRE, and the safety of the therapeutic agents in epileptic individuals. The secondary outcome was (when available) the analysis of the motor, behavioral, and cognitive function and recovery after treatment.

#### Study Types

We included all the case reports, case series, retrospective, prospective studies, and clinical trials in which the following

#### TABLE 3 | Systematic review of anti-IL-6 agents in epilepsy.

References	Disease	PTS N Age	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
Magro et al. (117)	CNS disease and DRE associated with LSCS.	1 (22 years old)	Case Report	Tocilizumab 162 mg S.C. once a week	Start: 6 months after	Noticeable improvement in cognitive and affective symptoms with decrease in seizure frequency. Resolution of many of the enhancing lesions on brain MRI	No adverse effects
Stredny et al. (114)	FIRES	1 (6 years old)	Case Report	Tocilizumab 12 mg/kg S.C. every 2 weeks	Start: Day 20 Stop: Day 76	Reduction of seizure	No adverse effects
Donnelly et al. (118)	NORSE	1 (26 years old)	Case Report	Tocilizumab 300 mg IV. for two times	First dose: 9 weeks after the beginning of treatment Second dose: 12 weeks after the beginning of treatment	Stop seizures after 48 h	No adverse effects
Osminina et al. (119)	CNS disease and DRE associated with LSCS.	1 (2 years 10 months)	Case Report	Tocilizumab 10 mg/kg IV. once in 4 weeks	Start: 16 months after the beginning of symptoms Stop: 26 months after first infusion of Tz.	Reduction of periventricular focus; stop seizures.	No adverse effects
Jaafar et al. (120)	SRSE	1 (8 years old)	Case Report	Tocilizumab, 8 mg/kg/day S.C. divided in two doses 1 week apart	Start: 10 days after admission to hospital	Stops seizure 24 h after	No adverse effects
Cantarín- Extremera et al. (121)	NORSE	2 Pt 1: 1.9 years old Pt 2: 2.7 years old	Case Report	Pt 1 Tocilizumab 4 mg/kg once a week	Start: Day 21 Stop: Day 28	Seizures decrease in frequency, in VEEG critical patterns had disappeared.	No adverse effects
				Pt 2 Tocilizumab 4 mg/kg for 2 times	Start: Day 30 and 40	48–72 h after the first dose, the seizures began to decrease progressively in frequency and intensity, there was global neurological improvement, recovering normality in terms of language, level of consciousness, and motor capacity, but persisting hyperactivity.	No adverse effects
Jun et al. (124)	NORSE	7 [median 25 years old (22–64)]	Prospective	Tocilizumab 4 mg/kg for 2 cycles in 1-week intervals, a monthly dose (8 mg/kg) was added if needed	Start: Median day 25 (6–73)	Resolution of status epilepticus in 6/7 patients 3/6 of the survived patients showed improvement on the mRS	2/7 (2.9%) leukopenia 1/7 (1.4%) diarrhea 1/7 (1.4%) pneumonia 1/7 (1.4%) sepsis

(Continued)

Targeting Inflammatory Mediators in Epilepsy

References	Disease	PTS N Age	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
Benucci et al. (122)	Limbic Encephalitis with Anti-CASPR2 Antibodies	1 (64 years old)	Case Report	Tocilizumab 8 mg/kg IV. once a month for 6 months, then 162 mg every week s.c	Start: 2–3 months after admission.	Full seizure control Resolution of behavioral changes and seizures Improvement in mRS	No adverse effects
Vallecoccia et al. (1 23)	SRSE	1 (34 years old)	Case Report	2 doses of tocilizumab 4 mg/kg at a 1-week interval	Start: day 24	Partial recovery after 7–10 days from the first administration. Resolution of the clinical picture after 1 month ("ketamine and ketogenic diet added)	Sepsis by drug-resistant pathogen

criteria were met: (1) original publication; (2) human studies focusing on RSE and/or DRE; (3) at least one enrolled patient with no age restriction; (4) only papers published in English; (5) only papers published between 1 January 2016 and August 2021.

#### **Exclusion Criteria**

We excluded (1) reviews, book chapters, author's replies ad commentaries; (2) animal experiments; (3) all papers published before 2016; (4) all the studies not meeting the inclusion criteria.

#### Search Strategy and Data Sources

A systematic review of the literature concerning the use of these drugs in patients with epilepsy was conducted in May 2021 and updated in September 2021 on the MEDLINE database (through PubMed). The search terminology was constructed using the name of specific anti-IL-1, anti-IL-6, anti-TNF, anti-CD20, and anti-a4-integrin drugs and the terms "status epilepticus," "epilepsy," and "seizure" with the use of Boolean operators [e.g., "(anakinra AND status epilepticus) OR (anakinra AND seizures)"], ["(tocilizumab AND status epilepticus) OR (tocilizumab AND seizures)"], [(anti-tumor necrosis factoralpha) OR (anti-TNF)) OR (tumor necrosis factor inhibitor)) OR (Infliximab)) OR (Etanercept)) OR (Adalimumab)) AND ((Epilepsy) OR (seizures))], [((rituximab) OR (anti-CD20)) AND ((Epilepsy) OR (seizures))], [(natalizumab) AND ((Epilepsy) OR (seizures))]. For all searches, the respective Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) and Emtree terms were used, if available.

#### Study Records

Three review authors (GC, GD, AM) independently screened the titles and abstracts using the previously described inclusion and exclusion criteria. In this first step, the studies considered for potential inclusion were divided into five categories: anti-IL-1, anti-IL-6, anti-TNF agents, anti-CD20, and anti- $\alpha$ 4-integrin. In a second step, the same three review authors (GC, DP, AM) evaluated full-text articles and assessed the eligibility for this systematic review. Any disagreement regarding eligibility was resolved through discussion with a third-party member (AO). Data were extracted using a standardized form on Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, Seattle, USA). The form was designed by GC, and data were extracted by GC, DP, and AM. Any disagreement regarding data extraction was resolved through discussion with a third-party member (AO). The following data were extracted for each study: first author, publication year, number of enrolled patients and their age, study design, specific drugs used, dosage and route of administration (if available), the timing of administration, patients outcomes (decrease in seizure frequency/arrest of seizures or status epilepticus. motor, behavioral and cognitive outcome, adverse events) and the dosage of serum and CSF cytokines. The data obtained from extraction were synthesized through quantitative and qualitative analysis.

#### Risk of Bias Assessment and Quality of the Evidence

The risk of bias was evaluated using the risk of bias in nonrandomized studies of interventions (ROBINS-I) tool (101) for non-randomized studies and the evidence-based medicine (EBM) indications (102) for case series and reports. Each



study was assessed by one review author (GC). To estimate the level of evidence reached by this work, the grading of recommendations, assessment, development, and evaluation (GRADE) (103) approach was used. The risk of bias, precision, consistency, directness, and publication bias was analyzed.

# Systematic Literature Review: Anti-IL-1 Agents and Epilepsy

# Study Selection

Overall, 97 references were identified using the search strategy. After identifying one duplicate and removing 50 articles published before 1 January 2016, the full text of 46 articles was retrieved and evaluated in detail. After a full-text assessment 34 articles were excluded: 10 studies were on animals and 24 were not relevant to the topic of the present review. One paper on multifocal neutrophilic meningoencephalitis (MNM) was excluded as did not directly analyze the effect on the epileptic phenotype (104). Twelve articles were finally included in this review (**Figure 3**), for a total of 37 cases of epilepsy with different etiologies (105–116). All publications were in English, six were from the USA, three were from Europe, one from Asia, and two were international studies, involving different countries. Eleven publications were case reports, while the last was a retrospective observational study.

### Results

Among the 37 patients included in this systematic review, the median age was 7 years. Thirty-two patients suffered from FIRES; the other patients suffered from new-onset refractory status epilepticus (NORSE) (n = 1), super-refractory status epilepticus (SRSE) (n = 1), RE (n = 1), encephalopathy with electrical status epilepticus in sleep (ESES) (n = 1), and DRE (n = 1) (**Tables 1**, 2).

Anakinra was administered with various posologies, ranging from 3 to 20 mg/Kg/day, with a maximum dose of 100 mg SC per administration; canakinumab 300 mg SC was used in one study; no studies were reporting the use of rilonacept. Anti-IL-1 drugs were administrated at least as third-line therapy, after ASM (n = 37), corticosteroids (n = 32), immunosuppressive agents (sirolimus, n = 1), ketogenic diet (n = 23), intravenous immunoglobulins (n = 28), rituximab (n = 7), or plasma exchange (n = 14). Two (=2) patients underwent deep brain stimulation and one underwent surgery for DRE. Regarding the timing of administration, anti-IL-1 was started early in 32 cases, with a median delay of 20 days from the onset of seizures. In the remaining five cases, anti-IL-1 treatment was administrated after more than 4 months. Except for five cases in which there weren't improvements (three of them died after drug discontinuation) (105, 110, 114), the use of anti-IL-1 was effective in reducing the seizure burden. Indeed, its use significantly reduced seizures

(>50%) in 11/15 of the patients described in the cohort by Lai et al. with available clinical data (110), and in 9/12 of the patients described in case reports (Table 2). Concerning safety issues, the most frequently reported adverse effect was the development of infections, which have been reported in 11 patients, while four patients experienced drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) (110, 112). Regarding the cognitive, motor, and behavioral recovery, although in most of the patients presented in case reports (9/12) an improvement was reported, the outcome has been mostly described qualitatively. The study by Lai et al. evidenced that, among the 22 surviving patients, 50% had motor deficit, 77% attention deficit, and more than 50% of the patients had speech, memory, or executive function deficit. In this study, 45% of the surviving patients had mild or moderate disability measured using the pediatric cerebral performance category (PCPC) scale, and 22,7% had a severe disability or vegetative state. Additionally, all the surviving patients in this study have DRE at last follow-up (110). The cytokine serum and CSF levels are reported in 13/37 (35%) and 14/37(37,8%) of the patients, respectively. In the analysis of patients treated with anti-IL drugs, we evidenced some potential biases deriving from missing data, as seizure frequency was not reported for all the included patients (particularly, data are not available for 10/25 patients in the cohort by Lai et al.) (110). Additionally, the lack of use of specific assessment scales did not allow a deeper evaluation of the motor, behavioral and cognitive outcome.

### Systematic Literature Review: Anti-IL-6 Agents and Epilepsy Study Selection

Overall, 32 references were identified using the search strategy. The full text of these 34 articles was retrieved and evaluated in detail, and 25 articles were excluded based on the exclusion criteria. Nine articles were finally included in this review (**Figure 4**), for a total of 16 patients with epilepsy with different etiologies (114, 117–124). Two studies, performed on patients with autoimmune encephalitis and anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) encephalitis, were excluded as epilepsy was not considered as a specific outcome of the study, although the studies evidenced a global disease activity improvement after treatment with tocilizumab (125, 126). All publications were in English, three from the USA, four from Europe, and two from Asia. Eight publications were case reports, another (n = 1), was a prospective study.

#### Results

Among the 16 patients included in this systematic review, the median age was 23 years. Patients suffered from NORSE (n = 10), SRSE (n = 2), DRE associated with LSCS (n = 2), limbic encephalitis with anti-CASPR2 antibodies (n = 1), and FIRES (n = 1) (**Table 3**). Tocilizumab was administered in all 16 cases either SC or IV. No other anti-IL-6 was used. Tocilizumab was administered at least as a third-line therapy, after ASM (n = 16), corticosteroids (n = 14), immunosuppressive agents (n = 2), ketogenic diet (n = 3), intravenous immunoglobulins (n = 14), plasma exchange (n = 5), or others (anakinra n = 1, electroconvulsive therapy n = 1). Tocilizumab was started

References	Disease	PTS N Age	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
Lagarde et al. (127)	Rasmussen encephalitis.	11 [median 6.5 years (1.5- 37]]	Multicenter, open-label, prospective study	Adalimumab 24 mg/m² s.c. (maximum 40 mg), every 14 days	Start: Median delay 31 months (range 1–192) after diagnosis	Complete response (>50% seizure frequency decrease) in 5 patients; 3 of these 5 patients had stabilization of functional deficits. One patient showed significant but transitory (6 months) improvement.	One patient discontinued adalimumab due to mild increase of creatine kinase blood levels (normalized after 3 weeks); one patient showed superficial skin infection (not requiring discontinuation of treatment).

Frontiers in Neurology | www.frontiersin.org

**TABLE 4** | Systematic review of anti-TNF agents in epilepsy



within the first 6 months of illness in 15 cases (median: 25 days). In only one patient tocilizumab was administered after more than 12 months from the disease onset (Table 3). From the available data, it emerges that the use of anti-IL-6 was effective for partial or complete seizure control in most patients [6/7 of the patients described in the cohort study by Jun et al. (124), 9/9 of the patients described in case reports showed reduction or arrest of the seizures]. Concerning safety, although tocilizumab has been well-tolerated by the majority of the patients, our analysis evidenced three cases of infection (one pneumonia and two cases of sepsis), and two patients developed leukopenia (123, 124). The motor, behavioral, and cognitive outcome has been reported mostly with qualitative assessment, showing a reported improvement in seven out of the nine single case reports, with the persistence of behavioral dysregulation (114), mild cognitive impairment, and mild ataxia (118) in two patients. In the study by Jun et al. and the case presented by Benucci et al. the modified Rankin scale (mRS) was used, demonstrating an improvement at follow-up in 4/7 survived patients (122, 124). The dosage of serum and CSF cytokines was available each in 10/16 (62,5%) of the patients. Also in the study of patients treated with tocilizumab, the risk of biases (particularly, missing data) is present, with data being often presented only with qualitative assessment. Additionally, the high rate of therapeutic response in case reports suggests the possibility of a publication bias.

### Systematic Literature Review: Anti-TNFα Agents and Epilepsy Study Selection

Overall a total of 142 references were identified during the initial electronic search, nine of which were marked as not eligible by automation tools because they were not published in English language.

A total of 133 potentially eligible studies were selected. Among these, 132 were excluded (**Figure 5**). One study resulted eligible and was hence included in this review: a multicenter, open-label, prospective study (127).

### Results

A total of 11 patients with RE were included in the study (**Table 4**). The median age at first seizure was 6.5 years (range 1.5–37 years). All patients received adalimumab SC (24 mg/m² with a maximum of 40 mg) every 14 days. Before adalimumab, patients received treatment with corticosteroids (n = 11), in addition to immunoglobulins (n = 8) and azathioprine (n = 1). The Anti TNF- $\alpha$  agent was started with a median delay of 31 months after the first seizure (range 1 month-16 years). The primary outcome was the decrease of seizures frequency, considering "responders" patients experiencing a decrease in seizure frequency by at least 50%. The secondary outcome measures were neurologic and cognitive outcomes and side

Costagliola et al.

References	Disease	<i>N</i> , (age)	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
Cheli et al. (134)	Anti-LGI1 encephalitis with DRE	1 (54 years old)	Case Report	Rituximab 1,000 mg/day IV, 2 doses 15 days apart then one single dose after 6 months.	Start: 7 weeks after the onset of seizures. Stop: 9 weeks after the onset of seizures.	No further seizures occurred after the treatment. The neuropsychological evaluation resulted within normal range. After 6 months, the patient experienced a cognitive relapse that resolved after the administration of a single dose of Rituximab.	No adverse effects
Kurukumbi et al. (133)	Patient 1: anti-NMDR encephalitis with RSE Patient 2: anti- LGI1 encephalitis with DRE Patient 3: N-type anti-VGCC encephalitis with RSE	3 Pt 1: 32 years Pt 2: 72 years Pt 3: 19 years	Case Series	Pt 1: Rituximab 375 mg/m ² /day IV weekly for 4 weeks, then rituximab 1,000 mg IV every 6 months Pt 2: Rituximab 1,000 mg IV every 6 months Pt 3: Rituximab 1,000 mg IV every 6 months	Pt 1, start: 27 days after the onset of seizures. Pt 2, start: 12 months after diagnosis Pt 3, start: 5 days after the onset of seizures.	Pt 1: resolution of seizures and behavioral disorders, with a return to baseline cognition and personality Pt 2: electrographic and clinical seizure freedom with return of premorbid cognitive function Pt 3: abrogation of seizures and return to baseline functioning	No adverse effects
Sansevere et al. (132)	RE	1 (11 years old)	Case Report	Rituximab 375 mg/m ² weekly for 4 weeks	Start: 5 days after diagnosis Stop: 33 days after diagnosis	No clinical response. Functional hemispherectomy with right hemisphere deafferentation was performed 3 months after the final dose of rituximab	No adverse effects
Schneider et al. (131)	Anti-NMDAR encephalitis with RSE	1 (22 years old)	Case Report	Rituximab 500 mg IV, followed by a second dose after 6 months and a third after 16 months	Start: not specified Stop: 16 months after the first administration	Complete remission of epileptic seizures and psychotic symptoms	No adverse effects
Jun et al. (124)	NORSE*	6 [median 36 years (22–61)]	Prospective	Rituximab 375 mg/m²/day IV weekly	Not specified	Persistence of SE despite the treatment. Patients eventually received Tocilizumab	No adverse effects
El Tawil et al. (130)	RE with DRE	1 (61 years old)	Case Report	Rituximab (posology not specified)	Start: 10 years after diagnosis Stop: not specified	Clear and sustained improvement in seizure frequency and severity and patient's disabilities	No adverse effects

(Continued)

Targeting Inflammatory Mediators in Epilepsy

References	Disease	N, (age)	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
(129)	RE with RSE	1 (32 years old)	Case Report	Rituximab 375 mg/m²/day IV weekly (two cycles 22 months apart)	Start: not specified Stop: 22 months after the first administration	Reduction of epileptic seizures with residual 2–3 partial seizures per week. Worsening 18 months after (partial seizures rose to 6 per day). After the second cycle, persistence of one partial seizure per day.	No adverse effects
Byun et al. (128)	AE**	12 [median 32 years (18–68)]	Prospective study	Rituximab 375 mg/m ² /day IV weekly for 4 weeks. The treatment was then repeated every month.	Start: 3–9 weeks after first immunotherapy cycle (with steroid or IVIg).	Remission of seizures in 8/12 patients at 6 months; seizures reduction > 50% in 1/12 patient; no clinical change in 3/12 patients.	Infusion-related reactions (headache, dizziness, chest discomfort) ( $n = 2$ ); rash with pruritus 24h after the infusion ( $n = 1$ ). This patient discontinued the treatment.

effects of the treatment. Although none of the patients became seizure-free, five patients were considered as responders and another one experienced a transitory improvement in frequency of seizures. In three of the five patients, a stabilization of cognitive decline was observed and two patients had improvement of their motor deficiencies. According to the authors, the response to the treatment seemed to occur more likely in slowly progressive forms of RE and patients with concomitant autoimmune diseases (uveitis and juvenile arthritis). None of the responders underwent hemispherectomy, considering the absence of a severe motor and cognitive deficit. On the other hand, three patients experienced a severe progression of the disease, with the requirement of hemispherectomy. Concerning safety, in 1 patient adalimumab was discontinued due to an elevation of creatine kinase levels and another patient showed a superficial skin infection that did not require interruption of the treatment and was successfully controlled with a local antiseptic (127).

# Systematic Literature Review: Anti-CD20 Agents and Epilepsy

# Study Selection

Overall a total of 232 references were identified during the initial electronic search, 82 of which were marked as not eligible by automation tools because published before 1 January 2016 and/or not in English language. A total of 150 potentially eligible studies were selected. Among these, 128 were excluded for irrelevancy after a screening of the titles and abstracts (**Figure 6**). After a full-text assessment of the remaining 22 studies, eight of them resulted eligible and were therefore included in this review (124, 128–134). Six publications were case reports and two were prospective studies.

#### Results

A total of 26 patients with different epileptic disorders were included in this review (Table 5). The median age of the patients was 32 years (range 11-72). The patients suffered from RE (n = 3) and from AE due to anti-NMDAR (n = 11), anti-LGI1 (n = 5), anti-voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCC) antibodies (n = 1), or onconcural antibodies (anti-Ma2/Ta) (n= 1). Four patients presented a cryptogenic RSE. The posology of rituximab was variable within the different cases and in one case it was not specified (Table 5). For all patients, rituximab was started as second-line immunotherapy after the administration of IVIg and steroids. The timing of administration was variable and, given the heterogeneity of the diseases, it is difficult to determine homogeneous timepoints of reference for all the patients. Overall, the treatment with rituximab was effective in abolishing or significantly reducing the burden of seizures in 16/26 patients (61,5%), while in 10/26 patients, the therapy was ineffective. One patient with RE underwent functional hemispherectomy with remission of seizures (132). As discussed in Section Results, the six patients from the cohort of Jun et al. received Tocilizumab with the resolution of status epilepticus (124). Of the three patients in the study of Byun et al. that did not show a clinical change in the course of their disease after the administration of rituximab, one deceased for reasons not related to the therapy itself (128). The two others continued to

epilepticus; RE, Rasmussen encephalitis; SRSE, super-refractory status epilepticus; VGCC, voltage-gated calcium channel.

One patient suffered from anti-WMDAR encephalitis, in the other cases the disease was cryptogenic. AE in these patients was due to anti-NMDAR (n = 8), anti-LG/1 (n = 3), and anti-Ma2/7a (n = 1).



show seizures and there is no mention of additional treatments. Data concerning the behavioral, cognitive, and motor outcomes were available for seven patients (130–134). An improvement was reported in six patients and in five of them the behavioral and cognitive functions were restored to premorbid condition. One patient with RE, albeit improved, showed residual motor and speech dysfunctions (130). In another case, the administration of rituximab resulted ineffective. Finally, only one patient had to discontinue the therapy due to a cutaneous rash associated with pruritus that appeared 24 h after the administration (128). Two other patients experienced mild infusion-related reactions and were able to continue the therapy (126). No adverse effects were reported in the other patients.

# Systematic Literature Review: Anti-α4-Integrin Agents and Epilepsy Study Selection

Overall a total of 24 references were identified during the initial electronic search, 12 of which were marked as not eligible by automation tools because published before 1 January 2016 and/or not in English language. A total of 12 potentially eligible studies were selected. Among these, eight were excluded for irrelevancy after a screening of the titles and abstracts (**Figure 7**). After a full-text assessment of the remaining four studies, three of them

resulted ineligible, since the evaluation of seizures frequency and/or severity was not in the outcomes of the studies, or because studies were not concerning patients with RSE or DRE. Therefore, one single study was included in this review, a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blinded study (phase 2 study OPUS, NCT03283371) (135).

### Results

A total of 32 patients with drug-resistant focal epilepsy were included in this review (Table 6). The mean age was 42.8 years  $(\pm 14.56)$ . All patients received natalizumab 300 mg IV every 4 weeks for 24 weeks. The timing of administration was not specified. The primary endpoint of efficacy of the study included was to evaluate the change from baseline in seizure frequency (number of seizures per 28 days) from weeks 8 to 24 of the placebo-controlled period. Overall, the natalizumab-treated group showed a greater reduction in seizure frequency compared to placebo (-14.4%), although the predefined threshold for therapeutic success of 31% relative reduction was not achieved (135). Concerning the secondary endpoints, despite a reduction of  $\geq$  50% in seizure frequency from baseline during weeks 8–24 of treatment in 10/32 participants (31.3% compared to 17.6% of the placebo group), none of the participants that received natalizumab remained free from seizures. Reportedly, one patient experienced an inadequate treatment response and withdrew

References	Disease	N, (age)	Study design	Intervention	Timing	Efficacy	Safety
French et al. (135)	DR	32 [mean 42.8 years (±14.56)]	Randomized, placebo- controlled, double-blinded study	Natalizumab 300 mg IV every 4 weeks for 24 weeks	Start: not specified Stop: 24 weeks after the first dose.	Compared to placebo, the natalizumab-treated group showed a greater reduction in seizure frequency from baseline. 10/32 participants showed a reduction of ≥50% from baseline in seizure frequency during weeks 8–24. None of the participants remained free from seizures. One participant free from seizures an inadequate treatment response (e.g., did not modify ASMs after week 12 of the placebo-controlled period or did not discontinue the treatment after the active run-in period due to lack of efficacy)	24/32 participants experienced adverse effects ranging from mild (15/24), moderate (8/15) and severe (1/32). One participant experienced a serious event (urticaria) and discontinued the treatment.

from the treatment (135). Finally, the exploratory endpoints included change from baseline in frequencies of focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures and focal seizures. Participants of the natalizumab-treated group showed respectively a decrease of 21.34% and an increase of 6.61% in frequency over placebo. The endpoints of the study did not pertain to the motor, behavioral or cognitive outcome of the participants. Concerning safety, although adverse events were reported in 24/32 participants, ranging from mild (15/24) to moderate (8/15) and severe (1/32), only 2/32 showed events of special interest and only one of these participants discontinued the treatment due to urticaria (135).

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This is the first systematic review exploring the use of anticytokine agents and anti-lymphocyte agents in individuals with DRE or RSE. This study has different limitations. Firstly, data on the use of anti-cytokine agents are mostly derived from isolated case reports and case series, with no randomized clinical trials, and the age range of the included patients is considerable. This significantly raises the risk of publication bias, thus favoring the publication of positive reports. Moreover, the administration of concomitant treatments (ASMs, corticosteroids, other immunosuppressive agents) can represent a considerable confounding factor. Therefore, the level of evidence is currently low. However, it is worth highlighting that the administration of anti-IL-1 agents (mainly anakinra) and tocilizumab in patients with severe DRE, such as RSE or FIRES, has shown a reduced seizure burden in most of the described patients, and a good safety profile is usually welltolerated. Particularly, literature data report that more than 50% of the patients with FIRES respond to anakinra, while tocilizumab has been mostly used in patients with NORSE and SRSE showing partial or complete seizure control in almost all the described cases (Figure 8). Therefore, despite the mentioned limitations of this work, literature data suggest considering anti-IL-1 or anti-IL-6 therapeutic approaches in these conditions. Data on the use of adalimumab in patients with RE encourage further studies to assess whether this drug or other TNF-inhibitors could be effective in the treatment of those forms of RE refractory to other immunotherapies, but without the criteria for a surgical approach. Selected patients, like those with slowly progressive forms, may benefit from treatment with Anti TNF-α agents, while less is known regarding their use in other forms of epilepsy since the literature is scarce and studies on animal models are limited. Apart from the effect on seizures, anti-cytokine agents could significantly affect also motor, behavioral, and cognitive recovery, although this outcome has been heterogeneously reported in the different studies, with only four studies analyzing specific scales (110, 122, 124, 127). Notably, the serum and CSF cytokine profile was determined in <50% of the included patients. Although this investigation is not part of routine clinical practice (difficulty of interpretation, limited availability) the increasing knowledge of the involvement of cytokines in DRE and RSE could lead to a more diffuse use of this dosage, to provide a therapeutic strategy targeted on the main mediator involved in the individual patient.

The administration of Rituximab resulted to be effective in the majority of patients with DRE and RSE, with a more conspicuous

**TABLE 6** | Systematic review of anti- $\alpha$ 4-integrin agents in epilepsy

Costagliola et al.

ASM, anti-seizure medication; DRE, drug-resistant epilepsy; IV, intravenous.



response in individuals affected by AE-related seizures. Once more, a possible limitation and source of bias comes from the fact that studies concerning the use of Rituximab consit mainly in case reports or case series. This may also be the cause of the considerable heterogeneity in the timing and posology of the treatment that was evidenced. Future studies in this field should prioritize the definition of an appropriate treatment regimen.

Although targeting the leukocyte extravasation to brain parenchyma appeared to be a creditable therapeutic opportunity for patients with intractable epilepsy, the results of a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study showed that the administration of natalizumab did not significantly change seizure frequency in adults with drug-resistant focal epilepsy (135). Future trials, with a larger sample size, may overcome the limits of this latter study in detecting statistically significant differences.

# OTHER INFLAMMATORY TARGETS AND EPILEPSY: FUTURE THERAPEUTIC PERSPECTIVES

Preclinical research is focusing on the identification of novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of neuroinflammation. In this regard, the role of agents targeting the human high-mobility group box-1 (HMGB-1) and chemokines are of particular interest. HMGB-1, a regulator of gene transcription and DNA remodeling/repair (136), mediates inflammatory responses *via* interactions with the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and toll-like receptor (TLR) 4. It promotes the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) and acts as a key initiator of inflammation particularly within the brain (136–138). Anti-HMGB1 mAbs have proven to be effective in different mouse models of epilepsy (138–140), reducing

also the chronic inflammatory pathways (upregulation of inflammation-related genes, microglial activation, and neuronal cell death). Chemokines are involved at different levels in CNS homeostasis, and have been implicated in the pathogenesis of different CNS diseases, including epilepsy (26, 141). In animal models of epilepsy, the administration of a CCL2 transcription inhibitor (Bindarit) or a selective antagonist of the CCR2 receptor (RS102895) suppressed the LPS-induced seizure enhancement (142, 143). Additionally, CX3CL1/CX3CR1 and the CC-chemokine receptor CCR5, widely expressed in the CNS microglia, have been implicated in the pathogenesis of epilepsy and represent other potential therapeutic targets (144–147). Overall, these findings, albeit resulting form preclinical experiments, might build the basis for new therapeutic strategies in the upcoming years.

# **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

The involvement of the immune and inflammatory response in the pathogenesis of DRE and RSE are being progressively elucidated, leading to the increasing use of anti-cytokine agents in the treatment of these conditions. The experience with anti-IL-1, anti-IL-6, and anti-TNF drugs in the treatment of epilepsy is still limited and derives mostly from the observation of isolated case reports or small case series. In this work, we performed a systematic review that, despite the low evidence reached, showed promising results regarding the use of anti-cytokine agents in specific patients with DRE and RSE in terms of both efficacy and safety.

Beyond these anti-cytokine agents, there is increasing interest in the use of drugs targeting cells of adaptive immunity. The experience in the use of rituximab in RSE and DRE is fragmentary and there is a lack of a uniform regimen of treatment but this drug resulted to be effective in the major part of patients. Concerning the employment of natalizumab, the experience is limited to a single study that did not evidence a significant advantage in patients with DRE receiving the treatment.

Hopefully, preclinical research advances will allow the identification of new therapeutic strategies targeting neuroinflammation in epilepsy, and the collection of a larger number of clinical data will help in identifying those patients who will benefit from anti-cytokine treatments.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

### REFERENCES

- Behr C, Goltzene MA, Kosmalski G, Hirsch E, Ryvlin P. Epidemiology of epilepsy. *Rev Neurol.* (2016) 172:27–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2015.11.003
- Scheffer IE, French J, Hirsch E, Jain S, Mathern GW, Moshé SL, et al. Classification of the epilepsies: New concepts for discussion and debate-Special report of the ILAE Classification Task Force of the Commission for Classification and Terminology. *Epilepsia Open.* (2016) 1:37–44. doi: 10.1002/epi4.5
- Fisher RS. The new classification of seizures by the International League Against Epilepsy 2017. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. (2017) 17:48. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0758-6
- Kalilani L, Sun X, Pelgrims B, Noack-Rink M, Villanueva V. The epidemiology of drug-resistant epilepsy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:2179–93. doi: 10.1111/epi.14596
- Kwan P, Arzimanoglou A, Berg AT, Brodie MJ, Hauser WA, Mathern G, et al. Definition of drug-resistant epilepsy: consensus proposal by the *ad-hoc* Task Force of the ILAE Commission on Therapeutic Strategies. *Epilepsia*. (2010) 51:1069–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02397.x
- Téllez-Zenteno JF, Hernández-Ronquillo L, Buckley S, Zahagun R, Rizvi S. A validation of the new definition of drug-resistant epilepsy by the International League Against Epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:829– 34. doi: 10.1111/epi.12633
- Trinka E, Cock H, Hesdorffer D, Rossetti AO, Scheffer IE, Shinnar S, et al. A definition and classification of status epilepticus-report of the ILAE Task Force on Classification of Status Epilepticus. *Epilepsia*. (2015) 56:1515– 23. doi: 10.1111/epi.13121
- Fisher RS, Acevedo C, Arzimanoglou A, Bogacz A, Cross JH, Elger CE, et al. ILAE official report: a practical clinical definition of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:475–82. doi: 10.1111/epi.12550
- Esposito S, Principi N, Calabresi P, Rigante D. An evolving redefinition of autoimmune encephalitis. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2019) 18:155–63. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2018.08.009
- Orsini A, Foiadelli T, Carli N, Costagliola G, Masini B, Bonuccelli A, et al. Rasmussen's encephalitis: from immune pathogenesis towards targetedtherapy. *Seizure*. (2020) 81:76–83. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2020.07.023
- Hirsch LJ, Gaspard N, van Baalen A, Nabbout R, Demeret S, Loddenkemper T, et al. Proposed consensus definitions for new-onset refractory status epilepticus (NORSE), febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome (FIRES), and related conditions. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:739–44. doi: 10.1111/epi.14016
- 12. Samanta D, Al Khalili Y. Electrical status epilepticus in sleep. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing (2021).
- Vossler DG, Bainbridge JL, Boggs JG, Novotny EJ, Loddenkemper T, Faught E. Treatment of refractory convulsive status Ep: a comprehensive review by the American Epilepsy Society Treatments Committee. *Epilepsy Curr*. (2020) 20:245–64. doi: 10.1177/1535759720928269

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GC, GD, and AM: study design, data collection, statistical analysis, data interpretation, manuscript preparation, and literature search. TF, AO, DP, and AB: study design, data interpretation, and manuscript revision. PS, GM, SS, and RC: study design, supervision, and manuscript revision. AR: data collection, statistical analysis, data interpretation, and manuscript preparation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Italian Ministry of Health-Ricerca Corrente 2021 and the DINOGMI, Department of Excellence of MIUR 2018–2022.

- DiSabato DJ, Quan N, Godbout JP. Neuroinflammation: the devil is in the details. J Neurochem. (2016) 139(Suppl.2):136–53. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13607
- Heida JG, Pittman QJ. Causal links between brain cytokines and experimental febrile convulsions in the rat. *Epilepsia*. (2005) 46:1906– 13. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005.00294.x
- van Vliet EA, Aronica E, Vezzani A, Ravizza T. Review: neuroinflammatory pathways as treatment targets and biomarker candidates in epilepsy: emerging evidence from preclinical and clinical studies. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* (2018) 44:91–111. doi: 10.1111/nan.12444
- Orsini A, Foiadelli T, Costagliola G, Michev A, Consolini R, Vinci F, et al. The role of inflammatory mediators in epilepsy: focus on developmental and epileptic encephalopathies and therapeutic implications. *Epilepsy Res.* (2021) 172:106588. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2021.106588
- Greco A, Rizzo MI, De Virgilio A, Conte M, Gallo A, Attanasio G, et al. Autoimmune epilepsy. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:221–5. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015.11.007
- Nosadini M, Granata T, Matricardi S, Freri A, Ragona F, Papetti L, et al. Relapse risk factors in anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2019) 61:1101–7. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14267
- Prinz M, Jung S, Priller J. Microglia biology: one century of evolving concepts. Cell. (2019) 179:292–311. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.053
- Garaschuk O, Verkhratsky A. Physiology of microglia. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2019) 2034:27–40. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9658-2_3
- Ransohoff RM, Schafer D, Vincent A, Blachère NE, Bar-Or A. Neuroinflammation: ways in which the immune system affects the brain. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2015) 12:896–909. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0385-3
- de Vries EE, van den Munckhof B, Braun KP, van Royen-Kerkhof A, de Jager W, Jansen FE. Inflammatory mediators in human epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 63:177– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.02.007
- Hulkkonen J, Koskikallio E, Rainesalo S, Keranen T, Hurme M, Peltola J. The balance of inhibitory and excitatory cytokines is differently regulated *in vivo* and *in vitro* among therapy resistant epilepsy patients. *Epilepsy Res.* (2004) 59:199–205. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2004.04.007
- Vitaliti G, Pavone P, Marino S, Saporito MAN, Corsello G, Falsaperla R. Molecular mechanism involved in the pathogenesis of early-onset epileptic encephalopathy. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2019) 12:118. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2019.00118
- Cerri C, Caleo M, Bozzi Y. Chemokines as new inflammatory players in the pathogenesis of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2017) 136:77–83. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2017.07.016
- Yazdi AS, Ghoreschi K. The interleukin-1 family. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2016) 941:21–9. doi: 10.1007/978-94-024-0921-5_2
- 28. Zhu L, Liu X, Nemeth DP, DiSabato DJ, Witcher KG, Mckim DB, et al. Interleukin-1 causes CNS inflammatory cytokine expression *via*

endothelia-microglia bi-cellular signaling. Brain Behav Immun. (2019) 81:292-304. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.06.026

- Lamkanfi M, Dixit VM. Inflammasomes and their roles in health and disease. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. (2012) 28:137– 61. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101011-155745
- Gabay C, Lamacchia C, Palmer G. IL-1 pathways in inflammation and human diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol. (2010) 6:232– 41. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2010.4
- Li G, Bauer S, Nowak M, Norwood B, Tackemberg B, Rosenow F, et al. Cytokines and epilepsy. Seizure. (2011) 20:249–56. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2010.12.005
- Vezzani A, Viviani B. Neuromodulatory properties of inflammatory cytokines and their impact on neuronal excitability. *Neuropharmacology*. (2015) 96:70–82. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.10.027
- Jesus AA, Goldbach-Mansky R. IL-1 blockade in autoinflammatory syndromes. Annu Rev Med. (2014) 65:223– 44. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-061512-150641
- Dinarello CA. Treatment of inflammatory diseases with IL-1 blockade. Curr Otorhinolaryngol Rep. (2018) 6:1–14. doi: 10.1007/s40136-018-0181-9
- Cavalli G, Dinarello CA. Anakinra therapy for non-cancer inflammatory diseases. Front Pharmacol. (2018) 9:1157. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.01157
- Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2014) 6:a016295. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a016295
- Erta M, Quintana A, Hidalgo J. Interleukin-6, a major cytokine in the central nervous system. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2012) 8:1254–66. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.4679
- 38. Lorigados Pedre L, Morales Chacón LM. Follow-up of peripheral IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 and relation with apoptotic death in drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy patients submitted to surgery. *Behav Sci.* (2018) 8:21. doi: 10.3390/bs8020021
- Sheppard M, Laskou F, Stapleton PP, Hadavi S, Dasgupta B. Tocilizumab (Actemra). *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2017) 13:1972–88. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1316909
- Lapides DA, McDonald MM. Inflammatory manifestations of systemic diseases in the central nervous system. *Curr Treat Options Neurol.* (2020) 22:26. doi: 10.1007/s11940-020-00636-2
- Costagliola G, Cappelli S, Consolini R. Behçet's disease in children: diagnostic and management challenges. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2020) 16:495–507. doi: 10.2147/TCRM.S232660
- Boyce EG, Rogan EL, Vyas D, Prasad N, Mai Y. Sarilumab: review of a second IL-6 receptor antagonist indicated for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Pharmacother*. (2018) 52:780–91. doi: 10.1177/1060028018761599
- Crisafulli S, Isgrò V, La Corte L, Atzeni F, Trifirò G. Potential role of anti-interleukin (IL)-6 drugs in the treatment of COVID-19: rationale, clinical evidence and risks. *BioDrugs.* (2020) 34:415– 22. doi: 10.1007/s40259-020-00430-1
- Lieberman AP, Pitha PM, Shin HS, Shin ML. Production of tumor necrosis factor and other cytokines by astrocytes stimulated with lipopolysaccharide or a neurotropic virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1989) 86:6348– 52. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.16.6348
- MacEwan DJ, TNF. receptor subtype signalling: differences and cellular consequences. *Cell Signal.* (2002) 14:477– 92. doi: 10.1016/S0898-6568(01)00262-5
- Vezzani A, Aronica E, Mazarati A, Pittman QJ. Epilepsy and brain inflammation. *Exp Neurol.* (2013) 244:11– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.09.033
- 47. Stellwagen D, Beattie EC, Seo JY, Malenka RC. Differential regulation of AMPA receptor and GABA receptor trafficking by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Neurosci. (2005) 25:3219– 28. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4486-04.2005
- Schäfers M, Sorkin L. Effect of cytokines on neuronal excitability. *Neurosci* Lett. (2008) 437:188–93. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.03.052
- Mayhan WG. Cellular mechanisms by which tumor necrosis factor-alpha produces disruption of the blood-brain barrier. *Brain Res.* (2002) 927:144–52. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(01) 03348-0
- 50. De Simoni MG, Perego C, Ravizza T, Moneta D, Conti M, Marchesi F, et al. Inflammatory cytokines and related genes are induced in the rat

hippocampus by limbic status epilepticus. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2000) 12:2623–33. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2000.00140.x

- Akassoglou K, Probert L, Kontogeorgos G, Kollias G. Astrocyte-specific but not neuron-specific transmembrane TNF triggers inflammation and degeneration in the central nervous system of transgenic mice. *J Immunol.* (1997) 158:438–45.
- Turrin NP, Rivest S. Innate immune reaction in response to seizures: implications for the neuropathology associated with epilepsy. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2004) 16:321–34. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2004.03.010
- Yamamoto A, Schindler CK, Murphy BM, Bellver-Estelles C, So NK, Taki W, et al. Evidence of tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 signaling in human temporal lobe epilepsy. *Exp Neurol.* (2006) 202:410–20. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2006.07.003
- Wallach D, Varfolomeev EE, Malinin NL, Goltsev YV, Kovalenko AV, Boldin MP. Tumor necrosis factor receptor and Fas signaling mechanisms. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (1999) 17:331–67. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.331
- Salfeld J, Kaymakcalan Z, Tracey D, Roberts A, Kamen R. Generation of fully human anti-TNF antibody D2E7. Arthritis Rheum. (1998) 41:S57.
- Tracey D, Klareskog L, Sasso EH, Salfeld JG, Tak PP. Tumor necrosis factor antagonist mechanisms of action: a comprehensive review. *Pharmacol Ther*. (2008) 117:244–79. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2007.10.001
- 57. van Oosten BW, Barkhof F, Truyen L, Boringa JB, Bertelsmann FW, von Blomberg BM, et al. Increased MRI activity and immune activation in two multiple sclerosis patients treated with the monoclonal anti-tumor necrosis factor antibody cA2. *Neurology*. (1996) 47:1531–4. doi: 10.1212/WNL47.6.1531
- The Lenercept Multiple Sclerosis Study Group, The University of British Columbia MS/MRI Analysis Group. TNF neutralization in MS: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled multicenter study. *Neurology*. (1999) 53:457–65. doi: 10.1212/WNL.53.3.457
- Berrios I, Jun-O'Connell A, Ghiran S, Ionete C. A case of neurosarcoidosis secondary to treatment of etanercept and review of the literature. *BMJ Case Rep.* (2015) 2015:208188. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2014-208188
- Grau RG. Drug-induced vasculitis: new insights and a changing lineup of suspects. Curr Rheumatol Rep. (2015) 17:71. doi: 10.1007/s11926-015-0545-9
- Gherghel N, Stan A, Stan H. Pearls and Oy-sters: rheumatoid meningitis occurring during treatment with etanercept. *Neurology*. (2018) 91:806– 8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006397
- Kastrup O, Diener HC. TNF-antagonist etanercept induced reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome. J Neurol. (2008) 255:452– 3. doi: 10.1007/s00415-008-0732-y
- Yamamoto M, Takahashi H, Wakasugi H, Sukawa Y, Saito M, Suzuki C, et al. Leukoencephalopathy during administration of etanercept for refractory rheumatoid arthritis. *Mod Rheumatol.* (2007) 17:72–4. doi: 10.3109/s10165-006-0530-2
- 64. Shin IS, Baer AN, Kwon HJ, Papadopoulos EJ, Siegel JN. Guillain-Barré and Miller Fisher syndromes occurring with tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonist therapy. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2006) 54:1429–34. doi: 10.1002/art.21814
- Yokoyama W, Takada K, Miyasaka N, Kohsaka H. Myelitis and optic neuritis induced by a long course of etanercept in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis. *BMJ Case Rep.* (2014) 2014:bcr-2014-205779. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2014-205779
- Simsek I, Erdem H, Pay S, Sobaci G, Dinc A. Optic neuritis occurring with anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha therapy. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2007) 66:1255–8. doi: 10.1136/ard.2006.066787
- Kameda T, Dobashi H, Kittaka K, Susaki K, Hosomi N, Deguchi K, et al. A case of rheumatoid arthritis complicated by demyelination in both cerebral cortex and spinal cord during etanercept therapy. *Mod Rheumatol.* (2008) 18:399–402. doi: 10.3109/s10165-008-0062-z
- Sammut L, Wallis D, Holroyd C. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy associated with infliximab. J R Coll Physicians Edinb. (2016) 46:163–5. doi: 10.4997/JRCPE.2016.305
- Mohan N, Edwards ET, Cupps TR, Oliverio PJ, Sandberg G, Crayton H, et al. Demyelination occurring during anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy for inflammatory arthritides. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2001) 44:2862–9. doi: 10. 1002/1529-0131(200112)44:12<2862::AID-ART474>3.0.CO;2-W
- Kemanetzoglou E, Andreadou E, CNS. Demyelination with TNF-α blockers. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2017) 17:36. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0742-1

- Sedger LM, McDermott MF. TNF and TNF-receptors: from mediators of cell death and inflammation to therapeutic giants - past, present and future. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2014) 25:453–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2014.07.016
- Robinson WH, Genovese MC, Moreland LW. Demyelinating and neurologic events reported in association with tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonism: by what mechanisms could tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonists improve rheumatoid arthritis but exacerbate multiple sclerosis? *Arthritis Rheum.* (2001) 44:1977–83. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(200109)44:9<1977::AID-ART345>3.0.CO;2-6
- 73. Mausner-Fainberg K, Regev K, Kolb H, Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Karni A. Increased neutralization capacity of TNF- $\alpha$  in sera of relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis patients is not related to soluble TNF- $\alpha$  receptors or anti-TNF- $\alpha$  autoantibody levels. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2015) 286:83–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2015.07.005
- Arulsamy A, Shaikh MF. Tumor necrosis factor-α, the pathological key to post-traumatic epilepsy: a comprehensive systematic review. ACS Chem Neurosci. (2020) 11:1900–8. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00301
- Carson MJ, Doose JM, Melchior B, Schmid CD, Ploix CC. CNS immune privilege: hiding in plain sight. *Immunol Rev.* (2006) 213:48– 65. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00441.x
- Wilson EH, Weninger W, Hunter CA. Trafficking of immune cells in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest. (2010) 120:1368–79. doi: 10.1172/JCI41911
- Vezzani A, Lang B, Aronica E. Immunity and inflammation in epilepsy. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2015) 6:a022699. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a022699
- 78. Yamanaka G, Morichi S, Takamatsu T, Watanabe Y, Suzuki S, Ishida Y, et al. Links between immune cells from the periphery and the brain in the pathogenesis of epilepsy: a narrative review. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:94395. doi: 10.3390/ijms22094395
- Wiendl H, Bien CG, Bernasconi P, Fleckenstein B, Elger CE, Dichgans J, et al. GluR3 antibodies: prevalence in focal epilepsy but no specificity for Rasmussen's encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2001) 57:1511–4. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.8.1511
- Steinman L. Autoimmune disease. Sci Am. (1993) 269:106– 14. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican0993-106
- Zuliani L, Graus F, Giometto B, Bien C, Vincent A. Central nervous system neuronal surface antibody associated syndromes: review and guidelines for recognition. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2012) 83:638– 45. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2011-301237
- Bernal F, Graus F, Pifarré A, Saiz A, Benyahia B, Ribalta T. Immunohistochemical analysis of anti-Hu-associated paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2002) 103:509–15. doi: 10.1007/s00401-001-0498-0
- 83. Xu D, Robinson AP, Ishii T, Duncan DS, Alden TD, Goings GE, et al. Peripherally derived T regulatory and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have opposing roles in the pathogenesis of intractable pediatric epilepsy. *J Exp Med.* (2018) 215:1169– 86. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171285
- Neumann H, Cavalié A, Jenne DE, Wekerle H. Induction of MHC class I genes in neurons. *Science*. (1995) 269:549–52. doi: 10.1126/science.7624779
- Alexopoulos H, Biba A, Dalakas MC. Anti-B-cell therapies in autoimmune neurological diseases: rationale and efficacy trials. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2016) 13:20–33. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0402-6
- Pescovitz MD. Rituximab, an anti-cd20 monoclonal antibody: history and mechanism of action. *Am J Transplant.* (2006) 6:859–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01288.x
- Chisari CG, Sgarlata E, Arena S, Toscano S, Luca M, Patti F. Rituximab for the treatment of multiple sclerosis: a review. J Neurol. (2021) 2021:1– 25. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10362-z
- Savasta S, Foiadelli T, Vegezzi E, Cortese A, Lozza A, Pichiecchio A, et al. Efficacy of rituximab as third-line therapy in combined central and peripheral demyelination. *Neurol Clin Pract.* (2017) 2017:534– 7. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.00000000000388
- Nepal G, Shing YK, Yadav JK, Rehrig JH, Ojha R, Huang DY, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in autoimmune encephalitis: a meta-analysis. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2020) 142:449–59. doi: 10.1111/ane.13291

- Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangué T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- Baroncini D, Spagnolo F, Sarro L, Comi G, Volonte MA. A complex case of anti-GAD antibody-related syndrome treated with Rituximab. *Neurol Sci.* (2013) 34:1847–9. doi: 10.1007/s10072-013-1327-7
- Foiadelli T, Gastaldi M, Scaranzin S, Franciotta D, Savasta S. Seizures and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies: two paradigmatic cases and a review of the literature. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 41:102011. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102011
- Brown JW, Martin PJ, Thorpe JW, Michell AW, Coles AJ, Cox AL, et al. Long-term remission with rituximab in refractory leucine-rich glioma inactivated 1 antibody encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol. (2014) 271:66– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.03.012
- Thilo B, Stingele R, Knudsen K, Boor R, Bien CG, Deuschl G, et al. A case of Rasmussen encephalitis treated with rituximab. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2009) 5:458–62. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2009.98
- Caraballo RH, Reyes G, Lopez Avaria MF, Buompadre MC, Gonzales M, Fortini S, et al. Febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome: a study of 12 patients. *Seizure*. (2013) 22:553–9. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2013.04.005
- Rudick R, Polman C, Clifford D, Miller D, Steinman L. Natalizumab: bench to bedside and beyond. J Am Med Assoc Neurol. (2013) 70:172– 82. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.598
- Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E, Hutchinson M, Kappos L, Miller DH, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (2006) 354:899–910. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa044397
- Kebir H, Carmant L, Fontaine F, Béland K, Bosoi CM, Sanon NT, et al. Humanized mouse model of Rasmussen's encephalitis supports the immunemediated hypothesis. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:2000–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI97098
- Bittner S, Simon OJ, Gobel K, Bien CG, Meuth SG, Wiendl H. Rasmussen encephalitis treated with natalizumab. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:395– 7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31829c5ceb
- 100. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Int J Surg.* (2021) 88:105906. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2021.105906
- 101. Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ*. (2016) 355:i4919. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i4919
- Murad MH, Sultan S, Haffar S, Bazerbachi F. Methodological quality and synthesis of case series and case reports. *BMJ Evid Based Med.* (2018) 23:60–3. doi: 10.1136/bmjebm-2017-110853
- Goldet G, Howick J. Understanding GRADE: an introduction. J Evid Based Med. (2013) 6:50–4. doi: 10.1111/jebm.12018
- 104. Berger JR, Markowitz C, Merkel PA, Kolster RA, Mourelatos Z. Multifocal neutrophilic meningoencephalitis: a novel disorder responsive to anakinra. J Neurol. (2021) 268:2995–9. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10431-x
- 105. Sa M, Singh R, Pujar S, D'Arco F, Desai N, Eltze C, et al. Centromedian thalamic nuclei deep brain stimulation and Anakinra treatment for FIRES - two different outcomes. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2019) 23:749– 54. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2019.08.001
- 106. Yang JH, Nataraj S, Sattar S. Successful treatment of pediatric FIRES with Anakinra. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2021) 114:60– 1. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2020.10.009
- 107. Kern-Smith E, Chen DF, Koh S, Dutt M. The cat's out of the bag: a rare case of new-onset refractory status epilepticus (NORSE) due to Bartonella henselae. *Seizure*. (2020) 81:241–3. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2020.08.006
- 108. Dilena R, Mauri E, Aronica E, Bernasconi P, Bana C, Cappelletti C, et al. Therapeutic effect of Anakinra in the relapsing chronic phase of febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome. *Epilepsia Open*. (2019) 4:344– 50. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12317
- 109. Jyonouchi H, Geng L. Resolution of EEG findings and clinical improvement in a patient with encephalopathy and ESES with a combination of immunomodulating agents other than corticosteroids: a case report. *Epilepsy Behav Rep.* (2020) 14:100379. doi: 10.1016/j.ebr.2020.100379

- Lai YC, Muscal E, Wells E, Shukla N, Eschbach K, Lee KH, et al. Anakinra usage in febrile infection related epilepsy syndrome: an international cohort. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2020) 7:2467–74. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51229
- Westbrook C, Subramaniam T, Seagren RM, Tarula E, Co D, Furstenberg-Knauff M, et al. Febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome treated successfully with Anakinra in a 21-year-old woman. WMJ. (2019) 118:135–9.
- 112. Kenney-Jung DL, Vezzani A, Kahoud RJ, LaFrance-Corey RG, Ho ML, Muskardin TW, et al. Febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome treated with anakinra. *Ann Neurol.* (2016) 80:939–45. doi: 10.1002/ana.24806
- DeSena AD, Do T, Schulert GS. Systemic autoinflammation with intractable epilepsy managed with interleukin-1 blockade. J Neuroinflammation. (2018) 15:38. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1063-2
- 114. Stredny CM, Case S, Sansevere AJ, Son M, Henderson L, Gorman MP. Interleukin-6 blockade with tocilizumab in anakinra-refractory febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome (FIRES). (2020) 7:2329048x20979253. doi: 10.1177/2329048x20979253
- 115. Mochol M, Taubøll E, Sveberg L, Tennøe B, Berg Olsen K, Heuser K, et al. Seizure control after late introduction of anakinra in a patient with adult onset Rasmussen's encephalitis. *Epilepsy Behav Rep.* (2021) 16:100462. doi: 10.1016/j.ebr.2021.100462
- 116. Choi CH, Ma SH, Ma KK, Leung H, Mok VC. Super-refractory status epilepticus in autoimmune encephalitis treated with interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, anakinra. *Epileptic Disord.* (2021) 23:500–5. doi: 10.1684/epd.2021.1283
- 117. Magro CM, Halteh P, Olson LC, Kister I, Shapiro L. Linear scleroderma "en coup de sabre" with extensive brain involvement-clinicopathologic correlations and response to anti-interleukin-6 therapy. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* (2019) 14:110. doi: 10.1186/s13023-019-1015-7
- 118. Donnelly JP, Kasatwar N, Hafeez S, Seifi A, Gilbert A, Barthol C, et al. Resolution of cryptogenic new onset refractory status epilepticus with tocilizumab. *Epilepsy Behav Rep.* (2021) 15:100431. doi: 10.1016/j.ebr.2021.100431
- Osminina M, Geppe N, Afonina E. Scleroderma "en coup de sabre" with epilepsy and uveitis successfully treated with tocilizumab. *Reumatol Clin.* (2020) 16:356–8. doi: 10.1016/j.reuma.2018.05.001
- 120. Jaafar F, Haddad L, Koleilat N, Sharara-Chami R, Shbarou R. Super refractory status epilepticus secondary to anti-GAD antibody encephalitis successfully treated with aggressive immunotherapy. *Epilepsy Behav Rep.* (2020) 14:100396. doi: 10.1016/j.ebr.2020.100396
- 121. Cantarín-Extremera V, Jiménez-Legido M, Duat-Rodríguez A, García-Fernández M, Ortiz-Cabrera NV, Ruiz-Falcó-Rojas ML, et al. Tocilizumab in pediatric refractory status epilepticus and acute epilepsy: experience in two patients. J Neuroimmunol. (2020) 340:577142. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.577142
- 122. Benucci M, Tramacere L, Infantino M, Manfredi M, Grossi V, Damiani A, et al. Efficacy of tocilizumab in limbic encephalitis with anti-CASPR2 antibodies. *Case Rep Neurol Med.* (2020) 2020:5697670. doi: 10.1155/2020/5697670
- 123. Vallecoccia MS, Martinotti A, Siddi C, Dominedò C, Cingolani E. Use of unconventional therapies in super-refractory status epilepticus: a case report and literature review. *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2020) 2020:1550059420975612. doi: 10.1177/1550059420975612
- Jun JS, Lee ST, Kim R, Chu K, Lee SK. Tocilizumab treatment for new onset refractory status epilepticus. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 84:940– 5. doi: 10.1002/ana.25374
- 125. Lee WJ, Lee ST, Shin YW, Lee HS, Shin HR, Kim DY, et al. Teratoma removal, steroid, IVIG, rituximab and tocilizumab (T-SIRT) in anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2020) 18:474–87. doi: 10.1007/s13311-020-00921-7
- 126. Lee WJ, Lee ST, Moon J, Sunwoo JS, Byun JI, Lim JA, et al. Tocilizumab in autoimmune encephalitis refractory to rituximab: an institutional cohort study. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2016) 13:824–32. doi: 10.1007/s13311-016-0442-6
- 127. Lagarde S, Villeneuve N, Trébuchon A, Kaphan E, Lepine A, McGonigal A, et al. Anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy (adalimumab) in Rasmussen's encephalitis: an open pilot study. *Epilepsia.* (2016) 57:956–66. doi: 10.1111/epi.13387
- 128. Byun JI, Lee ST, Jung KH, Sunwoo JS, Moon J, Lim JA, et al. Effect of immunotherapy on seizure outcome in patients with autoimmune

encephalitis: a prospective observational registry study. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0146455. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146455

- 129. Timarova G, Lisa I, Kukumberg P. Long-term effect of rituximab in a case with late-onset Rasmussen's encephalitis with anti-ganglioside IgGQ1b and anti-GAD antibodies positivity. *Case Report Neuro Endocrinol Lett.* (2016) 37:179–83.
- 130. El Tawil S, Morris R, Mullatti N, Nashef L, Rajakulendran S. Adult onset Rasmussen's encephalitis associated with reflex language induced seizures responsive to Rituximab therapy. *Seizure.* (2016) 42:60–2. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2016.09.009
- 131. Schneider R, Brüne M, Breuer TG, Börnke C, Gold R, Juckel G. Early multidisciplinary intensive-care therapy can improve outcome of severe anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis presenting with extreme delta brush. *Transl Neurosci.* (2019) 10:241–3. doi: 10.1515/tnsci-2019-0039
- 132. Sansevere AJ, Henderson LA, Stredny CM, Prabhu SP, Shah A, Sundel R, et al. Posterior-onset Rasmussen's encephalitis with ipsilateral cerebellar atrophy and uveitis resistant to rituximab. *Epilepsy Behav Rep.* (2020) 2020:100360. doi: 10.1016/j.ebr.2020.100360
- Kurukumbi M, Dave RH, Castillo J, Shah T, Lau J. Rituximab for autoimmune encephalitis with epilepsy. *Case Rep Neurol Med.* (2020) 2020:5843089. doi: 10.1155/2020/5843089
- 134. Cheli M, Dinoto A, Tommasini V, Ajčević M, Stella G, Catalan M, et al. Efficacy of rituximab on seizure control and cognitive symptoms in leucine-rich, glioma-inactivated 1 (LGI1) limbic encephalitis: a highdensity electroencephalography case study. *Epileptic Disord*. (2020) 22:678– 82. doi: 10.1684/epd.2020.1213
- 135. French JA, Cole AJ, Faught E, Theodore WH, Vezzani A, Liow K, et al. Safety and efficacy of natalizumab as adjunctive therapy for people with drug-resistant epilepsy: a phase 2 study. *Neurology*. (2021) 97:e1757– e67. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012766
- Musumeci D, Roviello GN, Montesarchio D. An overview on HMGB1 inhibitors as potential therapeutic agents in HMGB1-related pathologies. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2014) 141:347–57. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.11.001
- Wang S, Zhang Y. HMGB1 in inflammation and cancer. J Hematol Oncol. (2020) 13:116. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00950-x
- 138. Paudel YN, Shaikh MF, Chakraborti A, Kumari Y, Aledo-Serrano A, Aleksovska K, et al. HMGB1: a common biomarker and potential target for TBI, neuroinflammation, epilepsy, and cognitive dysfunction. *Front Neurosci.* (2018) 12:628. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00628
- 139. Fu L, Liu K, Wake H, Teshigawara K, Yoshino T, Takahashi H, et al. Therapeutic effects of anti-HMGB1 monoclonal antibody on pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:1179. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01325-y
- 140. Zhao J, Wang Y, Xu C, Liu K, Wang Y, Chen L, et al. Therapeutic potential of an anti-high mobility group box-1 monoclonal antibody in epilepsy. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 64:308–19. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.02.002
- 141. Cartier L, Hartley O, Dubois-Dauphin M, Krause KH. Chemokine receptors in the central nervous system: role in brain inflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Res Rev.* (2005) 48:16– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.07.021
- 142. Foresti ML, Arisi GM, Katki K, Montanez A, Sanchez RM, Shapiro LA. Chemokine CCL2 and its receptor CCR2 are increased in the hippocampus following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2009) 6:40. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-6-40
- 143. Cerri C, Genovesi S, Allegra M, Pistillo F, Püntener U, Guglielmotti A, et al. The chemokine CCL2 mediates the seizure-enhancing effects of systemic inflammation. J Neurosci. (2016) 36:3777–88. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0451-15.2016
- 144. Louboutin JP, Strayer DS. Relationship between the chemokine receptor CCR5 and microglia in neurological disorders: consequences of targeting CCR5 on neuroinflammation, neuronal death and regeneration in a model of epilepsy. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. (2013) 12:815– 29. doi: 10.2174/18715273113126660173
- 145. Xu Y, Zeng K, Han Y, Wang L, Chen D, Xi Z, et al. Altered expression of CX3CL1 in patients with epilepsy and in a rat model. Am J Pathol. (2012) 180:1950–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012. 01.024

- 146. Limatola C, Ransohoff RM. Modulating neurotoxicity through CX3CL1/CX3CR1 signaling. Front Cell Neurosci. (2014) 8:229. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00229
- 147. Pawelec P, Ziemka-Nalecz M, Sypecka J, Zalewska T. The impact of the CX3CL1/CX3CR1 axis in neurological disorders. *Cells.* (2020) 9:2277. doi: 10.3390/cells9102277

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Costagliola, Depietri, Michev, Riva, Foiadelli, Savasta, Bonuccelli, Peroni, Consolini, Marseglia, Orsini and Striano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Anti-Epileptic Effect of Crocin on Experimental Temporal Lobe Epilepsy in Mice

Kai Zhong^{1†}, Chengyu Qian^{1†}, Rui Lyu¹, Xinyi Wang¹, Zhe Hu¹, Jie Yu², Jing Ma^{3*} and Yilu Ye^{1*}

¹Department of Pharmacology, School of Basic Medical Sciences and Forensic Medicine, Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, China, ²College of Basic Medical Science, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China, ³Department of Pharmacy, Xinhua Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Hongliu Sun, Binzhou Medical University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Ying Wang, Qingdao University, China Xin Tian, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, China

#### *Correspondence:

Jing Ma majing@xinhuamed.com.cn Yilu Ye yeyilu1006@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuropharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 12 August 2021 Accepted: 01 March 2022 Published: 31 March 2022

#### Citation:

Zhong K, Qian C, Lyu R, Wang X, Hu Z, Yu J, Ma J and Ye Y (2022) Anti-Epileptic Effect of Crocin on Experimental Temporal Lobe Epilepsy in Mice. Front. Pharmacol. 13:757729. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.757729 Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is a common kind of refractory epilepsy. More than 30% TLE patients were multi-drug resistant. Some patients may even develop into status epilepticus (SE) because of failing to control seizures. Thus, one of the avid goals for anti-epileptic drug development is to discover novel potential compounds to treat TLE or even SE. Crocin, an effective component of Crocus sativus L., has been applied in several epileptogenic models to test its anti-epileptic effect. However, it is still controversial and its effect on TLE remains unclear. Therefore, we investigated the effects of crocin on epileptogenesis, generalized seizures (GS) in hippocampal rapid electrical kindling model as well as SE and spotaneous recurrent seizure (SRS) in pilocarpine-induced TLE model in ICR mice in this study. The results showed that seizure stages and cumulative afterdischarge duration were significantly depressed by crocin (20 and 50 mg/kg) during hippocampal rapid kindling acquisition. And crocin (100 mg/kg) significantly reduced the incidence of GS and average seizure stages in fully kindled animals. In pilocarpine-induced TLE model, the latency of SE was significantly prolonged and the mortality of SE was significantly decreased by crocin (100 mg/kg), which can also significantly suppress the number of SRS. The underlying mechanism of crocin may be involved in the protection of neurons, the decrease of tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  in the hippocampus and the increase of brain derived neurotrophic factor in the cortex. In conclusion, crocin may be a potential and promising anti-epileptic compound for treatment of TLE.

#### Keywords: temporal lobe epilepsy, crocin, kindling, pilocarpine, spontaneous recurrent seizure

# INTRODUCTION

Although several new anti-epileptic drugs (AEDs) have been developed, still 30% patients (even 75% in mesial TLE) remain resistant to many kinds of AEDs and gradually progress to refractory epilepsy (Wang et al., 2018; Wang and Chen, 2019; Xu et al., 2021a). Some patients may even develop into status epilepticus (SE) because of failing to control seizures. For these patients, epileptic foci resection surgery is an available treatment; however, it is not suitable for many cases due to unacceptable neurological or cognitive impairments (Wang et al., 2021). Therefore, it is essential for seeking novel effective AEDs.

Natural products from traditional Chinese medicine have emerged to be a promising choice for the treatment of epilepsy. Several natural products have been reported to be effective on experimental

epilepsy and associated neurobehavioral comorbidities (Sucher and Carles, 2015; Bo-Qiang et al., 2018). Saffron, the dried stigmas of Crocus sativus L. (Iridaceae), is being widely used in traditional medicine for a wide variety of neurological conditions (Singh, 2015). Crocin is considered as one of the main effective components of saffron with a low toxicity (Bostan et al., 2017). Extensive preclinical and clinical studies about its traditional use have been reported, such as anti-inflammation (Teng et al., 2021), anti-tumor (Mousavi et al., 2009), sedation and hypnosis (Masaki et al., 2012), anti-depression (Amin et al., 2015), anti-anxiety (Pitsikas et al., 2008) and anti-Parkinson's disease (Rao et al., 2016). Several papers also reported its antiepileptic activity in experimental epilepsy. Tamaddonfard et al. (2012) found crocin significantly inhibits epileptiform activities induced by penicillin. Recently, Mazumder et al. (2017) also reported that crocin can attenuate pentylenetetrazole (PTZ) kindling development. However, Hosseinzadeh and Talebzadeh (2005) found crocin is ineffective on PTZ induced seizures. Based on this controversy, it is necessary to further evaluate the antiepileptic effect of crocin in more epileptic models (Alavizadeh and Hosseinzadeh, 2014).

In previous report, we have found that low-dose crocin can retard the progression in hippocampus rapid kindling acquisition in C57BL/6J mice, while high-dose crocin relieved the generalized seizures (GS) in fully-kindled mice (Wang et al., 2017a). The results suggested that the crocin may have a potential antiepileptic effect in experimental TLE. However, two questions are still unclear. The first one is that the most patients suffer the spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS), while the effect of crocin on SRS is still unknown. A pilocarpine model of mice, which is considered to mimic SE and SRS of patients, is always utilized to study the epileptogenesis and screen new AEDs (Zhong et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2016). So we first aim to investigate the antiepileptic effect of crocin on the SE and SRS in pilocarpineinduced model in the present study. The second one is that although several hypotheses on the underlying anti-epileptic target of the crocin have been provided by some reports, it remains not very clear (Ahmed et al., 2020). Based on our preliminary findings, we speculate that brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), or some inflammatory factors, such as interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ (TNF-a), may be potential targets for the anti-epileptic effect of crocin. Hence, we also aim to explore the underlying antiepileptic target of crocin in this study.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Animals

Male ICR mice were purchased from Shanghai SLAC Laboratory Animal Co., Ltd., weighing 25–35 g, raised at the Laboratory Animal Center of Hangzhou Medicine College. Mice were housed in individual cages with a 12-h light/dark cycle (lights on from 08: 00 to 20:00). Water and food were provided ad libitum. Experiments were carried out between 10:00 and 17:00 in each day. All experiments were approved by the Hangzhou Medicine College Animal Experimentation Committee and were in complete compliance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

### Surgery

Under 1% pentobarbital sodium anesthesia (40 mg/kg, i.p.), mice were mounted in a stereotaxic apparatus (512600, Stoelting, United States). Electrodes were implanted into the right hippocampus (AP: -2.9 mm, L: -3.0 mm, V: -3.0 mm) (Zhao et al., 2020). The electrodes were made of twisted stainless steel Teflon-coated wires (diameter 0.2 mm, A.M. Systems, United States) insulated except at the tip (0.5 mm); the tip separation was about 0.5 mm. The electrodes were connected to a miniature receptacle, which was attached to the skull with dental cement. After surgery, mice were allowed 7 days of recovery.

# Hippocampal Rapid Electrical Kindling Procedure

As described by the previous papers (Jin et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2017b), electrical stimulations were delivered by a constantcurrent stimulator (SEN-7203, SS-202J, Nihon Kohden, Japan) and electroencephalograms (EEG) were recorded with a Neuroscan system (Compumedics, Melbourne, Australia). The afterdischarge threshold (ADT) was determined by an application of a 2 s train of 1 ms monophasic square-waves at 20 Hz, beginning at 40  $\mu$ A and increasing by 20% which were given at 1 min intervals until an electrographic afterdischarge (AD) lasting at least 5 s was elicited. Only the animals with an ADT less than 400  $\mu$ A can be used for following experiments. Six hippocampal kindling stimulations (1 ms pulses, 20 Hz frequency, 2 s duration) at 30 min intervals with an intensity of 400  $\mu$ A daily were delivered for 8 days.

Behavioral seizures were scored according to Racine's scale (Racine, 1972), as modified for the mouse: stage 0, no response or behavior arrest; stage 1, chewing or facial twitches; stage 2, chewing and head nodding; stage 3, unilateral forelimb clonus; stage 4, bilateral forelimb clonus and rearing; stage 5, rearing and falling. Seizure stages 1–3 indicate focal seizures, while stages 4–5 are considered as GS (Engel et al., 1978). When mice exhibited three consecutive stage 5 seizures, they were regarded as fully kindled. In addition, the AD duration (ADD) was recorded as well.

# Assessment of the Effects of Crocin on Kindling Acquisition

Mice were randomly divided into four groups matched for their ADTs. The initial ADTs of most mice ranged from 100 to 200  $\mu$ A, thus there was no significant variability in the initial ADTs of mice in each group. In group 1–3, 10, 20 or 50 mg/kg crocin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was respectively delivered i.p. 30 min prior the first electrical stimulation (methods and parameters were described above) of each day. In group 4, equivalent 0.9% saline (NS) was instead delivered as a vehicle control. Schematic timeline of the experiment is shown as **Figure 1A**. Seizure stages were recorded by two experimenters



who were blinded to the grouping and drug delivery after each stimulation. ADD was subsequently calculated according to EEG recorded as described above. The number of stimulations required to reach and remain at each seizure stage was also calculated to analyze the stepwise progression of kindling seizures (Jin et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2020).

# Assessment of the Effects of Crocin on Fully Kindled GS

The post-kindled ADT of fully kindled mice (without any drug during kindling) was determined by the same procedure used for kindling ADT. On the next day, mice were divided into four groups. In group 1–3, 20, 50 or 100 mg/kg crocin (i.p.) was delivered 30 min prior the once-daily electrical stimulation (parameters were described above) for 10 days. In group 4, equivalent NS was instead delivered as a vehicle control. Schematic timeline of the experiment is shown as **Figure 1B**. The seizure stage and ADD were measured by the same procedures used for kindling seizures. GS duration (GSD) was also calculated from the onset to the termination of GS. In

addition, the incidence of GS and average seizure stage during 10 days were calculated (Wang et al., 2017a).

# Assessment of the Effects of Crocin on Pilocarpine-Induced SE

Schematic timeline of the experiment is shown as Figure 1C. Mice with electrodes implantation at the hippocampus were randomly divided into four groups. Scopolamine methobromide (1 mg/kg, i.p., Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was administrated 30 min before SE induction and then crocin (50, 100 or 200 mg/kg, i.p) or equivalent NS was given 20 min prior to pilocarpine. Pilocarpine (350 mg/kg, i.p., Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was administrated to induce SE. When mice exhibited continuous tonic-clonic seizures and epileptic spikes in EEG, usually following with stage 4-5 seizures, they were defined as the onset of SE. The surviving mice with SE lasting at least 45 min were followed by diazepam (5 mg/kg, i.p. KingYork, TianJin, China) to terminate the SE (Curia et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2020). The mice, which did not experience stage 4 or 5 seizures following the pilocarpine injection or did not maintain the seizure intensity (less than 3 times stage 4 or 5 seizures in 45 min) were excluded. The latency of SE and the mortality of mice in each group were recorded by two experimenters who were blinded to the grouping and drug delivery.

# Assessment of the Effects of Crocin on Pilocarpine-Induced SRS

Schematic timeline of the experiment is shown as Figure 1D. SE was induced by pilocarpine as described above. After termination with diazepam, surviving mice were rehydrated with NS (4 ml/kg, i.p.) and given special care for the next 7 days by feeding powdered feed and water (i.g. if necessary). The untreated group was given an equal volume of NS instead of pilocarpine, and the rest of the operation was performed as above. From day 8 after induction of SE, SRS of the surviving mice were recorded by EEG-video for 6 h daily (11:00-17:00). SRS was defined as repetitive epileptic spikes with a frequency >5 Hz and a duration >20 s on EEGs recorded by a Powerlab system (AD Instruments, Bella Vista, Australia), accompanied by a stage 4 or 5 behavioural seizure, which was assessed by synchronous video recordings (Curia et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2020). The mice with SRS divided into three groups: NS, sodium valproate (VPA, 200 mg/kg, i.p.) and crocin (100 mg/kg, i.p.) group. Drugs were administrated once daily for 35 days from the observation of the first SRS and an equal volume of NS intraperitoneally was injected into the mice of NS group. The mice in the untreated group were also subjected to the abovementioned video recording and NS injection. The number of SRS, the duration of each seizure and the seizure stage were measured. The seizure stage was also referenced to the Racine score (Racine, 1972). Some mice, which experienced SE but never observed SRS during the observation period, were not significantly different in seizure severity during SE compared with SRS mice, and were divided into the non-SRS group (nSRS) as a control group in subsequent experiments.

# **Open Field Test**

The OFT method refers to our previous study (Ye et al., 2017). Briefly, the mice were habituated the laboratory environment 1 day before OFT. Next day, mice was gently placed into the center of the OFT chamber ( $40 \text{ cm} \times 40 \text{ cm} \times 40 \text{ cm}$ , Xinruan, Shanghai, China). Each mouse was allowed to habituate the chamber for 5 min, and then allowed to move freely for 5 min with video recording. The total travelling distance, the travelling distance in the central zone and the duration in the central zone were measured. OFT, which was performed on the same mice as the previous study of SRS, was respectively examined before the pilocarpine-induced SE and after completing all drugs administration.

# **Novel Object Recognization Test**

The NORT method refers to our previous study (Zhong et al., 2020). Briefly, the mice were habituated the laboratory environment 1 day before NORT. Next day, mice was gently placed into the center of the NORT chamber ( $40 \text{ cm} \times 40 \text{ cm} \times 10^{-1} \text{ cm} \times 1$ 

40 cm, Xinruan, Shanghai, China). Each mouse was allowed to habituate the chamber for 5 min, and then two identical objects F1 and F2 were placed in the two opposite corners of the field. Then, free movement of each mouse was recorded for 5 min (Test 1, T1), followed by returning the mouse to the cage. After 90 min, F2 was replaced with a new object N (different color from F2), and the mouse was placed into the chamber again for 5 min (Test 2, T2). The behavior of each mouse in T1 and T2 were recorded by video and the software of the NORT chamber was used to analyze the duration of exploring the three objects, and the distance from the tip of the mouse's nose to the object  $\leq 2 \text{ mm}$ was identified as the criterion for exploratory behavior. Discrimination ratio (DR) and discrimination index (DI) was calculated with the following formula. DR = [N or F2/(N or F2 +F1)] × 100%. DI = [(N or F2 - F1)/(N or F2 + F1)]. N, F1, and F2 in the above equations are the duration of exploring each object, respectively. NORT, which was performed on the same mice as the previous study of SRS, was respectively examined before the pilocarpine-induced SE and after completing all drugs administration as well.

# **Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay**

After the last behavioral test, half of the mice in each group were anesthetized with 1% pentobarbital sodium anesthesia (40 mg/kg, i.p.). Then the animals were sacrificed and the brain tissues were quickly removed. The left and right cortex and hippocampus were separated on the ice, weighed and homogenized in NS at a ratio of 1:9 (w/v), centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 20 min. Then, the supernatants were extracted. The commercially available ELISA kits (Elabscience Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Wuhan, China) for BDNF, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  were used to detect the contents of the three molecules according to the instructions.

# Histology and Neuronal Damage Examination

After the last behavioral test, the other half of the mice in each group were anesthetized with 1% pentobarbital sodium anesthesia (40 mg/kg, i.p.). The animals were sacrificed and the brain tissues were removed following with perfusion through the left ventricle with NS for 20 min and 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 min. The brain tissues were merged in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 h, and dehydrated with 30% sucrose solution for 2–3 d. The sections were sliced with a thickness of 12  $\mu$ m on a frozen microtome. After dried, the slices were stained with 1% cresyl violet, and graded with 0.5% hydrochloric acid alcohol, 70%, 90% and 100% alcohol. After decolorization, sealing solution (neutral gum: xylene = 1:1) was used to seal the slices and the hippocampal area was photographed with microscope to compare the neuronal damage in the same area of mice in each group.

At the end of the experiments, electrode placements were histologically verified as well. Brain sections were cut  $(10 \,\mu\text{m})$  and stained with toluidine blue O. Only the mice with electrodes correctly lying within the hippocampus were included in the statistical analysis. In our experiments, 184 out of 217 mice had electrodes correctly located in the target.



FIGURE 2 | Effects of crocin on hippocampal rapid kindling acquisition (n = 8 for each group, X±S:E.M.). (A) Average seizure stage; (B) cumulative ADD of six stimulations each day; (C) the number of stimulations to reach seizure stage 3, 4, 5; (D) the number of stimulations to stay in seizure stage 0–2 and 3–5 during kindling acquisition; (E) Number of stage 4–5 seizures in the 8th day. ADD, afterdischarge duration; NS, normal saline; VPA, sodium valproate. Values are from 3 independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, compared with NS group. Two-way ANOVA was performed for (A,B). Comparisons of the number of stimulations for each seizure stage (C,D) were made with the nonparametric Mann–Whitney U test. One-way ANOVA for repeated measures was used followed by Tukey's t-test for (E).

### **Statistical Analysis**

The statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 17.0 software. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed for repeated measures in the analysis of group differences in kindling and fully kindled model. Comparisons of the number of stimulations for each seizure stage were made with the nonparametric Mann–Whitney U test. The  $\chi$ 2 test was used to compare the incidence of GS and the mortality of pilocarpine-induced SE. Two-way ANOVA was also performed in the analysis of OFT and NORT data. One-way ANOVA was used with Tukey's t-test in the analysis of other data. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of mean (S.E.M.). p < 0.05 indicates a statistical significance.

### RESULTS

# Crocin Retards the Kindling Acquisition in ICR Mice

Compared with the NS group, 20 and 50 mg/kg crocin significantly retarded the progression of the daily average seizure stages (p < 0.05, both, **Figure 2A**) and shortened the cumulative ADD per day (p < 0.01 and p < 0.05, **Figure 2B**). In **Figure 2B**, 20 mg/kg crocin seemed to be more efffective on reducing the cumulative ADD than 50 mg/kg crocin, although there was not a significant difference. These effects were comparable to that of the positive drug VPA (p <

0.01 and p < 0.05, **Figures 2A,B**). Although the effect of 10 mg/kg crocin was yet not significant, it seemed to be a tendency to retard kindling acquisition in the late period of kindling.

To further analyze the possible therapuetic window of crocin, we also calculated the number of stimulations required to each stage and stayed in each stage. Both 20 and 50 mg/kg crocin increased the number of stimulations required to reach the stage 4 (*p* < 0.05, both, **Figure 2C**) and 5 (*p* < 0.01, both, **Figure 2C**); meanwhile, the number of stimulations in stage 0-2 was increased (p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, Figure 2D) and the number of stimulations in stage 3–5 was relatively decreased (p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, Figure 2D) in 20 and 50 mg/kg crocin group, compared with the NS group. 20 mg/kg crocin also increased the number of stimulations required to reach stage 3 (p < 0.01, Figure 2C). In the last 6 kindling stimulations during the last day, the number of stage 4-5 seizures in 20 and 50 mg/kg crocin group was significantly decreased (p < 0.01 and p < 0.05, Figure 2E), compared with the NS group. These data suggested that crocin may retard the progression of epilepsy in ICR mice.

# Crocin Alleviates the Fully Kindled GS in ICR Mice

Compared with the NS group, 100 and 200 mg/kg crocin can significantly reduce the incidence of GS (p < 0.001, both,



**Figure 3A**) and suppress the average seizure stage (p < 0.001, both, **Figure 3B**), but it did not affect average GSD (p > 0.05, **Figure 3C**) or average ADD (p > 0.05, **Figure 3D**). 50 mg/kg crocin only suppressed the average seizure stage (p < 0.01, **Figure 3B**). However, compared with the VPA group, the inhibitory effect of crocin was relatively weaker (p < 0.001, **Figures 3A,B** and p < 0.01, **Figure 3D**). In addition, neither unexpected behavior nor abnormal EEG was induced by crocin (even the highest dose reached 200 mg/kg) in these mice during the 10 days. These data suggested that crocin at high dose may have an inhibitory effect on the fully kindled GS in ICR mice.

# Crocin Inhibits the Pilocarpine-Induced SE and SRS in ICR Mice

To confirm the effect of crocin on SE and SRS, we used the pilocarpine-induced SE and SRS model. In SE model, 100 mg/kg crocin significantly prolonged the latency of SE induced by pilocarpine (p < 0.05, **Figure 4A**) and reduced the mortality of SE (p < 0.001, **Figure 4B**), compared with the NS group. These effects were comparable to that of the positive drug VPA. 200 mg/kg crocin reduced the mortality of SE (p < 0.01,

**Figure 4B**), however, 50 mg/kg crocin did not appear any significant effect. In SRS model, compared with the NS group, 100 mg/kg crocin significantly reduced the number of SRS (p < 0.001, **Figure 4C**), which was similar with positive drug VPA (p < 0.001, **Figure 4C**). VPA and 200 mg/kg crocin can reduce mean duration of SRS (p < 0.05, **Figure 4E**). However, neither crocin nor VPA could reduce the mean seizure stage (p > 0.05, **Figure 4D**). These data suggested that crocin at high dose may alleviate SE and SRS.

# Crocin May Not Improve the Cognitive Behaviors After SRS in ICR Mice

To investigate the effect of crocin on the improvement of cognitive function after SRS in mice, NORT was examined. OFT was also performed to assess the movement ability of mice in each group. In the OFT, representative tracks of each group were shown in **Figure 5A**. The total travelling distance of SRS mice in NS group significantly increased (p < 0.05, **Figure 5B**), compared with that in nSRS group. VPA can significantly decrease the total travelling distance (p < 0.01, **Figure 5B**), compared with that in NS group and crocin



(100 mg/kg) had a tendency towards decrease but still higher than that in the VPA group (p < 0.05, **Figure 5B**). The movement distance of mice in the central zone after SRS in NS group was significantly increased than that in nSRS group (p < 0.05, **Figure 5C**). It was significantly reversed in the VPA group (p < 0.001, **Figure 5C**), and 100 mg/kg crocin had a tendency of decline (p > 0.05, **Figure 5C**), compared to the NS group but significantly higher than that in the VPA group (p < 0.01, **Figure 5C**). Similarily, the duration that mice stayed in the central zone after SRS in NS group was significantly increased than that in nSRS group (p < 0.05, **Figure 5D**) and it was only reversed in the VPA group (p < 0.05, **Figure 5D**). These data suggested that the movement of mice may increase after SRS due to their high excitability and VPA but not crocin (100 mg/kg) can significantly reverse the increase.

In the NORT, representative tracks of each group were shown in **Figure 5E**. As shown, both crocin and VPA had a tendency to improve the DI of mice that suffered SRS, but neither one showed a significant difference (p > 0.05, **Figure 5G**) and they did not improve the DR as well (p > 0.05, **Figure 5F**). These data suggested that crocin at 100 mg/kg may not improve the cognitive behaviors after SRS.

# Crocin Decreases the Loss of Neurons in the Hippocampus After SRS in ICR Mice

To verify whether crocin has a mitigating effect on neuronal damage after SRS, the neurons in the hippocampus of mice in

each group were stained and observed in this experiment. Mice in the NS group showed the loss of neuron in both CA3 and CA1 regions of the right and left hippocampus (Figures 6C,H,M,R), compared to the naïve (Figures 6A,F,K,P) and nSRS group (Figures 6B,G,L,Q); while VPA (Figures 6D,I,N,S) and 100 mg/kg crocin (Figures 6E,J,O,T) treatment ameliorated the neuronal damage. The quantification analysis also showed that the number of survival neurons in the NS group significantly decreased after SRS, compared with that in the naïve group (p <0.01 in left and right CA3, p < 0.05 in left CA1, p < 0.001 in right CA1, Figures 6U–X) as well as that in nSRS group (p < 0.05 in right CA3, Figure 6V; *p* < 0.01 in right CA1, Figure 6X). In VPA and crocin (100 mg/kg) group, more neurons survived in left CA3 (p < 0.05 for both VPA and crocin, Figure 6U), right CA3 (p < 0.05 for both VPA and crocin, Figure 6U)0.05 for both VPA and crocin, **Figure 6V**), left CA1 (p < 0.05 for crocin, **Figure 6W**) and right CA1 (p < 0.001 for VPA, p < 0.01for crocin, Figure 6X) region of the hippocampus after SRS, compared with that in the NS group. These data suggested that crocin at 100 mg/kg may protect the neurons in CA3 and CA1 region of the hippocampus after SRS.

# Effects of Crocin on the Concentration of BDNF, IL-1 $\beta$ and TNF- $\alpha$ in Brain Tissues of ICR Mice

To investigate whether the underlying target of crocin is concerned with BDNF, IL-1 $\beta$  or TNF- $\alpha$ , ELISA method was used to measure the concentration of them in the



**FIGURE 5** [Effects of crocin on the behaviors of mice in OFT and NORT (n = 7 for each group, x±S.E.M.). (**A**) representative tracks of mice in OFT; (**B**) total travelling distance of mice in OFT; (**C**) movement distance of mice in center zone in OFT; (**D**) duration of mice staying in center zone in OFT; (**E**) representative tracks of mice in NORT (blue boxes mark the location of old object and green boxes mark the location of novel object); (**F**) DR of mice in each group; (**G**) DI of mice in each group. OFT, the open field test; NORT, the novel object recognization test; DR, discrimination ratio; DI, discrimination index; SE, status epilepticus; SRS, spontaneous recurrent seizures; nSRS, non-SRS; NS, normal saline; VPA, sodium valproate. Values are from 3 independent experiments. *p < 0.05, compared with nSRS group; #p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, compared with VPA group. Two-way ANOVA was performed for (**B,C,D,F,G**).



hippocampus and cortex after SRS. Compared with the NS group, 100 mg/kg crocin increased the BDNF concentration in the cortex of SRS mice (p < 0.05, **Figure 7D**), but failed to increase the BDNF concentration in the hippocampus (p >0.05, **Figure 7A**). In addition, It had little effect on the concentration of IL-1 $\beta$  (p > 0.05, **Figures 7B,E**) in the hippocampus and cortex; however, there was a decrease in the concentration of TNF- $\alpha$  in hippocampus (p < 0.05, **Figure 7C**). These data suggested that crocin at 100 mg/kg may reduce the concentration of TNF- $\alpha$  in hippocampus and increase the concentration of BDNF in the cortex.

# DISCUSSION

In the present study, we mainly found that crocin can alleviate the kindling acquisition and expression in hippocampal rapid electrical kindling model and could suppress the pilocarpine-induced SE and SRS in mice. The protective effect of crocin on neuronal damage may be involved in the inhibition of experimental epilepsy; while the alteration of the concentration of TNF- $\alpha$  in hippocampus and the concentration of BDNF in the cortex may also be one of underlying mechanisms for the anti-epileptic activity of crocin. These results suggested that crocin is

effective on the treatment of experimental TLE in mice and it may be a potential anti-epileptic drug.

In our previous study, we have found that crocin has an inhibitory effect on the hippocampal rapid electrical kindling seizures in C57BL/6J mice (Wang et al., 2017a). However, due to the high mortality of the C57BL/6J mice in pilocarpine-induced SRS model, we have to use ICR mice in this study instead. Therefore, we first assessed the effect of crocin on hippocampal rapid electrical kindling seizures in ICR mice to clarify whether or not its effects were strain-specificial. The results illustrated that crocin can alleviate the kindling acquisition and expression in hippocampal rapid electrical kindling model of ICR mice (**Figures 2**, **3**), in accordance with the previous results in C57BL/6J mice (Wang et al., 2017a), which means the effects of crocin are not strain-specificial and it can significantly inhibit the electrical kindling-induced experimental TLE.

In the past researches, the anticonvulsant effects of crocin are controversial. Hosseinzadeh and Talebzadeh (2005) found that crocin did not exhibit anti-epileptic activity against PTZ-induced acute seizure, however, Mazumder et al. (2017) found that crocin can retard the epileptogensis in a PTZ-kindling model of mice. In addition, Tamaddonfard et al. (2012) found that crocin had a significant inhibitory effect on penicillin-induced epileptiform activities. We speculated that there may be two causes for these



contradictory results. First, different models of epilepsy were chosen so that the effect of crocin is inconsistent in previous studies, which may suggest the effects of crocin on epilepsy have model selectivity. As the effect of crocin in spontaneous seizure models, which are considered to simulate the characteristics of spontaneous epilepsy in clinic, has not been investigated in previous studies, we mainly use a pilocarpine-induced SRS model to assess the effect of crocin in our present study. The results showed that 100 mg/kg crocin can significantly reduce the number of SRS (Figure 4) and the loss of neuron in the hippocampus (Figure 6), and 200 mg/kg crocin can reduce mean duration of SRS (Figure 4). These data suggested that crocin may be effective against the spontaneous seizures. Second, most previous studies used minor doses or short-term administration (Tamaddonfard et al., 2012; Alavizadeh and Hosseinzadeh, 2014), which may imply that the effect of be limited by insufficient number of crocin may administration or dose of crocin. Therefore, the long-term administration of crocin (daily for 35 days) and higher doses were also chosen in our present study. As we expected, the longterm administration of crocin can inhibit the pilocarpine-induced SRS, however, higher dose (100 mg/kg) rather than the highest dose of crocin showed more effective on pilocarpine-induced SE and SRS. One possible explanation is that crocin has been

reported to have multiple acting targets including antiinflammation, BDNF, and apoptosis etc. (Hosseinzadeh and Talebzadeh, 2005; He et al., 2016; Mazumder et al., 2017; Rana and Musto, 2018; Teng et al., 2021). Due to the multiple targets, different treatment doses may activate different targets and pathways, which may cause the anti-epileptic effect of crocin lacks significant dose-dependence. In addition, the activation of multiple targets may also explain why crocin is effective against multiple types of epileptic model, such as electrical kindling (Figures 2, 3), PTZ kindling (Mazumder et al., 2017), pilocarpine-induced SE and SRS (Figure 4). At present, our data indicated that 100 mg/kg crocin may be the optimal dose and the long-term administration of crocin may be important for inhibiting the SRS. Meanwhile, the animals with crocin did not show any significant behavioral abnormalities during the 35 days, which may be a preliminary evidence of the safety of long-term administration of crocin. In general, our findings provide new and strong evidences to support the view that crocin is effective on epilepsy and it may be a promising anti-epileptic compound, which is worthy of further translational medicine research.

Due to the observed loss of neurons in the hippocampus of SRS mice (**Figure 6**), we also examined the behaviors of mice in each group by OFT and NORT to observe the influence of the neural damage and possible improvement effect of crocin. In

OFT, the activity of SRS mice significantly increased, which may result from the increase in excitability after SRS. VPA can reduce the activity and crocin just has a tendency to reduce the distance of movement in the central zone (**Figure 5**). In NORT, there were no significant differences in DR and DI among the mice in each group. These data indicated that the crocin may have a weak role of improvement the cognitive behaviors after SRS. We guess that the severity of neuronal damage caused by a few times of SRS was not sufficient to lead to significant cognitive impairment in the mice in this experiment, which is a possible explanation for this result.

The anti-epileptic mechanism of crocin is still unclear. It was thought to be related to enhancement of benzodiazepine receptor system and y-aminobutyric acid in several previous researches (Mazumder et al., 2017; Rana and Musto, 2018), however, it still exists controversial. For example, the effect of crocin was comparable with diazepam in one report (Rana and Musto, 2018); while diazepam but not equivalent dose crocin was effective on seizures in another report (Hosseinzadeh and Noraei, 2009). So it is probably that there exist other underlying anti-epileptic mechanisms of crocin. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a small (14 kD) secreted protein that binds to the ectodomain of its cognate receptor, tyrosin kinase receptor B (TrkB) and low affinity neurotrophic factor receptor. BDNF-TrkB receptor pathway, which plays a major role in triggering a series of downstream cascade reactions, is considered to be closely related with epilepsy (Unsain et al., 2009; Heinrich et al., 2011). As we previously found, crocin can significantly promote the secretion of BDNF in the hippocampus of rats with cerebral ischemia (He et al., 2016). To confirm whether or not crocin can increase the level of BDNF, we measured the concentration of BDNF in hippocampal and cortical regions of mice. Unexpected, it was found that crocin significantly increased the concentration of BDNF in the cortex, but not the hipocampus, of the SRS mice, compared with the NS group (Figure 7). According to previous reports, BDNF plays an important role in the development of epilepsy and is closely related to neuronal survival and apoptosis, brain function and behavior, and synaptic plasticity (Chao, 2003). In recent years, BDNF has also been found to play a role in formation of epilepsy (Walczak et al., 2013). Some studies suggest that BDNF may facilitate or inhibit the process of epilepsy formation (Hong et al., 2013; Chiu et al., 2019), but its exact role and potential mechanisms remain unclear. Pallavi Sharma et al. suggested that the effect of changes in BDNF content on epilepsy formation depends on the brain region where the change occurs and the timing of BDNF cascade pathway activation (Sharma et al., 2019). The results of our experiments support this view. Hence, we hypothesize that increase of BDNF content in the cortex may have an epileptic suppressive effect, and the exact mechanism needs to be further investigated.

In addition, a large number of research reports have already pointed out a correlation between epilepsy and intracranial inflammatory responses (Choi et al., 2009; Riazi et al., 2010; Davis and Dalmau, 2013), where acute or chronic inflammation triggers changes in the content of certain cytokines at specific sites, ultimately leading to neurological dysfunction such as abnormal neuronal excitability, neuronal degeneration and epilepsy (Samland et al., 2003). There are also corresponding immunosuppressive therapies targeting certain inflammatory factors in clinical practice (Vezzani and Baram, 2007). It has been suggested (Dupuis and Auvin, 2015; Dey et al., 2016) that altered levels of inflammatory mediators in the brain will lead to hyperexcitability or damage of neurons and eventually lead to seizures. Then, repeated seizures in turn increase the excitability of neurons to aggravate their damage and death, both of which form a vicious circle and may be a cause of epileptogensis. Similar phenomena have also been found in various SRS animal models. For example, elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , etc., have also been found in the experimental SRS (Shen et al., 2019; Suleymanova, 2021). Based on the above findings, this experiment examined the levels of two proinflammatory cytokines, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , in the hippocampus and cortex. The results showed that the levels of TNF- $\alpha$  in the hippocampus of mice in the crocin group had a decrease, while there was no difference in IL-1β, compared with the NS group (Figure 7). We speculate that crocin may inhibit the inflammatory response through reducing the content of the proinflammatory cytokine TNF-a in the hippocampal region, thus achieving the effect of suppressing epilepsy. This is consistent with the findings of Galic et al. and others (Vezzani and Granata, 2005; Galic et al., 2008; D'Ambrosio et al., 2013), who found that anti-TNF-a monoclonal antibodies blocked the proepileptic effects of lipopolysaccharide; moreover, Choi et al. (2009) demonstrated considerable elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$  in brain tissue of epileptic patients in addition to TNF-a, but these phenomena did not occur in our experiments, which may be related to the regions of the examined brain tissues. In a recent study, elevated levels of IL-1β has also been considered to probably have brain region specificity in a TLE animal model (Xu et al., 2021b). Hence, we will further explore the changes of inflammatory factors in more brain regions in our subsequent experiments. In addition, the relationship between crocin, BDNF and pro-inflammatory cytokines, and whether other signaling molecules are involved in the process also remains to be further investigated.

In conclusion, crocin can significantly retard the progression of epilepsy, alleviate GS and suppress SE and SRS in experimental TLE. Its mechanism may be involved in the protection of neurons, the decrease of TNF- $\alpha$  content in the hippocampus and the increase of BDNF content in the cortex. Thus, crocin may be a potential anti-epileptic compound for treatment of TLE.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusion of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Hangzhou Medicine College Animal Experimentation Committee.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KZ, CQ, RL, XW, and ZH performed experiments and analyzed data. KZ, JM, and YY designed the research and analyzed data. KZ and JY wrote and revised the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by Opening Project of Key Laboratory of Neuropharmacology and Translational Medicine of Zhejiang

### REFERENCES

- Ahmed, S., Hasan, M. M., Heydari, M., Rauf, A., Bawazeer, S., Abu-Izneid, T., et al. (2020). Therapeutic Potentials of Crocin in Medication of Neurological Disorders. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 145, 111739. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2020.111739
- Alavizadeh, S. H., and Hosseinzadeh, H. (2014). Bioactivity Assessment and Toxicity of Crocin: a Comprehensive Review. Food Chem. Toxicol. 64, 65–80. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2013.11.016
- Amin, B., Nakhsaz, A., and Hosseinzadeh, H. (2015). Evaluation of the Antidepressant-like Effects of Acute and Sub-acute Administration of Crocin and Crocetin in Mice. Avicenna J. Phytomed 5 (5), 458–468.
- Bo-Qiang, L., Si-Tong, Z., Zu-Yuan, L., Wan-Yun, N., Bin, C., Yuan, L., et al. (2018). Safranal Carried by Nanostructured Lipid Vehicles Inhibits Generalized Epilepsy in Mice. *Pharmazie* 73 (4), 207–212. doi:10.1691/ph.2018.7310
- Bostan, H. B., Mehri, S., and Hosseinzadeh, H. (2017). Toxicology Effects of Saffron and its Constituents: a Review. *Iran J. Basic Med. Sci.* 20 (2), 110–121. doi:10. 22038/ijbms.2017.8230
- Chao, M. V. (2003). Neurotrophins and Their Receptors: a Convergence point for many Signalling Pathways. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 4 (4), 299–309. doi:10.1038/ nrn1078
- Chen, B., Xu, C., Wang, Y., Lin, W., Wang, Y., Chen, L., et al. (2020). A Disinhibitory Nigra-Parafascicular Pathway Amplifies Seizure in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Nat. Commun.* 11 (1), 923. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-14648-8
- Chiu, K. M., Lin, T. Y., Lee, M. Y., Lu, C. W., Wang, M. J., and Wang, S. J. (2019). Dexmedetomidine Protects Neurons from Kainic Acid-Induced Excitotoxicity by Activating BDNF Signaling. *Neurochem. Int.* 129, 104493. doi:10.1016/j. neuint.2019.104493
- Choi, J., Nordli, D. R., Jr., Alden, T. D., DiPatri, A., Jr., Laux, L., Kelley, K., et al. (2009). Cellular Injury and Neuroinflammation in Children with Chronic Intractable Epilepsy. J. Neuroinflammation 6, 38. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-6-38
- Curia, G., Longo, D., Biagini, G., Jones, R. S., and Avoli, M. (2008). The Pilocarpine Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. J. Neurosci. Methods 172 (2), 143–157. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2008.04.019
- D'Ambrosio, R., Eastman, C. L., Fattore, C., and Perucca, E. (2013). Novel Frontiers in Epilepsy Treatments: Preventing Epileptogenesis by Targeting Inflammation. *Expert Rev. Neurother* 13 (6), 615–625. doi:10.1586/ern.13.54
- Davis, R., and Dalmau, J. (2013). Autoimmunity, Seizures, and Status Epilepticus. Epilepsia 54 (Suppl. 6), 46–49. doi:10.1111/epi.12276
- Dey, A., Kang, X., Qiu, J., Du, Y., and Jiang, J. (2016). Anti-Inflammatory Small Molecules to Treat Seizures and Epilepsy: From Bench to Bedside. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 37 (6), 463–484. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2016.03.001
- Dupuis, N., and Auvin, S. (2015). Inflammation and Epilepsy in the Developing Brain: Clinical and Experimental Evidence. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 21 (2), 141–151. doi:10.1111/cns.12371
- Engel, J., Jr., Wolfson, L., and Brown, L. (1978). Anatomical Correlates of Electrical and Behavioral Events Related to Amygdaloid Kindling. Ann. Neurol. 3 (6), 538–544. doi:10.1002/ana.410030615
- Galic, M. A., Riazi, K., Heida, J. G., Mouihate, A., Fournier, N. M., Spencer, S. J., et al. (2008). Postnatal Inflammation Increases Seizure Susceptibility in Adult Rats. J. Neurosci. 28 (27), 6904–6913. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1901-08.2008

Province, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University (No. 2021E10014), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81402914), and the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (LQ14H310001).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to R. Wang, X. Li and W. Han for their help and guidance with our experiments.

- He, X. K., Ye, Y. L., Pan, B. B., Yu, J., and Liu, D,D. (2016). Effect of Crocin on Neural protection and Neurobehavioral Outcomes in Rats after Focal Cerebral Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. *Chin. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 21 (3), 282–286.
- Heinrich, C., Lähteinen, S., Suzuki, F., Anne-Marie, L., Huber, S., Häussler, U., et al. (2011). Increase in BDNF-Mediated TrkB Signaling Promotes Epileptogenesis in a Mouse Model of Mesial Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 42 (1), 35–47. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.01.001
- Hong, S., Xin, Y., HaiQin, W., GuiLian, Z., Ru, Z., ShuQin, Z., et al. (2013). The PPARγ Agonist Rosiglitazone Prevents Neuronal Loss and Attenuates Development of Spontaneous Recurrent Seizures through BDNF/TrkB Signaling Following Pilocarpine-Induced Status Epilepticus. *Neurochem. Int.* 63 (5), 405–412. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2013.07.010
- Hosseinzadeh, H., and Noraei, N. B. (2009). Anxiolytic and Hypnotic Effect of Crocus Sativus Aqueous Extract and its Constituents, Crocin and Safranal, in Mice. *Phytother Res.* 23 (6), 768–774. doi:10.1002/ptr.2597
- Hosseinzadeh, H., and Talebzadeh, F. (2005). Anticonvulsant Evaluation of Safranal and Crocin from Crocus Sativus in Mice. *Fitoterapia* 76 (7-8), 722–724. doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2005.07.008
- Jin, M., Dai, Y., Xu, C., Wang, Y., Wang, S., and Chen, Z. (2013). Effects of Meclofenamic Acid on Limbic Epileptogenesis in Mice Kindling Models. *Neurosci. Lett.* 543, 110–114. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2013.03.029
- Masaki, M., Aritake, K., Tanaka, H., Shoyama, Y., Huang, Z. L., and Urade, Y. (2012). Crocin Promotes Non-rapid Eye Movement Sleep in Mice. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 56 (2), 304–308. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201100181
- Mazumder, A. G., Sharma, P., Patial, V., and Singh, D. (2017). Crocin Attenuates Kindling Development and Associated Cognitive Impairments in Mice via Inhibiting Reactive Oxygen Species-Mediated NF-Kb Activation. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 120 (5), 426–433. doi:10.1111/bcpt.12694
- Mousavi, S. H., Tavakkol-Afshari, J., Brook, A., and Jafari-Anarkooli, I. (2009). Role of Caspases and Bax Protein in Saffron-Induced Apoptosis in MCF-7 Cells. Food Chem. Toxicol. 47 (8), 1909–1913. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2009.05.017
- Pitsikas, N., Boultadakis, A., Georgiadou, G., Tarantilis, P. A., and Sakellaridis, N. (2008). Effects of the Active Constituents of Crocus Sativus L., Crocins, in an Animal Model of Anxiety. *Phytomedicine* 15 (12), 1135–1139. doi:10.1016/j. phymed.2008.06.005
- Racine, R. J. (1972). Modification of Seizure Activity by Electrical Stimulation. II. Motor Seizure. Electroencephalogr Clin. Neurophysiol. 32 (3), 281–294. doi:10. 1016/0013-4694(72)90177-0
- Rana, A., and Musto, A. E. (2018). The Role of Inflammation in the Development of Epilepsy. J. Neuroinflammation 15 (1), 144. doi:10.1186/s12974-018-1192-7
- Rao, S. V., MuralidharaYenisetti, S. C., Yenisetti, S. C., and Rajini, P. S. (2016). Evidence of Neuroprotective Effects of Saffron and Crocin in a Drosophila Model of Parkinsonism. *Neurotoxicology* 52, 230–242. doi:10.1016/j.neuro. 2015.12.010
- Riazi, K., Galic, M. A., and Pittman, Q. J. (2010). Contributions of Peripheral Inflammation to Seizure Susceptibility: Cytokines and Brain Excitability. *Epilepsy Res.* 89 (1), 34–42. doi:10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.09.004
- Samland, H., Huitron-Resendiz, S., Masliah, E., Criado, J., Henriksen, S. J., and Campbell, I. L. (2003). Profound Increase in Sensitivity to Glutamatergic- but Not Cholinergic Agonist-Induced Seizures in Transgenic Mice with Astrocyte Production of IL-6. J. Neurosci. Res. 73 (2), 176–187. doi:10.1002/jnr.10635
- Sharma, P., Kumar, A., and Singh, D. (2019). Dietary Flavonoids Interaction with CREB-BDNF Pathway: An Unconventional Approach for Comprehensive Management of Epilepsy. *Curr. Neuropharmacol* 17 (12), 1158–1175. doi:10. 2174/1570159X17666190809165549
- Shen, Y., Peng, W., Chen, Q., Hammock, B. D., Liu, J., Li, D., et al. (2019). Antiinflammatory Treatment with a Soluble Epoxide Hydrolase Inhibitor Attenuates Seizures and Epilepsy-Associated Depression in the LiCl-Pilocarpine post-status Epilepticus Rat Model. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 81, 535–544. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2019.07.014
- Singh, D. (2015). Neuropharmacological Aspects of Crocus Sativus L.: A Review of Preclinical Studies and Ongoing Clinical Research. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 14 (7), 880–902. doi:10.2174/1871527314666150303161817
- Sucher, N. J., and Carles, M. C. (2015). A Pharmacological Basis of Herbal Medicines for Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 52 (Pt B), 308–318. doi:10.1016/j. yebeh.2015.05.012
- Suleymanova, E. M. (2021). Behavioral Comorbidities of Epilepsy and Neuroinflammation: Evidence from Experimental and Clinical Studies. *Epilepsy Behav.* 117, 107869. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.107869
- Tamaddonfard, E., Hamzeh Gooshchi, N., and Seiednejad-Yamchi, S. (2012). Central Effect of Crocin on Penicillin-Induced Epileptiform Activity in Rats. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 64 (1), 94–101. doi:10.1016/s1734-1140(12)70735-1
- Teng, S., Hao, J., Bi, H., Li, C., Zhang, Y., Zhang, Y., et al. (2021). The Protection of Crocin against Ulcerative Colitis and Colorectal Cancer via Suppression of NF-Kb-Mediated Inflammation. *Front. Pharmacol.* 12, 639458. doi:10.3389/fphar. 2021.639458
- Unsain, N., Montroull, L. E., and Mascó, D. H. (2009). Brain-derived Neurotrophic Factor Facilitates TrkB Down-Regulation and Neuronal Injury after Status Epilepticus in the Rat hippocampus. *J. Neurochem.* 111 (2), 428–440. doi:10. 1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06342.x
- Vezzani, A., and Baram, T. Z. (2007). New Roles for Interleukin-1 Beta in the Mechanisms of Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Curr.* 7 (2), 45–50. doi:10.1111/j.1535-7511. 2007.00165.x
- Vezzani, A., and Granata, T. (2005). Brain Inflammation in Epilepsy: Experimental and Clinical Evidence. *Epilepsia* 46 (11), 1724–1743. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167. 2005.00298.x
- Walczak, A., Szczepankiewicz, A. A., Ruszczycki, B., Magalska, A., Zamlynska, K., Dzwonek, J., et al. (2013). Novel Higher-Order Epigenetic Regulation of the Bdnf Gene upon Seizures. J. Neurosci. 33 (6), 2507–2511. doi:10.1523/ INEUROSCI.1085-12.2013
- Wang, X., Tang, O., Ye, Y., Zheng, M., Hu, J., Chen, Z., et al. (2017a). Effects of Crocin on hippocampus Rapid Kindling Epilepsy in Mice. *Zhejiang Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* 46 (1), 7–14. doi:10.3785/j.issn.1008.9292.2017.02.02
- Wang, Y., and Chen, Z. (2019). An Update for Epilepsy Research and Antiepileptic Drug Development: Toward Precise Circuit Therapy. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 201, 77–93. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2019.05.010
- Wang, Y., Liang, J., Chen, L., Shen, Y., Zhao, J., Xu, C., et al. (2018). Pharmacogenetic Therapeutics Targeting Parvalbumin Neurons Attenuate Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 117, 149–160. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2018.06.006
- Wang, Y., Shen, Y., Cai, X., Yu, J., Chen, C., Tan, B., et al. (2021). Deep Brain Stimulation in the Medial Septum Attenuates Temporal Lobe Epilepsy via Entrainment of Hippocampal Theta Rhythm. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 27 (5), 577–586. doi:10.1111/cns.13617

- Wang, Y., Xu, C., Xu, Z., Ji, C., Liang, J., Wang, Y., et al. (2017b). Depolarized GABAergic Signaling in Subicular Microcircuits Mediates Generalized Seizure in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Neuron* 95 (1), 92–e5. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2017. 06.004
- Xu, C., Wang, S., Wang, Y., Lin, K., Pan, G., Xu, Z., et al. (2016). A Decrease of Ripples Precedes Seizure Onset in Mesial Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Exp. Neurol.* 284 (Pt A), 29–37. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2016.07.015
- Xu, C., Yu, J., Ruan, Y., Wang, Y., and Chen, Z. (2020). Decoding Circadian Rhythm and Epileptic Activities: Clues from Animal Studies. *Front. Neurol.* 11, 751. doi:10.3389/fneur.2020.00751
- Xu, C., Zhang, S., Gong, Y., Nao, J., Shen, Y., Tan, B., et al. (2021b). Subicular Caspase-1 Contributes to Pharmacoresistance in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. Ann. Neurol. 90 (3), 377–390. doi:10.1002/ana.26173
- Xu, C., Gong, Y., Wang, Y., and Chen, Z. (2021a). New Advances in Pharmacoresistant Epilepsy towards Precise Management-From Prognosis to Treatments. *Pharmacol. Ther.*, 108026. [online ahead of print] doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2021.108026
- Ye, Y. L., Zhong, K., Liu, D. D., Xu, J., Pan, B. B., Li, X., et al. (2017). Huanglian-Jie-Du-Tang Extract Ameliorates Depression-like Behaviors through BDNF-TrkB-CREB Pathway in Rats with Chronic Unpredictable Stress. *Evid. Based Complement. Alternat Med.* 2017, 7903918. doi:10.1155/2017/ 7903918
- Zhao, J., Zheng, Y., Liu, K., Chen, J., Lai, N., Fei, F., et al. (2020). HMGB1 Is a Therapeutic Target and Biomarker in Diazepam-Refractory Status Epilepticus with Wide Time Window. *Neurotherapeutics* 17 (2), 710–721. doi:10.1007/ s13311-019-00815-3
- Zhong, K., Wang, R. X., Qian, X. D., Yu, P., Zhu, X. Y., Zhang, Q., et al. (2020). Neuroprotective Effects of Saffron on the Late Cerebral Ischemia Injury through Inhibiting Astrogliosis and Glial Scar Formation in Rats. *Biomed. Pharmacother*. 126, 110041. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110041
- Zhong, K., Wu, D. C., Jin, M. M., Xu, Z. H., Wang, Y., Hou, W. W., et al. (2012).
  Wide Therapeutic Time-Window of Low-Frequency Stimulation at the Subiculum for Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Treatment in Rats. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 48 (1), 20–26. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2012.05.011

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhong, Qian, Lyu, Wang, Hu, Yu, Ma and Ye. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# A Comparison of Epileptogenic Effect of Status Epilepticus Treated With Diazepam, Midazolam, and Pentobarbital in the Mouse Pilocarpine Model of Epilepsy

Xiangzhen Tong¹, Zizhu Zhang¹, Jianping Zhu¹, Shuji Li¹, Shaogang Qu², Bing Qin^{3*}, Yanwu Guo^{4*} and Rongqing Chen^{1,4,5*}

¹ Guangdong Province Key Laboratory of Psychiatric Disorders, Department of Neurobiology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Neurology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ³ Epilepsy Center and Department of Neurosurgery, The First Affiliated Hospital, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴ Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory on Brain Function Repair and Regeneration, Department of Neurosurgery, The National Key Clinic Specialty, The Engineering Technology Research Center of Education Ministry of China, Zhujiang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ⁵ Key Laboratory of Mental Health of the Ministry of Education, Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Center for Brain Science and Brain-Inspired Intelligence, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

Status epilepticus (SE) is a medical emergency associated with acute severe systemic damage and high mortality. Moreover, symptomatic SE is one of the highest risk factors for epileptogenesis. While the antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are chosen in favor of acute control of SE, the potential short-term and long-term effects of such AEDs have been ignored in clinics. In this study, we hypothesized that AEDs that are used to control acute SE might affect the feasibility for the chronic development of epileptogenesis after SE. Therefore, we sought to compare the epileptogenic effects of SE that are terminated by three AEDs, i.e., diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital, which are widely used as first-line anti-SE AEDs. For this purpose, we used a mouse model of SE induced by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of lithium chloride (LiCl)-pilocarpine. The pilocarpine-induced SE was terminated with diazepam, midazolam, or pentobarbital. Then we compared short-term and long-term effects of SE with different AED treatments by examining SE-associated mortality and behavioral spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRSs) and by using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and immunohistochemistry to evaluate pathological and cellular alterations of mice in the different treatment groups. We found that i.p. injections of diazepam (5 mg/kg), midazolam (10 mg/kg), and pentobarbital (37.5 mg/kg) were able to terminate acute pilocarpine-SE effectively, while pentobarbital treatment showed less neuroprotective action against lethality in the short phase following SE. Long-term evaluation following SE revealed that SE treated with midazolam had resulted in relatively less behavioral SRS, less hippocampal atrophy, and milder neuronal loss and gliosis. Our data revealed an obvious advantage of midazolam vs. diazepam or pentobarbital in protecting the brain from epileptogenesis. Therefore, if midazolam

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Hongliu Sun, Binzhou Medical University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Alice Bonuccelli, Pisana University Hospital, Italy Xiang-Dong Sun, Guangzhou Medical University, China

#### *Correspondence:

Bing Qin qb900@163.com Yanwu Guo eguoyanwu@163.com Rongqing Chen creatego@hotmail.com; rchen@smu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 25 November 2021 Accepted: 19 April 2022 Published: 20 May 2022

#### Citation:

Tong X, Zhang Z, Zhu J, Li S, Qu S, Qin B, Guo Y and Chen R (2022) A Comparison of Epileptogenic Effect of Status Epilepticus Treated With Diazepam, Midazolam, and Pentobarbital in the Mouse Pilocarpine Model of Epilepsy. Front. Neurol. 13:821917. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.821917 provides as strong action to quench SE as other AEDs in clinics, midazolam should be the first choice of anti-SE AEDs as it provides additional benefits against epileptogenesis.

Keywords: epilepsy, epileptogenesis, status epilepticus (SE), midazolam, diazepam, pentobarbital

# INTRODUCTION

Epileptogenesis refers to the pathological and pathophysiological processes, which are initiated by initial brain insults and chronically results in the development of spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRSs). The time window between the initial brain insults and the first SRS is usually called the latent period. An initiating insult can be one of the wide ranges of brain damage that include neurological infections, traumatic brain injury (TBI), ischemia, intracerebral hemorrhage, intracranial tumor, unprovoked seizures, etc. During the latent period and throughout the whole process of epileptogenesis following the initial brain insults, comprehensive changes, e.g., neuronal loss, loss of balance of neuronal excitation and inhibition, gliosis, brain tissue sclerosis, brain structural and network reorganization, chronically occur in the brain regions that are vulnerable to epileptogenesis (1, 2). It is believed that the accumulation of those pathological and pathophysiological changes after initial brain insults gives rise to the formation of the epileptic brain and the occurrence of unprovoked SRS (1, 2).

When a seizure lasts for more than 5 min or two or more seizures occur too close to allow full recovery of epileptic activities between seizures, there is a medical emergency that is called status epilepticus (SE). In practical conditions, any SE should be treated as quickly as possible because poorly controlled SE is associated with severe systemic damage and high mortality. The treatments against SE are firstly aimed to terminate seizures with antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) and then to prevent acute seizure recurrence. Diazepam, midazolam, lorazepam, phenobarbital, phenytoin, and valproate are some of the widely used AEDs for the treatment of SE (3, 4). The treatment option is usually decided according to the stages and time points of SE. For example, diazepam, lorazepam, pentobarbital, and midazolam are recommended as the first-line choices against early convulsive SE, while phenytoin and valproate are considered to be secondline choices against established convulsive SE (3, 4). Among the numerous initial brain insults, symptomatic SE is one of the highest risk factors of epileptogenesis. Approximately 1.5-17% of patients develop SRS within 30 years after TBI depending on injury severity (5), 2.4-22% of patients develop SRS within 20 years after infectious brain damage depending on the types of infection (6), while 41% of patients may become epileptic in 10 years after an acute symptomatic seizure with SE (7).

While the AEDs are chosen in favor of acute control of SE, the potential short-term and long-term effects of such AEDs on SE-triggered epileptogenesis have been ignored in clinics. Since SE is highly epileptogenic, we hypothesized that AEDs that are used to control acute SE might affect the feasibility of the chronic development of epileptogenesis after SE. Therefore, to test this hypothesis, we designed experiments

to compare the epileptogenic effects of SE that terminated different AEDs. In these experiments, an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of pilocarpine to a mouse produces a model of SE, which was terminated with three different AEDs, i.e., diazepam, midazolam, or phenobarbital. Then we evaluated the epileptogenic effects of SE with different AED treatments by examining SE-associated mortality, behavioral SRS, and pathological and cellular alterations of mice in the three different treatment groups.

# RESULTS

## Pentobarbital Treatment Provides Less Neuroprotective Action Against Lethality in the Short Phase Following SE Induction

Pilocarpine-induced SE is a well-established translatable animal model mimicking human SE in behavioral symptoms, pharmacological responses, and the development of SRS of temporal lobe epilepsy after a latent period (8, 9). Therefore, we used the pilocarpine model of SE and SRS to observe the short-term and long-term changes during epileptogenesis in mice in our experiments (Figure 1A). SE was induced with lithium chloride (LiCl)-primed pilocarpine (60 mg/kg i.p.). At the end of the induction of SE for 2 h, SE was terminated with an i.p. injection of one of the investigated AEDs, i.e., diazepam (5 mg/kg), midazolam (10 mg/kg), and pentobarbital (37.5 mg/kg). Following the termination of SE, the mice were kept in home cages and received intensive care for 1 week. Then the mice were subjected to a set of experiments that includes behavioral monitoring for SRS, structural investigation using MRI, cellular morphology using immunohistochemistry to discriminate the effects of diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital on SE-induced epileptogenesis (Figure 1A).

In total, 91 mice were treated with LiCl-pilocarpine (Figure 1A). We observed that 70 (76.9%) mice showed SE without death, 15 mice (16.5%) did not show SE, and 6 (6.6%) mice had died in 2 h following pilocarpine treatment (Figure 1B). This is consistent with our previous studies (10, 11). The survival mice with SE were randomly allocated into 3 groups that were i.p. injected with diazepam (n = 19), midazolam (n = 23), or pentobarbital (n = 28) to terminate SE. The mice that did not show SE received no treatment. After SE induction, the survival of mice was daily calculated for 5 weeks. We found that none of the mice without SE (n = 15) died in the 5 weeks. While, in the treatment groups, the death of mice had occurred almost entirely in the first week after SE induction, reflecting the SE-associated but not SRS-associated short-term effects of treatments. Among the three treatment groups, the mice in the pentobarbital group had the highest mortality (Figure 1C;



pilocarpine and a set of experiments performed after SE induction. (b) A number of mice of survival from SE, no SE responses (non-SE), and mortality after pilocarpine administration and before anti-SE treatments. (C) Number of mice allocated to the treatments with diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital to terminate SE and remaining within 5 weeks after SE. Control mice were no SE and received no treatment. The number of mice at the end of the fifth week/immediately after treatments: control group, n = 15/15; diazepam group, n = 12/19; midazolam group, n = 17/23; pentobarbital group, n = 8/28. Pentobarbital vs. diazepam, p = 0.0343; pentobarbital vs. midazolam, p = 0.0019; diazepam vs. midazolam, p = 0.5159; Fisher's exact test. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ns indicates no significant difference.

pentobarbital vs. diazepam, p = 0.0343; pentobarbital vs. midazolam, p = 0.0019; diazepam vs. midazolam, p = 0.5159; Fisher's exact test). Therefore, SE treated with pentobarbital provides less neuroprotective action in the short phase following SE induction.

# Midazolam Treatment Provides Relative Long-Term Benefit Against the Development of SRS

From the seventh day after SE induction, the mice were subjected to video monitoring for 4 weeks (w 1–4) to allow the detection of chronic SRS (**Figure 1A**). To reduce the contamination of normal vs. epileptic behaviors, only severe seizures scored  $\geq$  3 according to the Racine scale (12) were included in the statistical calculation. Weekly statistics showed that midazolam treatment led to relatively milder SRS, as in the third week (**Figures 2E,F**), but not in the first 2 weeks and the last week of seizure monitoring (**Figures 2A–H** and **Supplementary Table S1**), both the number of seizures per mice per day (**Figure 2E**; diazepam 0.9762  $\pm$  0.4876, midazolam 0.1681  $\pm$  0.1334, p = 0.0007) and the

percentage of mice with at least one seizure per day (Figure 2F; diazepam 19.05  $\pm$  6.3%, midazolam 7.56  $\pm$  4.445%, *p* = 0.0126) were significantly lower in the midazolam group comparing with the diazepam group. Meanwhile, the relatively milder severity of SRS in the midazolam group was illustrated by the total number of seizures in 4 weeks of seizure monitoring showing a lower occurrence of seizures per mice with high-frequency SRS (Figure 2I; diazepam  $31.13 \pm 19.97$ , midazolam  $11.67 \pm 7.089$ , p = 0.0189), but not low-frequency SRS (Figure 2J), comparing with the diazepam group. However, the percentage of mice with at least one SRS in weeks 1-4 of seizure monitoring was similar between the midazolam and diazepam groups. While pentobarbital treatment also led to the lower number of seizures per mice per day in week 3 (Figure 2E; diazepam 0.9762  $\pm$ 0.4876, pentobarbital 0.3929  $\pm$  0.2835, p = 0.0115), overall, it had similar severity of SRS when compared with diazepam treatment (Figures 2A-K and Supplementary Table S1). These data suggest that midazolam treatment provides relative long-term benefits against the development of SRS.



FIGURE 2 | Comparison of spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRSs) monitored for 4 weeks (W 1-4) from 7th to 35th days after SE treated with diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital. (A) Number of seizures per mouse per day in week 1 of different treatment groups. (B) Percentage of mice with at least one SRS per day in week 1 of different treatment groups. (C) Number of seizures per mouse per day in week 2. (D) Percentage of mice with at least one SRS per day in week 2. (E) A number of seizures per mouse per day in week 3. (F) Percentage of mice with at least one SRS per day in week 3. (G) Number of seizures per mouse per day in week 4. (H) Percentage of mice with at least one SRS per day in week 4. (I) A number of seizures per mouse with high-frequency SRS which was defined that the total number of seizures of a mouse was more than 4 in a week. (J) Number of seizures per mouse with low-frequency SRS, which was defined that the total number of seizures of a mouse was 4 or less per week. (K) Percentage of mice with at least one SRS in weeks 1-4. (A-J) One-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparisons test. (K) Fisher's exact test, *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001, ns indicates no significant difference. Data were presented as mean ± SD. See also Supplementary Table 1.

# Midazolam Treatment Causes Less **Hippocampal Sclerotic Atrophy**

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is able to reliably detect regional structural changes of the epileptic brain in relation to epileptogenesis of animal models (13, 14). Hippocampal atrophy is the most featured structural alternation of the pilocarpine-SE model of spontaneous chronic temporal epilepsy (13, 15, 16). To compare the long-term effects of diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital treatments antagonizing SE on brain structural changes, we performed MRI 9 weeks after SE induction. T2-weighted images showed that SE induction chronically causes hippocampal atrophy indicated by the shrinked hippocampal volume in all the treatment groups of mice when compared with the control group of mice that failed to be induced SE by pilocarpine (Figure 3A). However, voxel-based morphometry (VBM) analysis of T2weighted images showed that midazolam treatment causes relatively less hippocampal sclerotic atrophy when compared to diazepam and pentobarbital treatments (Figures 3B,C and Table 1), suggesting that midazolam treatment against SE leads to less structural damages.

# Midazolam Treatment Results in Milder Neuronal Loss and Gliosis

Neuronal death and reactive gliosis occurring soon after evoking SE and continuously during epileptogenesis contribute to the



treatments. (A) Hippocampal T2 maps along the rostro-caudal axis (up-down) showing sclerotic atrophy of hippocampus of control (non-SE and no treatment), diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital groups of mice after SE. The images in the lowest row are the amplifications of areas in the rectangle of the second row of images. (B) The template creation for spatial normalization of the segmented gray matter (GM) images and VBM procedure. (C) Each subfigure of the treatment group showed volumetric changes of GM when compared with corresponding subfigure of control group. Hippocampal GM densities in the midazolam group were significantly higher than other groups. The color scale bar on the right represents t-value of the statistical analysis. Control n = 6; diazepam n = 7; midazolam n = 7; and pentobarbital n = 4.

formation of brain tissue atrophy and progressive development of epilepsy (2, 17). Therefore, in the final experiments, we performed immunohistochemistry staining neuronal marker NeuN, astrocytic marker Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP), and microglia marker Iba1 to compare the chronic cellular alterations in the hippocampus of mice treated with diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital against SE. Consistent with the VBM analysis of MRI images, the hippocampal shapes shown by immunohistochemistry staining exhibit different severities of hippocampal sclerotic atrophy in different treatment groups. Overall, in the midazolam-treated mice, there is relatively less tissue sclerosis and neuronal loss so that cornu ammonis (CA) pyramidal cell layer can be observed in most of the samples. In contrast, in the diazepam- or pentobarbital-treated mice, the CA pyramidal cell layer is lost in most of the cases (Figures 4A, 5A).

NeuN⁺ quantification revealed that midazolam treatment resulted in a less neuronal loss as the number of NeuN⁺ counting was significantly higher when compared with pentobarbital treatment in the dantate gyrus (DG) (midazolam 461 ± 201.7, pentobarbital 184.5 ± 74.86, p = 0.0224) and non-DG regions (midazolam 899.2 ± 909.9, pentobarbital 68.38 ± 43.46, p =0.0111; **Figures 4A–C**). Quantification of GFAP⁺ area revealed that midazolam treatment resulted in lower astrogliosis in the CA1, CA3, and DG when compared with both diazepam (CA1: diazepam 27.13 ± 3.077, midazolam 16.12 ± 4.38, p = 0.0007; CA3: diazepam 33.6 ± 5.63, midazolam 20.22 ± 4.895, p =0.0011; DG: diazepam 25.01 ± 1.75, midazolam 20.06 ± 2.873,

#### TABLE 1 | Summary of Voxel-based morphometry (VBM) analysis.

Regions Full names of brain regions	Abbreviations of regions	Control > Diazepam		Control > Midazolam		Control > Pentobarbital	
		k _E	t	k _E	t	k _E	t
Cornu ammonis, area 1	CA1	-	8.47	-	4.89	-	5.81
Cornu ammonis, area 2	CA2	-	-	3,630	5.4	-	-
Cornu ammonis, area 3	CA3	1,3927	10.05	1,272	4.34	12,546	10.28
Dentate gyrus, molecular layer	DG-mo	11,739	8.46	-	-	-	7.35
Dentate gyrus, polymorph layer	DG-po	-	5.09	-	-	-	-
Caudoputamen	CP	1,250	4.84	139	4.83	110	3.9
Alveus of hippocampus	ACAv2/3	132	4.37	-	-	-	-
Anterior cingulate area, ventral part, layer 2/3	ACAv5	186	4.57	-	-	-	-
Anterior cingulate area, ventral part, layer 5	alv	-	-	148	4.25	-	-
Anterior olfactory nucleus	AON	82	4.27	67	4.58	-	-
Ansiform lobule Crus 1	ANcr1	73	3.88	-	-	-	-
Arbor vitae	arb	-	-	46	4.04	-	-
Bed nuclei of the stria terminalis	BST	150	4.65	-	-	-	-
Cingulum bundle	cing	-	-	509	4.22	-	-
Genu of corpus callosum	ccg	32	3.47	35	3.97	-	-
Corpus callosum, body	ccb	-	-	157	3.94	-	6.8
Entorhinal area, medial part, dorsal zone, layer 1	ENTm1	57	3.8	119	4.76	-	-
Entorhinal area, lateral part, layer 2	ENTI2/3	-	-	57	3.55	-	-
Flocculus	FL	61	3.99	-	-	-	-
Internal capsule	int	608	4.65	-	-	-	-
Lateral septal nucleus, rostral (rostroventral) part	LSr	59	3.54	-	-	-	-
Lateral hypothalamic area	LHA	-	-	36	5.54	-	-
Primary motor area, Layer 6a	Мор6а	-	-	-	-	63	3.98
Orbital area, medial part, layer 1	ORBm1	581	7.61	-	-	240	5.65
Optic tract	opt	31	3.38	33	3.94	-	-
Posterior complex of the thalamus	PO	224	4.03	-	-	-	-
Sensory root of the trigeminal nerve	sV	83	4.36	-	-	-	-
Primary somatosensory area, upper limb, layer 6a	SSp-bfd6a	-	-	-	-	486	5.8
Primary somatosensory area, barrel field, layer 6a	SSs6a	-	-	-	-	-	3.6
Supplemental somatosensory area, layer 6a	SSp-ul6a	239	4.17	283	4.26	-	-
Postpiriform transition area	TR	-	-	-	-	39	5.19

K_E: larger than 30 contiguous voxels.

t: maximum T value.

Control n = 6; diazepam n = 7; midazolam n = 7; pentobarbital n = 4.

p < 0.005 uncorrected for multiple comparisons.

p = 0.0186.) and pentobarbital (CA1: pentobarbital 32.12 ± 4.085, p < 0.0001; CA3: pentobarbital 30.81 ± 3.366, p = 0.0136; DG: pentobarbital 31 ± 3.549, p < 0.0001) treatments (**Figures 4A,D-F**). Consistently, Quantification of Iba1⁺ area in hippocampus also revealed less gliosis in the midazolam treatment group when compared with both diazepam (diazepam 2.883 ± 0.4546, midazolam 1.439 ± 0.5788, p = 0.006) and pentobarbital (pentobarbital 2.755 ± 0.9972, p = 0.0222) treatment groups (**Figures 5A,C**). In line with this, Sholl analysis to evaluate the microglia architecture showed that midazolam treatment led to a less pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype as the number of intersections, ending radius, and ramification index of microglia processes were higher in the midazolam treatment group when compared with both diazepam and pentobarbital treatment groups (**Figures 5B,D-G**). These data indicate that

mice with SE treated with midazolam result in milder neuronal loss and gliosis chronically following SE.

#### DISCUSSION

Although diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital are able to terminate SE effectively, their short-term and long-term consequences have not been compared. In the present study we demonstrate that, in the aspect of short-term consequence, the mice with SE treated with pentobarbital have a higher mortality than midazolam and phenobarbital. While in the aspect of longterm consequence, we demonstrate that mice with SE treated with midazolam showed less hippocampal sclerosis and gliosis and result in less development of SRS.



Diazepam and midazolam belong to benzodiazepines, which are a class of drugs widely used as sedatives, anticonvulsants, hypnotics, muscle relaxants, and anesthetics. The actions of benzodiazepines were fulfilled by targeting GABA_A receptors. When binding to the benzodiazepine side of GABA_A receptors, benzodiazepines do not directly cause functional opening of the receptors, but they allosterically modulate the receptors and promote their affinity for agonist GABA (18, 19). By this means, benzodiazepines enhance neuronal inhibition and reduce neuronal excitability (20–22). However, the exact mechanisms of modulation of GABA_A receptors by benzodiazepines are complicated, as there are many types of GABA_A receptors with different binding affinity for GABA and benzodiazepine. This is in that each GABA_A receptor comprises 5 subunits and there are up to 19 different subunits of the GABA_A receptor (23, 24). Therefore, even for the same type of GABA_A receptor, benzodiazepines (e.g., diazepam) may produce biphasic actions *via* separable subunit-dependent mechanisms (25). By this means, diazepam and midazolam may produce different effects on neuronal degeneration, gliosis, and neuroinflammation *via* different GABA_A receptors expressed by different cell types, thus leading to different effects on epileptogenesis.

Pentobarbital belongs to barbiturates, which are primarily prescribed as anticonvulsants and sometimes used as sedatives, hypnotics, and anesthetics. Pentobarbital can not only allosterically modulate GABA_A receptors (26) but also



**FIGURE 5** | Immunohistochemical staining showing differential hippocampal microgliosis 9 weeks after SE received different treatments. **(A, B)** Representative staining for microglia (lba1⁺) of diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital groups. Scale bar in (A): left, 500  $\mu$ m; right, 100  $\mu$ m. Scale bar in **(B)**: left, 20  $\mu$ m; right, 10  $\mu$ m. **(C)** Statistics of percentage of lba1⁺ area in hippocampus. **(D)** Summary number of intersections as a function of the radial distance from soma by 2  $\mu$ m increments showed that lba1⁺ cells of midazolam group (n = 22) had greater numbers of ramifications than diazepam (n = 16) and pentobarbital (n = 21) groups at 10–38  $\mu$ m distances from the soma. Diazepam vs. midazolam, *p < 0.05; diazepam vs. pentobarbital, #p < 0.05; midazolam vs. pentobarbital, +p < 0.05; two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. **(E)** Summary number of intersections per lba1⁺ cell (diazepam, n = 33; midazolam, n = 37; pentobarbital, n = 35). **(G)** Ramification index of lba1⁺ cells (diazepam, n = 33; midazolam, n = 37; pentobarbital, n = 35). **(G)** Ramification index of lba1⁺ cells (diazepam, n = 33; midazolam, n = 37; pentobarbital, n = 35). One-way ANOVA with *post-hoc* Tukey's multiple comparisons test, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ns indicate no significant difference. Data were presented as mean ± SD.

directly activate GABAA receptors and induce GABAergic chloride currents (27). Additionally, pentobarbital is able to exert inhibition by suppressing some glutamate receptors and inhibiting glutamate release (26, 28, 29). Despite versatile inhibitory actions, barbiturates have the drawback of acute toxicity and lethality (26, 30). In line with this drawback, our data reveal that the mice with SE treated with pentobarbital have a higher mortality in the first week after SE induction when compared with midazolam and diazepam treatments. Such an acute neurotoxicity is likely to turn into chronic detriment via neuronal death, neuronal regeneration, gliosis, neuroinflammation, and so on. In terms of chronic epileptogenic effects of SE, although treatment with pentobarbital is followed by more neuronal loss, gliosis, and hippocampal sclerosis when compared with midazolam treatment, the statistics of SRS of mice show no significant difference between the pentobarbital and midazolam treatment groups. Presumably, this is due to insufficient animal numbers caused by SE-associated higher mortality of mice pentobarbital group.

In summary, by comparisons of epileptogenic effects of SE treated with diazepam, midazolam, and pentobarbital in the mouse LiCl-pilocarpine model of epilepsy, our data reveal an obvious advantage of midazolam vs. diazepam or pentobarbital in protecting the brain from epileptogenesis. LiCl-pilocarpine-induced murine SE represents the most well-established, clinically translatable SE model mimicking acute behavioral, electrographic, pharmacological, and pathological features and chronic epileptogenesis observed in human SE (31). Therefore, if midazolam provides as strong action to quench SE as diazepam, pentobarbital, and other AEDs in clinics, midazolam should be the first choice of anti-SE AEDs as it provides additional benefits against epileptogenesis. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying this intriguing long-term advantage and disadvantage of a single treatment with AEDs are yet to be studied in the future.

# CONCLUSIONS

Our data provide evidence that pentobarbital treatment for SE showed less neuroprotective action against lethality in the short phase following SE induction and that relatively to diazepam and pentobarbital, midazolam treatment for SE resulted in long-term benefits on epileptogenesis in that such SE causes less behavioral SRS, less hippocampal atrophy, and milder neuronal loss and gliosis. Therefore, in addition to the quality of acute control of SE, the short-term and long-term consequences of AEDs chosen to control SE should be taken into account in clinics. However, our study shall be followed by clinical studies regarding this concluding point and the studies relevant to the underlying molecular mechanisms.

# **METHODS**

## Animals

Animals used in this study were purchased from Guangdong medical laboratory animal center, China. Animals were male ICR mice at 8–9 weeks of age and kept in a specific pathogen-free room with controlled temperature (22–24°C), humidity

(50–75%), light conditions (12/12-h light-dark cycle, 08:00–20:00), and water and food *ad libitum*. Animals were treated according to the guidelines for Ethical Review of Animal Experiments at Southern Medical University in China, and the study was approved by the Southern Medical University Animal Ethics Committee.

# LiCI-Pilocarpine Model of Epilepsy and Evaluation of Seizures

Mice were intraperitoneally (i.p.) injected with LiCl (10 mEq/kg, Sigma #213233) 20 h prior to i.p. injection of pilocarpine (60 mg/kg, MedChemExpress #HY-B0726). To reduce peripheral effects of pilocarpine, mice were given an i.p. injection of scopolamine methyl nitrate (1 mg/kg, Sigma #S2250) 30 min before pilocarpine injection. Behavioral seizure severity in response to pilocarpine was assessed by Racine's standard classification into 0-6 stages (12). SE is defined as stages 4-6 epileptic seizures lasting for at least 30 min. Mice with SE received randomly i.p. injections of diazepam (5 mg/kg, Sanchine #H23021885), midazolam (10 mg/kg, Jiangsu Enhua #H10980025), or pentobarbital (37.5mg/kg, GENIA Biotech #P3760) at 2 h after pilocarpine treatment. From the seventh day after seizure induction, mice were videotaped 12 h (8 a.m. to 8 p.m.) every day for 28 days to capture SRSs. To avoid contamination of normal activities with mild seizures (stages 1-2) of mice, only seizures scored higher than stage 3 are included in the statistics of SRS.

### Immunohistochemistry

Mice were killed under anesthesia with pentobarbital sodium (75 mg/kg, i.p.). Brain slices were sectioned at 40 µm and were rinsed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). After washing the residual embedding medium (OCT), slices were blocked by 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) with 1% Triton-X 100 for 1.5 h and then incubated with anti-Iba1 (1:800, Wako #019-19741), anti-NeuN (1:50, CST #24307), or anti-GFAP (GFAP; 1:800, Millipore #MAB360) in 5% BSA overnight at 4°C. After washing, slides were incubated with Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500, ZSGB-Bio #ZF-0511) or 594 (1:500, ZSGB-Bio #ZF-0513) goat anti-rabbit or goat anti-mouse secondary antibody for 1.5 h and then incubated with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI;  $1 \mu g/ml$ , Sigma #D9542) for 15 min at room temperature, washed 3 times with PBS for 15 min, and mounted onto slides. The slices were dried and mounted by coverslips with mounting medium. The samples were imaged using Nikon A1R confocal microscope. Cell counting and fluorescent area calculation were performed by ImageJ (version7). For the morphological analysis of microglia, confocal image stacks were collected using a  $60 \times$ oil-objective lens with a 0.5 µm interval. Branch analysis was performed by Sholl analysis with ImageJ. Microglial ramification index ramification was defined as the ratio between maximal intersections and the number of primary branches calculated when primary branches are valid and not zero.

## **MRI Acquisition**

A 7.0 T small animal MRI system (PharmaScan70/16 US, Bruker BioSpin MRI GmbH, Germany) was used to collect T2 data from the mice brain with ¹H MRI CryoprobeTM 2 Element Array Kit for mice. The mice were anesthetized with 3% isoflurane before scanning and 1–1.5% isoflurane in oxygen during scanning. For T2 imaging, Bruker's Multi-Slice-Multi-Echo sequence was used. Scanning parameters were as follows: repetition time (TR) = 3577.557 ms, echo time (TE) = 35ms, total scan 23 slices, slice thickness = 0.5 mm, no slice gap, matrix =  $256 \times 256$ , field of view =  $16 \times 16$  mm², voxel size =  $0.0625 \times 0.0625 \times 0.5$ mm³, the scanning time was 3 min 48 s 963 ms. All the original Bruker images were converted to DICOM format with Paravision 6.0 software.

#### VBM

For statistical parametric mapping (SPM)-voxel-based morphometry (VBM), structural data were analyzed using SPM 12 (https://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/) running on MATLAB R2020a (MathWorks, Inc., Natick, MA, USA). T2-weighted images were manually re-oriented, placed the origin at the anterior commissure. Subsequently, the images were segmented to identify gray and white matter based on standard tissue probability maps (Turone Mouse Brain Template, https://www.nitrc.org/) using an old Segment for SPM. Exponentiated Lie Algebra (DARTEL) was used to estimate the deformations that best align the images together by iteratively registering the imported images with their average created a study-specific template for spatial normalization of the segmented gray matter (GM) images. The remaining subjects were registered non-linearly to this template using DARTEL existing template module and then normalized to Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space. Images were smoothed spatially with a full width at half maximum kernel of 6 mm. The results were visualized using xjView (https://www.alivelearn.net/ xjview/). The TMBTA (Brain-Atlas) was used to define anatomic regions and the voxel of each region was reported. A group comparison of hippocampal GM was performed by using a *t*-test control minus the treatment group. The resulting t-statistic maps were thresholded at values of p < 0.005 (uncorrected).

## REFERENCES

- Tan TH, Perucca P, O'Brien TJ, Kwan P, Monif M. Inflammation, ictogenesis, and epileptogenesis: an exploration through human disease. *Epilepsia*. (2021) 62:303–24. doi: 10.1111/epi.16788
- Pitkänen A, Lukasiuk K, Dudek FE, Staley KJ. Epileptogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. (2015) 5:a022822. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a022822
- Kim D, Kim JM, Cho YW, Yang KI, Kim DW, Lee ST, et al. S Drug Committee of Korean Epilepsy. Antiepileptic drug therapy for status epilepticus. J. Clin Neurol. (2021) 17:11–9. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2021. 17.1.11
- Trinka E, Kalviainen R. 25 years of advances in the definition, classification and treatment of status epilepticus. *Seizure*. (2017) 44:65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2016.11.001
- Annegers JF, Hauser WA, Coan SP, Rocca WA. A population-based study of seizures after traumatic brain injuries. N Engl J Med. (1998) 338:20–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199801013380104
- Annegers JF, Hauser WA, Beghi E, Nicolosi A, Kurland LT. The risk of unprovoked seizures after encephalitis and meningitis. *Neurology*. (1988) 38:1407–10. doi: 10.1212/WNL.38.9.1407

Only clusters larger than 30 and positive contiguous voxels were considered in the analysis.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Southern Medical University Animal Ethics Committee.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YG and RC contributed to the experimental design. SL, SQ, BQ, YG, and RC established the methodology. XT performed the experiments and analyzed the data. ZZ, JZ, and SL helped to perform the experiments and maintain the animals. XT and RC wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the finalization and approved the content of the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC) (31571035 and 31771127), the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (2016A030308005), and Guangdong Science and Technology Department (2018B030334001, 2018B030340001, and 2018B030335001).

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2022.821917/full#supplementary-material

- Hesdorffer DC, Logroscino G, Cascino G, Annegers JF, Hauser WA. Risk of unprovoked seizure after acute symptomatic seizure: effect of status epilepticus. *Ann Neurol.* (1998) 44:908–12. doi: 10.1002/ana.410440609
- Pascente R, Frigerio F, Rizzi M, Porcu L, Boido M, Davids J, et al. Cognitive deficits and brain myo-Inositol are early biomarkers of epileptogenesis in a rat model of epilepsy. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2016) 93:146–55. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.05.001
- Curia G, Longo D, Biagini G, Jones RS, Avoli M. The pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurosci Methods*. (2008) 172:143–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2008.04.019
- Liu M, Jiang L, Wen M, Ke Y, Tong X, Huang W, et al. Microglia depletion exacerbates acute seizures and hippocampal neuronal degeneration in mouse models of epilepsy. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* (2020) 319:C605–10. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00205.2020
- Huang W, Ke Y, Zhu J, Liu S, Cong J, Ye H, et al. TRESK channel contributes to depolarization-induced shunting inhibition and modulates epileptic seizures. *Cell Rep.* (2021) 36:109404. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109404
- Racine RJ. Modification of seizure activity by electrical stimulation. II. Motor seizure. Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology 32 (1972) 281-94. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(72)90177-0

- Kharatishvili I, Shan ZY, She DT, Foong S, Kurniawan ND, Reutens DC. MRI changes and complement activation correlate with epileptogenicity in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2014) 219:683–706. doi: 10.1007/s00429-013-0528-4
- Dietrich Y, Eliat PA, Dieuset G, Saint-Jalmes H, Pineau C, Wendling F, et al. Structural and functional changes during epileptogenesis in the mouse model of medial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Annu Int Conf IEEE Engi Medi Biol Soc.* (2016) 2016:4005–8. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2016.7591605
- Nobili P, Colciaghi F, Finardi A, Zambon S, Locatelli D, Battaglia GS. Continuous neurodegeneration and death pathway activation in neurons and glia in an experimental model of severe chronic epilepsy. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2015) 83:54–66. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.08.002
- Roch C, Leroy C, Nehlig A, Namer IJ. Magnetic resonance imaging in the study of the lithium-pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy in adult rats. *Epilepsia*. (2002) 43:325–35. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2002.11301.x
- Greene DL, Kosenko A, Hoshi N. Attenuating M-current suppression in vivo by a mutant Kcnq2 gene knock-in reduces seizure burden and prevents status epilepticus-induced neuronal death and epileptogenesis. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:1908–18. doi: 10.1111/epi.14541
- Gielen MC, Lumb MJ, Smart TG. Benzodiazepines modulate GABAA receptors by regulating the preactivation step after GABA binding. J. Neurosci. (2012) 32:5707–15. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5663-11.2012
- 19. Sigel E, Ernst M. The benzodiazepine binding sites of GABAA receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2018) 39:659–71. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.03.006
- Eghbali M, Curmi JP, Birnir B, Gage PW. Hippocampal GABA(A) channel conductance increased by diazepam. *Nature*. (1997) 388:71–5. doi: 10.1038/40404
- Bowser DN, Wagner DA, Czajkowski C, Cromer BA, Parker MW, Wallace RH, et al. Altered kinetics and benzodiazepine sensitivity of a GABAA receptor subunit mutation [gamma 2(R43Q)] found in human epilepsy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2002) 99:15170–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212320199
- Verbny YI, Merriam EB, Banks MI. Modulation of gamma-aminobutyric acid type A receptor-mediated spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents in auditory cortex by midazolam and isoflurane. *Anesthesiology*. (2005) 102:962– 9. doi: 10.1097/0000542-200505000-00015
- Everington EA, Gibbard AG, Swinny JD, Seifi M. Molecular characterization of GABA-A receptor subunit diversity within major peripheral organs and their plasticity in response to early life psychosocial stress. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2018) 11:18. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018. 00018
- Simeone X, Koniuszewski F, Mullegger M, Smetka A, Steudle F, Puthenkalam R, et al. A benzodiazepine ligand with improved GABAA receptor alpha5subunit selectivity driven by interactions with loop C. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2021) 99:39–48. doi: 10.1124/molpharm.120.000067

- Walters RJ, Hadley SH, Morris KD, Amin J. Benzodiazepines act on GABAA receptors via two distinct and separable mechanisms. *Nat Neurosci.* (2000) 3:1274–81. doi: 10.1038/81800
- Loscher W, Rogawski MA. How theories evolved concerning the mechanism of action of barbiturates. *Epilepsia*. (2012) 53(Suppl 8):12–25. doi: 10.1111/epi.12025
- Rho JM, Donevan SD, Rogawski MA. Direct activation of GABAA receptors by barbiturates in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. *J Physiol*. (1996) 497 (Pt 2):509–22. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021784
- 28. Joo DT, Xiong Z, MacDonald JF, Jia Z, Roder J, Sonner J, et al. Blockade of glutamate receptors and barbiturate anesthesia: increased sensitivity to pentobarbital-induced anesthesia despite reduced inhibition of AMPA receptors in GluR2 null mutant mice. *Anesthesiology*. (1999) 91:1329–41. doi: 10.1097/0000542-199911000-00025
- Nardou R, Yamamoto S, Bhar A, Burnashev N, Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I. Phenobarbital but not diazepam reduces AMPA/kainate receptor mediated currents and exerts opposite actions on initial seizures in the neonatal rat hippocampus. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2011) 5:16. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2011.00016
- Ghorani-Azam A, Balali-Mood M, Riahi-Zanjani B, Darchini-Maragheh E, Sadeghi M. Acute phenobarbital poisoning for the management of seizures in newborns and children; a systematic literature review. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. (2021) 20:174–80. doi: 10.2174/1871527319666201207205916
- Ahmed J II, Che Has AT. The evolution of the pilocarpine animal model of status epilepticus. *Heliyon.* (2020) 6:e04557. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04557

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tong, Zhang, Zhu, Li, Qu, Qin, Guo and Chen. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

